

SAP S/4HANA Financial Accounting Configuration

Learn Configuration and Development on an S/4 System

Second Edition

Andrew Okungbowa



SAP S/4HANA Financial Accounting Configuration

Learn Configuration and Development on an S/4 System

Second Edition

Andrew Okungbowa

Apress[®]

SAP S/4HANA Financial Accounting Configuration: Learn Configuration and Development on an S/4 System

Andrew Okungbowa New Addington, UK

ISBN-13 (pbk): 978-1-4842-8956-3 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4842-8957-0

ISBN-13 (electronic): 978-1-4842-8957-0

Copyright © 2023 by Andrew Okungbowa

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

Trademarked names, logos, and images may appear in this book. Rather than use a trademark symbol with every occurrence of a trademarked name, logo, or image we use the names, logos, and images only in an editorial fashion and to the benefit of the trademark owner, with no intention of infringement of the trademark.

The use in this publication of trade names, trademarks, service marks, and similar terms, even if they are not identified as such, is not to be taken as an expression of opinion as to whether or not they are subject to proprietary rights.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Managing Director, Apress Media LLC: Welmoed Spahr Acquisitions Editor: Divya Modi Development Editor:Laura Berendson Coordinating Editor: Divya Modi

Cover designed by eStudioCalamar

Cover image designed by Pixabay

Distributed to the book trade worldwide by Springer Science+Business Media New York, 1 New York Plaza, New York, NY 10004. Phone 1-800-SPRINGER, fax (201) 348-4505, e-mail orders-ny@springer-sbm.com, or visit www.springeronline.com. Apress Media, LLC is a California LLC and the sole member (owner) is Springer Science + Business Media Finance Inc (SSBM Finance Inc). SSBM Finance Inc is a **Delaware** corporation.

For information on translations, please e-mail booktranslations@springernature.com; for reprint, paperback, or audio rights, please e-mail bookpermissions@springernature.com.

Apress titles may be purchased in bulk for academic, corporate, or promotional use. eBook versions and licenses are also available for most titles. For more information, reference our Print and eBook Bulk Sales web page at http://www.apress.com/bulk-sales.

Any source code or other supplementary material referenced by the author in this book is available to readers on GitHub via the book's product page, located at www.apress.com/9781484289563. For more detailed information, please visit http://www.apress.com/source-code.

Printed on acid-free paper

This book is dedicated to God Almighty who made it possible for me to complete this book despite all odds.

Table of Contents

About the Author	XV		
About the Technical Reviewer	xvii		
Acknowledgmentsxix			
Introduction	xxi		
Chapter 1: Customizing Financial Accounting Enterprise Structure in SAP S/4HANA	1		
Let's look at the steps involved in this Customizing	2		
Define Company	4		
Define a Company Code	8		
Assign Company Code to Company	12		
Fiscal Year Variant	14		
Year-Specific or Year dependent	17		
Maintain Fiscal Year Variant	17		
Assign Fiscal Year Variant to Company Code	22		
Defining Posting Periods	23		
Define Variants for Open Posting Periods			
Assign Variants to Company Code			
Open and Close Periods	27		
Summary	30		
Chapter 2: Defining Chart of Accounts			
Master Data	31		
Defining Chart of Accounts	32		
Creating Chart of Accounts			
Assign Company Code to Chart of Accounts	36		

Define Account Group	
Define Retained Earnings Account	42
Summary	45
Chapter 3: Document Control	47
Document Control	47
Document type	48
Posting Key	50
Definition of Number Range Intervals	51
Defining Document Number Ranges using Copy Subobject Function	52
How to Delete Number Range Intervals	
Creating your number range intervals from scratch	55
Copy Another Company Code to your Company Code	58
Copying Number Ranges to Fiscal Year	59
Field Status Variants	60
Define Field Status Variants	61
Assign Company Code to Field Status Variants	67
Summary	68
Chapter 4: Defining Tolerance Groups for G/L Accounts and Employees.	69
Tolerance Groups	69
Define Tolerance Groups for G/L Accounts	72
Default Tolerance Group:	
Define Tolerance Groups for Employees	
Define Default Tolerance Groups for Employees	
Define Tolerance Groups for Employees	79
Assign Users to Tolerance Groups	81
Summary	83
Chapter 5: Creating a General Ledger (G/L)	85
General Ledger	85
GL Reconciliation	86
What is a Master Record?	

Creating G/L Account Master Records	88
Creating a G/L Account – Office stationery supplies	
Creating G/L Account With Template	
Summary	100
Chapter 6: Clearing Open Items	101
Objective	101
Clearing Open Items	101
Automatic Clearing Customizing	103
Create Accounts for Clearing differences	105
Define a Maximum Exchange Rate Difference	108
Check Company Code Setting	111
Foreign Currency Valuation	113
Exchange Rate Types	114
Define Valuation Methods	114
Prepare Automatic Postings for Foreign Currency Valuation	118
Interest Costs Using Exchange Rate key (KDB)	120
Exchange Rate Difference for Open Items/GL Accounts	
Exchange Rate Differences for Open Items – Account Payable	125
Summary	126
Chapter 7: Maintaining Currency Types and Currency Pairs	129
Currencies	129
Exchange Rate types:	130
Define Standard Quotation for exchange Rates	131
Enter Prefixes for Direct/Indirect Quotation Exchange Rates	
Define Translation Ratios for Currency Translation	
Update the following fields	
Summary	139

Chapter 8: GR/IR Clearing	141
Objective	141
GR/IR Clearing	141
Invoiced But Not Yet Delivered	144
Delivered but not yet invoiced	147
Summary	149
Chapter 9: Bank	
Introduction	151
Defining House Bank	152
Define Bank Account for your House Bank	155
Bank Statement	156
Electronic Bank Statement	158
Electronic Bank Statement	159
Defining Global Settings for Electronic Bank Statement	159
Creating Account symbols	162
Assigning Accounts to account symbols	163
Manual Bank Statement	176
Create and Assign Business Transactions	176
Define Variants for Manual Bank Statement	178
Check Deposit	183
Define Posting Keys and Posting Rules for Check Deposit	184
Summary	195
Chapter 10: Tax on Sales / Purchases	
Sales and Purchases Tax	197
Basic Settings	199
Check Calculation Procedure	200
Define Tax Codes for Sales	201
Define Tax Account for Output/Sales	205
Define Tax Codes for Input/Purchases	

Define Tax Account for Output/Sales	210
Assign Taxable Codes for Non-Taxable Transactions	213
Summary	214
Chapter 11: Cash Journal	215
Objective	215
Introduction	215
Create G/L Account for Cash Journal	217
Specify the Amount Limit for a Cash Journal	218
Define Number Range Intervals for Cash Journal Documents	220
Set Up Cash Journal	224
Maintain Business Transactions	227
Summary	231
Chapter 12: Financial Statement Versions (FSV)	233
Objective	233
Financial Statement Versions	233
Define Financial Statement Versions	234
Step 1: Create Items	237
Step 2: Assign Items to your FSV as Subordinates	240
Change Nodes Texts	242
Creating Subordinates for Liabilities and Equity	244
Completing the Nodes for your FSV	246
Step 3: Assign FSV Nodes to G/L Accounts	248
Step 4: Define the Credit/Debit Shift	250
Check Assigned G/L Accounts to FSV	253
Summary	255
Chapter 13: Integration of FI with other SAP S4 HANA modules	257
Integrate FI with Other SAP Modules	257
Material Management (MM)	259
Configuring Automatic Postings	261

Offsetting Entry for Inventory Posting	
Integration with Sales & Distribution (SD)	
Prepare Revenue Account Determination	
Summary	274
Chapter 14: Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable	277
Accounts Payable and Accounts Receivable	278
Customer Accounts	278
What is Customer Account Group?	278
The importance of Account Group	279
Defining Accounts Groups with Screen Layout (Customer)	
Maintaining the Filed Status Group for General Data of the Customer Account Group	282
Enter Accounting Clerk Identification Code for Customers	
Creating Number Ranges for Customer Account Groups	
Assigning Number Ranges to Customer Account Groups	291
Vendor Accounts	292
What is Vendor Account Group?	292
The importance of Vendor Account Group	292
Defining Account Groups with Screen Layout (Vendors)	293
Maintaining the Filed Status Group for General Data of the Vendor Account Group	295
Enter Accounting Clerk Identification Code for Vendors	
Creating Number Ranges for Vendor Account Groups	299
Assigning Number Ranges to Vendor Account Groups	303
Terms of Payment	304
Cash Discounts	
Installment Plan	310
Maintaining Terms of Payment for an Installment Plan	311
Defining the Payment Terms for Instalment Payments	317
Defining Cash Discount Base for Incoming Invoices	319
Incoming Invoices Credit Memos /Credit Memos – Enjoy	320
Enjoy Transaction	

Defining Document Types for Enjoy Transaction	320
Defining Tax Code per Transaction	322
Cash Discount	323
Cash Discount Granted	323
Defining Accounts for Cash Discount Granted	323
Define Account for Cash Discount Taken	324
Defining Account for Overpayments/Underpayments	325
Defining Accounts for Bank Charges (Vendor)	326
Manual Outgoing Payments	329
Defining Tolerances for Vendors	329
Defining Reason Codes (Manual Outgoing Payments)	334
Defining Accounts for Payment Differences (Manual Outgoing Payments)	337
Automatic Outgoing Payments	339
All Company Codes	339
Paying Company Codes	343
Payment Methods per Company Codes	348
Bank Determination for Payment Transactions	355
Ranking Order	356
Bank Accounts	358
Available Amounts	360
Sort Methods and Adjustment Accounts for Regrouping Receivables/Payables	361
Period Interval for Receivables	363
Receivables Due After One Year	367
Define Reasons for Reversal	370
Summary	372
Chanter 15: Defining the Dunning Procedure	375
	375
Dunning procedure	
Posis Sottings for Dupping	
Dasic Setuniys for Durining	3/0 370
	3/0 200
	300

Maintaining Charges	
Maintaining Minimum Amounts	
Dunning texts	
Special GL Indicator	
Assigning Dunning Procedure to Customer Master Data	
Summary	
Chapter 16: Special GL Transactions	
Objective	391
Special G/L Transactions	
Special GL - General Ledger types	
Configuration of Special GL Transactions.	
Down Payments	
Introduction	394
Down Payment Received	396
Down Payment Requests (Customer)	399
Defining Account for Tax Clearing (Down payments Customer)	401
Down Payment Made	402
Down Payment Request for Vendors	405
Defining Account for Tax Clearing (Down payments – Vendor)	407
Guarantees	408
Defining Alternative Reconciliation Accounts for Vendors (Guarantees)	409
Defining Accounts for Automatic Offsetting Entry	412
Summary	414
Chapter 17: Ledgers	415
Defining Accounting Principles	416
Defining Ledger Group	419
Assigning Accounting Principle to Ledger Groups	420
Defining Ledger Settings for Ledgers and Currency Types	421
Update the following field:	421

Summary	
Appendix A: Some Useful Transaction Codes	427
Index	435

About the Author



Andrew Okungbowa is an accountant and a business advisor with 20+ years of experience solving complex business issues. He is an acclaimed author of several books in accounting and finance. He also co-founded Spoxio App, a sports app designed for sports professionals, sports enthusiasts, and fans to network on a mobile app.

Andrew is a qualified accountant. He holds a combined bachelor's degree in accounting and IT, a master's degree in Investment and Finance. He has over 15 years of experience

in SAP FI/CO consulting and over 20 years of accounting and finance experience in a number of FTSE 100/250 companies in the UK and abroad.

Andrew has sat on the board of several companies in the UK, such as Spoxio Ltd, Changing Lives Housing Trust, and Twenty-Fifth Avenue Ltd.

About the Technical Reviewer



Dr. Ravi Surya Subrahmanyam has a Doctorate in Finance. He has been working as an Architect on various SAP S/4HANA Conversion & SAP S/4HANA Upgrade projects in India and the United States. He has been a Visiting Instructor for SAP S/4HANA for SAP Education, SAP India, and SAP Indonesia. He has been a speaker, blogger, and an author. He has conducted the SAP TDI program at the University of Indonesia on behalf of SAP Education -SAP Indonesia. He has been a technical and financial writer and his articles have been published in National and International journals.

Acknowledgments

I would like to start first by acknowledging Divya Modi, the acquisition editor, who encouraged me to write a second edition of my first book (SAP ERP Financial Accounting) with Apress Publishing and set me on my toes to make sure the book was completed and published within six months. Your support and encouragement was of immense value and highly appreciated. I also want to thank the Apress editorial team, who contributed to the success of this book.

Secondly, I want to thank Dr. Ravi Surya Subrahmanyam, the technical reviewer for working with me on this book. Dr. Ravi, I appreciate your contributions and the way you professionally coordinated this book project. I also want to thank the developmental editorial team, for their professional editing skills and for painstakingly editing this book line-by-line, page-by-page, and chapter-by-chapter to get it in the finest state. Others whose names have not been mentioned who have contributed one way or another to the success of this book, without you, I don't think this book would have been completed professionally. My thanks also go to Shonmirin P.A, the production editor and technical reviewers of this book and for converting the manuscript into this book.

Finally, I will not forget to say a big God bless to my beautiful daughter Zoe-Chelsea and to my lovely wife Hephzibah for the moral support while I was working on this book.

Introduction

What is SAP?

SAP (Systems, Applications, and Products in Data Processing) is the leading ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) business application software on the market today and provides a unified platform that allows business processes integration. SAP was developed by SAP AG, a German software company founded in 1972 by five ex-IBM employees. SAP is headquartered in Walldorf, Baden-Württemberg, Germany, with regional offices around the world.

The SAP system is used by major Fortune 500 companies worldwide as a preferred business solution for processing their operations and for generating reports real-time, which aids all aspects of management levels in decision making and enables them to manage their business processes effectively and efficiently.

What is SAP HANA?

SAP HANA (High-performance Analytic Appliance) is a multi-model database that stores data in its memory instead of keeping it on a disk. The column-oriented inmemory database design allows you to run advanced analytics alongside high-speed transactions – in a single system. Why is this so important? Because it lets companies process massive amounts of data with near-zero latency, query data in an instant, and become truly data-driven. By storing data in column-based tables in the main memory and bringing online analytical processing (OLAP) and online transactional processing (OLTP) together, SAP HANA is unique – and significantly faster than other database management systems (DBMS) on the market today.

Launched in 2010, SAP HANA is a modern and mature solution used by tens of thousands of customers around the world. But SAP HANA is much more than a database. In addition to acting as a database server, storing and retrieving data requested by applications, SAP HANA offers advanced search, analytics, and data integration capabilities for all types of data – structured and unstructured. It also functions as an

INTRODUCTION

application server and helps companies build smart, insight-driven applications based on real-time data, in-memory computing, and machine learning technology. These capabilities are available both in the cloud and on premise.

By combining multiple data management capabilities – and making all types of data instantly available from a single system – SAP HANA simplifies IT, helps businesses innovate, and knocks down barriers to digital transformation (Source SAP).

What is SAP FI?

FICO is an acronym for Financial (FI). This is a core module in SAP to help organizations capture financial business transactions, maintain efficient financial records, and generate financial reports for both external and internal reports for efficient decision making and strategic planning.

Financial (FI)

FI Module is a business process designed specifically for organizations to maintain their financial records efficiently on a daily basis, for management to be able to ascertain their financial position, and to generate financial statutory reports for external purposes to meet the needs of various stakeholders real time.

The FI module consists of other sub-modules, which include General Ledger (G/L), Accounts Receivable (AR), Accounts Payable (AP), Bank Accounting, Asset Accounting, Special Purpose Ledger, Travel Management, etc.

FI is integrated with other modules like Controlling (CO), Asset Accounting (FI-AA), Sale and Distribution (SD), and Material management (MM). Postings made in these modules with financial implication are posted real time to FI.

Easy Access

The Easy Access menu is a user-specific point of entry into the SAP system. It is the first screen that comes up when you log on to SAP. It is designed as a tree structure containing a list of several key items, which allow you to navigate the system and perform tasks and business processes. For example, you can perform transactions, generate reports, and access web addresses (where you can access documents from a remote Internet server).

IMG

The IMG is a generic tool that you can use to customize business processes and requirements to meet specific needs of an organization. You are presented with three implementation variants in SAP:

- SAP Reference IMG. A standard structured hierarchical tool in the R/3 system (real-time three-tier architecture) that contains the procedure for customizing various country settings and application modules.
- Project IMG. The configuration process can be very daunting. To help manage the complexity involved in customizing when using the reference IMG, you can create each implementation project based on specific functions needed for business processes and the project requirements. For example, you can reduce the project scope to specific objects such as countries.
- Project View IMG. You choose certain properties by specific criteria in order to generate views to organize your project activities. For example, a project view could hold each activity required in a project IMG.

Matchcodes

Matchcodes are user-friendly search functions designed specifically to help you look up or retrieve data records stored in the system. They provide an efficient way of looking for records stored in the system when you do not remember the key.

Who should use this book?

This book is written for SAP FI, MM, SD and FI-AA functional consultants, application consultants, FI business analysts, accountants, FI project management teams, and FI accountants.

A Quick Review of the Book's Content

Each chapter provides a sequence to be followed in customizing SAP FICO from start to finish. The sequence has been arranged to give you the opportunity to work through a complete FICO customizing lifecycle progressively. Each chapter includes all the configuration concepts or activities necessary for your customizing or draws on a previous chapter.

Chapter 1 sets the scene by looking at organizational structure and explains how to create various objects in SAPR/3. This includes how to create company codes, business areas, segments, country-specific settings, and so forth.

Chapter 2 explains and defines the Master Record, including how to edit the Chart of Accounts and how to assign a company code to the Chart of Accounts. It further explores how to define the Account Group and Retained Earnings account.

Chapter 3 looks at the purpose of document control and various forms of document types in the SAP S4 system. It also looks at the steps involved in defining number ranges and setting field status variants. It emphasizes the various principles along with the importance of posting keys, normal and special posting periods, and how to create variants for posting periods.

Chapter 4 explores posting authorizations by discussing the purpose of posting authorization, defining tolerance groups for G/L accounts and employees, assigning users to defined tolerance groups, and creating accounts for clearing differences.

Chapter 5 takes a look at the general ledger and its sub ledgers. It covers when to use line items and open item management, how to create G/L accounts, and how to set other objects settings to consider when creating G/L accounts.

Chapter 6 discusses clearing open items and various types of open-item clearing issues. It covers configuring automatic open item clearing, maximum exchange rate difference settings, the importance of foreign currency valuation, foreign currency balance sheet accounts, and G/L account balances managed on an open-item basis. It also looks at types of exchange rates and how open items are valued in foreign currency.

Chapter 7 explains how to define local and foreign currencies for company codes, maintain the relationship between currencies per currency type, and the purpose of exchange rates. It also explores how to maintain the various exchange rate types and how to define translation ratios for currency transactions.

Chapter 8 explores how to define GR/IR (Goods Receipt/Invoice Receipt) and how to configure GR/IR settings in the SAP R/3 system.

Chapter 9 deals with the House Bank and how master records are created in it. It explains using the House Bank ID and account ID, bank statements supported by SAP, creating global settings for electronic bank statements, configuring manual bank statements, defining posting keys and posting rules for check deposit, and defining variants for check deposit.

Chapter 10 looks at taxes on sales and purchases, including VAT. It covers how to create sale and purchase taxes in SAP R/3, how to specify the tax category in the G/L accounts to which taxes are posted, how to assign the basic tax code for sales and purchases, how to specify the accounts to which different tax types are posted, and how to assign tax codes for non-taxable transactions.

Chapter 11 covers the cash journal by explaining what it is and explaining which items are defined when setting up a new cash journal. It identifies the document types for cash journal items, explains how to create G/L accounts for cash journals, and how to set up the cash journal.

Chapter 12 explains the Financial Statement Versions (FSV). The chapter looks at how to create an FSV from scratch, covers the specifications to be conducted when defining FSV, how to call up FSV hierarchy nodes, and how to assign appropriate G/L accounts.

Chapter 13 explores the Integration of FI with other modules in SAP R/3. This includes automatic postings of material to FI using the valuation class of material as the key to which the G/L account materials are posted, the settings for automatic posting configuration, how to create inventory accounts using the BSX transaction key, how to create corresponding credit accounts for GR/IR clearing accounts using the WRX transaction key, how integration of FI and SD works, and how to prepare revenue account determination.

Chapter 14 deals with Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable by looking at what is Accounts Payable/Receivable, the steps involved in creating Payable/Receivable, what is Account Group and the function of Account of Account Group, how to enter Accounting Clerk name under an Identification code (ID), Create Number Range for Vendor/Customer, how to resolve Number Range overlaps, Assign number range to Customer/Vendor group, define account group with screen layout. The use of Payment terms in SAP, Assignment of Payment Terms to business partners, the purpose of defining payment terms in SAP, how to create an Installment Plan. How to configure Cash Discount Taken/Granted, Define Payment Block Reasons and process payment manually, how to Maintain Tolerance groups for Employees, Customers/Vendors, and GL Accounts. Finally, how to Maintain Automatic Outing Payment to allow the system to make multiple payments of open item invoices.

INTRODUCTION

Chapter 15 looks at the various levels involved in defining dunning and the specification of Special GL transactions to allow the system to dun Special GL transactions.

Chapter 16 looks at why it is important to disclose Special GL transactions separately by using alternative reconciliation accounts. An explanation of Special GL Transactions includes Guarantees (Automatic Offsetting Entry (Statistical)) and Down Payments (Free Offsetting Entry). The Configuration of Special GL Transactions, What is Down Payment, Down Payment Made, Received and Requested and how to Define Tax Clearing Account for Down Payments

Chapter 17 looks at ledgers in SAP S4 HANA and the types of ledgers presented in S4, such as standard ledgers and extended ledger, and defines accounting principles that form part of parallel accounting. It also looks at how to define ledger groups, ledger settings for ledgers and currency types, and how to assign accounting principles to ledger groups.

CHAPTER 1

Customizing Financial Accounting Enterprise Structure in SAP S/4HANA

In this chapter, we will explore how to:

- Define Company Code in Global Settings and assign Company to Company Code.
- Define Fiscal Year Variants and the assignment of Fiscal Year Variants to Company Code.
- Define Open and Close Periods, how to define Open and Close Periods Variants, and the assignment of the defined open and close to Company Code.

Enterprise Structure (ES) is the foundation upon which your entire organization is built in the SAP S4 HANA System. The advantage of ES is that it gives you the platform upon which various models in your Organization units are provided. The Financial (FI) Organizational Elements you create in this chapter will form the basis upon which other configurations in subsequent chapters will be built upon.

Note How your project is structured is determined by how your organization unit is defined. Hence definition of your organizational unit is very important. You should only create the new organization unit that is required by your existing data structures. Since you cannot easily change an organization unit once created, it is therefore important to have an understanding of what your organization may look like in the future.

Let's look at the steps involved in this Customizing

When you logon to SAP S4 HANA, the **SAP Easy Access** screen is displayed, as in Figure 1-1.

=							<	6	_ 8 ×
SAP		SAP Easy Acc	ess - User Menu	for REM3620					
Vuser Menu SAP Menu	SAP Business Workplace	Add to favorites	Delete favorites	Change favorites	Move favorites down	More 🗸	Q	ar e) Exit
User Menu User	SAP Business Workpiace	Add to favorites	Celete favorites	Change favorites	Move favorites down	More ~	Q	a" 6	₽ Ext
Function code cannot be selected View details									

Figure 1-1. Select Tools to start customizing

The Easy Access screen contains a list of functions to choose from. It is the initial point of entry into SAP S4 HANA. To call up the Customizing: Execute Project screen where you will start your customization, follow the menu path: **SAP Easy Access** > **Tools – Customizing > IMG > Execute Project (SPRO) > SAP Reference IMG.**

A quicker way to access the Customizing: Execute Project screen is by using a transaction code (SPRO). Transaction codes are used to navigate tasks in a single step thereby bypassing the standard menu path that involves several time-consuming steps. You use a transaction code to access the task you want to execute by simply typing it into the Command Field at the top left hand corner of the Easy Access screen (Figure 1-1). Transaction codes are standard sets of alphabets and figures recognized by the SAP System that allow you to access tasks or enter a customizing workspace that you want to execute in SAP quicker.

The SAP Project Reference Object (SPRO) is a standard transaction code to access the Customizing: Execute Project screen without having to use the menu path. SAP comes with a set of tables containing predefined transaction codes. This table can be accessed by typing SE38 into the command field to go to ABAP Editor: Initial Screen where you can see a list of transaction codes you may want to use. The ABAP Editor is beyond the scope of this book. However, you can also access transaction codes on the Easy Access Screen by choosing *More* > *Extra* > *Settings* on the menu bar at the top right hand of the screen or by simply pressing Shift+F9 on your keyboard. The Setting Screen will come up with what you can choose from. Select Display Technical Names, which is the fourth item on the displayed list of available options, by ensuring that the checkbox is activated and by pressing enter on your keyboard. This action will allow the system to display technical names with transaction codes before every function. We have also provided a list of useful technical codes in Appendix 1 which you can use as a reference.

To display the Customizing: Execute Project screen, type SPRO into the Command Field. The screen where you can start your customizing will be displayed, as in Figure 1-2.

≡		< 6 –	. 🗗 ×
< SA	Customizing: Execute Project		
	✓ SAP Reference IMG IMG information Project Analysis More ✓	Q	Exit
My Customini	ing Waddint		
Project	Name		
01			
0			
*	Manage Worklist		

Figure 1-2. SAP reference implementation guide

At the top left hand of the screen, you will see the SAP Reference IMG button. IMG stands for Implementation Guide for customizing in SAP S4 HANA. When you click the SAP Reference IMG button, this action will take you to the *Display IMG* screen, as in Figure 1-3.

≡				× 🖻 💷 🖓 >
	1	SAP	Disolay IMG	
	<i>.</i>		supply mis	
1		Expand All Position Existing BC Sets Change ?	Log Where Else Used More 🗸	Q, Q* Exit
	Struc	ture		
	12	SAP Customizing Implementation Guide		
	>	Commercial Project Management		
	6	C Activate Business Functions		
	>	Conversion of Accounting to SAP S/4HANA		
	>	SAP NetWeaver		
	>6	Enterprise Structure		
	>0	Cross-Application Components		
	>	Mobile Application Integration Framework Configuration		
	>	SAP Portfolio and Project Management		
	>	Financial Accounting		
	>	Financial Supply Chain Management		
	>	Multi-Bank Connectivity Connector		
	>	Strategic Enterprise Management/Business Analytics		
	>6	Controlling		
	>	Planning and Consolidation		
	>	SAP S/4HANA for Group Reporting		
	>0	hvestment Management		
	20	Enterprise Controlling		
		Plexible Real Estate Management (RE-FX)		
	213	Logistics - General		
	20	Environment, Health and Safety		
	-	Product Sarety and Stewardship Broduct Compliance		
	50	Salae and Distribution		
	25	Materials Management		
	- 10	a more and more and		
_	_			

Figure 1-3. Display IMG screen

This is where you will start your configuration. In IMG structure, you can select the item you want to customize from the displayed lists on the structure.

Define Company

A company is an organizational unit for accounting purposes from which financial statements are generated in accordance with the legal requirements. Secondly, financial transactions are viewed at company code level. It is important that you define at least one company in the Enterprise Structure as part of the financial accounting component to which one or more company codes are assigned. You will define a company code at this initial stage and then later in this chapter you will also define company codes and assign the company codes you have defined to the company you have defined.

There are two ways to access the screen where you will define your company in SAP S4 HANA. You can either follow this menu path: *Enterprise Structure* ➤ *Definition* ➤ *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Define Company*. This is a standard transaction code for creating a company in SAP S4 HANA. When you use either the menu path or the Transaction code, this will take you to the *Change view "Internal trading partners":* screen, as in Figure 1-4. This screen is where you will define the parameters for your Company.

Company	Company name	Name of company 2	
	Gesellschaft G00000		
1000	형파스		
001	ERP Center for Trainings		
005	Ram Group	Ram Automobiles	
710	Company 1710		
720	Company 1720		
982	SWIFT CONSULTING		
000	행패스		
600	Universal Ltd		
650	Universal India Ltd.		
867	MM Auto UK Ltd	Rana DE AG	
0TS01	DDELAPA		
99999	Fiktive Gesellschaft "Fremde"		
4003	Sunshine LLC	Mozila LLC	
c10	Best Chocolate	Best Choco.company	
DZIN	Zabeel Company in India	institute	
801	DB Manon Inc		
F100	Hyglene Corp		
MC1	Comany Hema		

Figure 1-4. Defining company

Note You will notice on the previous screen that a list of company codes are displayed on this screen. This is normal, as other Company codes may already exist in the system. All you need to do is to only create your own company code by hitting the New Entries button above.

Case study: As an SAP functional consultant working in a team of SAP consultant as part of your responsibility you are to customize the company code for your client – Spoxio Inc., a social media app company using C100 as the company code.

Click the New Entries button at the top left of the screen. This function will take you to the next screen *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* where you will define your company using up to a maximum of six characters and your company details, as in Figure 1-5.

=			< 60	_ 8	7 ×
< SAP		New Entries: Details of Added Entries			
Celete Prev	lous Entry Next Entry More $\!$		Display	Ð	xit
Company: Company neme: Name of company 2:	c100 Spokio inc.				
Detailed information					
Street:	1551 Ferry Avenue				
PO Box:					
Postal code:	08104				
City:	New Jersey				
Country	US				
Language Key:	EN				
Currency:	USD 🔯				
			_		_
			Save	Car	ncel

Figure 1-5. New Entries screen to enter your company's details

The New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen, Figure 1-5, is divided into two sections. The first section contains fields where you will enter your Company code and Company name. You have the option of entering a second company in the section if you have more than one company name. The second section is the detailed information section which contains fields that will enable you to enter the company's address, language key (your company language, for example, if you are in the USA, your company language key will be EN which stands for English) and your company currency (this is your company local currency in the USA, for example, the local currency key is USD which is United States Dollar). Update the following fields using the information below:

Company: You can enter up to six characters as your company code in this field. You can use the details in Figure 1-6 as a guide. The code you enter here will serve as your company identifier, especially in an environment where other company codes are existing in the system. **Company name:** Enter your company

name in this field. For example, the company name we used in this activity is **Spoxio Inc**. This field allows you to use up to a maximum of 25 characters as your company name.

Detail information: This section will allow you to enter further detailed information about your company as part of your company definition. Details entered here will be used as your correspondence address and currency for generating company code financial statements. Enter your company's address, post code, city, country code, language key, and currency code in the appropriate fields.

Note The SAP system comes with standard codes/keys for most countries:

- Country code/key: This key is represented in SAP S4 HANA as the country key where your company is operating. For example, the country code for Great Britain is GB, for the United States it is US, Germany it is DE, etc.
- Language code/key: This is your company language code. For example, Great Britain Language code is EN, USA is EN, and Germany is DE. Enter your company language key in this field. If you are not sure of your language key, you can search for it using the search function.
- Currency code/key: For example, for Great Britain the code is GBP, for the United States it is USD, and for Germany it is EUR. This is your company code local currency.

After you have entered your company code and address, as in Figure 1-5, click the save button at the bottom right of the screen to save your work. Click the Exit button at the top right of the screen to exit the screen.

The next step in this exercise is to define a company code for your company.

Define a Company Code

To meet a country-specific tax and legal reporting requirements, it is important to define at least one company code (you can define more than one company code depending on your requirements) that will be assigned to the company you defined above. All Company Codes are country specific. In SAP S4 HANA, the company code is an organizational unit used in FI (Financial Accounting) to structure a business process for financial reporting purposes.

In SAP S4 HANA you have the option to either define your company code from scratch or you can copy an existing company code supplied by SAP in the system. SAP recommends that you use the standard company code 0001 supplied by SAP in the system when copying an existing company code which you can modify to your own company code. The advantage of copying a company code supplied by SAP is that you are copying the existing company code-specific parameters you can modify to fit your requirements, and this will save you time in customizing.

To define your company code, follow this menu path: *IMG* ➤ *Enterprise Structure* ➤ *Definition* ➤ *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Edit, Copy, Delete, Check Company Code*.

≡				< 6 _ 7 ×
<	SAP		Display IMG	
=		Select Activity:	×	Q, Q* Exit
Activit	ties		۲	
Perf 1	Name of Activity			
c	Copy, delete, check company code]	
E	idit Company Code Data			
11 1	a a 1			
Perform	the activities in the specified order			
5				
			Choose Cancel	

Figure 1-6. Select Activity screen where you define company code

The screen in Figure 1-6 gives you two activity options to choose from: (1) either to copy an existing company code supplied by SAP using the *Copy, delete, check company code* option or (2) to create your own company code from scratch using the *Edit Company code Data* option.

Note If you choose to copy the company code supplied by SAP in the system instead of creating your own company code from scratch, use the activity option *Copy, delete, check company code* in Figure 1-6. This will allow you to copy the standard company code supplied by SAP with its parameters. The recommended sample of the standard company code supplied by SAP is 0001. When you copy a company code, the copied company code will retain most of its properties. If you decided to follow this option, note that not all the properties of a copied company code are retained, so make sure you go through each step involved in your customizing and modify all the inherited properties from the copied company code to your own company code.

Tip In this activity you will be defining your company code from scratch, as this exercise will give you the opportunity to go through all the steps involved in company code configuration.

When you choose the *Edit Company code Data* option in Figure 1-6, the **New Entries: Details of Added Entries** screen is displayed, as in Figure 1-7. This screen is where you enter your company code and company data.



Figure 1-7. The initial screen where you enter your company code details

This screen is self-explanatory. Enter your company code details in the appropriate fields. The company code details you entered in this screen will be treated by the system as your company data. When you click the Save button at the bottom right corner of the screen, the Edit Address screen comes up (Figure 1-8).

≡		< 6 _ 5 ×
SAP	Edit Address: C100 ×	
Company Code: C Company Name: S	Title: Company	
Additional data City: N Country: U	Search Terms Search term 1/2: Spoxio Inc	
*Currency: L	Street Address	
Languaga, e	Street/House number: Perry Avenue 1551 Postal Code/City: 08104 New Jersey *Country: US< Q	
	PO Box Address	
	Po Box Postal Code: Company Postal Code: Communication	
	Language: English ~ Other Communication Telephone: Extension:	
	⊗ ¥ ⊕Preview 1≵ ⊗	

Figure 1-8. Edit Address screen to add further company details

This screen is divided into five sections: Name, Search Terms, Street Address, PO Box Address, and Communication. This screen will allow you to add further details to your company code in your customization. Update each section with your company code data.

Note It is not mandatory that you must complete every field of this screen. Update only the fields that are relevant to you. You can use the screen in Figure 1-8 as a guide on how to complete your company code data.

Name: In this section, you can enter your company **title** and name in the appropriate fields. In our example above we used *Spoxio Inc. – C100* as our company name. The name you entered here will represent your company code name in the system.

Search terms: You have the choice of entering up to two search terms in this section, but this is optional. The search term you use here is optional, but we recommend that you use meaningful search terms. You can use up to 20 characters in the search terms field. The search term you use here is discretional, but it is important that you use a meaning search term you can remember. In our example, we used our company name – Spoxio Inc. The advantage of search terms is that they will allow you to search for a company code quicker in an environment where you have several company codes in the system.

Street Address: This section allows you to enter street/house number. This is usually your company's *address and number, your company Post Code and City, Country and Region*. Upon entering your Country and Region.

Post Box Address: If your company uses a Post Box address, you can enter it in this section. This may include a company's *Post Box, Postal Code, and Company Postal code.*

Communication: This section allows you to enter the language, Phone, Mobile Phone, Fax, Email, etc., used by your company for correspondence and contacts.

Save your work by clicking the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

The next step in company code customizing is to assign your company code to your company. Return to the *Display IMG* screen by hitting the Back button twice at the top left side of the screen.

Assign Company Code to Company

Case Study: You have been asked by your team to assign the four-digit company code you created to the company you created.

To complete the customizing task involved in defining your company code, you have to assign the company code you have created to your company for your company code to work efficiently. This process is a simple logical sequence. You define your company code, set the values for your company code, and assign your company code to your company. The following diagram (Figure 1-9) depicts the basic steps involved in defining and assigning company code to a company.



Figure 1-9. Steps involved in defining and assigning company code to a company

You assign your company code to your organizational unit from the *Change View "Assign Company Code* ➤ *Company" Overview* screen. To get to this screen use the menu path: *Enterprise Structure* ➤ *Assignment* ➤ *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Assign Company Code to Company* or you can use the Transaction code OX16.

≡					<	6	_ 8	×
<	SAP		Change View "Assign (Company Code -> Company": Overview				
	Vindo Change	Select All Select Block Des	elect All Configuration	Help More Y	ę	Display	Ex	R
CoCd	Company Name	City	Company					Θ
C100	Spoxio Inc	New Jersey	C100 G					
CA01	Country Template CA	Canada	-					
CA98	Canada Company+	Canada						
CA99	Country Template CA	Canada						
CEU1	FORMACION SAP SL	Spain						1
CH01	Country Template CH	Switzerland	МСН					
CL01	Country Template CL	Chile						
CN01	Country Template CN	China						
C001	Country Template CO	Colombia						
COPY	Copy from CC.0001	(Only G/L accounts B-seg)						
COZ1	Zabeel SAP Training	Dubal	ZABL					
COZI	zabeel company in India	mumbai	COZIN					
CZ01	Country Template CZ	Czech Republic						
DE01	Country Template DE	Germany	MCH					
DE02	Country Template DE	Germany						
DK01	Country Template DK	Denmark						
EF10	Hygiene Corp	Atlanta	EF100					
EG01	Country Template Egypt	Cairo						
EMC1	Company EMA	FRANCE	EMC1					
EP01	Company Emmanuel	Paris						
	+≣ Position.	Entry 40 of 178						
						Save	Can	ncel

Figure 1-10. Assignment of company code to organizational unit

The *Change View "Assign Company Code* ➤ *Company" Overview* screen is displayed containing a list of company codes existing in the system. This is the screen where you will assign your company code to your company. Scroll up or down to look for your company. In an environment where you have a large list of several company codes in the system, it will be a lot easier to use the Position. You can use the Position button to locate your company code by clicking the Position button at the bottom of the *Change View "Assign Company Code* ➤ *Company" Overview* screen. The *Another Entry* dialog screen pops up. Enter your company code four identifier characters in the Company code field and hit continue at the bottom of the *Another Entry* screen below. Your company code will be automatically displayed on top of the company codes list on the *Change View "Assign Company Code* ➤ *Company" Overview* screen.

> You will notice that your company code is displayed on top of all the company code in the system. Your company code and city are displayed, and the company field is blank. Simply type your fourcharacter company code in the company field.

Tip In a situation where you cannot remember your company code, use the search function or MatchCode button by the company field to search for your company code, as depicted in Figure 1-9. For some fields, SAP provides a search function called MatchCode. MatchCode gives you the opportunity to select a value from a list of defined values in the system. When you click on an entry field, the MatchCode button is displayed.

Enter your company code four-character identifier and save your company code settings and save your company code assignment.

Fiscal Year Variant

In SAP, the fiscal year is the financial year. It may be a calendar year or non-calendar year. If a fiscal year deviates from a calendar year then, is said to be a non-calendar year.

Typically, fiscal year is used for the purpose of financial statement preparation for a 12-month period. Normally, a fiscal period covers one business calendar year, which often starts from 1st of January to 31st of December each year. However, not all fiscal years
starts from 1st January and end 31st of December. Some fiscal years start from 1st of April and end 31st March and so on. What is more important is that a fiscal year must cover a 12-month period. The normal rule is that business transactions are assigned to the period in which the transaction took place. This is often referred to as the principle of matching concept.

Matching concept is a principle that expenses relative to the income are recorded within the same accounting period, which is usually a 12-month period.

Technically, in SAP S4 HANA, business transactions are assigned to different periods. Fiscal year variant is customized to match your company's fiscal year. Interestingly, fiscal year does not necessarily have to be the same with the normal calendar year (i.e., January to December). What is more important is that SAP S4 HANA is quite dynamic to fit your company's fiscal year.

Fiscal year variant is defined with posting periods. Posting periods are technical terms used to refer to months in SAP S4 HANA. A Fiscal Year is made up of 12 posting periods. Besides the normal 12 posting periods, you can define up to a maximum of 4 special posting periods, which are used for posting yearend adjustments to a closed period. For example, if the normal fiscal period is closed, adjustments can still be posted in one of the four special periods.

Note In SAP S4 HANA, you cannot exceed a maximum of 16 periods. The system cannot determine posting periods automatically, so you must specify your special posting periods manually in the document header posting field. We will see how this is done later when we look at posting periods.

In SAP S4 HANA, Posting Periods are identified by posting dates. Fiscal year Variant can be defined either as:

- Year independent or
- Year specific (dependent).



Figure 1-11. Types of fiscal year variants

Year independent: This is when the accounting periods of a company remains the same each year (i.e., the financial reporting year is the same each year). For example, an organization's fiscal year is January to December each year. We have two types of year independent fiscal year variants in SAP:

Calendar year: Posting period is the same as the calendar year, usually 12 months. Posting period runs 12 months each year (for example, the USA financial year starts in January and ends in December).

None Calendar year: Are those periods that starts and ends any month of the year, except January and December. Some countries' fiscal year starts any other month and not January. In the UK, for example, the fiscal year starts in April and ends in March. Since the non-calendar year did not start in January 1^{st} , then use indicator -1 or +1 for the period of the year that belongs to the formal or latter fiscal year.

Note February is counted as 29 days irrespective of actual number of days in February in order for the system to take leap year into consideration.

The SAP system comes with standard fiscal year variants. We recommend that you use the standard fiscal year variant supplied by the System. Example of Fiscal Year variant that comes with SAP S4 HANA system: Fiscal Year Variant for USA (January to December) is K4 and Fiscal Year Variant for UK (April to March) is V3.

Tip Copy and modify the standard fiscal year variant supplied by SAP in the system.

If you decided to define your own fiscal year variant, use a two-digit alphanumeric identifier of your choice as your variant and maintain your fiscal year variant as appropriate.

Year-Specific or Year dependent

This is the case where the fiscal year/posting periods varies from year to year. This is uncommon in practice.

An example of a situation when this will arise is when posting periods are either greater than 12 months (extended fiscal year) or posting periods are less than 12 months (shortened fiscal year). The reason for shortened fiscal year could be as a result of a company winding-up or any other special reasons.

Maintain Fiscal Year Variant

Case Study

As SAP functional consultant for Spoxio Inc., your responsibility is to define your company fiscal year variant from January–December for your company code. You were told by a colleague to copy the fiscal year variant K4 supplied by SAP in the system and modify the copied fiscal year variant to meet your requirement, instead of going through the rigorous process of defining another fiscal year variant.

To maintain the fiscal Year Variant is simply to customize the fiscal year variant for your company code. To get to the screen where you will maintain your fiscal year variant, as in Figure 1-12, use the menu path: *IMG* ➤ *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Ledgers* ➤ *Fiscal Year and Posting Periods* ➤ *Maintain Fiscal Year Variant (Maintain Shortened Fiscal. Year)*. The transaction code is *OB29*.

Change View "Fiscal year variants" Overview screen is displayed. This screen is split into two sections. The Dialog structure section and Fiscal year variants section in Figure 1-12, where you can customize your fiscal year. Since you want to copy fiscal year variant K4 supplied by SAP in the system. Use the Position button at the button of *Change View "Fiscal year variants" Overview* screen with a list of fiscal year already in the system. You can either search for the Fiscal year variant K4 you want to use by clicking the Position bottom at the bottom of the screen or by using the scroll bar. The advantage of using the Position button is that it saves you time scrolling to look for the variant you want to use.

Figure 1-12. The screen where you configure fiscal year variant

In this exercise, we will be using the Position button. When you choose the position button a dialog box *Another entry* pops up, as in Figure 1-12. This dialog box will enable you to carry out a quick search for the fiscal year variant – K4 supplied by the system that you want to adapt to your fiscal year variant.

Tip If you chose to define your own Fiscal Year Variant, choose the **New Entries** button at the top left corner of the screen and update the following fields:

FV: Enter two-digit characters as your fiscal year variant identifier key. It is recommended that you use alphanumeric as your fiscal year identifier. In the example above, the standard fiscal year variant supplied by SAP in the system – **K4** (calendar Year) was copied and modified to meet the desired requirement.

Description: This field allows you to describe or name your fiscal year variant. This could be the name of your company.

Year-Dependent: If the fiscal year/posting periods vary each year, activate the Year-Dependent checkbox by making sure that it is ticked. This is not very common in practice.

Calendar Yr: If the fiscal year is the same as the normal calendar year each year, activate Calendar year checkbox.

Number of posting periods: Here you specify the number of posting periods. This will normally be a 12-month period as your company's accounting period.

No. of special posting periods: SAP S4 HANA system allows up to 4 special periods for making postings outside the normal accounting periods.

Enter K4 in *FI. Year Variant* field to call up K4 from the list of variants in the system. Select K4 from the variant list and click Continue at the bottom of the dialog screen. The *Change View "fiscal Year Variants": Overview* screen is displayed. This screen will allow you to copy an existing Fiscal year supplied by SAP in

the system. To copy a fiscal year variant, select K4 from the list of fiscal year variants and choose Copy As at the top left corner of the screen. If you are creating your own fiscal year variant, choose the New Entries button at the top right corner of the screen.

Since we are copying fiscal year variant K4 supplied by SAP in the system, select fiscal year K4 to select or highlight it. Choose Copy As at the top of the screen to copy Fiscal Year Variant – K4.

Note When you copy fiscal year variant, you are also copying all its dependent properties or settings defined by SAP in the system.

Tip This function will allow you to copy the standard fiscal year variant **C4** – January to December supplied by the system. When you copy a fiscal year variant, you must change the fiscal year variant key to your own key. Otherwise, you will not be able to save the fiscal year variant you have copied, as the system does not allow duplicate fiscal year keys. Once you have copied K4, change the fiscal year variant of your choice. For example, in this activity we used **C4** as the Fiscal year variant identifier key and enter **Fiscal year variant – C100** as the Fiscal year variant description.

Note if possible, avoid using letters K or V as part of your fiscal year variant key because some of the standard fiscal year variant keys supplied by the system starts with either K or V. The system does not allow a duplicate fiscal year variant key.

When you update the screen by changing content of *FV* field to C4 and the Description field to **Fiscal Year Variant – C100**, your screen should look like the screen in Figure 1-13.

≡											< 6	_ 🗗 ×
SAP				Chang	e View "Fiscal	l year variants"	Overvie	w of Selecte	ed Set			
✓ More Y	~											
Dialog Structure	Fiscal ye	ear variants										۲
VC Fiscal year variants	FV De	escription	Calend	Year-d	Number of p	No.of special	Fiscal	Offset Bef	Offset Aft	Weekl		
Periods	C4 Ca	I. Year, 4 Special P.	1		12	4						
Shortened Fiscal Years												
		_										
						Entry 1 of 1						
One entry chosen View details												Apply

Figure 1-13. Modification of the fiscal year variant

Click Apply button at the bottom right corner of the screen or press enter on your keyboard. *Specify object to be copied dialog* screen pops up. This screen will allow you to copy just the dependent entries or all the dependent entries of the fiscal year variant you have selected to copy. Since you want to copy all the dependent entries of Fiscal Year Variant K4, choose Copy All command button.

Information dialog pops up telling you the number of dependent entries you have copied from fiscal year variant K4. Choose Continue at the bottom right corner of the information pop-up screen or Press enter on your keyboard to confirm your entries.

Change View "Fiscal year variants" Overview screen is displayed containing the fiscal year variant C4 that you have defined. Save your variant. The system will notify you on the status bar below that Number of copied entries (including transactions):1.

Assign Fiscal Year Variant to Company Code

It is mandatory to assign a fiscal year to a company code in SAP. Since you have defined or copied your fiscal year variant, the next step is to assign the fiscal year variant to your company code. It is also possible to assign the standard fiscal year variant supplied by SAP in the system directly to your company code without having to define your own fiscal year variant. Follow this menu path *IMG* > *Financial Accounting* > *Financial Accounting Global Settings* > *Ledgers* > *Fiscal Year and Posting Periods* > *Assign Company Code to a Fiscal Year Variant* or use the transaction OB37 to get to the screen where you will assign the fiscal year you have defined to your company code in Figure 1-13.

Change View "Assign Comp.Code ➤ *Fiscal Year Variant":Overview* screen is displayed. To assign your company code to your fiscal year variant, search for your company code by using the position key below or use the scroll bar and assign your fiscal year variant – C4 to your company code (C100).

=						< 6 _ 🗇 ×
<	SAP		Change View "Assign Comp.Code	e -> Fiscal Year Variant":	Overview	
	✓ Undo Change	Select All Select Block	Deselect All Configuration Help	More ~		😨 Display Exit
CoCd	Company Name	Fiscal Year Variant	Description			Θ
C100	Spoxio Inc	C4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
CA01	Country Template CA	К4	Cal. Year. 4 Special Periods			
CA98	Canada Company+	к4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
CA99	Country Template CA	к4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
CEU1	FORMACION SAP SL	к4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
CH01	Country Template CH	к4	Cal. Year. 4 Special Periods			
CL01	Country Template CL	к4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
CN01	Country Template CN	к1	Cal. Year, 1 Special Period			
C001	Country Template CO	К4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
COPY	Copy from CC.0001	к4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
COZ1	Zabeel SAP Training	к4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
COZI	zabeel company in India	V3	Apr March, 4 special periods			
CZ01	Country Template CZ	К4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
DE01	Country Template DE	к4	Cal. Year. 4 Special Periods			
DE02	Country Template DE	к4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
DK01	Country Template DK	к4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
EF10	Hygiene Corp	к4	Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods			
	+I Positio	n Entry 4	0 01 1/8			
						Save Cancel

Figure 1-14. Assigning Company Code to fiscal year variant

To save your work, choose Save at the bottom right corner of the screen.

Note The system may issue a warning message below that *"No postings are possible without fiscal year"* and the save button is suppressed. This normally happens when some Company Codes are not assigned with fiscal year variants. If this happens, hit the enter button or press the enter key on your keyboard several times until the Save button is activated. Then save your work. The system will notify on the status bar below that your Data was saved.

Defining Posting Periods

As mentioned above, accounting transactions are usually assigned to periods. Posting periods are defined in the fiscal year variant. The benefit of defining the variant for open periods is to avoid the problem of posting accounting transactions to the wrong accounting period. This is achieved by opening current periods and closing all other periods. At the end of the current period, the period is closed and the next period is opened. It is compulsory that at least two posting period intervals must be opened at any given time. On the other hand, you can open several posting periods at the same time.

Posting periods are independent of Fiscal Year, that is, they are not dependent on or controlled by Fiscal Year. Posting periods are defined at the global level in SAP S4 HANA. This makes it accessible to several company codes in the system.

In SAP S4 HANA, opening and closing periods are differentiated by account types. This will allow you to determine which accounts are posted to at a specific posting period. For example, posting can be permitted for accounts payable and not to accounts receivable. You can specify several account types simultaneously as part of your customizing in open periods: below we have listed the basic account types in SAP S4 HANA.

Account types in open period

- + Valid for all Account types
- A Assets
- D Debtors
- K Creditors

- M Materials
- S General Ledger (G/L) Accounts
- V Contract Accounts

IN SAP S4 HANA, it is mandatory that you specify the minimum account type "+." This account types is valid for all account types for each open period in SAP S4 HANA. The benefit of applying account types to an open period is to enable the system to determine whether the posting period can be posted to using the posting date in the document header.

When customizing open periods, it is important that you define the following items:

- Define variants for open posting periods.
- Assign variants to company code.
- Specify open and close periods.

Let's look at the steps involved in customizing each in turn.

Define Variants for Open Posting Periods

Case study: Your task is to define the Variants for Posting Periods for your company code and assign the Variant you have define to your company code.

To define Variants for Open Posting Periods, follow the menu path: *IMG: Financial* Accounting ➤ Financial Accounting Global Settings ➤ Ledgers ➤ Fiscal Year and posting Periods ➤ Posting Periods ➤ Define Variants for Open Posting Periods

The **Change View "Posting Periods: Define Variants". Overview** screen where you will define your variants for opening posting period appears. Click the **New Entries** at the top left corner of the screen.

The New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen is displayed (Figure 1-15). This screen is where you define your variant key and variant name. In practice the variant key is usually defined using your company code and your company name as the variant name.

≡			× 🙃 💷 🖇 >
< 54	P	New Entries: Overview of Added Entries	
-			
	Delete Select All Select Block	Deselect All Configuration Help More 🗠	P Display Exit
Mariant	Mana		
c100	Spanio Inc C100		
	opono ne o roo	2	
	-I Position	Entry 0 of 0	
			Cause - Caused
		21	Save Cancel

Figure 1-15. Defining variant key and name

Update the following fields:

Variant: Enter four characters as the posting variant key in the variant field. Preferably your company code. The code you enter here will be used when assigning a posting variant later to your company code.

Name: Enter the description or a variant name that best describes your variant in this filed. In our example, we used *Open Period Variant – C100* as our variant name.

Hit the enter button to confirm the variant you entered into the system. If the variant already exists in the system, when you hit the enter button, the system will notify you on the status bar below that "An entry already exists with the same key"; SAP S4 HANA does not allow duplicate variant keys. All you have to do when faced with this problem is to use another variant key that the system will accept. Otherwise, the save icon will be suppressed

and you will not be able to save your variant. Once the system accepts your variant, the save bottom is activated and you can save your work. Save your open posting variant by clicking save at the bottom right corner of the screen.

The next step in this activity is to assign the Open Posting Period Variant you created to your Company Code.

Assign Variants to Company Code

The Assignment of posting periods Variant is a part of customizing variants for opening periods. Every company code in SAP S4 HANA must be assigned with posting periods variant. To get to the screen where you can assign your company code to a posting period variant use this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting* Clobal Settings ➤ Ledgers ➤ Fiscal Year and posting Periods ➤ Posting Periods ➤ Assign Variants to Company Code.

Change View "Assign Comp.Code ➤ *Posting Period Variants": Overview* screen is displayed. This is the screen where the assignment of your variant to your company code is carried out. Using the Position button at the bottom of the screen, search for your company code and update the Variant fields by entering the variant for Open Posting Periods that you defined in Figure 1-16.

<	SAP	Chan	ge View "Assign Comp.Code -> Posting Period Variants": Overview	<	6	- 8
	Vindo Change	Select All Select Block Des	elect All Configuration Help More $\!$	Ŧ	Display	Ex
CoCd 4	Company Name	City	Variant			(
C100 5	Spoxio Inc	New Jersey	c100 Q			
CA01 0	Country Template CA	Canada	0001			
CA98 0	Canada Company+	Canada	ITZL			
CA99 0	Country Template CA	Canada	0001			
CEU1 P	FORMACION SAP SL	Spain	0001			1
CH01 0	Country Template CH	Switzerland	0001			
CL01 0	Country Template CL	Chile	0001			
CN01 0	Country Template CN	China	0001			
C001 0	Country Template CO	Colombia	0001			
COPY C	Copy from CC.0001	(Only G/L accounts B-seg)	0001			
COZ1 2	Zabeel SAP Training	Dubal	0001			
COZI Z	zabeel company in India	mumbai	COZI			
CZ01 0	Country Template CZ	Czech Republic	0001			
DE01 0	Country Template DE	Germany	0001			
DE02	Country Template DE	Germany	0001			
DK01	Country Template DK	Denmark	0001			
EF10 H	Hygiene Corp	Atlanta	EFV1			
EGO1 C	Country Template Egypt	Cairo	0001			
EMC1 0	Company EMA	FRANCE	0001			
EPO1 C	Company Emmanuel	Paris	0001			

Figure 1-16. Assign company code to posting period variant

Enter your four-digit variant key – C100 identifier in the variant field, as in Figure 1-16, and save your work.

Open and Close Periods

Case Study

You can define your posting periods from scratch, or you can copy an existing posting period and modify them to meet your requirement. To simplify your configuration, your colleagues have asked you to copy the standard posting period from company code – 1000 supplied by SAP in the system and modify them to meet the requirements of your client.

As mentioned above, posting periods are opened in fiscal year variants. You can open and close several posting periods simultaneously in SAP S4 Hana. The advantage of opening and closing periods is that it helps prevent the mistake of posting transactions to the wrong period in the sense that only the valid period is open and the other periods not relevant for posting are closed. To go to the screen where you can Open and Close posting periods, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Financial Accounting Global Settings* > *Ledgers* > *Fiscal Year and posting Periods* > *Posting Periods* > *Open and Close Posting Periods*.

Determine Work Area: Entry screen pops up. Enter your Posting Period Variant Key in the Posting period variant – C100 and click Continue at the bottom of the screen.

Change View "Posting Periods: Specify Time Intervals": Overview screen is displayed in Figure 1-17. Since your task is to copy an existing Posting Period supplied by the system. Select or highlight the Posting Periods range you want to copy and choose the copy button above to copy them.

Change View Posting Periods: Specify Time Intervals*. Overview Posting Periods: Specify Time Intervals View Entries Copy As Device Undo Change Select AI Select Block Deselect AI Configuration Help More ✓ Image View Prosting Periods: Specify Time Intervals View A From Account From Per.1 Year To Per.1 Year To Per.1 Year To Per.2 Year From Per.2 Year To Per.3 Year 0001.4 2222222222 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 Image View To Per.3 Year Year 0001.4 2222222222 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 Image View To Per.3 Year 0001.8 2222222222 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 Image View To Per.3 Year 0001.8 22222222222 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 Image View To Per.3 Year Image View To Per.3 Year 0001.8 22222222222 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 Image View To Per.3 Year Image View To Per.3	=	-															< 6	1-1	8
New Entries Copy As Davies Undo Change Select All Select All Configuration Help More More<	<	Sale					Change	View	Posting Peri	iods: Sp	pecify Time In	ntervals"	: Overview						
Positive Sector Nor. A Prom Account To Account Tom Per.1 Year AuGr From Per.2 Year To Per.2 Year Tom Per.3 Year To Per.3 Year Year 0001 + 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 1 Year			New Entries	Copy As	Dele	te Undo	Change	Select	All Select B	Block	Deselect All	Config	guration Help	More	~		@ Di	splay	Exit
Periods: Specify Time Interval Var. A From Account To Account From Per:1 Var. Var. A From Account To Account From Per:1 Var. Var. A From Account To Account From Per:1 Var. Var. A From Account To Account From Per:1 Var. Var. A From Account To Account From Per:1 Var. A Grow Inc. Var. Var. Var. A From Account To Account From Per:1 Var. Var. A From Account To Account From Per:1 Var. A Grow Inc. Var.																			
Var. A From Account To Account From Per.1 Year To Per.1 Year To Per.1 Year Year To Per.2 Year Year To Per.3 Year To Per.3 Year To Per.3 Year To Per.3 Year Year To Per.3 Year	Postin	g Periods: Specif	y Time Intervals	5															6
v 0001 + 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 A ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 A ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 M ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 M ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 M ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 M ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2040 13 2000 16 2040 v 000 + 1 2022 12 2022 13 2022 16 2022 14 v 000 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 14 14 14 v 000 K ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 2 2022 15 14 14	Var.	A From Account	To Account	From Per.1	Year	To Per. 1	Year	AuGr	From Per.2	Year	To Per. 2	Year	From Per.3	Year	To Per. 3	Year			
v 0001 A ZZZZZZZZZ 1 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 D ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 M ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 M ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 001 M ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 000 M ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 000 A ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 v 000 A ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2020 12 2022 13 2002 16 2040 v 000 A ZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 10 10 1000 A ZZZZZZZZ 1 1 2022 12 2022 10 10 100 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 10 10 100 100 A ZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 2 2022 10 100 10 100 2	y 000	1 +		1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030							
y 0001 D ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 y 001 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 y 0001 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 y 0001 C ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 y 0002 + 1 1 2002 12 2022 13 2002 16 2040 1000 + 1 2022 12 2022 13 2002 16 2022 1000 A ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 10 10 1000 A ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 10 10 10 1000 A ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 10 10 10 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 10 10 10 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2022 13 201 16 2021 <td>000</td> <td>1 A</td> <td>2222222222</td> <td>1</td> <td>2000</td> <td>12</td> <td>2030</td> <td></td> <td>13</td> <td>2000</td> <td>16</td> <td>2030</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	000	1 A	2222222222	1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030							
vool k vool k	000	1 D	2222222222	1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030							
V 0001 M ZZZZZZZZZ I 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 V 0001 C ZZZZZZZZ I 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 0001 C ZZZZZZZZ I 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 0002 + 1 2020 12 2022 13 2000 16 2040 1000 h ZZZZZZZZZ I 2 2022 6 2022 10 2021 1000 h ZZZZZZZZZ I 1 2022 12 2022 10 2022 10 1000 h ZZZZZZZZZ I 1 2022 12 2022 10 10 10 1000 h ZZZZZZZZZ I 1 2022 12 2022 10 10 10 1000 h ZZZZZZZZZ I 1 2021 12 2022 10 10 10 1000 h ZZZZZZZZ I 1 2021 12 2022 10 10 10 1000 h ZZZZZZZZZ 1 201 12 2022 10 10 10 1000 h ZZZZZZZ	000	1 K	2222222222	1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030							
0001 2222222222 1 2000 12 2030 13 2000 16 2030 0002 + 1 2000 12 2040 13 2000 16 2040 1000 + 1 2020 12 2022 13 2022 16 2022 1000 A 2222222222 2 2022 6 2022 1 1 1000 K 22222222222 1 2022 12 2022 1	000	1 M	ZZZZZZZZZZZ	1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030							
0002 + 1 2000 12 2040 13 2000 16 2040 1000 + 1 2022 12 2022 13 2022 16 2022 1000 A ZZZZZZZZZZ 2022 12 2022 2022 1 2021 12 2022 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 1 1 1 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 1 1 1 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 1 1 1 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2022 1 1 1 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2022 1 1 1 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2022 1 1 1 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2021 16 2021 1 1001 H ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2021 16 2021 2021	000	1 0	2222222222	1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030							
1000 + 1 2022 12 2022 13 2022 16 2022 1000 A ZZZZZZZZZZ 2 2022 6 2022 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2022 1000 K ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2021 1001 + 1 201 12 2022 13 201 16	000	2 +		1	2000	12	2040		13	2000	16	2040							
1000 A 2222222222 2 2022 6 2022 1000 D 2222222222 1 2022 12 2022 1000 M 2222222222 1 2022 12 2022 1000 M 2222222222 1 2022 12 2022 1000 S 2222222222 1 2021 2 2022 1001 + 1 2021 12 2022 13 2021 16 2021 1001 A 2222222222 13 2021 16 2021	100	0 +		1	2022	12	2022		13	2022	16	2022							
1000 b 2222222222 1 2022 12 2022 2022 1000 k 2222222222 1 2022 12 2022 2022 1000 k 2222222222 1 2020 12 2022 2022 1000 k 2222222222 1 2020 12 2022 1 1001 + 1 2021 12 2022 13 2021 16 2021 1001 A 2222222222 1 2021 12 2021 16 2021	100	0 A	ZZZZZZZZZZZ	2	2022	6	2022												
1000 k ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 1000 k ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2022 12 2022 1000 k ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2022 1001 k ZZZZZZZZZZ 2021 12 2022 13 2021 16 1001 k ZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZ	100	0 0	ZZZZZZZZZZ	1	2022	12	2022												
1000 M 2222222222 1 2022 12 2022 1000 S 2222222222 1 2020 12 2022 1001 + 1 2021 12 2022 13 2021 16 2021 1001 A 2222222222 2021 12 2022 13 2021 16 2021	100	0 K	2222222222	1	2022	12	2022												
1000 S 2222222222 1 2020 12 2022 1001 + 1 2021 12 2022 13 2021 16 2021 1001 A 2222222222 2021 12 2022 13 2021 16 2021	100	0 M	2222222222	1	2022	12	2022												
1001 + 1 2021 12 2022 13 2021 16 2021 1001 A ZZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2022 13 2021 16 2021	100	0 \$	2222222222	1	2020	12	2022												
1001 A ZZZZZZZZZ 1 2021 12 2022 13 2021 16 2021	100	1 +		1	2021	12	2022		13	2021	16	2021							
	100	1 A	ZZZZZZZZZZ	1	2021	12	2022		13	2021	16	2021							
				-															
			→≣ Posit	tion		Entry 1 of	1224												
-E Position Entry 1 of 224																			
+E Position Entry 1 of 224																		-	
+E Position Entry 1 of 224																	1	save C	anc

Figure 1-17. Copy Posting Period intervals

Select all the accounts (+ A D K M S) belonging to Company code 0001 that you want to copy from the list of displayed variants.

 Choose Copy As... at the top of the screen from the menu bar above to copy the Posting Periods you have selected. The system will now copy the variants you copied from Company Code 0001 in Change View "Posting Periods: Specify Time Intervals": Overview screen. Modify the screen contents, as in Figure 1-18, by replacing the existing Variant 0001 with your own variant - C100.

≡																	4	6	_ 8 ×
	SAP				c	Change Vi	iew "Po	sting Period	is: Speci	fy Time Inte	rvals": O	verview of S	el						
		Mora																	
		inore -																	
Posting	Periods: Specify	Time Intervals	5																•
Var.	A From Account	To Account	From Per.1	Year	To Per. 1	Year	AuGr	From Per.2	Year	To Per. 2	Year	From Per.3	Year	To Per. 3	Year				
C100	+		1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030								
C100	A	2222222222	1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030								
C100	D	2222222222	1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030								
C100	к	2222222222	1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030								
C100	M	22222222222	1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030								
C100	Q	22222222222	1	2000	12	2030		13	2000	16	2030								
					Entry 1 of	6													
_	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
																			Apply

Figure 1-18. Update Posting Period Intervals

Tip	SAP has 12 norma	l posting periods and	d up to 4 special periods.
-----	------------------	-----------------------	----------------------------

From Per. 1	Year	To Per. 1	Year	
1	2000	12	2030	Periods 1 to 12 represent an accounting period of 12 months.
				The year 2000 to 2030 is specified. Note that the year range you specify here must include your current fiscal year. Otherwise, the system will assume that the posting period is closed, and you will not be able to post any transactions in the system.

From Per. 2	Year	To Per. 2	Year	
13	2000	16	2030	Period 13 to 16 represents the special periods of 4 months, for posting year-end adjustments to a closed fiscal year.
				The year 2000 to 2030 is specified. The current fiscal year is January to December 20XX. Since you want to allow 4 months after the normal posting period to allow for adjustment posting at the end of the year, then you should specify any year beyond 20XX to allow for the special period.

Four Special posting periods

Hit enter on your keyboard. The system will automatically accept your entries. When you click save at the bottom right corner of the screen, the system will notify you that your variant is saved at the task bar below.

Note If your entries are rejected, it is obvious that you are using variant keys already existing in the system. Make sure your variant keys are unique to your company code.

Summary

In this chapter, we looked at the basic financial accounting customization in enterprise structure, which is fundamental to the remaining customizing presented in subsequent chapters in this book. In this chapter, you learned how to define company and assign company to company code, define fiscal year variant, and assign the variant to define to your company. Finally, you also learned how to maintain open and close periods. In the next chapter, we will be looking at how to customize master date, chart of accounts, and retained earnings.

CHAPTER 2

Defining Chart of Accounts

In this chapter, you will learn how to define Chart of Accounts, Create General ledgers, and assign chart of accounts to company codes.

At the end of this activity you will be able to:

- Define Chart of Accounts.
- Create General Ledgers.
- Define the Chart of Accounts (using four characters ID).
- Define the properties of the Chart of Accounts.
- Assign Chart of Accounts to Company Code.

Master Data

Master Record contains vital data or information held in a business system database that remains relatively unchanged over a long period of time. This is the case in an environment where sets of data are commonly accessed, used, and shared by different individuals for different purposes across an organization in order to fulfill business processes in real time.

Information that aids efficient business processes, which tends not to change frequently relating to an object, are held in the system database. The idea behind this process is to avoid having to re-enter the same information twice by users, thereby saving input time, and avoiding unnecessary waste of system resources and redundancies by having to enter information in the system more than once. Typical Examples of Master Data in a database in SAP S4 HANA are Customer Data, Vendor Data, Bank Data, GL Account, Material, etc.

Transaction Data: These are information triggered as a result of events arising from day to day business transactions. A typical transaction data is time driven with numerical value and often refers to one or more objects in the system.

Examples of transaction data in SAP S4 HANA are Invoice, Payment, Credit memo, Goods Receipt.

Table data: Contains information about objects, like Payment Terms, Tolerances, and Pricing Conditions.

Defining Chart of Accounts

Chart of Accounts consists of G/L accounts that a company or several company codes uses. In configuration at Account group, we define the length of account numbers. A workshop has to be conducted by the implementation team to complete this activity. Before defining chart of accounts, the implementation team must understand the following points:

Determine the accounts classification.

End users' requirements to ascertain which G/L accounts are needed.

Identify the accounts which are no longer required.

The G/L accounts that are used for automatic postings.

The G/L accounts which are non-operating accounts under P&L group.

The legal framework to define financial statement version.

The fort of report.

B/S and P&L formats.

Internal reporting requirements.

In SAP S4 HANA, a chart of accounts is a fundamental tool that contains a listing of accounts in the general ledger used by a company or several company codes for posting transactions. Transactions are categorized by transaction type in the chart of accounts.

The Chart of Accounts contains basic information about the structure of general ledger accounts in SAP S4 HANA, such as account number, account name, and other control information relating to how the GL account is created and functions within SAP S4 HANA.

The benefits of chart of accounts:

- Define the basic structure for creating general ledger accounts.
- Gives one or more company codes the option to use the same chart of accounts.

In addition to the minimum operational chart of accounts, you can assign two more charts (country specific and/or group) to your operational chart of accounts. Country specific chart of accounts will allow you to generate reports to meet country specific reporting requirements, while group chart of accounts helps with consolidation reporting.

Three steps are involved in the customizing of Chart of Accounts in SAP S4 HANA (Figure 2-1.)



Figure 2-1. Steps involved in Chart of Accounts customization

It is mandatory that each company code in SAP S4 HANA be assigned an operational chart of accounts. One operational chart of accounts can be assigned to several company codes with the same general ledger structure.

Three charts of accounts are presented in SAP S4 HANA, namely:

- Operational Chart of Accounts.
- Group Chart of Accounts.
- Country Specific Chart of Accounts.

The functions of each of the chart of accounts are explained below:

Operational Chart of Accounts: this is often referred to as common chart of accounts. It is used to post, record, and report financial accounting and cost transactions on a daily basis. Each company code in SAP S4 HANA must be assigned an operational chart of accounts.

Group Chart of Accounts: this is applicable in an environment where each company code in the same company generates its own financial reports, and the company also prepares its own consolidated financial reports by bringing together the financial reporting of each company code in a single financial report. Consolidation financial reporting is possible in SAP S4 HANA via group chart of accounts.

Let's look at how to define chart of accounts in SAP S4 HANA.

Creating Chart of Accounts

Case study: Your task as SAP FI consultant is to create the Chart of Accounts and assign the chart of accounts you have created to your company code.

Note You have a choice to either create your own chart of accounts or our use the standard chart of accounts provided by SAP in the system.

Tip We advise that you use the standard chart of accounts INT supplied by SAP in the system as this will meet your requirements. When you use a standard chart of accounts, you are also using the associated properties with it.

The chart of accounts you create will contain a list of General Ledgers (G/L) that will be used by your company code for posting transactions and financial reporting. Chart of Accounts is created at the global level. This means that the chart of accounts you created will be available to all company codes in the client. The following menu path will take you to the screen where you can customize your chart of accounts: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *General Ledger Accounting* > *Master Data* > *G/L Accounts* > *Preparations* > *Edit Chart of Accounts List.*

The Change View **"List of All Chart of Accounts": Overview** screen will be displayed (Figure 2-2).

Chart of Accts Chart of Accts Chart of Accts OH81 IIS-8 Sample OH82 I000 UNA I000 Chart of Ac I982 operational I001 Chart of Ac	Change Vi New Entries Copy As Delete Undo Change counts Description e bank - Germany o Training Company	ew "List of All Charts of Ac Select All Select Block	counts": Overview Deselect All Configuration He	lp More⊻	😨 Display	Exit O
Chart of Accts Chart of Ac 0 M81 IS-B Sample 0 M82 1000 1001 COA for the 1500 Chart of Ac 1992 operational 1001 CoA for the	n New Entries Copy As Delete Undo Change counts Description e bank - Germany a Training Company	Select All Select Block	Deselect All Configuration He	lp More∨	영 Display	Exit O
Chart of Accts Chart of Ac 0 M81 IS-B Sample 0 M82 1000 1000 1001 COA for the 1500 1952 operational 1001 CoAs for the	town Enries Copy As Delete Undo Change counts Description e bank - Germany	Select All Select Block	Deselect All Configuration He	ip More ~	'⊕' Display	Θ
Chart of Accts Chart of Ac 0M81 IS-B Sample 0M82 1000 1001 COA for the 1500 Chart of Ac 1952 operational 1001 COA for the	counts Description e bank - Germany ø Training Companz	2				Θ
0M81 I5-8 Sample 0M82 SHG 1000 SHG 1001 COA for the 1500 Chart of Acc 1982 operational 1001 CM87 OF	e bank - Germany # Training Companz	3				
OMB2 1000 SH≏ 1001 COA for the 1500 Chart of Ac 1982 operational 1001 CMB7 ∩6	# Training Company					
1000 1001 1001 COA for the 1500 Chart of Acc 1982 operational 1001 CAAPT of Acc	a Training Company					
1001 COA for the 1500 Chart of Acc 1982 operational 1001 CHART OF	Training Companz					
1500 Chart of Acc 1982 operational						
1982 operational 1901 CHART OF	count for IBM					
1001 CHART OF	Chart of account					
ADVA CRIMITOP	ACCOUNT FOR IDE01					
300 TMC Co Gr	roup					
9000 Chart of acc	counts - Japan					
AP10 Chart of Acc	counts for AP01					
BKMG Bank Chart	of Accounts - Multi-GAAP					
CA10 Chart of Acc	counts - Company C100					
CABC Chart of acc	counts - Best Chocolate					
CABE Chart of acc	counts - Belgium					
CACH Chart of acc	counts - Switzerland					
CACN Chart of acc	counts - China					
CACO Sample cha	art of accounts for Colombia					
CACZ Chart of acc	counts - Czech Republic					
CAES Chart of acc	counts - Spain					
CAF1 Chart of acc	counts - DB Manon Inc					

Figure 2-2. The initial screen where you start creating chart of accounts.

Click the New Entries at the top left of the screen, to go to the **New Entries: Details of Added Entries**.

Ξ	< 6 – 3 ×
Ker Kerker Ker	
✓ Delete Previous Entry Next Entry More ✓	② Display Exit
* Chart of Accts: CA10	
Description: Chart of Accounts - C100	
General specifications	
Maint, Languaga: English 🗸 🗸	
Length of G/L Account Number: 10	
Consolidation	
Group Chart of Accts:	
Status	
Blocked	
	Save Cancel

Figure 2-3. The screen you define your chart of accounts

Update the following fields:

Chart of Accts: Enter a four digit-character ID as your chart of accounts key. This key will allow you to identify your chart of accounts from the list of charts of accounts in the system. The four digit-character you use is unique to your chart of accounts. It cannot be used for other chart of accounts in the system.

Description: Enter short text description for your chart of accounts in this field. In this activity we used – *Chart of Accounts* – *C100* as our description.

General specifications: In SAP S4 HANA, chart of accounts are maintained in the language that you specify here. In this field, you choose the language that you want to use to maintain your chart of accounts from the language list in *Maint. Language* field. Master data can only be displayed and maintained in the language you specified in this field. Secondly, enter the length of your G/L account number in the *Length of G/L account number* field below. The GL account number length is from 1-10 digits.

Consolidation: Enter the group chart of accounts used by your corporate group in this field. The chart of accounts you enter here will be required when creating corporate General Ledger accounts that are used for consolidation financial statements for corporate groups.

Status: This field allows you to activate the block checkbox. This function will allow the system to block posting to the general ledger, unless deactivated. For example, you can activate block status during customizing until you have completed you configuration. We recommend that you do not activate this function unless you client requested it.

After updating the New Entries: Details of Added Entries (Figure 2-3), hit enter on your keyboard and save your work.

The next step is to assign company code to the chart of accounts you have created.

Assign Company Code to Chart of Accounts

One chart of accounts can be assigned to one or more company codes, but only one chart of accounts is assigned to a company code. Just like the basic chart of accounts, only one country specific chart of accounts is assigned to a company code. The basic chart of accounts and country specific charts of accounts can be assigned to a company code simultaneously.

Country Specific Chart of Accounts: This is optional. However, it may be mandatory in a situation where a company code in a corporate group is required to produce a financial report to meeting a country's reporting requirements.

To assign your chart of accounts to your company code follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *General Ledger Accounting* ➤ *Master Data* ➤ *G/L Accounts* ➤ *Preparations* ➤ *Assign Company Code to Chart of Accounts*.

Change View "Assign Company Code ➤ *Chart of Accounts Overview"* screen is displayed. Using the position button below search for your company code. Your company code will be displayed on top of the list of company codes displayed, as in Figure 2-4.

Construction Change View "Assign Company Code -> Chart Of Accounts": Overview Image View "Assign Company Code -> Chart Of Accounts": Overview Image View Chart Select All Select Block Deselect All Configuration Help More Image View Chart Select All Configuratin Help More	≡						- @ >	∃ ×
Undo Change Select All Configuration Help More ✓ Coll Display Edit Cd Company Name City ChrifAccts City All Coll Coll <th><</th> <th>SAP</th> <th>Cha</th> <th>nce View "Assi</th> <th>ion Company (</th> <th>code -> Chart Of Accounts": Overview</th> <th></th> <th></th>	<	SAP	Cha	nce View "Assi	ion Company (code -> Chart Of Accounts": Overview		
Undo Change Select All Select Block Deselect All Configuration Help More Op Op Des Des <thdes< th=""> Des <thdes< th=""> De</thdes<></thdes<>								
Company Name City Oht/Acds Cy biast Image: City City City City City City City City		V Undo Change	Select All Select Block Des	elect All Conf	figuration Help	More ~	😨 Display	Exit
Company Name Chy Connects Cy de Name Cy de Name <thcy de="" name<="" th=""> Cy de Name Cy de N</thcy>	0.04	0	6 1.	Ch all ush	Church land			
Display Description Description Description Display Condry Template CA Canada CANA Display Canada CANA Canada Display Canada CANA CANA Display Contry Template CA Canada CANA Country Template CH Switzariand CACH CACH Country Template CL Chile INT Canada Country Template CL Chile CACH CACH Display form CC.0001 (Ohy GL accounts B-segi) INT Catal Zi Zabel SAP Training Dubal CACZ CACH Display Ency Gemany GAZ CAZH Country Template CZ Cach Republic Gemany GA	0000	Company Name	City Internet	CALLO	City chilact	7		~
Country Template CA Canada CANA Sanada Company+ Canada INT Sountry Template CA Canada CANA Country Template CA Canada CANA Country Template CA Canada CANA Country Template CA Shitaorind CACS Country Template CH Shitaorind CACN Country Template CH Chila INT Country Template CN China CACN Country Template CZ Cach Republic CAC2 Country Template CZ Cach Republic CAC2 Country Template DE Gemany GR Country Template DE Gemany GR Country Template DE Gemany SIX Country Template DE Gemany SIX Country Template DE Gemany SIX Country Template DE Gemany <t< td=""><td>CIUU</td><td>Spoxo Inc</td><td>New Jersey</td><td>CATO</td><td>5</td><td>, a</td><td></td><td></td></t<>	CIUU	Spoxo Inc	New Jersey	CATO	5	, a		
Candba Canganya Candba Canganya Candba Canganya D Country Template CA Canada CASA D Country Template CA Spain CASA D Country Template CA Chia CASA D Country Template CA Colona CACA D Country Template CA Colona CACA D Country Template CA Cache CASA CASA D Country Template CA Cache Republic CACA D Country Template CA Cache Republic CACA D Country Template CA Demanya CARA D Country Template CA Demanya INT D Country Template Egypt <td>CAUL</td> <td>Country Template CA</td> <td>Canada</td> <td>CANA</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	CAUL	Country Template CA	Canada	CANA				
Country Template CA Canada CAX L PCRMACION SAP SL Spain CAS Q Country Template CH Switzeriand CACH Q Country Template CL Chile INT Q Country Template CL Chile INT Q Country Template CL Chile INT Q Country Template CD Colombia CACO Q Country Template CD Colombia CACO Q Country Template CD Colombia CACO Q Zabele SAP Training Dubal CAEZ Z Zabele Gampy In India mumbai CACZ Q Country Template CZ Cach Republic CACZ Q Country Template CZ Cach Republic CACZ Q Country Template CB Gemany GRR Q Country Template CB Gemany GRR Q Country Template CB Gemany INT Q Co	CASS	Canada Company+	Canada	INT				
11 PORMACION SAP SL Span Cast 12 PORMACION SAP SL Span Cast 12 Country Template CH Switzenian CACH 12 Country Template CN China CACN 12 Country Template CO Colonian CACN 12 Country Template CO Colonian CACN 12 Country Template CO Colonian CACN 12 Zabel SAP Training Dubal ZAL 12 Zabel SAP Training Dubal CAC 12 Country Template DE Gemany GR 12 Country Template DE Gemany GR 12 Country Template DE Gemany IX 13 Hylene Cop Alana EFCA 14 Country Template Egypt Calic IXT 15 Country Templ	CA99	Country Template CA	Canada	CANA				11 M
10 Country Template CH Switzeriand CACH 10 Country Template CL Chile INT 11 Country Template CN China CACH 11 Country Template CN China CACN 11 Country Template CN China CACN 11 Country Template CN Colombia CACN 12 Country Template CO Colombia CACN 12 Zabel SAP Training Dubal CAZC 12 Zabel Company In India mutbal CAZC 12 Cauntry Template CZ Cach Republic CAZC 12 Country Template CZ Cach Republic CAZC 13 Mylane Corp Allanta INT 14 Yglane Corp Allanta EFCA 15 Company Ermanuel Paris INT	CEUI	FORMACION SAP SL	Spain	CAES				
10 Country Template CA Chile ZNT 10 Country Template CA Chile ZNT 11 Country Template CO Colombia CACO 12 Country Template CO Colombia CACO 12 Zabel SAP Training Dubal ZaBL 12 Zabel SAP Training Dubal CAZC 12 Zabel SAP Training Dubal CAZC 12 Zabel SAP Training Cubal CAZC 12 Zabel Company In India mumbai CAZC 12 Country Template CZ Cach Republic CAZZ 12 Country Template CE Germany GRR 12 Country Template DE Germany IXR 12 Country Template DE Germany IXR 13 Hylene Corp Atlenta EFCA 14 Country Template Egypt Calro IXT 13 Hylene Corp Atlenta EFCA 14 Company Temmanuel Paris IXT	CH01	Country Template CH	Switzerland	CACH				
10 Country Template CO Coloniba CACN 10 Country Template CO Coloniba CACO 12 Zabel Coopy Training Dubal ZABL 21 Zabel SAP Training Dubal ZABL 21 Zabel SAP Training Dubal CARC 21 Zabel SAP Training Dubal CARC 21 Zabel SAP Training Dubal CARC 21 Zabel SAP Training Cubal CARC 21 Zabel SAP Training Cubal CARC 21 Country Template CZ Czech Republic CAC2 21 Country Template DE Germany GRR 22 Country Template DE Germany SRR 20 Country Template DE Germany INT 21 Country Template Egypt Calin EFCA 21 Country Template Egypt Calin INT 21 Country Template Egypt FRANCE CARR 21 Country Template Egypt Paris INT	CL 01	Country Template CL	Chile	INT				
County Template CO Colonbia CACO V Copy from Co.0001 (Oh) GL scounts B-seg) IXT Z1 Zabel SAP Training Dubain CAZ Z1 Zabel Company In India mumbain CAZ Z1 Zabel Company In India mumbain CAZ Z1 County Template CZ Cach Republic CAZ Q1 County Template CZ Cach Republic CAZ Q2 County Template CZ Germany GRR Q1 County Template CZ Germany IXR Q2 County Template CZ Denmany IXR Q1 County Template CX Denmany IXR Q2 County Template CX Denmany IXR Q1 County Template CX Denmany IXR Q2 County Template CX Denmany IXR Q2 County Template CX Denmany IXR Q2 County Template CX FRANCE CAFR Q1 Company Errma	CN01	Country Template CN	China	CACN				
PV Cock, Doing Conf, GAL accounts B-seg) INT Zabels SAP Training Dubal ZaBL Zabels SAP Training Dubal CAEL Zabels Company In India mumbal CAEZ Zabels Company In India mumbal CAEZ Country Template DE Gemany GRR Country Template DE Gemany IXR Country Template DK Denmark ITT Country Template Egypt Altents EFA Ci Company Emmanuel Paris ITT	C001	Country Template CO	Colombia	CACO				
Zi Zabel SAP Training Oublit Zalit Zi zabel Company In india mumbal CAC CATN Country Template CZ Cack Republic CAC CATN Ci Country Template DE Gemany GRR S Ci Country Template DE Gemany SIR S Ci Country Template DE Gemany ZIR S Ci Country Template DE Gemany ZINT S Ci Country Template Egypt Calito ZINT S Ci Company Emmanuel Paris ZINT CAFR	COPY	Copy from CC.0001	(Only G/L accounts B-seg)	INT				
Zi zakei company in india mmahai CAZ CAIN 1 Country Template CZ Czeck Republic CAC2 CAC3 0 Country Template CZ Czeck Republic CAC2 CAC3 02 Country Template DE Germany GR Caca 10 Country Template DE Germany IXR Caca 11 Country Template DE Germany IXR Caca 12 Country Template DE Germany IXR Caca 12 Country Template Egypt Atlanta EFCA Caca 12 Company ElMA FRANCE CAFR CarR 12 Company Emmanuel Paris IXT CAFR	COZI	Zabeel SAP Training	Dubai	ZABL				
Dial Country Template DE Germany GAR Dial Country Template DE Germany GRR Dial Country Template DE Germany IXR Dial Country Template DE Germany IXR Dial Country Template DK Denmark ITN Dial Schribty Template Egypt Kathat EFCA Dial Country Template Egypt Cafe Country Template Egypt Ci Company Emmanuel FRANCE CAFR	COZI	zabeel company in India	mumbai	CAZC	CAIN			
Outputty Template DE Germany GRR Country Template DE Germany IXR Di Country Template DE Germany IXR Di Country Template DE Dermark INT Di Mydher Corp Klanta EFCA Di Country Template Egypt Calor INT Country Template Egypt Calor INT Company Emmanuel Paris INT	CZ01	Country Template CZ	Czech Republic	CACZ				
V2 Country Template DE Germany IXR 1 Country Template DE Demank INT 10 Hyglene Corp Allanta EFCA 10 Country Template Egypt Cario INT 11 Company EMA FRANCE CAFR 12 Company Emmanuel Paris INT	DE01	Country Template DE	Germany	GKR				
Di Country Template DK Denmark INT Di Hydine Corp Allonta EFCA O Country Template Egypt Coloro INT C Company ElAA FRANCE CAFR C Company Emmanuel Paris INT	DE02	Country Template DE	Germany	IKR				
10 Hygine Corp Allanta EFCA 01 Country Template Egypt Calo ZNT 12 Company Em FRANCE CARR 10 Company Emmanuel Paris INT	DK01	Country Template DK	Denmark	INT				
01 Country Template Egypt Cairo INT 11 Company EMA FRANCE CAFR 11 Company Emmanuel Paris ZNT	EF10	Hygiene Corp	Atlanta	EFCA				
C1 Company EMA FRANCE CAFR C Company Emmanuel Paris INT CAFR	EG01	Country Template Egypt	Cairo	INT				
On Company Emmanuel Paris INT CAFR.	EMC1	Company EMA	FRANCE	CAFR				
	EP01	Company Emmanuel	Paris	INT	CAFR			
	EMC1	Company EMA Company Emmanuel	FRANCE Paris	CAFR	CAFR			

Figure 2-4. The screen where chart of accounts are assigned to company codes

Using the Match code search for your chart of accounts and enter your chart of accounts in the Chrt/Accts field. If your client is required to complete country specific financial reporting, then update the Cty ch/act field with your country specific chart of accounts.

After assigning your chart of accounts to your company code, press enter on your keyboard and save your work.

Define Account Group

The next step in our customizing is to define account groups. A chart of Accounts holds a large number of account types and they determine how G/L Accounts are created in SAP S4 HANA. For proper accounting management, account types are systematically classified into appropriate account groups by grouping similar accounts together within the same General Ledger. For example, all G/L accounts relating to revenue are grouped together and assigned to the same number range interval. GL Accounts belonging to the following account groups such as Liabilities Expenditure, Assets, etc., are grouped together in the appropriate group and number range.

Two main reasons why Account Groups are important to Account:

- It determines the number range interval assigned to account when creating G/L account.
- It determines the screen layout for creating G/L accounts in company code area.

Tip It is possible for you to create your own Account Groups or copy some of the standard Account Groups supplied by SAP in the system.

In this activity, instead of creating your own account groups from scratch, you will copy the predefined universal account groups: AS (Fixed assets accounts), CASH (Liquid funds accounts), GL (General ledger accounts), MAT (Materials management accounts), PL (P&L statement accounts), RECN (Recon. Accts Ready for input), and SECC (Secondary costs/revenues) from Chart of Accounts – INT, supplied by SAP in the system and modify them to meet your requirements. Chart of accounts are not company specific; they can be used across company codes.

Note You can create your own account groups using up to 10 digits. However, we advise you to copy the predefined account groups supplied by SAP in the system and modify to meet your requirements.

Case study: You are required to define Account Groups for your company code by copying INT account groups supplied by SAP in the system and modifying them to meet your requirements.

Tip It is a lot easier to copy predefined chart of accounts supplied by SAP in the system and modify them to meet your requirements instead of creating fresh charts of accounts from scratch.

Whether you are copying or creating your own account groups follow this menu path: *IMG* – *Financial Accounting* ➤ *General Ledger Accounting* ➤ *Master Data* ➤ *G/L Accounts* ➤ *Preparations* ➤ *Define Account Group*

Change View "G/L Account Groups": Overview screen is displayed. Since your goal is to copy chart of accounts INT, use the position key at the bottom of the screen to search for **INT** (International Chart of Account) from the supplied chart of account list. The *Another entry* dialog box pops up (Figure 2-5).

		Cha	nge View "G/L Account Groups": Overview	
✓ Mo	e ~			
cct Group Name		From Acct	To Account	
cc			2222222222	
cc			222222222	
AS Fixed assets accounts			999999999	
SH	Liquid funds accounts		9999999999	
Anoth	er entry ×		999999999	
	3		999999999	
			999999999	
Chart of Ar	cts: INT O		999999999	
Account Gr	pup:		9999999999	
1			9999999999	
			999999999	
			999999999	
	Continue Cancel		9999999999	
v	Revenues		9999999999	
	Cash and Cash Equivalents		9999999999	
P	Expense		5099999999	
v	Inventory		2009999999	
L	long term Loans		3019999999	
N-C Non-Current Assets			2004999999	
HR	Other Current Assets	2003000000	2003999999	
	Mer More More More More More More More M	Control Acets Control Cancel Neverore Control Cancel Non-Current Assets Other Current Assets	More More Conception Another entry Control of Accts: INT Control of Accts: Conthere Curent Accts: Control of Accts: Conthere Curent Acc	More From Acct To Account CC 222222222 CC 2222222222 Fixed assets accounts 99999999 Liquid funds accounts 999999999 Another entry X Other of Accts: INT Chart of Accts: INT Continue Cancel 999999999 999999999 Account Group: 999999999 Continue Cancel 999999999 999999999 Status 999999999 Continue Cancel 999999999 999999999 Cash and Cash Equivalents 999999999 Expense 509999999 Construct Assets 2003900000 Construct Assets 200399999 Conscriptions 3015999999 Construct Assets 200399999 Conscriptions 2004999999 Conscriptions 2004999999 Conscriptions 2004999999

Figure 2-5. Another entry dialog box

Enter INT in the Chart of Accts field in the dialog box, choose Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box or press enter on your keyboard. The system will automatically display all the chart of accounts in INT. To copy the predefined account groups, select the following INT chart of accounts with the associated account groups and copy the following chart of accounts:

Chrt/Accts	Acct Group	Name	From Acct	To Acct
INT	AS	Fixed assets accounts		999999999
INT	CASH	Liquid funds accounts		999999999
INT	GL	General ledger G/L accounts		999999999
INT	MAT	Material management accounts		999999999
INT	PL	P&L accounts		999999999
INT	RECN	Recon. Account ready for input		999999999
INT	SECC	Secondary Costs/Revenues		ZZZZZZZZZZZ

Table 2-1. A List of Values You Can Use for Your Account Groups

Note There is no restriction to the chart of accounts you can use. We have decided to use the charts of accounts above, because we believe that these charts of accounts are sufficient for this purpose.

Chrt/Accts	Acct Group	Name	From Acct	To Account	
INT	AS	Fixed assets accounts		999999999	
ENT	CASH	Liquid funds accounts		999999	
NT	GL	General G/L Accounts		999999	
NT	MAT	Materials management accounts		999999	
NT	PL	P&L Statement Accounts		999999	
NT	RECN	Recon. Accts Ready for Input		999999	
NT	SECC	Secondary Costs/Revenues		222222222	
\$01	ASST	Assets	1000000000	1999999999	
501	EXP	Expenses	300000000	399999999	
501	LIAB	Liability	2000000000	2999999999	
\$01	REV	Revenue	4000000000	499999999	
ZCA	AS	Fixed assets accounts		999999	
ZCA	CASH	Liquid funds accounts		999999	
ZCA	GL	General G/L Accounts		999999	
ZCA	MAT	Materials management accounts		999999	
ZCA	PL	P&L Statement Accounts		999999	
ZCA	RECN	Recon. Accts Ready for Input		999999	
ZCA	SECC	Secondary Costs/Revenues		222222222	
F01	BAS	Balance Sheet	2000	2999	
F01	PLE	Profit & Loss	1000	1999	

Figure 2-6. List of Chart of Accounts

To copy INT account groups, make sure you select the account groups from the list, by making sure that the checkboxes in front of the INT Chrt/Accts you want to copy are ticked, as in Figure 2-6. Click **Copy as...** This is the fourth item from the left from the list of items on the menu bar at the top of the screen. The Change View "G/L Account Groups": Overview of Selected Set screen is displayed (Figure 2-7).

≡						< 6 –	∃ ×
SA	P		Change V	ew "G/L Account Groups": Overvie	ew of Selected Set		
-		lora V					
		ivie -					
Chrt/Accts	Acct Group	Name	From Acct	To Account			Θ
CA10	AS	Fixed assets accounts		9999999999			
CA10	CASH	Liquid funds accounts		999999			
CA10	GL	General G/L Accounts		999999			
CA10	MAT	Materials management accounts		999999			
CA10	PL	P&L Statement Accounts		999999			
CA10	RECN	Recon. Accts Ready for input		999999			
CA10	SECC	Secondary Costs/Revenues		ZZZZZZZZZ			
		-					
		En	try 1 of /				
	_						Conv
8							- coupy

Figure 2-7. Updated chart of accounts list

The system will ask you to Specify target entries on the status bar at the bottom left of the screen. Change the Chart of Accounts INT to your chart of accounts (CA10) and Click the Copy button at the bottom right of the screen. The system will notify on the Status bar at the bottom of the screen that the **Number of copied entries (including transactions):7**. Save your account groups.

The final step in this activity is to define the Retained earnings account. This account will allow the system to transfer the net profit or loss in the P&L account to the balance sheet at the end of the year. Although P&L account Group is defined in the chart of accounts, it is also important to define retained earnings account separately as this will allow the system to carry forward profit and loss in the P&L account at the end of the year to the balance sheet as retained earnings.

Define Retained Earnings Account

In accounting, a portion of the profit made at the end of a fiscal year is held back as Retained Earnings (Net Profit) after distributing dividends to the shareholders in proportion to their investment in a corporation. Normally, the Net Profit or net loss figure at the end of a fiscal year is carried forward to Retained Earnings in the Balance Sheet.



Figure 2-8. Illustration of Retained Earnings in Income statement and balance sheet

The amount carried forward is either added to the shareholders' equity if profit is realized or deducted from the shareholders' equity if loss is incurred. This indicates the profit position of a corporation.

In customizing, retained earnings are assigned to Profit and Loss (P&L) Statement account type defined in the Chart of Accounts area of the P&L account. What happens is that at the end of the year, the system will automatically carry forward the balance of the P&L account to the Retained Earnings account.

To go to the screen where you will define Retained Earnings follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *General Ledger Accounting* > *Master Data* > *G/L Accounts* > *Preparations* > *Define Retained Earnings Account.* The Enter Chart of Accounts dialog box pops up. This dialog box will allow you to assign your chart of accounts to the retained earnings you defined.



Figure 2-9. Assigning your chart of accounts to retained earnings

Enter your chart of accounts in the chart of accounts field (CA10) and click Continue at the bottom of right of the dialog box (Figure 2-9).

The Maintain FI Configuration: Automatic Posting – Accounts screen appears in Figure 2-10.

=							× 🖻 🗕 🗟 ×
<	SAP					Configuration Accounting Maintain . Automatic Posts - Accounts	
		New E	ntries Copy	Delete	Posting Key	More ~	Exit
Account as	Chart of Accou Transact	on: BIL	Chart of Acco Balance carri	ed forward			
P&L state	nt a Account						۲
×	[900000	ੋਕੋ					
				Position			
							Save Terminate

Figure 2-10. The screen where you define your retained earnings account.

Enter X as your account type in the P&L ststmt (Statement) column and your G/L account in the Account column. In this activity, we used X as our account type and 900000 as our G/L account. Click save at the bottom right of the screen. Since you have not created a G/L account for retained earnings, the system will issue a warning message on the message status bar at the bottom of the screen that Account 900000 was not created in the charts of accounts XXXX (CA10). Later in Chapter 5 you will learn how to create G/L accounts. Hit the enter button on your keyboard twice and the system will automatically save the retained earning you have defined. The system will notify you that your Changes have been made in the status bar at the bottom of the screen.

Note X is the symbol used in SAP to represent an account type for retained earnings in the P&L statement. If you have more than one retained earnings, you will not be able to use account type X again since it has been used. You have to assign account type Y and the next one Z to another account types, respectively.

Summary

In this chapter, we looked at what a chart of accounts is and how to define chart of accounts. You learned how to create a chart of accounts, which will serve as the structure for G/L accounts that you will be creating in Chapter 5. You also learned how to assign the chart of accounts you created to a company code. In order to complete this activity, you copied account groups from INT (international chart of accounts), which you modified to meet your requirements. Finally, you learned how to define retained earnings account and an account type which you assigned to your P&L account. This enables the system to automatically transfer the net profit or loss to the balance sheet.

The next chapter looks at the importance of document control in SAP S4 HANA and explains how it affects the documents posted in the system.

CHAPTER 3

Document Control

In this chapter, you will be looking at the purpose of Document Control and the application of important Document types in SAP S4HANA. What are Posting Keys, and what is the importance of different Posting Keys?

At the end of this activity, you will be able to:

- Define number ranges.
- Define field status variants.
- Create variants for posting periods.

Document Control

Hundreds of documents are created by companies as a result of transactions arising from business operations. To be able to manage documents storage in the SAP system, it is important that documents posted in the system are categorized and stored sequentially for easy of retrieval. Once a transaction is posted, then the system generates a document, assigns a document number to the document, and saves the generated document in the system.

Every posting in the SAP system generates a document and the document remains open in the system until the document is cleared and archived. For example, when a transaction is posted in the system, the system generates a document and assigns it a number, and it remains open in the system until cleared.

As mentioned earlier, hundreds of transactions are posted in SAP S4 HANA. Identifying a single transaction in an environment where you have hundreds of transactions stored in the same system can be very daunting. To eliminate this problem, SAP uses a document-control technique that allows the system to structure documents storage in the system in a systematic way using document numbering, company code, and fiscal year.

CHAPTER 3 DOCUMENT CONTROL

The document number assigned to a document is obtained from the number range you will define in an activity later for your company code and your company's code fiscal year. Hence when defining document number range the following items are important:

- Document number: This is a unique number that is assigned to a document by the system automatically from the number range you have defined in the system. We will be looking at how to define number range in this chapter.
- Company code: This is your company's identification code. We looked at how to define company code in chapter 1.
- Fiscal year: This is your company's accounting year. Normally, the accounting year is a 12-month period.

When entering a document in SAP S4HANA, the user must specify a document type and a posting key. Every document in SAP is controlled by two items:

- Document types.
- Posting key.

Document types – Document types are defined at the client level. This makes document types available to all company codes within the client. Document types are used to control different business transactions in SAP R/3.

Document types controls the following items:

- The appropriate account type to be posted,
- Document header fields, and
- The number ranges for document numbers.

Document type

A document type is identified by two-character values and plays a very significant role in SAP S4 HANA. The purpose of document types is specifically to distinguish between different business transactions and the accounts the system will post a transaction to in the system for ease of identification and classification, such as Vendor invoice, customer invoice, Vendor invoice payment, and so on. We have provided a list of some of the important document types presented by SAP in the system in Table 3-1.

Document Types	
KR	Vendor Invoice
KZ	Vendor Invoice Payment
KG	Vendor Credit Memo
DR	Customer Invoice
DZ	Customer Invoice Payment
DG	Customer Credit Memo
AB	Accounting Document
SA	G/L Account Document
AA	Asset Posting
AF	Asset Depreciation

Table 3-1. A List of Some of the ImportantDocument Types in SAP S4 HANA

The document type controls the following:

- The nature of business transactions and the account types where they are posted. The importance of this is that it is easier to display line items based on the type of business transactions involved.
- Posting to account types when you assign appropriate document types to business transactions. For example, the document type DR will post to a customer account, KR will post to a vendor account, and so on. During document posting, you enter the document types in the document header field. This enables the system to differentiate between accounts where transactions are posted.
- The number ranges for document numbers. The system assigns a number range to a document during posting, using the number range you created. The number range allows the system to store documents in the system based on similar number ranges. Number ranges therefore control document storage in the system.

Note SAP S4 HANA comes with standard document types, which you can use as your document types. Some of the document types delivered by SAP are listed in Table 3-1. It is also possible to create your own document types, but we advise that you use the document types supplied by SAP, instead of creating your own from the scratch. The reason we recommend that you use the standard document types supplied by SAP is that they meet your requirements.

When defining document number range, two options are possible:

Up to a future fiscal year: This is the situation where a number range is used over one fiscal year. The system uses the available number range by choosing the current number from the number range that comes up next. This method has the drawback of running out of numbers when an entire number range is used up.

Each fiscal year: At the beginning of each year, the system starts all over again by choosing the first number in the number range defined for that fiscal year. The advantage of this method is that number range is always sufficient.

Document number can be assigned to a document either internally or externally. The internal number is assigned by the system, and the external number is assigned by the user. Follow this menu path to go to the screen where you can customize your document types if you feel like doing so: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting* Global Settings ➤ Document ➤ Document Types ➤ Define Document Types

Posting Key

Posting Key – Used for line items.

Posting keys are defined at the client level and are available to all company codes within the client.

Importance of posting keys:

- > Controls which account is to be post to.
- > Controls whether the line item will be posted as a debit or credit.
- > Determines field statuses.

CHAPTER 3 DOCUMENT CONTROL

SAP S4 HANA comes with predefined posting keys with the following default posting key values.



Figure 3-1. Important Posting keys

We recommend that you use the predefined posting keys supplied by SAP in the system instead of creating your own posting keys, as the supplied posting keys in the system are sufficient for your requirements. To access the screen where posting keys are defined follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting* **Global Settings** ➤ *Document* ➤ *Define Posting Keys*.

Definition of Number Range Intervals

A document type in SAP S4 HANA must be assigned a number from a predefined number range you have defined. A document type is assigned to a number range. When a transaction is posted, the system will automatically assign a number to the document from the number range you have defined via the document type you assigned to the document. You can either define your own number ranges or you can copy the predefined number ranges provided by SAP in the system.

Note During your configuration you can define whether you want the system to assign a number from the number ranges you have defined automatically or whether you want the user to manually assign a number to a document during posting. This decision is based on your client requirements.

There are three steps to create number range intervals in SAP S4 HANA. We will be looking at each of these steps in turn in this activity.

In this activity, we will be looking at how to define your own number ranges by copying a subject from another company code.
Defining Document Number Ranges using Copy Subobject Function

The number ranges you defined in the activity will be automatically assigned by the system sequentially to documents during posting. To go to the screen where to define your own number ranges follow this menu path: *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting* Clobal Settings ➤ Document ➤ Document Number Ranges ➤ Define Document Number Ranges.

The Edit Intervals: Accounting document. Object RF-BELEG screen is displayed, as in Figure 3-2.



Figure 3-2. Copying another company code number ranges using the Copy Subobject function

The first Interval button from the right on the screen will allow you to look up existing number ranges in the system. The second Interval button will allow you to create your number interval. Since you want to copy another company code number ranges using Copy Subobject. Click Copy Subobject at the top of the screen. Copy Company Code dialog box appears. Enter the company code you want to copy in the **From** field and enter your company code in the **To** field and click **Copy** at the bottom of the Copy Company Code dialog box. The Number Range Interval Transport message screen will be displayed with the message "The intervals are not included in automatic recording of customizing change..." as in Figure 3-3.



Figure 3-3. Number range interval transport message

Click Enter, which is the green tick at the bottom right of the screen. The Edit Intervals: Accounting document, Object RF-BELEG screen has the message your source company code was copied to your company code. To view the number ranges you have copied, click the Display Intervals button (this is the intervals button with a goggle icon), which is the first button from the left side of the screen. The Edit Intervals: Accounting document, Object RF-BELEG, Subobject (your company code) screen is displayed (Figure 3-4).

⊷ Change Free Intervals rom No. Tr	Edit Intervals: Accou More ~ > Number	nting document, Object RF_I	BELEG, Subobject C100	Exit
⊷ Change Free Intervals rom No. Tr	More V	ND Status		Exit
rom No. Te	o Number	ND Status		
rom No. Ti	o Number	NID Status		
		THIS DIGIUS	External	e
00000001 00	079999999	0		
00000001 00	079999999	0		
00000001 00	079999999	0		
000000001 00	079999999	0		
000000001 00	079999999	0		
00000000 0:	199999999	0		
00000000 0:	199999999	0		
00000000 0	199999999	0		
00000000 01	199999999	0		
00000000 0:	199999999	0		
200000000 07	299999999	0		
000000000000000000000000000000000000000	299999999	0		
000000000000000000000000000000000000000	299999999	0		
200000000 07	299999999	0		
200000000 03	299999999	0		
000000000	399999999	0		
300000000 01	399999999	0		
00000000	399999999	0		
300000000 01	399999999	0		
300000000 01	399999999	0		
	000000001 00 00000001 00 00000001 00 00000000	00000001 07999999 00000001 07999999 00000001 07999999 00000001 07999999 00000001 07999999 00000000 019999999 00000000 019999999 00000000 019999999 00000000 019999999 00000000 019999999 00000000 02999999 00000000 029999999 00000000 029999999 00000000 029999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 039999999 00000000 0399999999 00000000 0399999999 00000000 <td>000000001 0079999999 0 00000001 00799999999 0 00000001 00799999999 0 000000001 00799999999 0 000000001 0199999999 0 000000000 0199999999 0 000000000 0199999999 0 000000000 0199999999 0 000000000 0199999999 0 000000000 0299999999 0 000000000 0299999999 0 000000000 0299999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 <td>00000001 079999999 0 00000001 079999999 0 00000001 079999999 0 00000001 079999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 029999999 0 00000000 029999999 0 00000000 029999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000</td></td>	000000001 0079999999 0 00000001 00799999999 0 00000001 00799999999 0 000000001 00799999999 0 000000001 0199999999 0 000000000 0199999999 0 000000000 0199999999 0 000000000 0199999999 0 000000000 0199999999 0 000000000 0299999999 0 000000000 0299999999 0 000000000 0299999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 000000000 0399999999 0 <td>00000001 079999999 0 00000001 079999999 0 00000001 079999999 0 00000001 079999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 029999999 0 00000000 029999999 0 00000000 029999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000</td>	00000001 079999999 0 00000001 079999999 0 00000001 079999999 0 00000001 079999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 019999999 0 00000000 029999999 0 00000000 029999999 0 00000000 029999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000 039999999 0 00000000

Figure 3-4. Number range intervals you copied to your company code

Note Assigning years to your number ranges has a drawback. This means each year you have to define other number range intervals for the year that are missing from your number ranges. To ensure that you never run out of number ranges, you can enter 9999 in the year column. For example, instead of using years like 2018, 2019, 2020, and so on, you enter 9999 in all of the year column. This means your number ranges are valid infinitely. This will save the time of maintaining number range intervals each year.

How to Delete Number Range Intervals

To delete a number range interval, go back to the Edit Intervals: Accounting document, Object RF-BELEG using the back arrow at the top left of the screen. Click the Change Intervals with a pencil icon (this is the second button from the left on the screen). Select the number range intervals you want to delete and click the **Delete Line** at the top of the screen, as in Figure 3-5, and save your work.

lisplay <-> Change C lar From No. 1018 0000000001 1020 0000000001 1021 000000001 1022 000000001 1022 000000001	Edit Interv thange number range status To Number 0079999999 0079999999 0079999999 0079999999	als: Accounting document, Free Intervals Insert Line NR Status 0 0	Object RF_BELEG, Subobject Delete Line Select All Interv External	t C100 vals Deselect All More ~	Ext G
Isplay <-> Change C ear From No. 018 000000001 000000001 000000001 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000001 002 0000000000 002 0000000000 002 000000000	To Number 007999999 0079999999 0079999999 0079999999 0079999999 0079999999	Free Intervals Insert Line NR Status 0 0 0 0	Delete Line Select All Interv	vals Deselvet All More 🗸	Exit G
ear From No. 018 000000001 019 000000001 020 000000001 021 000000001 022 000000001 035 0100000000	To Number 007999999 007999999 007999999 0079999999 0079999999	NR Status 0 0	External		6
018 00000000001 0019 0000000001 0020 0000000001 0021 0000000001 0022 0000000001 0022 0000000001 0023 0000000001 0024 0000000001 0025 00000000001	0079999999 0079999999 0079999999 0079999999 0079999999	0			
019 0000000001 020 0000000001 021 0000000001 022 0000000001 018 0100000000	0079999999 0079999999 0079999999	0			
020 000000001 021 000000001 022 000000001 018 010000000	0079999999	0			
021 0000000001 022 0000000001 018 0100000000	0079999999				
022 0000000001	0070000000	0			
018 0100000000	0074444449	0			
	0199999999	0			
019 0100000000	0199999999	0			
020 0100000000	0199999999	0			
021 0100000000	0199999999	0			
022 0100000000	0199999999	0			
018 0200000000	0299999999	0			
019 0200000000	0299999999	0			
020 0200000000	0299999999	0			
021 0200000000	0299999999	0			
022 0200000000	0299999999	0			
018 0300000000	0399999999	0			
019 0300000000	0399999999	0			
020 0300000000	0399999999	0			
021 0300000000	0399999999	0			
022 0300000000	0399999999	0			
	221 121 121 020 221 0200000000 020 020000000 231 0200000000 020 020000000 221 0200000000 020 020000000 221 0200000000 020 020000000 222 0200000000 020 020000000 222 0200000000 020 020000000 220 0300000000 021 0300000000 021 0300000000 021 0300000000 022 0300000000 022 0300000000	021 010000000 019999999 021 010000000 019999999 020 02000000 029999999 020 02000000 029999999 020 02000000 029999999 020 02000000 029999999 020 02000000 029999999 020 02000000 029999999 020 02000000 039999999 020 02000000 039999999 020 030000000 039999999 021 030000000 039999999 021 030000000 039999999 021 030000000 039999999 021 030000000 039999999 022 030000000 039999999	021 010000000 019999999 0 022 010000000 019999999 0 020 020000000 029999999 0 020 020000000 029999999 0 020 020000000 029999999 0 020 020000000 029999999 0 021 020000000 029999999 0 020 020000000 039999999 0 020 020000000 039999999 0 020 030000000 039999999 0 020 030000000 039999999 0 021 030000000 039999999 0 021 030000000 039999999 0 021 030000000 039999999 0 022 030000000 039999999 0 021 030000000 039999999 0 021 030000000 039999999 0	021 010000000 019999999 0 022 010000000 0199999999 0 031 020000000 0199999999 0 032 020000000 029999999 0 032 020000000 029999999 0 032 020000000 029999999 0 0310 03000000 039999999 0 030000000 039999999 0 0 030000000 039999999 0 0 030000000 039999999 0 0 030000000 039999999 0 0 030000000 039999999 0 0 030000000 039999999 0 0	22 010000000 019999999 0 18 020000000 029999999 0 18 020000000 029999999 0 10 020000000 029999999 0 20 020000000 029999999 0 21 020000000 029999999 0 22 020000000 029999999 0 21 030000000 039999999 0 20 030000000 039999999 0 21 030000000 039999999 0 22 030000000 039999999 0 22 030000000 039999999 0

Figure 3-5. How to delete number range intervals

Creating your number range intervals from scratch

This is when you decide to create your own unique number range intervals.

The number ranges you defined in the activity will be automatically assigned by the system sequentially to documents during posting. To go to the screen where you can define your own number ranges follow this menu path: *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Document* ➤ *Document Number Ranges* ➤ *Define Document Number Ranges*. The Edit Intervals: Accounting document, Object RF-BELEG screen is displayed (Figure 3-6). Enter your company code in the Company Code field.



Figure 3-6. The screen where you start defining your document number ranges

To maintain number ranges for your company code, choose change Intervals button. That is the second button from the left with a pencil icon on the Edit Intervals: Accounting document, Object RF-BELEG screen.

The Edit Intervals: Accounting document, Object RF-BELEG screen subobject (your company code) screen is displayed, as in Figure 3-7.

Update the following fields:

No: This is the field where you will enter your number range identifier. For example – 01

Year: The years you enter here determine the validity of your number range. It is important that you include the current year in your number range.

From number: This is the lower limit for your number range intervals (i.e., the starting point of your number range).

To number: This is the upper limit for your number range intervals (i.e., where your number range ends).

Current number: No entry is needed here. This field shows the current number range that has been assigned by the system. During configuration this filed is always defaulted as 0.

Ext: When this check box indicator is selected, the system will allow the users to assign an external number to documents during posting. If the check box is left blank, the system will assign a number to documents automatically from the number range intervals that you have defined.

=			× 🖯 _ 🗇 ×
< SAP	Edit Intervals: Accounting document,	Object RF_BELEG, Subobject 0707	
Disniay s.> Channe	Channe number ranne status Eree Intervals Insert Line	Dalata Lina Salart áll Intervals Desalart áll Mora √	Evil
i ontraj - energe			60791
Number Range No. Year From No.	To Number NR Status	External	6
01 2022 010000000	0199999999		
0	0		
0	0		
0	0		
0	0		
0	0		
•	0		
•	0		
0	0		
•	0		
•	0		
0	0		
0	0		
•	0		
•	0		
•	0		
•	0		
0	0		
•	0		
0	0		
			Save Check Cancel

Figure 3-7. The screen where you maintain your number range intervals

Note Enter two numeric character – 01 or alphanumeric character – A1 or alpha character – AB identifier for your number range intervals. The choice of what character to use is discretionary.

It is important to stress here that the characters used as above are only for illustration. There is no restriction to the digits you can use as your number range identifier. You can use any character as deemed fit, but it is advisable to use meaningful and sequential characters. In the following example, we used numeric characters.

Repeat the same process as above by clicking the change Intervals button and enter another number range interval for Fiscal year – 2023, 2024, and so on.

Once you have completed creating your number ranges for the desired years, save the number ranges you have defined. The *Transport number range intervals* screen pops up. Accept the warning by choosing the Enter button. The system will then notify you at the status bar below that your changes were saved.

Note Number ranges must not overlap.

Let's look at the final step of how to define document number ranges by copying the number range intervals of another company code to your company code.

Copy Another Company Code to your Company Code

To copy the intervals of document number ranges of another company code to your company code follow this menu path: *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting* **Global Settings** ➤ *Document* ➤ *Document Number Ranges* ➤ *Copy to Company Code.* The Transport Number Range Intervals screen is displayed, as in Figure 3-3. Click the Enter button at the bottom right of the screen. The Document Number Ranges Copying to Company Code screen is displayed (Figure 3-8).

=		< 6 _ B ×
< SAP	Document Number Ranges: Copying to Company Code	
∽ Save as Variant More ∽		Exit
General selections		
Number range number: 00	c: ZZ	
Fiscal year: 2018	2023	
Source company code details		
* Company code: 0001		
Target company code details		
* Company code: 2100	x0*	
		Frank
		Execute

Figure 3-8. Copying document number range intervals from a source company code to a target company code

Update the following fields:

In the General selections section of the screen, enter the start number of the number range of the source company in the Number range number field and the end number range in the To field. Enter the year range you are copying in the Fiscal Year field. You can use our example, as in Figure 3-8. In the Source company code details section, enter the company code you are copying the number range intervals from in the Company code field. In the Target company code details section, enter your company code in the Company code section.

Note Source company code is the company code you are copying the document number ranges from. In this activity, we copied company code 0001 and the target company is your company code you are copying company code 0001 document number ranges to. In this activity, our company code is C100.

This action will allow you to copy the entire number range for company code –0001.

Finally, let's look at how to copy document number ranges to fiscal year.

Copying Number Ranges to Fiscal Year

You can also copy document number ranges from an earlier fiscal year to a new fiscal year. To go to the screen where you can carry out this exercise use this menu path: *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Document* ➤ *Document Number Ranges* ➤ *Copy to Fiscal Year*. The **Transport Number Range Intervals** information screen pops up with the information that "The intervals are not included in automatic recording of customizing changes..." Press enter on your keyboard or click enter – the green tick at the right bottom of the Transport Number Ranges Intervals screen. The **Document Number Ranges: Copy to Fiscal Year** screen is displayed in Figure 3-9.

Ξ	× 🗗 🗕 治 ×
C SAP Document Number Ranges: Copy to Fiscal Year	
✓ Save as Variant More ✓	Exit
General selections	
Company code: C100 to: C ⁹ Number range number: to: C ⁹	
Source fiscal year details	
* To fiscal year 2021	
Target fiscal year details	
* To facel year	
	Execute

Figure 3-9. Copying document number range intervals from one fiscal year to another fiscal year

Update the following fields: In **General selections** section of the screen of the screen enter your company code in the **Company code** field. In the **Source fiscal year details** section enter the fiscal year you are copying in the **To fiscal year** field and in **Target fiscal year details** section, enter your new fiscal year in the **To fiscal year** field and click the Execute button at the bottom right of the screen. The Document Number Ranges: Copy to Fiscal Year screen appears displaying a list of all the intervals added to your new fiscal year.

Field Status Variants

Field Status variants are variants that comprise the Field Status group in SAP S4 HANA. A Field Status Group defines the screen layout for a general ledger account entry and also controls document creation within a company code. Based on your specification, the Field Status Group will determine which fields will accept input during documents entry, whether a field should be hidden, displayed or suppressed, required or optional.

In SAP S4 HANA, field statuses are defined at global settings and are assigned Field Status Groups. Field status variants are independent of company codes (that is they are available to all company codes in the client); hence they are created at client level. A Field Status Group is entered in the company code section of the G/L accounts master record during the creation of a G/L account.

A field status group allows you to determine which fields require entry, which fields are optional or suppressed during document entry.

Note We recommend that you copy the standard field status variants supplied by SAP. Defining your own field status variants will require you to update the associated tables as well, and this can be cumbersome in practice.

Define Field Status Variants

Problem: You are to copy the Company code 0001 Field Status Variants supplied by Sap in the system and modify them to meet your requirements. As part of this customizing exercise, you are to specify field status variants and assign your company code to the field status variant you have defined.

To access the screen where you will define your field status variants follow this menu path: *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Ledgers* ➤ *Fields* ➤ *Define Field Status Variants.* Change View "Field Status": Overview screen is displayed (Figure 3-10). This is the screen where you define your field status variants and assign field status groups to it.

< SAP					Change Vie	w "Field s	tatus variants": (Overview						
~ (Change ->	Display	Field status groups	New Entries	Copy as	Delete	Undo change	Select All	Select block	Deselect all	Standard list	Var.list	More ~	Exi
log Structure		FStV	Field Status Name											
Field status variants	4	0001	Field status for 0001											
Field status groups		0010	Field Status G/L accounts											
		0006	FSV DB Manon Inc											
	- 0	1500	Field status for 1500											
		1982	FSV FOR SWIFT CONSU	ILTING										
		300	Field status for 0001											
		6600	Field status for 6600-Un.											
		9000	Field status for 0001											
		AP01	Field Staus Variant AP01											
		EX13	FSV 0001 copied to EX13											
		EYFS	Field status for 0001											
		0501	Field status for 0001copy											
		OZC1	Field status for OX0Z											
		PSL	Field Status G/L accounts											
		RS01												
	- 0	SD	FV FOR SHERIDYN											
		SK01	Field status for SK01											
		SSSS	Field status for 0001											
		TEI	Field status for 0001											
		WM10	Field status for Walmart											
		XG01	Field status for 0001											
		Z001												
				Desilion		Ector	1 01 26							
				-= - usibon		Znuy	10120							
	_													-

Figure 3-10. The screen where you define and maintain field status variants

Since you are going to copy an existing field status variants supplied by SAP in the system, use the Position button at the button of the screen search for the company code whose field status variants you want to copy. You can copy the field status variants of any of the sample company supplied by SAP in the system for your country.

Note In this activity, we will be copying the field status variants for Company code – 0001. SAP have supplied a list of field status variants you can copy from. For example, you can copy field status variants from 0001 or 1000, 2000, etc. You will get the same result.

Select the field status variant you want to copy from the list of field status variants provided by SAP in the system (see Figure 3-10 as an example), click **Copy as...** at the top of the screen. **Change View "Field Status Variants": Overview of Selected Set** screen is displayed with details of the field status variant you have copied.

Modify the copied field status to meet your requirements by changing the exiting field status variant in the **FStV** (Field Status Variant) field to your company code identifier and enter a description you will remember in the **Field Status Name** field.

Note We advise that you use your company code as your field status variant and use a description you will remember for your field status variant as we did in Figure 3-11. This will make it easy for you to identify your field status variant from the list of field status variants in the system.

Once you have maintained your field status variant click the Copy button at the bottom right of the screen. **Specify object to copy** screen pops up with three options to choose from: **copy all**, **only copy entry**, or **cancel**.

When you choose the **copy all** button, this will allow you to copy the entries of the field status variant you copied and its dependent entries. Similarly, when you choose the **only copy entry** button, only the entries associated with the field status variant will be copied.

=				< 6 – 5 ×
SAP	Ch	ange View "Field status variants"	Overview of Selected Set	
~ ~ »	fore 🗸			
Dialog Structure	FSIV Field Status Name C100 Field status for C100			0
	Specify object to Entry 1 of the entries to be copied has dependent entries. You can copy the entry with all dependent entries, or just the entry fixelf.	copy all only copy entry O Cancel	×	
		Entry 1 of 1		

Figure 3-11. Copying Field Status Variant

Choose the **copy all** button in order to copy the entry with all dependent entries associated with the field variant you have copied. The Information screen pops up telling you the Number of dependent entries copied. When you click the Continue button at the bottom right of the Information screen, the field status you have defined will appear at the top of the list of field status variants in the **Change View "Field status": Overview** screen (Figure 3-12).

< SAP					Change Vie	w *Field s	tatus variants":	Overview						
~	Change ->	Display	Field status grou	ips New Entries	Copy as	Delete	Undo change	Select All	Select block	Deselect all	Standard list	Var.list	More ~	Exit
ialog Structure		FStV	Field Status Name											e
Field status variants		c100	Field status for C100											
Field status groups		EX13	ESV 0001 copied to J	EX13										
		EYES	Field status for 0001	LATO										
		0501	Field status for 0001	CODY										
		0701	Field status for OX02	,										
		PSI	Field Status G/L acc	ounts										
		8501	Field Status Grit acc	ound										
		SD	EV FOR SHERIDYN											
		SK01	Field status for SK01											
		2222	Field status for 0001											
		TET	Field status for 0001											
		WY10	Field status for Waln	art										
		YC01	Field status for 0001											
		7001	Field status for 0001											
		7481	Field status for 748											
		TESV	Field status for ZAB	al										
		7104	Field status for ZNO											
		THOM	Field status for 2NO											
		ZNOH	Field status for Nonti	ecn										
	1.1													
				- Docition		Entry	0.0127							
				Posibori		Enny	10 01 27							

Figure 3-12. A list of field status variants, including the field status variant you defined

To view the field status groups you have copied, use the **Position** button at the bottom of the screen to search for your field status variant; your field status variant will be displayed at the top of the list of the field status variants in the system. Select your field status and double click the **Field status group folder** in the **Dialog Structure** on the left side of the screen, a list of field status groups depending on entries for your field status variant will be displayed, as in Figure 3-12.

≡			× 🖻 💷 🖓 >
< SAP		Change View "Field status groups": Overview	
Y Field	d status New entries Copy	as Delete Select all Select block Deselect all More 🗸	Exit
Dialog Structure			
Ead status variants	Field status variant:	C100 Field status for C100	
Field status groups			
	Field status group	Text	۵
	G008	Assets area clearing accounts	
	G009	Bank accounts (obligatory due date)	
	G011	Clearing accounts (with settlement per.)	
	✓ 6012	Receivables/payables clearing	
	G013	General (obligatory text)	
	G014	MM adjustment accounts	
	G017	Freight/customs provisions/clearing (MM)	
	G018	Scrapping (MM)	
	G019	Other receivables/payables	
	G023	Plant maintenance accounts	
	B025	Inventory adjustment accounts	
	G026	Accounts for down payments made	
	G029	Revenue accounts	
	G030	Change in stock accounts	
	6031	Accounts for down payments received	
	G032	Bank accounts (obligat.value/due dates)	
	G033	Cost accounts for external services	
	G036	Revenue accts (with cost center)	
	G039	Accts for pmnts on acct made for assets	
	i e		
		+≣ Position Entry 8 of 43	
			Save Cancel

Figure 3-13. A view of the field status group you copied

As we mentioned earlier, the Field Status group controls the appearance of certain data entry fields in the data screen for G/L accounts. For example, you can decide which field in the G/L account should be suppressed, required entry, or optional entry. For example, let's assume that your client wants you to make **Due Date** and **Payment terms** field a required entry fields during Receivables/Payable clearing.

To go to the screen where you will maintain your field status group for receivables/ payables clearing, search for G012 – Receivables/payables clearing in the list of field status groups displayed in the **Change View "Field status": Overview** screen (Figure 3-13). Double click the **G012 – Receivables/payables, Maintain Field Status Group: Overview** screen is displayed. Since you want to make due date and payment terms compulsory entry field, double click Payment transactions from the Select Group section (Figure 3-14).

≡		< 6 🗕 🗗 ×
< SAP	Maintain Field Status Group: Overview	
✓ Choose Subgroup list More ∨		g ex
General Data	Page: 1 / 1	
Field status variant C100 Group G012 Receivables/payables clearing		
Select Group		
General data		
Additional account assignments		
Materials management		
Payment transactions		
Asset Accounting		
Taxes		
Foreign payments		
Consolidation		
Real estate management		
Financial assets management		
		Save Carvel
		Save Cancer

Figure 3-14. The screen where you select the field status group you want to maintain

The Maintain Field Status Group: Payment transactions screen is displayed in Figure 3-15.

Previous group Next group Field check More General Data Field status variant C100 Group G012 Receivables/psyables clearing Payment transactions Suppress Reg. Entry Due Date	Maintain Field Status Group: Payment transactions Pege: 1 / 1 Opt. entry	Ext
Operation Previous group Next group Field check More General Data	Pege: 1 / 1 Opt. enry	ĐA
General Data Field status variant C100 Group G012 Receivables/payables clearing Payment transactions Uppress Req.Entry O	Page: 1 / 1 Opt. entry	
Field status variant C100 Group G012 Receivables/payables clearing Payment transactions Due Date Suppress Reg. Entry	Opt. entry	
Payment transactions Suppress Reg. Entry Due Date O	Opt. entry	
Suppress Req. Entry Due Date	Opt. entry	
Due Date O •		
Value date		
Payment terms O (e)		
Cash discount deduction	•	
Own Bank O		
Bank Business Partners		
Reason Code		
Instruction key for payment		
Payment Reference		
Payment currency		
Payment currency amount		
Mandata Bafaranza		

Figure 3-15. The screen where you specify document entry fields

Select Due Date and Payment terms under Req. Entry radio buttons, as in Figure 3-15, and save your customizing by clicking the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

Assign Company Code to Field Status Variants

The final step in this activity is to assign the field status variant you have defined to your company code. The field status variant you assigned to your company code will control the appearance of the data entry field in the data screen. To go to the screen where you will assign your company code to the field status variant you have defined follow this menu path: *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting* Code to Field Status Variants. Change View "Assign Company Code _> Field Status": Variant" Overview screen is displayed (Figure 3-16).

≡				<	6	_ 8	×
<	SAP	Cha	inge View "Assign Company Code -> Field Status Variant": Overview				
	V Undo Change	Select All Select Block De	select All Configuration Help More V	6	Display	Exi	R
							-
CoCd	Company Name	City	Fid stat var.				
√ [C100	🗇 pxio Inc	New Jersey	C100				
CA01	Country Template CA	Canada	0001				
CA98	Canada Company+	Canada	0001				
CA99	Country Template CA	Canada	0001				
CEU1	FORMACION SAP SL	Spain	0001				л.
CH01	Country Template CH	Switzerland	0001				
CL01	Country Template CL	Chile	0001				
CN01	Country Template CN	China	0001				
C001	Country Template CO	Colombia	0001				
COPY	Copy from CC.0001	(Only G/L accounts B-seg)	0001				
COZL	Zabeel SAP Training	Dubai	ZFSV				
COZI	zabeel company in India	mumbai	0001				
CZ01	Country Template CZ	Czech Republic	0001				
DEOL	Country Template DE	Germany	0001				
DE02	Country Template DE	Germany	0001				
DK01	Country Template DK	Denmark	0001				
EF10	Hygiene Corp	Atlanta	0001				
EG01	Country Template Egypt	Cairo					
EMC1	Company EMA	FRANCE	0001				
EP01	Company Emmanuel	Paris	0001				
		n Part and	84				
	+I Positio	Entry 40 of 1	ov				
					Save	Can	

Figure 3-16. Assignment of Field status variant to company code

Using the Position button at the bottom of the screen, search for your company code and use the Match code function for your field status variant and assign it to your company code and save your work.

Summary

This chapter explained document control by looking at document types and posting keys and their functions in SAP S4 HANA. As part of the customizing exercise, you learned how to copy document number ranges from predefined number ranges supplied by SAP in the system, how to display the number ranges you defined, and how to delete number range lines. You learned about what field status variants are and the importance of field status variants. Finally, you learned how to create your own field status variants by copying predefined field status variants and field status variant groups and their dependent entries and how to assign a field status variant to your company code.

In the next chapter, we will be looking at how to customize tolerance groups and how to assign a user to a tolerance group.

CHAPTER 4

Defining Tolerance Groups for G/L Accounts and Employees

In this activity, we will be looking at the purpose of Tolerance Groups and how to define Tolerance Groups in SAP S4 HANA.

At the end of this activity you will be able to:

- Define tolerance groups for G/L accounts.
- Define tolerance groups for employees.
- Define tolerance groups for employees with a group.
- Assign users to tolerance groups.

Tolerance Groups

Tolerance groups determine limits upon which acceptable payment differences are based. During document posting, the system will check for differences and match them against the defined limits to determine if the difference is within the specified limits and automatically post the differences to a predefined account. If the difference is outside the set limit, the system will automatically reject the posting.

It is a normal business practice for payment differences to occur in a business transaction. The bottom line here is, what is the business willing to accept as an acceptable payment difference for a given business transaction? This occurs when an invoice amount entered in the system is different from the actual amount received to clear the outstanding invoice. For example, an outstanding invoice amount of \$1,000 and

CHAPTER 4 DEFINING TOLERANCE GROUPS FOR G/L ACCOUNTS AND EMPLOYEES

the amount paid to clear the outstanding invoice of \$950, leaving you with a difference if \$50. If the acceptable limit for your tolerance groups is \$45, the system will reject your posting because the difference is above the acceptable limit. On the other hand, if the payment difference is \$45 or less, the system will accept your posting and post the difference to a specified predefined account, because the difference is within the defined acceptable limit.

There are several reasons why differences occur. A typical example is as a result of goods damaged on transit that reduce the value of the goods delivered. This brings up the concept of materiality, which is what a business considers a material or significant difference that cannot be overlooked or ignored. To enable the system to perform limit checks, you must define an acceptable payment difference in SAP S4 HANA.

Tolerances are necessary mainly for control purposes. In SAP S4 HANA, maximum amounts deemed acceptable by your company are defined in the company code and assigned to a tolerance group. Tolerance dictates payment difference authorization.

Note Tolerances are company code specific and determine the maximum amount accounting clerks are permitted to post in the system per transaction for invoice clearing.

Tolerance also allows you to specify settings that control the discounts that accounting clerks can grant per invoice and any tolerance over-payment.

The advantage of imposing restrictions by setting tolerances is to avoid major posting errors by clerks or users. During posting, the system will automatically determine if a payment difference is within the acceptable limits you defined. If the payment difference is within the payment difference limit, the system will accept the posting. On the other hand, if the payment difference exceeds the specified limit, the system will reject the posting.

There are three Tolerances represented in SAP R/3:

- Tolerance Groups for G/L Accounts.
- Tolerance Groups for Employees.
- Tolerances for Customers/Vendors.

CHAPTER 4 DEFINING TOLERANCE GROUPS FOR G/L ACCOUNTS AND EMPLOYEES



Figure 4-1. The three levels of Tolerance Groups

Tolerance Groups is divided into two sections:

- 1. Upper limits for posting procedure and
- 2. Permitted payment differences.

In the *Upper limits for posting procedures* section you enter the maximum amount an employee can post in the system in the following fields:

- The maximum amount per document the employee is authorized to post in the system.
- The maximum amount per open item account item the employee can enter in the line item in vendor/customer account.
- The maximum cash percentage cash discount per line item the employee can grant.

In the *Permitted payment differences* section you specify the allowed payment differences an employee is permitted in terms of *Revenue* and *Expense*:

Note The system gives you the flexibility to create as many tolerance groups as you may desire. Each employee or user should be assigned to a tolerance group.

In a tolerance group, the local Currency of the company code is valid. Tolerance group is part of the global settings in SAP S4 HANA.

Note You will be looking at Vendor/Customer Tolerance Groups in Chapter 14 in Outgoing Manual Payments.

Define Tolerance Groups for G/L Accounts

Tolerance group for G/L accounts define the limits within which credit and debit differences in local currencies are considered acceptable. The accounts' differences are posted automatically during G/L account clearing. The tolerance groups you define for your G/L accounts in this activity will eventually be assigned to the G/L accounts' master record later in this chapter. During the account-clearing process, the system checks the tolerance groups to ascertain if the differences are within acceptable limits, as you specify in your settings, and automatically posts the difference, if any, to the predefined accounts.

The tolerance groups defined for GL accounts are assigned in the general ledger account master record in the system.

During account clearing, the system will check the tolerance groups to ascertain if differences are within acceptable limits that you defined here and automatically post the difference to predefined accounts.

Case Study

Company C100 accounts team have asked you to define acceptable payment differences that are posted automatically to different accounts during document posting.

In this activity, we will be looking at the two steps involved in customizing tolerance groups for G/L accounts. You will learn the steps involved in customizing default tolerance groups for G/L accounts and how to assign a group to the tolerance group you will define in this activity of your G/L accounts.

The two tolerance groups you will define under tolerance for G/L accounts are:

Default Tolerance Group:

This is a G/L tolerance without tolerance group. This is defined by leaving the tolerance group field blank (this is the default tolerance group, and it is valid for all G/L tolerance groups in the system).

Tolerance Group:

As opposed to default tolerance groups, this is a G/L tolerance with a tolerance group. Here, you will assign a specific tolerance group to the G/L tolerance. Unlike the G/L tolerance without a tolerance group, this tolerance group is valid only for the specified G/L tolerances groups. For example, if accounting clerks in group A are assigned to certain G/L tolerances, the system will not allow accounting clerks in group B to post to these G/L accounts during document entry.

To proceed to the screen where you will define the default tolerance group follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *General Ledger Accounting* ➤ *Business Transactions* ➤ *Open Item Clearing* ➤ *Clearing Differences* ➤ *Define Tolerance Groups for G/L Accounts.*

	SAP		Change	e View "Toleran	ces for Gro	ups of G/LA	counts in Loca	al Currency":				
		Oetails New Entries Copy As	Delete U	ndo Change	Select All	Select Block	Deselect All	Configuration Help	More ~	6	Display	Exit
erance	es for Group	os of G/L Accounts in Local Currency										(
CoCd	Tol.group	Name										
0001		Standard Example	1									
1000		명과스	-									
1001		Standard Example										
1002		Standard Example										
1710		Default Tolerance Grp G/L Acct										
1710	DEFT	Default Tolerance Grp G/L Acct										
1720		명태스										
300		Standard Example										
310		Standard Example										
8800		Standard Example										
9000												
9000	9000											
A000		Standard Example										
A005		Standard Example										
AP01		Tolerance Group for AP01										
AUOI		Standard Example										
BC10		BC company Tolerance group										
EF10		Default Tolerance Grp G/L Acct										
		Default Tolerance Grp G/L Acct										

Figure 4-2. The screen where to define tolerance groups for G/L accounts

CHAPTER 4 DEFINING TOLERANCE GROUPS FOR G/L ACCOUNTS AND EMPLOYEES

The **Change View "Tolerance for Groups of G/L Accounts in Local Currency"** screen displays a list of existing tolerance groups (Figure 4-2). Click New Entry, which is the second item from the left side at the top of the screen. The **New Entries: Details of Added Entries** screen is displayed (Figure 4-3). This is the screen where you specify tolerances for groups in G/L accounts.

≡		< 6 _ 8 ×
< SAP	New Entries: Details of Added Entries	
	Delete Previous Entry Next Entry More	Pisplay Exit
Company Code:	C100	
Tolerance Group:	Default - C100	
Tolerances for Group	as of G/L Accounts in Local Currency	
Debit Posting	g: Percentage: %	
Credit Posting	g: Percentage: %	
		Save Cancel

Figure 4-3. Defining default tolerance group for G/L accounts

Update the following fields:

Company Code: Enter your company code in this field. The company code you enter in this field must be the four-digit identifier you entered as your company code in chapter 1 or the company code you want to assign to your tolerance group.

Tolerance Group: In this field, you specify the tolerance group for your G/L accounts. The specification you make in this field will determine the acceptable payment difference posted to the G/L accounts. Since we are defining a default tolerance group for our G/L accounts, leave this field blank and the system will automatically assume that the tolerance group is a default tolerance group and is therefore valid for all G/L tolerance groups. Since a blank tolerance group is a default tolerance group, it is advisable to describe your tolerance group as "Default" in the Tolerance Group description field shown in Figure 4-3.

In the Tolerance for Groups of G/L Accounts in Local Currency section on the screen, you can specify debit/credit posting differences as absolute amount or percentage. During document posting, the system will check the amount and the percentage you specify and automatically use whichever is lower.

Save your customizing by clicking the Save button at the bottom right of the screen. The second step in this activity is to define the G/L tolerances with a tolerance group. This is where you assign a group to the G/L tolerance. Only the assigned group can post

differences within the acceptance limit in the system. To go to the screen where you will carry out this customizing exercise, use this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *General Ledger Accounting* > *Business Transactions* > *Open Item Clearing* > *Clearing Differences* > *Define Tolerance Groups for G/L Accounts.* The Change View "Tolerance for Groups of G/L Accounts in Local Currency" screen displays a list of existing tolerance groups (Figure 4-2). Click the New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to the New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen where you will define your tolerance group.

Update the following fields:

Company Code: Enter your company code in this field.

Tolerance Group: Enter a four-digit character that best describes your tolerance group in this field, as in Figure 4-4, and a description of your tolerance group. Save your work.



Figure 4-4. Defining tolerance groups for G/L accounts with tolerance group

Note The relationship of the user ID and the tolerance group is a many-to-one relationship. That means that several user IDs can be assigned to the same tolerance group, but a user logon ID can be assigned to only one tolerance group.

Define Tolerance Groups for Employees

Tolerance groups set for employees define what an employee is permitted to post to the system. In order for the system to automatically determine the amount an employee can post to the system per document and put open items, you need to specify the following settings:

- The maximum amount per document an employee is permitted to post.
- The maximum amount the employee can enter in the system per open item in customer/vendor account item.
- The maximum cash discount per line item that an employee is permitted to grant to a customer or vendor.
- The authorized permitted payment difference.

Tolerance groups for employees are part of the global settings and can be accessed by either of the menu paths:

IMG: Financial Accounting ➤ General Ledger Accounting ➤ Business Transactions ➤ Open Item Clearing ➤ Clearing Differences ➤ Define Tolerance Groups for Employees

or

IMG: Financial Accounting ➤ Financial Accounting Global Settings ➤ Document Tolerance Groups ➤ Define Tolerance Groups for Employees

Problem: Your task is to define the tolerance groups for employees and assign users to the tolerance group you have defined.

Case Study

The accounting team wants you to Define Tolerance Groups for Employees that will determine:

- 1) The maximum document an employee is authorized to post.
- 2) The maximum amount per open item the employee can enter in the line item in vendor/customer account.
- 3) The maximum cash percentage cash discount per line item the employee can grant.
- 4) The maximum tolerance differences an employee can post at a given time.

As part of this task, it is also your responsibility to assign users to a tolerance group.

Note To complete this activity, you must define two tolerance groups: one is a default tolerance group (without a tolerance group key) and the second is a tolerance group with a group key.

Define Default Tolerance Groups for Employees

The default tolerance groups for employees setting is a minimum requirement for clearing differences that is valid for all employee groups. To go to the screen where you will define your tolerance groups for employees use any of the menu paths previously mentioned.

The *Change View "FI Tolerance Groups For Users": Overview* screen is displayed. Choose the New Entries button at the top left of the screen. You will then go to the New Entries: Details of added Entries screen. In the New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen update the following fields:

Group: Leave this field blank. The system will treat a blank tolerance group as a default tolerance group. A default tolerance group is a minimum requirement for all employee groups in the system. This is applicable when employees are not assigned to any specific tolerance group.

Company Code: Enter your Company Code in the **Company Code** field. The company code will serve as the company code for your tolerance groups for employees.

CHAPTER 4 DEFINING TOLERANCE GROUPS FOR G/L ACCOUNTS AND EMPLOYEES

=			< 6 – E ×
< SAP	New Entries:	Details of Added Entries	
Celete Previous	Entry Next Entry More 🗸		🖗 Display Exit
Group: Company code: CL00 Currency:			
Upper limits for posting procedures			
Amount per document	1.000.000.000.00		
Amount per open item account item	1.000.000.000,00		
Permitted payment differences	Cash discrit adi to		
Revenue: 100,00 10,0	% 10,00		
Expense: 100,00 10,0	% 10,00		
			Save Cancel

Figure 4-5. Default tolerance groups for employees

In the *Upper limits for posting procedures* section enter the maximum amount an employee can post in the system in the following fields:

- Amount per document: This is the maximum amount per document an employee is authorized to post. It is important to note that an employee will not be able to exceed the amount defined here during document posting.
- Amount per open item account item: This is the maximum amount per open item that an employee can enter in the line item in a vendor/customer account. An employee can post only an amount up to the specified amount defined here per open item. Any amount exceeding this amount will be rejected by the system during posting.
- **Cash discount per line item**: The maximum cash percentage cash discount per line item the employee can grant. When an employee grants a discount during document posting, the system will check to make sure that the discount granted is within the acceptable levels per line item you define here.

In the *Permitted payment differences* section of this screen, specify the Amount, Percentage, and Cash Discount adjustment in **Revenue/Expense** fields as permitted difference. During payment difference posting, the system will automatically check the amount posted against the percentage specified and use whichever is lower.

When you have updated the **New Entries: Details of Added Entries** screen (Figure 4-5), save you work by clicking the Save button at the bottom right of the screen. The system will notify you that your data was saved at the Status bar at the bottom of the screen.

Note dot (.) is used to separate thousands and comma (,) is used to separate pence/cents. For example 190,222.22 is represented in SAP as 190.222,22

The next step is to create another Tolerance Groups for Employees.

Define Tolerance Groups for Employees

The group key you define in this activity will be assigned to one or more username(s) (i.e., log on IDs). Log on ID is the User ID the user uses to gain access to the system. This will be discussed further in a later chapter. The employees you assign to the tolerance group you have defined in the activity will be restricted to the payment differences you specified in the tolerance group. In other words, during document posting, the employees you assigned to this tolerance group will not be able to exceed the permitted payment differences you have specified.

Use this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global* Settings ➤ Document ➤ Tolerance Groups ➤ Define Tolerance Groups for Employees to go to the

Change View "FI Tolerance Groups For Users": Overview screen, where you will define your tolerance group for employees. Click the **New Entries** button at the top left of the screen to go to the New *Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen create Tolerance Groups for Employees.

CHAPTER 4 DEFINING TOLERANCE GROUPS FOR G/L ACCOUNTS AND EMPLOYEES

=					< 6 🗌 🗁 🗡
< SAP			New Entri	s: Details of Added Entries	
(✓ Delete	Previous Entry Next	Entry More ~		😨 Display Exit
G Company Curr	aroup: ACC1 code: C100 rency:				
Opper limits for pos	Amount per	document:	1,000,000,000,000,000		
Am	iount per open item ac	count item:	1.000.000.000,00		
Permitted payment	t differences	Cash discount per I	ne item: 5,000 %		
	Amount F	Percent Cash disc	nt adj.to		
Revenue:	100,00	10,0 % 10	,00		
Expense:	100,00	10,0 % 10	,00		
					Save Cancel

Figure 4-6. Tolerance group for employees with a group key

Update the following fields, as in Figure 4-6:

Group: Enter your tolerance group identifier you defined in Figure 4-4 – **ACC1** (Accounts Team-1). This is a four-digit character. You can create as many tolerance groups as you desire. The tolerance group identifier you will create in this activity will be assigned to a User logon ID in the next activity.

Company Code: Enter your Company Code in this field.

In the *Upper limits for posting procedures* section of the screen, enter the maximum amount an employee can post in the system in the following fields:

- Amount per document,
- Amount per open item account item,
- Cash discount per line item, and
- Permitted payment differences.

In the *Permitted payment differences* section on the screen, in the **Revenue**/ **Expense** fields specify the Amount, Percentage, and Cash Discount adjustment. The system will automatically use whichever is lower between Amount and Percentage you specify here during posting. When you save your work, the system will notify you that your data was saved at the status bar below on the screen.

The final step in this activity is to assign users to the tolerance group you have created.

Assign Users to Tolerance Groups

After defining your employee tolerance group, it is important to assign users to the tolerance group you have defined.

Note In this activity, you will only be assigning one user to the tolerance group you have defined for illustration purpose only. But in practice you may have to assign more than one user to your tolerance group.

To go to the screen where you will be assigning users to your employee tolerance group follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *General Ledger Accounting* ➤ *Business Transactions* ➤ *Open Item Clearing* ➤ *Clearing Differences* ➤ *Assign Users to Tolerance Groups.*

The *Change View "Assign Users* ➤ *Tolerance Group": Overview* screen is displayed. Click the New Entries button at the top right of the screen to go to the next screen, the **New Entries: Overview of Added Entries** screen (Figure 4-7), where you will assign users to your employee tolerance group.

CHAPTER 4 DEFINING TOLERANCE GROUPS FOR G/L ACCOUNTS AND EMPLOYEES

=								< 60 -	- 8 ×
< SAP			New En	tries: Overview of Addeo	l Entries				
	Delete Select All S	ielect Block Deselect A	U Configuration He	lp More 🗸				😨 Display	Exit
Unarrane	Tolorance Oroug								
Der name	Acc1	2.01							
KENJUIO	ACCI	4							
	+2 P	noticon	Entry 0 of 0						
	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	-	0
								Save	Cancel

Figure 4-7. The screen where you assign users to employee tolerance groups

Update the following fields:

User name: Enter the user ID you want to assign to the tolerance group in this field. The username you enter here is the user's logon ID. This will allow the user to post an amount in the system up to the defined tolerance limit specified in the tolerance group you have assigned to the user.

Tolerance group: Enter the tolerance group key you defined, as in Figure 4-4. This will allow the user assigned to the tolerance group to post an amount within the tolerance limit defined in the tolerance group.

Note The User Name is your logon user ID. For example, Student1 or Student2 or student3 or student4 or user1, and so on.

After assigning your user to your tolerance group, as in Figure 4-7, save your customizing.

Summary

In this chapter, we explained in detail what tolerance groups are and how tolerance groups serve as a control mechanism in SAP S4 HANA. We also looked at the steps involved in defining tolerances by exploring customizing processes in creating tolerance groups for G/L accounts. This included defining limits within which credit and debit differences in local currencies are considered by the system during posting. Secondly, we also looked at how to customize settings for tolerances for employees by looking at how to define default tolerance groups for employees without a group key and the tolerance with a group key.

Finally, as part of this activity, we also took you through the process involved in assigning a user to tolerance groups for employees.

In the next chapter, we will be looking at how to create General Ledger (G/L) accounts in SAP S4 HANA.

CHAPTER 5

Creating a General Ledger (G/L)

In this chapter, we will be looking at how to create G/L Accounts, use Line items, and open item management in G/L Account.

At the end of this chapter, you will be able to:

- Explain what a general ledger is.
- Describe what a master record is.
- Create a G/L account master record.
- Use a template to copy a G/L account.

General Ledger

General Ledger Accounts comprises the Chart of Accounts section and Company Code section. G/L Account is created in the chart of accounts and further configurations are carried out to meet company codes requirements.

Business transactions are sorted and stored in GL accounts that apply the double entry principle – dual control (debit and credit). Transactions posted to GL accounts are classified into assets, liabilities, income, and expenditures from which financial statement are drawn.

All transactions with business partners in SAP are posted to sub-ledgers in SAP S4 HANA. These transactions could be either debit or credit transactions. Several subledgers are created to handle transactions in the system. The summary of all transactions in sub-ledgers are automatically posted to the reconciliation (general ledger) accounts by the system in real-time. For example, in Figure 1-5, the amounts of \$1,500 and \$2,000 were posted to Machinery and \$5,000 posted to Buildings sub-ledgers. The system will automatically post the balance of both items in the sub-ledgers to a reconciliation (General ledger account) – Asset.

GL Reconciliation

Reconciliation accounts are GL accounts that hold sub-ledger balances. Reconciliation accounts could be referred to as GL accounts containing sub-ledger totals. All postings to sub-ledgers are automatically posted to GL reconciliation accounts by the system. Therefore, reconciliation accounts are GL Accounts summaries of sub-ledgers in SAP R/3.

Reconciliation accounts are assigned to business partners in the business partners' master record. A business partner could be an organization or a subsidiary that your organization does business with.

Sub-ledgers are subsets of the general ledger used in recording individual items and transactions in accounting. Sub-ledgers include individual accounts payable, accounts receivable, assets and bank accounts information. They hold accounts payable details such as vendor's name, number of transactions, dates, discounts, and payment terms. Transactions are posted in the system as they arise in the sub-ledger. The balance of the sub-ledger are posted to reconciliation accounts. Simply put, the balances in sub-ledger accounts are posted to reconciliation accounts. The advantage of a reconciliation account is that it gives you a snapshot of the sub-ledger.

Note Reconciliation accounts are G/L accounts that hold sub-ledger balances. Reconciliation accounts could be referred to as G/L accounts containing sub-ledger totals. Therefore, reconciliation accounts are G/L account summaries of sub-ledgers in SAP HANA. Reconciliation accounts are assigned to business partners in the business partners' master records.

No postings are made to reconciliation account by users. All postings to reconciliation accounts are carried out by the system automatically in real-time.

Next, you need to know what a general ledger master record is and how it controls accounting transactions in the general ledger accounts.

What is a Master Record?

A master record contains vital information held in a business system database that remains relatively unchanged over a long period of time. This is the case when sets of data are commonly accessed, used and shared by different individuals for different purposes across an organization in order to fulfill business processes in real-time. For example, a vendor's details held in the system may be used by various departments. The sales team needs the vendors' details in order to send them sales offers; the marketing department needs this information to send out marketing promotions; the finance department needs the information for invoices and other accounting purposes; and so on.

Information that aids efficient business processes and tends to relatively remain unchanged (such as customer/vendor names and addresses) are held in the system's database. The idea behind maintaining a master record is to avoid having to re-enter the same information multiple times, thereby saving input time and avoiding unnecessary waste of system resources and redundancies (to free stage space and improve system speed). It is better to not have to enter or store the same data in the system database several times.

The function of the G/L account master is that it controls accounting transactions postings in SAP S4 HANA.

Some typical examples of master data in SAP S4 HAN include customer data, vendor data, bank data, G/L accounts, material data, and so on.

Transaction Data: Data triggered as a result of events arising from day-to-day nosiness transactions. A typical transaction data is time-driven with a numerical value and often refers to one or more objects in the system. Examples of transaction data in SAP S4 HANA include invoices, payments, credit memos, and goods receipts.

Table Data: Sets of tables containing data about objects, such as payment terms, tolerances, pricing conditions. and so on.

Now that you know what a master record is, let's look at how to create G/L account master records in SAP S4 HANA. A G/L master record contains data relating to a G/L account that remains in the system for a while. The data held in the G/L master record controls the general ledger accounts behavior. The G/L master record also governs the treatment and posting of accounting transactions to the G/L accounts in the system.

Creating G/L Account Master Records

Various options are available when creating G/L master records in SAP S4 HANA:

Creating G/L accounts with reference: This allows you to copy existing G/L accounts from another company code to yours. The company code you are copying the G/L accounts from is referred to as the "source" company code and your company code is the "target" company code. SAP comes with a standard chart of accounts and model company codes in the system, along with sets of G/L account master records. The benefits of copying existing G/L accounts master records is that your G/L account master records will inherit properties of the source G/L accounts you copied, which saves time.

Data transfer workbench: This is when you transfer G/L account master records from a legacy system. This function is ideal when you want to transfer G/L accounts from another system in SAP.

By copying: The system allows you to copy G/L account master records already in the system. This is possible only when you have an existing chart of accounts that meets your requirements. For example, a chart of accounts that has a structure that matches your G/L account master record could be copied.

By creating manually: This is when you have to physically create G/L account master records individually. The drawback to this method is that it is time consuming, especially when you have to create large numbers of G/L accounts.

Changes in SAP S4 HANA

- Mergeing of General Ledger and Cost Element.
- Secondary cost element, which is used in cost accounting, is now part of GL and can now be created in GL.
- General ledger extension to incorporate all changes in SAP S4 HANA.
- Removal of transaction codes such as KA01, KA02, and so on, have been removed from the GL.
- New field that allows for G/L Account Type specification of how the G/L account can function in Financial Accounting (FI) and Controlling (CO).
- Fiori App applicable for managing G/L Account Master Data.
- GL master data account type classifications such as:
X-Balance Sheet Account (Balance Sheet Accounts).

N-Non-operating Expenses or Income (Profit & Loss accounts used only in FI).

P-Primary Costs or Revenue (this forms part of Profit and Loss accounts applicable in both FI and CO).

S-Secondary Costs (this forms part of Profit and Loss accounts applicable in both FI and CO).

S-Secondary Costs (Profit and Loss accounts used only in CO for internal reporting).

Let's look at how to create G/L accounts in SAP S4 HANA. In this activity, we will create G/L accounts manually. This will give us the fundamental understanding of how to create G/L accounts step-by-step. We will also look at how to copy G/L accounts using existing accounts as a template.

Note All transactions in SAP FI work with GL Accounts.

Case Study: You are to create a G/L account for Office stationery supplies.

Creating a G/L Account – Office stationery supplies

Let's start by creating a G/L account for Office supplies. Use this menu path to go to the screen where you will create your G/L account: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *General Ledger* > *Master Data* > *GL Accounts* > *G/L Account Creation and Processing* > *Edit G/L Account Centrally.*

You can also get to the screen on the user side of the system by following this menu path: SAP Easy Access: Accounting ➤ Financial Accounting ➤ General Ledger ➤ Master Records ➤ GL Accounts ➤ Individual Processing ➤ Centrally.

The Edit G/L Account Centrally screen is displayed in Figure 5-1.

≡			× 🖻 _ – 🗇 ×
<u>≋</u> < SAP		Edit G/L Account Centrally	
Vext tab	Send mail Edit financial statement version Edit set	Time-Dependent Attributes More \sim	Exit
* G/L Account: 476000 Q SAP A.G.	ales revenues with cost element	h Template	
Type/Description Control Data Cr	eate/bank/interest Key word/translation Info	rmation (C/A) Information (CoCd)	
Control in Chart of Accounts INT Sample	chart of accounts		
G/L Account Type:	~		
Account Group:	~ .		
Detailed Control for P&L Statement Act	counts		
P&L statmt acct type			
Description			
Short Text:			
G/L Acct Long Text:			
Consolidation Data in Chart of Accounts	INT Sample chart of accounts		
Trading Partner No.:			
			Continue
101			

Figure 5-1. The screen where you create your G/L account

The **Edit G/L Accounts Centrally** has four important buttons that will help you create and navigate your G/L account:

Display 6 This button is used to display a G/L account already existing in the system. By clicking this button, the system will automatically display a list of all the G/L accounts in the system.

Change Change This button is used to change or edit G/L account details of existing G/L accounts. When you need to edit your G/L account click this button and the system will allow to edit your G/L account accordingly.

Create Tis button is used to create a new G/L account of your own from scratch. Create with Template This button allows you to copy an existing G/L account in the system using a template. This can be very handy if you want to copy similar G/L accounts because it allows the system to classify similar G/L

accounts into the same account group and number range intervals.

Since we are creating our own G/L account, click the **Create** button and update the following fields:

G/L Account: Every G/L account in SAP S4 HANA must be assigned a number, which serves as the G/L account number. Enter your G/L account number in the G/L account field. The G/L account number you enter here is restricted to the length of the G/L account number you specified when customizing the "Create Chart of Accounts" section in Chapter 2. The G/L account number is used to reference the G/L account.

Company Code: Every company represented in SAP S4 HANA must be assigned a company code. Company codes are assigned to G/L accounts in the system. Enter your company code in the company code field. The company code you enter in this filed will allow you to assign a G/L account to your company code

Note The number you enter in the G/L Account field must be within the number range intervals you defined for your account groups in Chapter 2.

The next step in this activity is to update the Description section of the screen. Click the **Create** button to activate the description section of the screen in Type/Description section of the screen.

=	< 6 .	- 8 ×
R Create G/L Account Centrally		
V Other G/L account Check Reset Next tab Send mail Edit financial statement version Edit set Time-Dependent Attributes More V		Exit
* Gil Account: 476000 *Company Code: CL00 Spoxie Inc 60 2 C With Template 8 1		
Type/Description Control Data Create/bank/interest Key word/translation Information (C/A) Information (CoCd)		
Control in Chart of Accounts CA10 Chart of Accounts - C100		
* GiL Account Type: Primary Costs or Revenue		
Account Group: General GL Accounts		
Description		
Short Text: office Sup		
G/LAct Long Text: Office - Supplies		
Consolidation Data in Chart of Accounts CA10 Chart of Accounts - C100		
Trading Partner No.:		
Group Account Number:		
	ve Continue	Cancel

Figure 5-2. Creating G/L account centrally in Chart of Accounts section

Update the following fields:

Control in Chart of Accounts section of the screen

G/L Account type: When you click the dropdown arrow by the field, a list of account types is displayed. Select the appropriate account type from the list. In this activity, since we are creating a G/L account for Office supplies, we selected Primary Costs or Revenue as this best fit our requirements.

Account Group: Click the dropdown arrow at the right side of the screen and select the account group that fits your G/L accounts from the displayed account group list – General G/L Accounts.

In the Description section, enter a short text and a long text in each of the fields, respectively, as in Figure 5-2.

Description section of the screen

Short Text: When creating a G/L account, you need to give a short descriptive name to your G/L account. This will allow you to identify individual G/L accounts in your company code.

G/L Acct Long Text: Likewise, the G/L account long test account field will allow you to use a more detailed description for your G/L account.

Note In the **Consolidation Data in Chart of Accounts** section in Figure 5-2, you can enter a trading partner and group account number for your G/L account. This is important if your company belongs to a group and prepares consolidated financial statements for its corporate group. In that case, you should enter the company code responsible for the preparation of the consolidated account for the corporate group in the **Trading Partner No**. field and enter the consolidated G/L account number in the **Group Account Number** field. The consolidated G/L accounts allows your organization to prepare consolidated financial statements for the corporate group in SAP S4 Hana.

Click the **Control Data** tab in the middle of the screen to go to the control section of the screen.

The next step in this activity is to update the fields in the Control Data section of the screen.

=			< 6 💷 🔿 ×
SIV K SAP	Create G/L Account Centrally		
✓ Other G/L account Check Reset	Previous tab Next tab Send mail Edit financial statement version	n Edit set Time-Dependent Attributes More >	Exit
* GiLAccount: 476000 * Company Code: CL00 Spoxo Inc	(a) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c		
Type/Description Control Data Create/bank/interest	ey word/translation Information (C/A) Information (CoCd)		
Account control in company code			
*Account currency: USD United State Balances in Local Crcy Only : Exchange Rate Difference Key: Valuation Group: Tax Category: - Posting without tax allowed : Recon, Account for Acct Type: Atternative Account No.: Acct Managed in Ex. System:	s Dollar		
Inflation key:			
Account Management in Company Code			
			Save Continue Cancel

Figure 5-3. Data control screen section of G/L Account

Update the following fields in the Control Data screen:

Account control in company code Section

Account Currency: This is the company code section of the G/L account master record data where you specify the currency for your G/L accounts. It is important to use your company code local currency for your G/L account for each company code. The advantage of using local currency is that it allows postings to be made to the G/L account in any currency and then converted. Postings made in foreign currency are translated into local currency. However, you can also choose to specify foreign currency as your G/L account currency. The drawback to this approach is that posting to the G/L account can only be made in the foreign currency you have specified. The system automatically defaults to the local currency of your company code when creating a G/L account. In this activity we examined a US-based company, so the company code currency is USD (US Dollar).

Balances in Local Crcy Only: Select the Only Balances in Local Currency checkbox, if the transactions posted to this account must be maintained in local currency only. When you select this function, the system will display and manage all currencies in the G/L master record in local currency (i.e., the company code local currency). This is important if you do not want the system to post any exchange rate difference that may occur, but you want to clear several currencies arising from transactions with your

company code currency (local currency). It is important to note that you do not click the Only Balance In Local Currency checkbox for Accounts Payable (AP) and Accounts Receivable (AR) reconciliation accounts, because most transactions posted in AP & AR are in various currencies. Only Balances In Local Currency is selected for Balance sheet accounts without open item management, cash discount account clearing, or Goods Received (GR)/ Invoice Receipts (IR) clearing accounts.

Tax Category: This function allows you to specify if the G/L account is tax relevant. Using the search function button next to the Tax Category field, select the appropriate tax symbol that you want to use in your G/L account from the displayed tax list. The Tax Category could either be input tax or output tax. For example, if input tax is selected, every posting to this G/L account must contain input tax. In this activity, we used in input tax "-" as the tax category.

Posting Without Tax Allowed: This allows postings without tax to be posted in the G/L account, even though the tax category indicate is set.

Recon. Account for Account type: In the G/L master record, you use the Reconciliation Account for Account Type dropdown menu to specify that the G/L account is a reconciliation account. This function allows you to select from a list of reconciliation account types, for example, Assets, Customers, Vendor, and so on. Once this option is set, the G/L account will be considered a reconciliation account by the system. It is advisable that you maintain at least one reconciliation in the general ledger. Every posting in the sub-ledger in SAP S4 HANA is automatically posted to a corresponding reconciliation account. The reconciliation accounts are updated with sub-ledger balances as soon as transactions are posted in the bus-ledger. This procedure allows you to generate financial statements at any time from the general ledger.

Open Item Management: By activating this checkbox in the G/L master record, when you display line items in an account, the system will display all line items in the account marked as open or cleared. This option is ideal if you want to see items not cleared, or outstanding balances at any given point in time in an account. This makes it possible for you to determine if a posting exists in the G/L account that needs offsetting against a particular business transaction (i.e., clearing an open item with payment).

Use open item management for the following accounts:

- Bank account.
- GR/IR Accounts.
- Salary accounts.

Sort key: When you enter a sort key in this field in the G/L account master record, it allows you to set the sort key according to the sort key number you assigned. In this activity, we used 001 as our sort key. SAP S4 HANA comes with a list of standard sort key you can choose from. The most commonly used sort keys are the first nine we listed below:

Sort Key	Description
001	Posting date
002	Doc. No, fiscal year
003	Document date
004	Branch account
005	Loc.currency amount
006	Doc.currency amount
007	Bill/exch.due date
800	Cost center
009	External doc.number

Note You can access a detailed list of sort keys provided by SAP in the system by using the search function on the sort key field.

The system automatically fills the assigned field in the line item based on the sort key you assigned to your general ledger master (This is done in the company code segment of your company code). When you assign a posting date as your sort key, as we did in this activity, the system will automatically sort your line items based on your defined criteria according to posting date. Likewise, when you define a document date, the system will use the posting date to display your line items, and so on.

The final step in this activity is to assign a Field status group to the G/L account in the Control of document creation in the company code section. To go to the screen where you can do this, click **Create/bank interest** tab.

Ξ	< 6 _ 8 ×
R Display G/L Account Centrally	
✓ Previous tab Next tab Send mail Edit financial statement version Edit set Time-Dependent Attributes More ✓	Exit
* GL Account CX503C a *Company Code: CLOO Spoto Inc & A P () () With Template & W	
Type/Description Control Data Create/bank/interest Key word/translation Information (C/A) Information (CoCd)	
Control of document creation in company code	
Field status group: 6001 General (with text, assignment)	
Post Automatically Only:	
Supplement Auto, Postings:	
Recon. Acct Ready for input:	
Bank/financial details in company code	
Planning Level:	
Relevant to Cash Flow	
House Bank:	
Account ID:	
Ø Døls saved	Continue

Figure 5-4. Create/bank interest section of G/L account

The field status group field determines whether a field should be suppressed, required, or optional during document entry. If a field is set to suppressed, users will not be able to enter data into it during document entry. If a field is set to required entry, users are required to enter data into the field during document entry. If optional entry is set for a field, users have the discretion to either enter data or not to enter data into the field. The field status groups are entered in the field status field of the general ledger master record in the company code-specific area of each G/L account.

A field status variant contains a field status group, and a field status group is assigned to a company code in SAP S4 HANA. SAP comes with predefined field status groups, which you can use as your field status variant. It is also possible to create your own field status group(s). However, we advise that you use the predefined field status group provided by SAP in the system. By creating your won field status group, you also have to define the associated tables, and this can be time consuming.

Figure 5-5 shows some predefined field status groups in SAP S4 HANA. You can also access this list by using the search function by the filed status group field.



Figure 5-5. A list of some of the standard SAP S4 HANA supplied field status groups

Enter the field status group that meets your requirement in the **Field status group** field. In this activity, we used G004 – Cost accounts as our field status group. The reason we used G004 as the field status group is because office supplies is an expense, and when you post entries in the G/L account, the system will automatically ask for the cost center, which you have to enter in the cost center field of the document entry screen before you can post the document.

Once you have updated your screen, save your work by clicking the save button at the bottom right of the screen

Finally, in the next activity, we will be looking at how to create a G/L account with a template.

Creating G/L Account With Template

Creating a G/L account with a template allows you to copy an existing G/L account in the system from another company code using the With Template function. This can be very handy and make it easier for you to create G/L accounts by copying an existing G/L account and modifying it to meet your requirements.

Note To be able to copy another G/L account, you must make sure that your company code maintains the same number range intervals in the chart of accounts.

Case study: Since you maintain the same chart of account number range interval with Company code 1000, your task is to copy Domestic Travels Expenses (flat Rate Input Tax) with G/L Account 474100 from company code 1000 and adapt it to meet your requirements.

To go to the screen where you will copy an existing G/L account follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *General Ledger* > *Master Data* > *GL Accounts* > *G/L Account Creation and Processing* > *Edit G/L Account Centrally.*

You can also get to the screen on the user side of system by following this menu path: SAP Easy Access: Accounting ➤ Financial Accounting ➤ General Ledger ➤ Master Records ➤ GL Accounts ➤ Individual Processing ➤ Centrally. The Edit G/L Account Centrally is displayed in Figure 5-6.

=			× 🗗 🔡 🕹
	Edit G/L	Account Centrally	
Vext tab Send mail	Edit financial statement version Edit set Time-Depende	ent Attributes More ~	Exit
* GiLAccount: 4741000 Q * Company Code: C100 Spoxio Inc	68 🖉 🗋 🚺 With Template		
Type/Description Control Data Create/bank/i	terest Key word/translation Information (C/A)	Information (CoCd)	
Control in Chart of Accounts CA10 Chart of Account	s - C100		
G/L Account Type:	~		
Account Group:	~		
Description			
Short Text:			
G/L Acct Long Text:			
Consolidation Data in Chart of Accounts CA10 Char	of Accounts - C100		
Trading Partner No.:			
			Continue

Figure 5-6. Copying an existing G/L account

Enter the G/L account you want to copy in the **G/L Account** field (474100) and enter your company code (C100) in the Company code field and Click the **With Template** button. The reference Account screen pops up (Figure 5-7).

=	< 6 _ 8 ×
BU C SAP Edit G/L Account Centrally	
✓ Next fab Send mail Edit financial statement version Edit set Time-Dependent Attributes More ✓	Exit
* G/L Account 474100 Domestic Travel Expenses (Flat Rate Input Tax) *Company Code: C100 SAP A.G. 60 C C With Template	
Type/Description Control Data Create/bank/interest Key word/translation Information (C/A) Information (CoCd)	
Con Reference Account ×	
* GiLAccount: 474100 *Company Code: 0001 0	
Continue Cancel	
Description	
Short Text:	
GiL Acet Long Text:	
Consolidation Data in Chart of Accounts INT Sample chart of accounts	
Tracing Partner No :	
	Continue

Figure 5-7. Reference account screen

Update the following fields:

G/L Account: Enter the G/L account you want to copy from the reference company you are copying in this field.

Company Code: Enter the reference company code of the company whose G/L account you want to copy in this field.

Click the continue button at the bottom of the screen. The G/L account you copied will be displayed in Figure 5-8.

E	< 6 _ 5 ×
Create G/L Account Centrally	
✓ Other GiL account Check Reset Next tab Send mail Edit financial statement version Edit set Time-Dependent Attributes More ✓	Exit
* Gil Account: 474100 * Company Code: C100 Sporro Inc 60 2 0 With Template 60 1	
Type/Description Control Data Create/bank/interest Key word/translation Information (C/A) Information (CoCd)	
Control in Chart of Accounts CA10 Chart of Accounts - C100	
* Git, Account Type: Nonoperating Expense or Income	
Account Group: P&L Statement Accounts V	
Description	
Short Text: Trexp-lump sum tax	
G/LAcct Long Text: Domestic Travel Expenses (Flat Rate Input Tax)	
Consolidation Data in Chart of Accounts CA10 Chart of Accounts - C100	
Tracing Partner No :	
	Save Continue Cancel

Figure 5-8. Copied G/L account

Save your work.

Summary

This chapter explained what a general ledger is and also described what a master record is. You went through the customization steps involved in creating a G/L account master record and learned to copy a G/L account using an existing G/L account as a template. You also looked at the relationship among G/L accounts, sub-ledger, and reconciliation accounts.

In the next chapter, you will learn how to set automatic open item clearing and how to define the exchange rate and foreign exchange rate valuations.

CHAPTER 6

Clearing Open Items

Objective

In this chapter, we will be looking at how to prepare automatic clearing for Open Items, define maximum exchange rate difference, and perform foreign currency valuation.

At the end of this chapter, you will be able to:

- Prepare Automatic Clearing.
- Create accounts for clearing differences.
- Define Maximum Exchange Rate.
- Specify settings for Currency Valuations.

Clearing Open Items

Transactions with business partners are said to be open or partially completed until full payments are made and related accounts are cleared. For example, a business partner sends in an invoice; the invoice is posted in the system. At this point, the transaction remains an open item in the account until payment of an equivalent amount of the invoice is made and the account is cleared.

Once payment is made and cleared with the associated open item, the system generates a document number. Only then is the transaction complete.

Account clearing can be carried out in SAP S4 HANA for an individual item or collective items in the system. Document clearing can be carried out manually or automatically using automatic clearing programs. Clearing open items manually means that the user performs the clearing process, whereas in automatic clearing, the system

performs the clearing automatically. For the system to carry out clearing automatically, you need to specify certain settings during customizing.

In this activity, we will be looking at how to customize automatic clearing and we will also look at the two options available in SAP S4 HANA on clearing open items in the system.

Types of open item clearing in the SAP ERP System:

• **Posting with clearing:** This is when an open item on an account is matched against payment and cleared to bring the account balance to nil. It is also possible to group open items, match them with payment, and clear them simultaneously. The system will mark these items as cleared items and assign a clearing document number and enter the date they are cleared in the system.

Posting with clearing: In SAP S4 HANA, posting with clearing can be performed on an individual or on a group of items at the same time by assigning payment to open items. The net effect should be a nil balance (i.e., open items in the system are cleared with a payment simultaneously). Posting with clearing can be performed on an account type and several currencies at the same time by assigning payment to open items. When you use the posting with clearing option, the net effect should be that the business transactions end up with a zero balance. Open items and payment included in the clearing must be equal. For example, the balance on the account of 1,000USD must be equal to a payment receipt of 1,000USD.

On the contrary, if the open item(s) and a payment is not equal, it is still possible to post the difference in the system. The system will treat the posting as a payment on the account and not as a cleared item. Payment on account is when the item remains in the system as an open item.

• Account Clearing: This functions with GL accounts and sub-ledgers managed in open item using an open item procedure. You don't need to post an item when performing account clearing. All you need to do is to select the items that balance out to zero. When you post them, the system flags the selected items as cleared and enters a clearing document number and clearing date for the cleared items.

Automatic Clearing Customizing

Problem: Your client's accounting staff want to be able to clear open items in SAP S4 HANA using the automatic clearing function. Your task is to customize the settings that will allow users to clear open items using the automatic function.

In this activity, you will define account types for customers, vendors, and general ledger account, and set the criteria for assignment number (used in relation to sort key, which enables the automatic clearing process in FI), business area and trading partners (used to control vendor/customer payment/transaction) for grouping an account with open items for automatic clearing. Once these settings are made, the system clearing program will look for open items in local currency that equal a zero balance, group them together, and clear them simultaneously. The system will generate a clearing number and clearing date and enter them in the cleared document.

For automatic clearing to be carried out, you have to define the following criteria:

- Account type.
- Account number.

You also have the option of defining up to five additional criteria in the field table. You have the choice of creating your own automatic clearing or to copy existing ones supplied by SAP and modify them to meet your requirement.

To customize the automatic clearing program, follow this menu path: IMG:

Financial Accounting ➤ General Ledger Accounting ➤ Business Transactions ➤ Open Item Clearing ➤ Prepare Automatic Clearing

The *Change View "Additional Rules For Automatic Clearing": Overview* Screen is displayed, Choose New Entries at the top left side of the screen (Figure 6-1).

≡										× 🗗 🗌 🖇
	<	SAP	-					New Entrie	s: Overview of Added Entries	
			Y 0	elete Select Al	Select B	lock Desele	ct All Config	guration Help	More ~	B' Display Exit
(ChtA	AccTy	From Acct	To Account	Criterion 1	Criterion 2	Criterion 3	Criterion 4	Criterion 5	Θ
	CA10	D	0	99999999999	ZUONR	GSBER	VBUND			
	CA10	D	A	z	ZUONR	GSBER	VBUND			
	CA10	к	0	99999999999	ZUONR	GSBER	VBUND			
	CA10	к	A	z	ZUONR	GSBER	VBUND			
	CA10	S	0	9999999999	ZUONR	GSBER	VBUND	200		
							1	01		
				67						
					+E Posi	tion	Er	try 0 of 0		
1										Sava Cancel
1										Jare Calcel

Figure 6-1. Defining additional rules for automatic clearing

Update the following fields:

Chart of Accounts: Enter your chart of accounts in this field. This is the four-digit character you defined in Chapter 2

Account Type: Enter the account type in this field. In SAP S4 HANA, account types are represented by letters such as: – D (customer), V (Vendor), and S (General Ledger), respectively.

From account /to account: Specify account range for each activity type for internal and external number range assignments. For Internal number Assignment use number range: **From account - 0 to account - 99999999999** and for External Number range assignment use number range: **From account - A to Account - Z**

Criterion 1-3: Define the criteria for open item clearing for the information in the table below:

Criterion 1 - ZUONRCriterion 2 - GSBERCriterion 3 - VBUND	Criterion 1 – ZUONR	Criterion 2 – GSBER	Criterion 3 – VBUND
---	---------------------	---------------------	---------------------

Click the Save button at the bottom right of the screen to save your work. When your work is saved, the system will notify you that customizing was saved on the status bar at the bottom of the screen.

Note Account Type D – Debtors Account Type K – Vendor and Account Type S – General Ledger Criterion ZUONR – Assignment GSBER – Business Area VBUND – Trading Partner

In the next activity in this chapter, we will look at how to assign a G/L account for automatic clearing. This is an important aspect of the customizing process, as it gives you the opportunity to see how the G/L accounts are assigned to automatic clearing.

Create Accounts for Clearing differences

Chapter 4 looked at the three levels of tolerances represented in SAP S4 HANA, namely:

- Tolerance groups for G/L accounts.
- Tolerance groups for employees.
- Tolerance for customers/vendors.

You have also defined limits for acceptable payment differences during posting by setting the maximum amount per document that is permitted for posting, the maximum amount employees are authorized to post per open item in customer/vendor account item, and the maximum cash discount an employee is permitted to grant to business partners. During account clearing, the system will check the tolerance groups to ascertain if the differences are within acceptable limits and automatically post the difference to predefined accounts.

In this activity, you will assign a G/L account to a G/L account for posting payment differences. To begin the customizing process, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *General Ledger Accounting* ➤ *Business Transactions* ➤ *Open Item Clearing* ➤ *Clearing Differences* ➤ *Create Accounts for Clearing Differences*.

The **Enter Chart of Accounts** dialog box comes up. Enter your chart of accounts key in the **Chart of Accounts** field and click the Continue button at the right of the screen. The **Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules** screen appears

(Figure 6-2). This is where you will activate the automatic posting rules to determine if accounts are posted as debit or credit and also where you include a tax code with your account assignment.



Figure 6-2. Specifying debit/credit for account determination

Click the Debit/Credit check box in the **Accounts are determined based on** section of the screen (Figure 6-2). This function allows you to assign G/L accounts for both debit and credit to automatic posting. If you activate the **Tax code** field, you will also need to specify your tax code. The Tax code you specify will be applied to the G/L account. If you leave your tax code blank, this means that all tax codes can be posted in the G/L account you assign for payment differences. Click the button at the bottom right of the screen to save your work.

The Configuration Accounting Maintain: Autom: Automatic Posts – Accounts screen comes up. This screen will allow you to specify the G/L account for posting payment differences for automatic postings.

=			< 6 _ t	×
<	SAP		Configuration Accounting Maintain : Automatic Posts - Accounts	
	~	Delete Posting Key Rules More \sim	8	bit
	Chart of Accounts Transaction	s: CA10 Chart of Accounts - C100 b: DSA Differences arising on G/L acct clearing		
Account a	assignment			3
230110	Credit 280110	a		
_	_			
			Save Term	nate
۶ 📕	0 📕 🖑 (🗩 🧮 🖻 😋 🚔 🤌 🖉 🦉	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	09:49 1/2022

Figure 6-3. Assigning G/L account to for automatic posting

Enter the G/L account you created for G/L account clearing differences for debit transactions (in this activity we used 230110 as our G/L account debit clearing differences) in the Debit field in the account assignment section of the screen. Likewise, enter the G/L account you created for G/L account clearing differences for credit transactions (in this activity we used 280110 as our G/L account credit clearing differences) in the Credit field in the account assignment section of the screen and save your work.

Note To be able to assign a G/L account, you must first create the G/L accounts for your account assignment for automatic postings for both debit and credit for posting clearing differences. If you have not done this yet, the system will not accept your G/L account. However, to overcome this bottleneck in the interim, press enter on your keyboard several time to force the system to accept the G/L accounts you have entered for your Debit and Credit clearing differences in the interim and save your work.

Define a Maximum Exchange Rate Difference

In SAP S4 HANA, the Maximum Exchange Rate Difference settings per foreign currency is possible. This setting specifies maximum exchange rate deviation allowed between exchange rate for foreign currency and local currency exchange in percentage terms. Maximum Exchange Rate Difference specifications are performed at Company Code level and are company code dependent.

When a document with a foreign amount is entered manually into the system and an exchange rate is entered in the document header, the system performs a validation check for exchange rate deference, calculates the percentage exchange rate deviation automatically, and compares it with the defined Maximum Exchange Rate difference. If the exchange rate difference exceeds the Maximum Exchange Rate deference you defined, the system will issue a warning. This measure ensures that errors are identified and rectified during posting.

For example, if 10% is specified as the maximum exchange rate difference, when the exchange rate exceeds the specified rate, the system will automatically identify this and issue a warning message.



Figure 6-4. A flowchart diagram depicting how Maximum Exchange Rate is processed in SAP S4 HANA

Now let's explore how this maximum exchange rate difference customizing is carried out in SAP S4 HANA. To define maximum exchange rate difference follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Financial Accounting Global Settings* > *Global Parameters for Company Code* > *Currencies* > *Maximum Exchange Rate Difference* > *Define Maximum Exchange Rate Difference per Company Code*.

The **Change View "Maximum Difference Between Exchange Rates" Overview** screen is displayed (Figure 6-5).

≡				× 🖯 🗕 治 ×
<	SAP	Change V	iew "Maximum Difference Between Exchange Rates": Overview	
	✓ Undo Change	Select All Select Block Deselect	All Configuration Help More 🗸	😨 Display Exit
CoCd	Company Name	City	Max exch.rate dev.	
C100	Spaxio Inc	New Jersey	10 %	
CADI	Country Template CA	Canada	10 %	
CA98	Canada Company+	Canada	10 %	
CA99	Country Template CA	Canada	10 %	
CEUI	FORMACION SAP SL	Spain	10 %	
CH01	Country Template CH	Switzerland	10 %	
CL 01	Country Template CL	Chile	10 %	
CN01	Country Template CN	China	10 %	
C001	Country Template CO	Colombia	10 %	
COPY	Copy from CC.0001	(Only G/L accounts B-seg)	10 %	
COZI	Zabeel SAP Training	Dubai	%	
COZI	zabeel company in india	mumbai	x	
CZ01	Country Template CZ	Czech Republic	5 %	
DEOI	Country Template DE	Germany	10 %	
DE02	Country Template DE	Germany	10 %	
DK01	Country Template DK	Denmark	10 %	
		+≣ Position En	try 40 of 182	
				Save Cancel
				11:21
	b 💼 🔜 🖻 🍵 🖬	🙂 🖬 > 🦉 💆 🛃		^ � ₩ 🖾 🗢 4× 🗈 18/08/2022

Figure 6-5. Specification of maximum exchange rate difference

Search for your company code using the position button at the bottom of the screen, your company code will be displayed on top of the displayed list of all the company codes in the system (you could use the scroll bar on the left side of the screen to look for your company code if you chose to do so instead of using the position button). Enter the maximum exchange rate agreed with your client in the **Max.exch.rate dev**. (maximum exchange rate deviation) field. In this activity, we used 10%. The model companies used by SAP in the system suggest 10% as the ideal maximum exchange rate deviation.

Save your customizing of Maximum exchange rate deviation by clicking the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

Check Company Code Setting

Note We advise that you should check your company code setting at this point. Although this is not a part of your customizing exercise, it will be interesting to see the customizing of your company code so far. This will also give you the opportunity to see the items you missed in your customizing and correct them and to also activate some functions considered important.

To see your company code settings, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Global Parameters Company Code* ➤ *Enter Global Parameters*. The Change View "Company Code Global Data": Overview screen is displayed with the list of company codes in the system. Search for your company code using the position button at the bottom of your screen.

Y Channe ->		Change V	fiew "Com	pany Code Glo	bal Data": Overview	
Change of	Display Details Undo change	Select All Se	lect block	Deselect all	More 🗸	E
CoCd Company Name	City	Country	Crey	Language		
C100 🗇 pxio Inc	New Jersey	US	USD	EN		
CA01 Country Template CA	Canada	CA	CAD	EN		
CA98 Canada Company+	Canada	CA	CAD	EN		
CA99 Country Template CA	Canada	CA	CAD	EN		
CEU1 FORMACION SAP SL	Spain	ES	EUR	ES		
CH01 Country Template CH	Switzerland	СН	CHF	DE		
CL01 Country Template CL	Chile	a	CLP	ES		
CN01 Country Template CN	China	CN	CNY	ZH		
2001 Country Template CO	Colombia	co	COP	ES		
COPY Copy from CC.0001	(Only G/L accounts B-seg)	DE	EUR	DE		
OZ1 Zabeel SAP Training	Dubai	AE	AED	EN		
OZI zabeel company in India	mumbal	IN	INR	EN		
201 Country Template CZ	Czech Republic	cz	CZK	CS		
E01 Country Template DE	Germany	DE	EUR	DE		
E02 Country Template DE	Germany	DE	EUR	DE		
K01 Country Template DK	Denmark	DK	DKK	DA		
F10 Hygiene Corp	Atlanta	US	USD	EN		
G01 Country Template Egypt	Cairo	EG	EGP			
MC1 Company EMA	FRANCE	FR	EUR	FR		

Figure 6-6. Company code global data overview screen

Your company code will be displayed at the top of the list of company codes in the system. Select your company code by clicking the checkbox in front of your company code and click the **Details** button at the top of the screen to go to the **Change View "Company Code Global Data": Overview** screen where you will view your company code settings (Figure 6-7).



Figure 6-7. The company code global data details screen

Update the following items:

VAT Registration No: Entering data in this field is optional. Do this only if your company requires it. When you enter your company's VAT registration number, the system will automatically use this number for VAT correspondence.

Propose Fiscal Year: This field is optional. When you click this checkbox, the system will automatically propose a fiscal year during document entry.

Define Default Value Date: This is setting is also optional. When you select it during document entry, the system will automatically propose a current date when entering a document into the system.

Negative Postings Permitted: When this checkbox is clicked, this will allow you to reserve transactions in the system without posting the reversed document and the associated reversal document. In other words, the original transaction figures in the system will stay the same as above.

Save your company code setting.

Foreign Currency Valuation

Problem: The accounting staff wants to be able to maintain foreign currency and valuate open items in foreign currencies. Your task is to explain to the accounting staff what the exchange rate type is, to define the valuation methods, and to perform other settings that will allow the accounting staff to achieve their objectives.

In SAP S4 HANA to create a financial statement, you need to define Foreign Currency Valuation. The importance of defining Foreign Currency Valuation is that foreign currency balance sheets and open items in foreign currency are valuated as part of foreign currency valuation.

Once you have defined your foreign currency valuation and specified the appropriate accounts, the system will take the following accounts and items into consideration:

- G/L accounts in foreign currency relating to foreign currency balance sheet accounts.
- Open items posted in foreign currency.

You also have the option of either performing currency valuation in Group Currency (i.e., parallel currency) or in Company Code Currency.

It is recommended that you use average exchange rate type – M in your valuation method.

In this activity, you will define the valuation method for open item and group together with the specifications needed for balance and individual valuation. Before running your valuation procedure, the required valuation method must be specified.

Exchange Rate Types

The different exchange rates for each currency pair are defined in the system and are differentiated by exchange rate type. The following exchange rate types are represented in SAP S4 HANA using the following symbols:

- Bank selling rate B (bank selling rate between currency pair).
- Bank buying rate G (bank buying rate between currency pair).
- Average rate M (average between selling rate and buying rate). You can obtain selling rate or buying rate using average rate as the spread. This is done by adding or deducting the spread from the average rate.

Exchange rate types will be discussed further in the next chapter.

Define Valuation Methods

Valuation methods determine the method used to perform foreign currency valuation, which constitutes part of the closing procedures in SAP S4 HANA.

In this activity you will create foreign currency valuation for.

- 1) Valuation Method for Customer & Vendor.
- 2) Valuation Method for Bank Balance.

In SAP S4 HANA, you have a list of valuation procedures to choose from. For example, the lowest value principle, the strict lowest value, and so on.

Now let's create foreign currency valuation methods for open items for customers/ vendors maintained in foreign currency. To go to the screen where you do this, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *General Ledger Accounting* > *Periodic Processing*> *Valuate* > *Define valuation methods.*

The *Change View "Foreign Currency Valuation Methods": Overview* Screen is displayed (Figure 6-8).

=			< 6 💷 🔿 ×
< SAP		Change View "Valuation Methods", Overview	
			the second s
✓ Detail	s New Entries Copy As	Delete Undo Change Select All Select Block Deselect All Configuration Help More 🗠	🖗 Display Exit
Dialog Structure	Valuation Methods		0
~r⊴ Valuation Methods			-
Time-Dependent Attributes	Valuation Method	Description	
	9000		
	BIGR	Valuation Method Greece	
	BILM	Bill/0G Valuation Method Germany	
	BSK	CZ/SK valuation method	
	C100	Valuation Method for Customer & Vendor - C100	
	C300	Valuation Method for Customer & Vendor	
	EVR	Always valuate	
	HUI	Hungary Valuation Method	
	IFRS	Valuation for IPRS	
	КТО	FC bal.per acct, print Lfs, lowest cost principle	
	LVP	FC bal valuation method	
	NWP NWP	PC ballper accl, print LTs, lowest cost principle	
	YBOO	BP valuation method - always evaluate	
	YBOI	BP valuation method - arways evaluate: CN, SE	
	YBAT	Valuation Method Austria	
	YVR	Always valuate	
	U YYIW	Telwen velueton	
	2001		
		+≣ Position Entry 1 of 18	
			Save Cancel

Figure 6-8. The initial screen for foreign currency valuation methods

Click the New Entries button at the top of the screen to go to the **New Entries: Details of Added Entries** screen, where you will specify your currency valuation method.



Figure 6-9. Foreign currency valuation methods for customer/vendor

As part of the customizing valuation method, you need to update the following fields on the screen.

Valuation Method: Enter a four-digit code as the key for your valuation method. This identifies your valuation method.

Description: Enter a short text description that best describes your valuation method.

Lowest Value Principle: The valuation calculation is carried out per item total. When this valuation procedure is set, the valuation is displayed only if exchange loss occurs (when the difference between local currency amount and the valued amount is negative).

Strict Lowest Value Principle: Valuation calculation is carried out per item total. The valuation is displayed only if the new valuation has a greater devaluation and/or revaluation for credit entries than the previous valuation.

Always Valuate: Allows revaluation to be taken into consideration.

Revalue Only: With this procedure, revaluation is considered when there is exchange loss.

Document Type: Enter an appropriate document type in this field. This is the key that distinguishes business transactions in SAP ERP. For example, SA is the G/L document type.

Exchange Type for Debit Bal: Enter B (the standard transaction at bank selling rate) in this field. This exchange rate type takes into consideration the valuation of foreign currency items having a positive balance.

Exch.Rate Type for Credit Bal: Enter G (the standard transaction at bank buying rate) in this field. Unlike the standard transaction at bank selling rate, this exchange rate type takes into consideration the valuation of foreign currency items having a negative balance.

Exchange Hedging: By clicking this checkbox, it means that you want the system to value your foreign exchange items at a hedged exchange rate. Hedging is a procedure employed to eliminating risk that may arise from business transactions in foreign currencies.

Determine Exch.Rate Type from Acct Bal: When this radio button is activated currency valuations are carried out based on account balances.

Determine Exch.Rate Type from Inv. Ref: When you click this radio button currency valuations are conducted based on currency valuation based on balance with reference to invoice reference.

Hit enter on your keyboard and save your customization using the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

The next step in the foreign currency valuation method customization is to create a foreign currency valuation for bank balance. Use this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *General Ledger Accounting* ➤ *Periodic Processing* ➤ *Valuate* ➤ *Define valuation methods.* The *Change View "Foreign Currency Valuation Methods": Overview* Screen is displayed. Click the New Entries button at the top of the screen to go to the New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen.

Use Figure 6-10 to update the screen.



Figure 6-10. Foreign currency valuation method for bank balance

Note Valuation method is unique. You cannot use the same valuation key twice. Hence we used a different valuation method identification key for our valuation method for bank balance as opposed to the one we used for the valuation method for customer/vendor.

Prepare Automatic Postings for Foreign Currency Valuation

Exchange rate differences normally arise when valuating open items in foreign currency. The settings here will allow the system to automatically Post Exchange rate differences arising from open items valuation and foreign currency balance to the accounts you specify. This exercise is simply assigning G/L accounts to where you want the system to post exchange rate differences.

To go to the screen where you will customize automatic postings for foreign currency valuation, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *General Ledger Accounting* ➤ *Periodic Processing* ➤ *Valuate* ➤ *Foreign Currency Valuation* ➤ *Prepare Automatic Postings for Foreign Currency Valuation.* The *Configuration Accounting Maintain Automatic Posts* − *Procedure* screen is displayed (Figure 6-11). The screen contains a list of exchange rate procedures and transaction key that you can

The screen contains a list of exchange rate procedures and transaction key that you can choose from that you assign to accounts.

=				< 6 💷 🗇 ×
< SAP		aintain : Automatic Posts - Procedures		
Choose More ~				Exit
Group: FWA Exchange Procedures	rate differences			
Description	Transaction	Account Determ.		۵
Document Split for Currency Exchange	CEX			
Interest Costs	KDB			
Exchange Rate Dif.: Open Items/GL Acct	KDF			
Payment difference for altern.currency	KDW			
Payment diff.for altern.curr.(offset)	KDZ			
Internal currencies rounding differences	RDF			

Figure 6-11. A list of exchange procedures for exchange differences

In this activity, we will be looking at two exchange rate procedures and transaction keys, namely:

- Interest costs (KDB).
- Exchange rate difference for open items (accounts receivable/ Payable)/GL account.

Interest Costs Using Exchange Rate key (KDB)

When valuating open items, such as business transactions, foreign exchange rate differences can be losses or gains. Exchange rate difference loss is an expense and is posted to the Foreign Exchange Loss account. Likewise, foreign exchange differences realized are posted to the Foreign Exchange Gain account and to a Balance Sheet Adjustment account.

The Interest Costs Using Exchange Rate Key (KDB) process allows you to assign exchange rate loss and gain accounts to your valuation method. It also allows the system to automatically post losses or gains arising from exchange rate differences during open item valuation to the accounts you specify when you customize the exchange rate difference for open items in the G/L account. Let's look at how to do this. Select Interest costs (KDB) from the list of exchange rate procedures in Figure 6-11 by clicking on it and then click the Choose button at the top of the screen; the Enter Chart of Accounts dialog box will appear. Enter your chart of account ID (in this activity, we used CA10 as our chart of account ID) and click the Continue button at the bottom of the dialog box. The *Configure Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts* screen is displayed (Figure 6-12). This is the screen where you will assign your automatic posting procedures to the appropriate G/L accounts. Enter the appropriate G/L account for exchange rate difference losses in the Expense account field and the exchange rate difference gain (E/R gains) in the E/R gains account field.

Note If you have not created the G/L accounts for Exchange rate difference (Expense account and E/R gain account). When you enter a G/L account in any of the fields, the system will tell you that "No matches found." We advise that you should create the appropriate G/L accounts before attempting this exercise. However, you can bypass this by pressing Enter on your keyboard several times to force the system to accept the G/L accounts numbers you have entered in each of the fields and then you can create the G/L accounts later.

=											< &	_ @ ×
< 54	2				Configurati	on Account	ting Maintain	Automatic Po	ests - Accounts			
	v]	Previous operati	ion Next ope	ration New Er	tries Copy	Delete	Posting Key	Procedures	More ~			Exit
Chai Account assign	rt of Accounts: [Transaction: [CA10 Chart o KDB Interest	f Accounts - C1 Costs	00								
Exchange rat	Expense acc	E/R gains acct	Rolling Value	Rolling Valua								۲
	2300000	280000	a									
			Positi	on								
											Save	Terminate

Figure 6-12. Assigning G/L accounts for automatic posting of exchange rate difference

Note Leave the first column (the Exchange Rate Difference Key) blank. If you enter a key here, you will have to specify it in the related G/L account master record; otherwise, your foreign currency valuation account will not work.

Enter your GL Account for exchange expense – 230000 in Expense Account column and also enter your GL Account for exchange rate gain – 280000 in E/R gains acct column as above.

Let's look at how to assign Exchange rate difference for Open items – Account receivable and payable.

Exchange Rate Difference for Open Items/GL Accounts

In the next activity, we will explore how to maintain exchange rate differences for open items for account receivable and account payable for automatic posting to the G/L accounts. We will be going through the steps involved in maintaining exchange rate difference for open items accounts for account receivable and account payable. This will give you an understanding on how to customize exchange rate difference for open items for account receivable and account payable. In your spare time, you can follow the same steps you learned in this activity to define more open items for all your account receivables and payables.

First, let's look at how to maintain exchange rate difference for open items and the appropriate G/L accounts where the system will automatically post exchange rate difference for account receivable.

The settings you carried out in this activity will allow the system to automatically Post Exchange rate differences to the assigned GL accounts when valuating open items and foreign currency balance for accounts receivable.

You define the exchange rate difference for open items for account receivable using a foreign business partner as an example. Click on **Exchange rate Dif: Open Items/G/L Acc – KDF** from the list of exchange rate procedures, as in Figure 6-11, to select it and click the Choose button at the top of the screen to proceed to the screen where you will carry out your customization. The Enter Chart of Accounts dialog box appears. Enter your chart of account ID (in this activity we used CA10 as our chart of account ID) and click the Continue button at the bottom of the screen). The **Change View "Acct Determination for OI Exch. Rate Differences" Overview** appears. Click the New Entries button at the top left of the screen to go to **New Entries: Details of Added Entries** screen (Figure 6-13) where you will assign your G/L accounts to exchange rate difference for open items.

Update the following fields:

Chart of Accounts: The chart of accounts you enter in this field will allow you to assign the G/L accounts created in this chart of accounts to the appropriate fields (G/L account, Loss, Gain Val.loss 1, Val.gainl and Bal.sheet adj. l) and allow the system to carry out automatic postings to the specified GIL accounts.

G/L Account: Enter a G/L account for account receivable. This is the GIL account to be updated. In this activity, we used a GIL account for Trade Debtor (Foreign).

Loss: Assign the G/L account where losses arising from exchange rate differences are realized and posted.

Gain: Assign the G/L account where gains arising from exchange rate differences are realized and posted.

Val.loss 1: Assign the G/L account where you want losses arising from foreign currency valuation to be posted.

Val.gain 1: Assign the G/L account where you want gains arising from foreign currency valuation to be posted.

BS Adjustment Gain 1: Open items valuation of foreign currency adjustments of receivables and payables are posted in the G/L account you enter in this field.

≡					< 6 -	∃ ×
< SAP			New Entries: Details of Added Entries			
· · · · · ·	Delete Previous Entry	Next Entry More 🗸			🖗 Display	Exit
Chart of Accounts: GiL Account: Currency: Curr./Val. Type: Exchange rate difference real	CA10					
Loss:	230000					
Gain:	280000					
Valuation						
Val.Loss 1:	230010					
Val.Gain 1:	280018					
BS Adjustment 1:	140099					
Translation						
Loss:	230020					
BS Adjustment Loss:	230030					
Gain:	280020					
BS Adjustment Gain:	280030					
					Save	Cancel
📕 🔎 🔳 🗳 🍺	📄 🤨 🖻	🛚 🗲 🖉 🦉 🛫 👘		~ 6 2 00	∲¢lib2 19/08/2	3:02 2022 🕚

Figure 6-13. Specifications for automatic posting procedures for G/L accounts

Table 6-1 lists the G/L accounts used in this activity.

Table 6-1.	List of G/L accounts for automatic posting procedures – Account
Receivables	3

Fields	Values	Description
Chart of Accounts	CA10	This is defaulted, otherwise, enter it manually from your chart of account
G/L Account	141000	Customer – foreign receivables
Exchange rate differen	ce realized	
Loss	230000	Loss from exchange rate differences
Gain	280000	Gain from currency exchange rate differences
Valuation		
Val.loss 1	230010	Loss from currency valuation
Val.gain 2	280010	
BS adjustment 1	140099	Customer receivables, domestic (adjustment acct)
Translation		
Loss	230020	Loss on translation
BS Adjustment Loss	230030	Clearing-currency translation
Gain	280020	Gain-foreign currency exchange rate differences
BS Adjustment Gain	280030	Clearing gain from exchange rate translation

After updating the **New Entries: Details of Added Entries** screen (Figure 6-13), Save your customization.

Note If you have not created the G/L accounts for posting **Exchange Rate Difference for Open Items to GL Accounts,** when you enter a G/L account in any of the fields, the system will tell you that "No matches found." We advise that you should create the appropriate G/L accounts before attempting this exercise. However, you can bypass this by pressing enter on your keyboard several times to force the system to accept the G/L accounts numbers you have entered in each of the fields and then you can create the G/L accounts later. Please refer to Chapter 5 on how to create G/L accounts.
Finally, let's use the customize exchange rate differences for open items for account payable.

Exchange Rate Differences for Open Items – Account Payable

The setting you make here will allow the system to automatically post exchange rate differences to the assigned G/L accounts when valuating open items and foreign currency balances for accounts payable.

On the Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedure shown earlier in Figure 6-11, Click on **Exchange rate Dif: Open Items/G/L Acc – KDF** from the list of exchange rate procedures, select it and click the Choose button at the top of the screen to proceed to the screen where you will carry out your customization. The Enter Chart of Accounts dialog box appears. Enter your chart of account ID (in this activity, we used CA10 as our chart of account ID) and click the Continue button at the bottom of the screen. The **Change View "Acct Determination for OI Exch. Rate Differences" Overview** screen appears. Click the New Entries button at the top left of the screen to go to the **New Entries: Details of Added Entries** screen (Figure 6-13) where you will assign your G/L accounts to exchange rate difference for open items.

Note If you have not created the G/L accounts for posting **Exchange Rate Difference for Open Items to GL Accounts**, when you enter a G/L account in any of the fields, the system will tell you that "No matches found." We advised that you should create the appropriate G/L accounts before attempting this exercise. However, you can bypass this by pressing Enter on your keyboard several times to force the system to accept the G/L accounts numbers you have entered in each of the fields and then you can create the G/L accounts later. Please refer to Chapter 5 on how to create G/L accounts.

Using the data in Table 6-2 update the screen.

<i>Table</i> 6-2.	List of G/L accounts for automatic posting procedures – Account
Payables	

Fields	Values	Description
Chart of Accounts	CA10	This is defaulted, otherwise, enter it manually from your chart of account
G/L Account	160000	Accounts payable-domestic
Exchange rate difference	e realized	
Loss	230000	Loss from exchange rate differences
Gain	280000	Gain from currency exchange rate differences
Valuation		
Val.loss 1	230010	Loss from currency valuation
Val.gain 2	280010	
BS adjustment 1	160099	Accounts payable-domestic, adjustments
Translation		
Loss	230020	Loss on translation
BS Adjustment Loss	280030	Clearing-currency translation
Gain	280020	Gain-foreign currency exchange rate differences
BS Adjustment Gain	280030	Clearing gain from exchange rate translation

Summary

This chapter explained how to clear open items in SAP ERP. As part of the discussion, you learned how business transactions are generated and posted in the system as open items, and how open items are cleared with payments. You learned about various ways of clearing open items in SAP ERP.

These included posting with clearing (when payments are matched with open items in the system to achieve a nil balance) and account clearing (by selecting a group of items and matching them against a payment results in nil balance). We went on to show you how to customize settings for automatic clearing. As part of the automatic clearing configuration, you learned how to define account types for customers, vendors, and G/L accounts and set criteria for assignment, business areas, and trading partners for grouping an account with open items for automatic clearing. You also looked at maximum exchange rate difference settings per foreign currency in a company code. You saw how the maximum exchange rate differences you specify are executed in the system.

You also learned how to check your company code settings in the global parameters to ensure that you did not omit important settings. The process you used was the Negative Posting Permitted checkbox.

It allows you to reverse transactions in the system without altering the original transaction figures.

Before creating a financial statement, it is important that you define foreign currency valuation, so that the foreign currency balance sheet and open items in foreign currencies are valuated as part of foreign currency valuation. You also learned how to define foreign currency valuation and specify the appropriate accounts the system will use during that valuation.

Finally, you looked at how to prepare automatic postings for foreign exchange valuation that will allow the system to post exchange rate differences to appropriate G/L accounts automatically.

The next chapter looks at how to maintain an exchange rate in SAP ERP that will allow you to translate amounts into the appropriate currency. In the process, you will maintain the relationship between currency pair using appropriate ratios.

CHAPTER 7

Maintaining Currency Types and Currency Pairs

In this chapter, you will be looking at how to customize local and foreign currencies for company codes. At the end of this chapter, you will be able to:

- Maintain exchange rate types.
- Define a standard quotation for exchange rates.
- Enter prefixes for direct/indirect quotation exchange rates.
- Define translation ratios for currency translation.

Currencies

Generally, accounting transactions are measured in monetary terms. SAP S4 HANA also adopted this principle. As a result, it is important that you specify a currency for each transaction you enter in the system. In order for the system to manage the currency ledgers, during document entry users (accounting clerks responsible for data entry in the system) must specify a standard currency code during data entry. The International Organization Standardization (ISO) sets these currency codes, such as USD for United States of America Dollar, GBP for British Pound sterling, and so on. The company code currency is usually referred to in SAP S4 HANA as the local currency; other currencies are termed foreign currencies.

SAP S4 HANA is dynamic in the sense that it allows you to simultaneously maintain ledgers in parallel currencies in conjunction with the company code currency (local currency), for example, either in group currency or hard currency.

You need to maintain exchange rates in order for the system to translate amounts into appropriate currencies. It is important to maintain the relationship between currencies per currency types and currency pair applying appropriate ratios. Inflation can affect the relationship between currencies; hence it is ideal to perform the translation ratio periodically.

As part of your customizing exercise, you will define the following items:

- Standard quotation for exchange rates.
- Prefixes for direct/indirect quotation exchange rates.
- Translation ratios for currency translation.

SAP S4 HANA uses two major currency quotations for currency translation: direct and indirect quotations. In addition to translating amounts into appropriate currencies, exchange rates can also be used for valuation, conversion, transactions, and planning.

Exchange Rate types:

In SAP S4 HANA, several exchange rates are defined and stored for each currency pair. Several exchange rates are held in the system. Hence the differentiation between exchange rates in the system is very important. An exchange rate type serves as the mechanism by which exchange rate are differentiated (Figure 7-1).



Figure 7-1. Available exchange types

When you are maintaining exchange rate for exchange rate type you can use one of the following tools:

- **Inversion:** Use to calculate an opposite rate from a given exchange rate. The drawback with this inversion is that the calculation based on an opposite rate is inadequate; therefore, it is recommended that you do not use for average rate (M)
- **Base currency:** The currency type (for example, USD) that you use in currency pair for foreign currency translation for a given exchange rate type. This is ideal when you have to translate between several currencies. By using a base currency, you can simplify the problem involved in maintaining several exchange rates.
- **Exchange rate spread:** The constant difference between exchange rate types. For example, the difference between the average rate and bank selling or bank buying rate.

SAP gives you the flexibility to either use direct or indirect quotations as standard quotations for exchange rates. A standard quotation is the universal quotation used for managing exchange rates in foreign currency. You have the choice of defining direct or indirect quotations for each currency pair in an exchange rate. We will be looking at this in detail in the following section.

Define Standard Quotation for exchange Rates

Problem: Your client wants to be able to maintain exchange rates in SAP R/3 system. To meet this requirement, you have been asked to define both direct and indirect quotations for each USD/GBP currency pair.

In SAP S4 HANA, currency exchange rates are quoted as direct or indirect. In this activity we will be taking you through how to maintain direct and indirect quotation for each currency pair that we will be using for the standard quotation for our exchange rate:

• Direct quotation: When one unit of foreign currency is expressed as one unit of your company code currency. For example, one unit of the foreign currency USD 1.00 is displayed in the local currency as GBP 0.85.

• Indirect quotation: When one unit of local currency (your company code) is quoted for one unit of foreign currency. For example, one unit of the local currency GBP 1.00 is quoted as the foreign currency USD 1.18.

You can define a direct or indirect quotation in the exchange rate table, which becomes available to the users during data input. The exchange rate table contains a list of all exchange rates between various currencies for a range of dates in the system. To display the exchange table, use this menu path: *Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Accounts Payable* ➤ *Environment* ➤ *Current Settings* ➤ *Enter Exchange Rate*.

Let's look at how to define standard quotation for exchange rates. To go to the screen where you will do this, follow this menu path: *IMG: SAP NetWeaver* ➤ *General Settings* ➤ *Currencies* ➤ *Define Standard Quotation for exchange Rates*. The *Change View "Maintenance View TCURN": Overview* screen is displayed to begin customizing your currency quotation, click New Entries at the top left of the screen. The New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen is displayed (Figure 7-2). This is where you define the settings for your currency quotations.

On the *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen, Specify the following items: **Your currency pair:** In this exercise, we used USD (US dollar)/GBP (Great Britain Pound) as our currency pair.

Validity date: Enter the date you want your exchange rate quotation to start. The system will consider the date you entered in this field as the start date for your exchange rate quotation (this is the date you want your exchange rate quotation to be valid from).

Quotation: Enter the quotation type your company is using as an exchange rate quotation (whether you want your currency pair to be direct quotation or indirect quotation).

Note The currency pair we used in this activity is for illustration purposes only. You can use any currency pair of your choice. The choice of the currency pair you ultimately use will depend on your client's requirements.

Tip Use today's date in the valid from field as the start date of your exchange rate quotation.

≡						< (6 -	. 8	×
	<	SAP	×		New Entries: Overview of Added Entries				
	- ² -	-							
			Y Del	ete Select All Select Block Deselect All	Configuration Help More ~	e •	lisplay	Exit	
	From	То	Valid from	Quotation				Θ	
	GBP	USD	01.08.2022	Indirect quotation \lor					
	USD	GBP	01.08.2022	Direct quotation \lor					
	2	Q	*	* ~					
			*	*					
			*	* ~					
			*	* ~					
			*	* ~					
			*	* ~					
			*	* ~					
			*	* ~					
			*	*					
			*	*					
			*						
			-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
			1	i					
			*						
			*	* ~ ~					
			*	* ~					
				Entry 1 of 2					
_	_								_
	Data	was sa	ved View details				Save	Cance	
200									

Figure 7-2. Exchange rates quotation specification

Click the Save button at the bottom right of the screen to save you exchange rate quotation customizing.

Enter Prefixes for Direct/Indirect Quotation Exchange Rates

In SAP S4 HANA, exchange rates are either entered as direct or indirect quotation to differentiate between direct and indirect quotation by maintaining prefixes for exchange rates that can used during document entry and display. If no prefix is entered, the SAP standard setting applies. To demonstrate how to affix prefixes to exchange rate quotations, we will first look at three setting scenarios and then assign a prefix to the direct/indirect quotation exchange rates.

Scenario 1

In a situation where direct quotation exchange rate is frequently used, you should leave the exchange rate setting for direct exchange rates field blank and append a prefix to indirect exchange rate so that users are compelled to enter a prefix when entering indirect quotation exchange rates.

Fields	Values	Description
D (Direct)	Leave blank	This is without a prefix for direct quotation exchange rates
l (Indirect)	/ (forward slash)	For indirect quotation exchange rates

Here is the prefix used for indirect quotation exchange rate:

This setting will allow the user to enter frequently used direct quotation exchange rates without a prefix. The rarely used indirect quotation exchange rates must be entered with a prefix.

Where indirect quotation exchange rates are frequently used, and direct quotation exchange rates are rarely used. In this case, you can leave the exchange rate setting for indirect quotation exchange rates blank and assign a prefix to the rarely used direct quotation exchange rates.

Here is the prefix used for direct quotation exchange rates

Fields	Values	Description
l (Indirect)	Leave blank	This is without a prefix for indirect quotation exchange rates
D (Direct)	*Sign	For direct quotation exchange rates

This setting will allow the user to enter frequently used indirect quotation exchange rates without a prefix. The rarely used direct quotation exchange rates must be entered with a prefix.

Scenario 3

In a situation where both indirect and direct quotation exchange rates have equal use, then you should append a prefix to both of them individually. Here are the prefixes you can use for direct and indirect quotation exchange rates:

Fields	Values	Description
D (Direct)	*Sign	For direct quotation exchange rates
I (indirect)	/ (Forward slash)	For indirect quotation exchange rates

This means that anytime quotation for exchange rates is entered either for direct or indirect quotation exchange rates, the user must assign a prefix. This will allow the system to recognize whether the exchange rate is a direct or indirect quotation exchange rate. **Problem:** Your client uses direct quotation exchange rate frequently and seldom uses indirect quotation exchange rate.

You have been asked by your team to define indirect quotation exchange rate, which is less frequently used with a prefix. This will help users enter the correct quotation rate.

This activity assumes that indirect quotations are rarely used and that direct quotation exchange rates are frequently used. To assign a prefix to direct/indirect quotation exchange rate follow this menu path: *IMG: SAP NetWeaver* > *General Settings* > *Currencies* > *Enter Prefixes for Direct/Indirect Quotation Exchange Rate.* The Change View "Direct/Indirect Quotation Prefixes foe Exchange Rate" Overview screen appears. Click New Entries at the top left side of the screen to go to the screen where you can append a prefix to indirect/direct quotation exchange rate. The New Entries: Overview of Adding Entries screen comes up (Figure 7-3).

E	< 6 💷 🔿 ×
SAP New Entries: Overview of Added Entries	
✓ Delete Select All Select Block Deselect All Configuration Help More ✓	🖗 Display Exit
 Patton 	9
	Save Cancel

Figure 7-3. The screen where you assign prefix to exchange rates quotations

Enter prefix / (forward slash) in I (indirect) field as in Figure 7-3 and save your customizing by clicking the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

Define Translation Ratios for Currency Translation

In this activity, we will specify the ratios for each currency pair and for each exchange rate type. For example, we specify 01/08/2022 the exchange rate for USD is calculated as a 1:1 ration. This translation ratio will apply during currency translation and will be displayed during exchange rate translation. To go to the screen to define your currency translation ratio use this menu path: *IMG: SAP NetWeaver* > *General Settings* > *Currencies* > *Define Translation Ratios for Currency Transaction*.

A warning screen is displayed with a message that changes to the table of translation factor may cause unwanted inconsistencies in the system (Figure 7-4).

=			< 6 – B ×
<	SAP	Display IMG	
	Expand All Position Existing BC Sets Chan	ige Log – Where Else Used – More \sim	Q, Q* Exit
Struct	ture		
• •	SAP NetWeaver		
	Warning		
	Making changes to the table of translation factors may cause unwanted hoconsistencies in your system. If you cannot avoid having to make changes while the system is in productive operation, it is essential that you read the following information.		
©	Do you want to continue?		
	Yes No 🚺 Info		
	La S- Denne Workins for Exchange Rake Ency C Assign Exchange Rate to the Workist C Assign Exchange Rate to the Workist C Assign Exchange Rate to Workist		

Figure 7-4. Warning of possible inconsistencies because of changes to the table of translation factor

Click the Yes button at the bottom left of the Warning screen to confirm your action. The **Change View "Currencies: Translation Ratios": Overview** screen is displayed. This is the screen where you maintain the translation ratio for your currency translation. Click the New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to the **New Entries: Overview of Added Entries** screen where you will define your translation ratio.

Update the following fields

ExRt: This field allows you to specify an exchange rate for your currency pair. For example, M is the standard translation at average rate. Enter the exchange rate that you want to use in this field. In this activity, we used M (average rate). When you use exchange rate type M, you can easily determine the bank selling or bank buying exchange rate by adding or subtracting the exchange rate from the average rate.

There is no hard rule about the exchange rate type you use here. You can use any of the three exchange rate types, (G-bank buying rate, B-bank selling rate, and M-average rate), but we advise that you stick to your company's standard exchange rate type.

From/To: Enter your currency pair. In this activity, we used USD/GBP as our currency pair.

Valid From: This is the date you want your exchange rate translation to be valid from. It is recommended that you use the current date.

Ratio (From): Enter the ratio you want to use for your currency translation in this field. In this activity, we used a ratio of 1:1.

≡										<	6	_ 8 ×
	<	SAP	7						New Entries: Overview of Added Entries			
		-										
				✓ Delete	Select All S	Select	Block Deselect	All Config	uration Help More 🗸	6	Display	Exit
		Error	To	Valid from	Data/from)		Datio (to)					0
	M	HED	10	Valid from	reauo(nom)		1	AL ENI				
		CRP	UCD	01.08.2022	-	1	1	-				
	•	*	*	01.00.2022	-	-		-				
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*		-							
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*		-	2						
	*	*	*									
	*	*	*									
		*	*			-8						
	-	-	-									
				-# Position.			Entry 0 of 0					
											Dava	Cannal
											Save	Cancel

Figure 7-5. Definition of translation ratio for currency pair

Save your translation ration by clicking the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

Enter Exchange Rates

Exchange rates are used to translate one currency to another and are defined on a period basis (valid from) and this plays an important role:

- During posting and clearing, because they are used to translate foreign amounts posted and cleared to company code code's currency (local currency).
- Determine the gain or loss arising from exchange rate differences.
- Valuate open item and balance sheet accounts in foreign currency during closing process.

Exchange rate setting is applicable to all company codes. Exchange rate type *M* is supplied by SAP. It is advisable to use it for foreign currency translation during documents posting or clearing in Exchange rate – *ExRt*. It is compulsory that exchange rate type must exist in the system, and this exchange rate is applicable to all company codes.

Specify the following conversion objects for:

- Exchange Rate type.
- Valid from.
- Currency codes.

To enter your exchange rate, use this menu path: *IMG: SAP NetWeaver* ➤ *General Settings* ➤ *Currencies* ➤ *Enter Exchange Rates*.

The **Change View "Currency Exchange Rates": Overview** screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left side of the screen to go the screen where you will specify your exchange rate. The **New Entries: Overview of added Entries** screen is displayed (Figure 7-6).

Update the following fields:

ExRt: Enter the exchange rate that you want to use in this field. We recommend that you use M (average) rate as your exchange rate type.

Valid from: This is the date you want the system to recognize as the date your exchange rate will be valid from. We recommend that you use the current date (today's date).

From/To: Enter your currency pair in this field. In this activity, we used USD/GBP as our currency pair.

Dir.quot.: Since we are using direct quotation for our exchange rate, enter the exchange rate for USD and GBP in this field.

Delete Select All Select All Configuration Help More Image: Select All Select All Select All Select All Image: Select All Select All Select All Select All Image: Select All Select All Select All Select All Image: Select All Select All Select All Select All Image: Select All Select Al		< 6	- ć	7 ×
Delete Select All Select All Configuration Help More >> ExRt VelidFrom Indir quot X Relic(from) From = Dir quot X Relic(from) To M 01.08.2022 X USD 0,8477 X GBP M 01.08.2022 X GBP 1,1796 X VED * X * = X * * * X * = X * * * X * = X * * * X * = X * * * X * = X * * * X * * X * * * * X * * X * * * * X * * X * * *				
ExRt ValidFrom Indir.quot X Ratio(from) From = Dir.quot X Ratio (fo) To M 01.08.2022 X USD = 0.8477 X GBP M 01.08.2022 X GBP 1,1796 X USD * X X T = X T * X X # = X X # * X X # = X X # * X X # = X X # * X X # = X X # * X X # = X X # * X X # = X X # * X X # = X X # * X X #	6	Displa	ey E	xit
M 01.08.2022 X USD = 0,8477 X GBP M 01.08.2022 X GBP = 1,1796 X USD M 01.08.2022 X GBP = 1,1796 X USD M 01.08.2022 X GBP = 1,1796 X USD M X # = X # M X # = X # M X # = X # M X # = X # M X # = X # M X # = X # M X # = X # M X # = X # M X # = X # M X # = X # M X # = X #				0
M 01.08.2022 X GBP 1.1796 X USD * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X *				1
· · <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
* X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X				
* x * x * * x * x * * x * x * * x * x * * x * x * * x * x * * x * x * * x * x *				
* X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X *				
* X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X *				
* X * X * * X * X * * X * X * * X * X *				
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
• × × • • × •				
□ * X * - X *				
• × × • × •				
• × × • • × •				
• × × • • × •				
• × × • • × •				
• × × • × •				
• × × • • × •				
• × × + - × *				
• × × • × •				
• × × • × •				
all Dere More				
The second secon				
		_	_	
		Sav	o Ce	ncel

Figure 7-6. General settings for exchange rate

Save your exchange rate customizing.

Summary

This chapter explained how to maintain currency types and currency pairs in SAP ERP. We looked at why it is necessary to specify a currency for each transaction entered in the system. This must be done so that the system can manage the currency ledgers properly. We also looked at various exchange rate types represented by SAP and learned the various steps involved in maintaining exchange rate for each exchange rate type.

We explore how to maintain direct and indirect quotations and how to append prefixes to exchange rate quotations. We also walked through the steps involved in setting prefixes in SAP ERP using three scenarios. We learned how to define translation ratios for currency translation and how to specify translation ratios necessary for currency translations.

Finally, we explained the importance of the exchange rate and the role exchange rate plays when posting or clearing transactions in foreign currencies. We also went through the steps involved in customizing exchange rates and exchange rate ratios.

Chapter 8 looks at how to maintain goods receipt/invoice receipt (GR/IR) clearing and looks at how to maintain accounts for automatic postings during GR/IR clearing.

CHAPTER 8

GR/IR Clearing

Objective

In this chapter, we will explore Goods Receipt/Invoice Receipt (GR/IR) and look at how to define adjustment accounts for GR/IR.

At the end of this chapter, you will be able to:

- Understand how GR/IR clearing accounts are posted in the system using a double entry principle.
- Customize GR/IR settings for goods that have been invoiced but not yet delivered.
- Customize GR/IR settings for goods that have been delivered but not yet invoiced.
- Customize GR/IR settings for posting offsets to a GR/IR clearing.

GR/IR Clearing

It is a normal business practice for goods to be delivered before the associated invoice arrives. This type of transaction is referred to in SAP R/3 as "*Delivered but not yet invoiced*." It is also possible for an invoice to arrive earlier and the goods be delivered later. This is referred to in SAP R/3 as "*Invoiced but goods not yet delivered*."

To account for movement of invoice and goods in the system, Provisional Accounts (clearing accounts) are defined for off-setting postings when goods are delivered but invoice not yet received and vice versa to account for timing differences between invoice receipt and goods delivery.

CHAPTER 8 GR/IR CLEARING

For example, when an invoice is received and the goods have not yet been delivered or vice versa, you define adjustment accounts and targets accounts for automatic posting of Goods Receipt/Invoice Receipt (GR/IR) for off-setting postings.

For the system to reflect invoice receipt of which goods are not yet delivered or goods delivered and invoice not yet received, transfer postings are made at the balance sheet date. The system analyzes the transactions in the GR/IR clearing accounts and posts outstanding balances to adjustment accounts and subsequently posts differences to offsetting accounts for goods receipt with pending invoices and vice versa.

Quantity differences between goods delivered and invoice receipt results in a debit balance in the GR/IR clearing account. When you receive an invoice for part of a delivery, the invoice amount is posted to the inventory account and the GR/clearing account based on your settings on the balance sheet key date. Transfer postings are performed to identify the part of goods delivered but not yet invoiced to the relevant adjustment account. The program then posts the offsetting entry to the goods delivered but not yet invoiced adjustment account (i.e., target account).

After the financial statement has been generated at a given key date, these postings are reversed.

We have illustrated this transaction with account postings in Figure 8-1. For example, goods worth 1500 are delivered, but a part invoice of 1000 was received.



Figure 8-1. Accounting transaction of quantity differences between goods delivered and invoice receipt

The 1500 of goods receipt is posted as a debit item in the inventory account and the corresponding credit posting is carried out by the system to the GR/IR clearing account.

The balance of 500 (i.e., the goods delivered of 1500 less the part delivery invoice of 500) arising from the goods delivery and the part delivery invoice is posted to the credit side of the vendor's account and a corresponding debit balance is posted to the GR/IR account.

The system will then post the 500 quantity differences between goods delivered and invoice receipt to GR/IR Adjustment Account and post an Offsetting entry to Receive but not invoice account. Upon the creation of financial statements, these postings are reversed at a balance sheet key date.

Let's take a further look at some double entry examples of how GR/IR transactions are posted in the system.

Note Before you proceed with this activity, it is important that you create the G/L accounts for Reconciliation account, Adjustment account, and Target account. Please refer to Tables 8-1 and 8-2 to see the G/L accounts we used in this activity.

The next section presents the steps involved in customizing the GR/IR clearing accounts when an invoice is received but goods have not yet been delivered.

Invoiced But Not Yet Delivered

When an invoice is received and goods not yet delivered, the inventory account is credited, and the GR/IR Clearing Account is debited.

You will define the following clearing accounts for off-setting posting in this activity for this to happen:

- Reconciliation accounts,
- Adjustment accounts, and
- Target accounts.

Problem: You have been asked to define clearing accounts for offsetting goods that have been invoiced but not yet delivered. This is when an invoice has been received but the goods have not been delivered. When the invoice is posted in the system, the inventory account is credited and the GR/IR clearing account is debited.

To define the clearing account for offsetting a posting in the system, use this menu path to go to the screen where you will perform the setting for the GR/IR clearing account in the system: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *General Ledger Accounting* ➤ *Periodic Processing* ➤ *Reclassify* ➤ *Define Adjustment Accounts for GR/IR Clearing.* The Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedures screen is displayed (Figure 8-2).

CHAPTER 8 GR/IR CLEARING

=				< 6 🗌 🔿 ×
K SAP		Configuration Accounting N	aintain : Automatic Posts - Procedures	
✓ Choose More	U .			Exit
Group: WRV Goods.lin	voices receipt clearing			
Procedures				
Description	Transaction	Account Determ.		۲
Invoiced but not yet delivered	BNG			
Delivered but not yet invoiced	GNB			

Figure 8-2. Defining automatic postings for GR/IR clearing

Since we are maintaining settings for goods invoiced but not yet delivered, select Invoiced but not yet delivered from the list of procedures on the screen by double clicking it. The Enter Chart of Accounts screen pops up. Enter your chart of accounts in the Chart of Accounts field. In this activity we used CA10 as our chart of account. Click Continue at the bottom right of the screen to go to the Continue Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts screen (Figure 8-3). Define reconciliation accounts, adjustment accounts, and targets accounts for automatic posting of Goods Receipt/ Invoice Receipt (GR/IR) for off-setting posting by assigning the GL accounts in Table 8-1.

CHAPTER 8 GR/IR CLEARING

=									> \$2	0 (1) 100 🗉 🙆 📃 🗗 🗙
< 54	P			Co	mfiguration A	ecounting Maintai	n : Automatic Po	sts - Accounts		
	~]	Previous opera	ition Next operat	on New Entries	Copy (Delete Posting K	ey Procedures	More 🛩		Exit
Cha	Transaction:	CA10 Chart BNG Invoice	of Accounts - C100 ed but not yet delive	ed						
Account assign	ment	12								
Reconciliatio	Adjustment A	Targ.acct								0
191100	191199	191101	a							
	0.7		Position				- CP			
			1 001001							
										Save Terminate

Figure 8-3. Accounts determination for automatic posting of goods invoiced but not yet delivered

You will assign the reconciliation accounts, adjustment accounts, and target accounts for automatic posting of GR/IR in the Account assignment section of the screen by using the G/L accounts in Table 8-1.

Table 8-1. List of G/L Accounts for GR/IR Clearing for Goods Invoiced But Not Yet Delivered

	GL accounts
Reconciliation	191000 – GR/IR clearing – own production 191100 – GR/IR clearing – external procurement
Adjustment	191099 – GR/IR clearing – own production (adjustments) 191199 – GR/IR clearing – own production (adjustments)
Target	191101 – GR/IR – Goods/services not yet delivered 191101 – GR/IR – Goods/services not yet delivered

After updating the screen save your work

Note If you have not created the appropriate G/L accounts yet, the system will notify you in the status bar at the bottom of the screen that the account is not created in chart of accounts. You can force the system to accept your G/L accounts temporarily, until you create your G/L accounts, by hitting the enter button on your keyboard.

Delivered but not yet invoiced

When goods are received but not yet invoiced, the inventory account is debited, and the GR/IR Clearing Account is credited.

You define the following clearing accounts for off-setting posting for this to happen:

- Reconciliation accounts,
- Adjustment accounts, and
- Target accounts.

Problem: Define clearing accounts for off-setting posting for Goods Delivered but not yet Invoiced.

In order for the system to carry out automatic postings to various accounts that are affected by this transaction, you must assign appropriate accounts to your GR/IR clearing. You need to go to the screen where you will carry out accounts assignment for GR/IR clearing for offsetting postings. Follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *General Ledger Accounting* > *Periodic Processing* > *Reclassify* > *Define Adjustment Accounts for GR/IR Clearing.* The Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedures screen is displayed (Figure 8-2).

Since we are maintaining settings for goods delivered but not yet invoiced, select Delivered but not yet invoiced from the list of procedures on the screen by double clicking it. The Enter Chart of Accounts screen pops up. Enter your chart of accounts in the Chart of Accounts field. In this activity we used CA10 as our chart of account. Click Continue at the bottom right of the screen to go to the Continue Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts screen (Figure 8-4). Define reconciliation accounts, adjustment accounts, and targets accounts for automatic posting of Goods Receipt/ Invoice Receipt (GR/IR) for off-setting posting by assigning the GL accounts in Table 8-2.

CHAPTER 8 GR/IR CLEARING

=									> \$20(1)1	× 🖻 💶 🔒 🗉 🕫
Configuration Accounting Maintain - Automatic Posts - Accounts										
	~]	Previous operatio	on Next operation	New Entries Cop	y Delete	Posting Key	Procedures	More 🗸		Exit
Chr Account assign	art of Accounts:	CA10 Chart of GNB Delivere	Accounts - C100 d but not yet involced							
Reconciliatio.	. Adjustment A	Targ.acct								٥
191000	191099	191102								
191100	191199	191102	Q							
						_	C			
			Position							
8	_	_	_	_	-	_	_	_	 	_
							100			Save Terminate

Figure 8-4. Continue Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts - Accounts screen

You will assign the reconciliation accounts, adjustment accounts, and target accounts for automatic posting of GR/IR in the Account assignment section of the screen by using the G/L accounts in Table 8-2.

Table 8-2. List of G/L Accounts for GR/IR Clearing for Goods Delivered But Not Yet Invoiced

	GL accounts
Reconciliation	191000 – GR/IR clearing – own production 191100 – GR/IR clearing – external procurement
Adjustment	191099 – GR/IR clearing – own production (adjustments) 191199 – GR/IR clearing – own production (adjustments)
Target	191102 – Goods and services not yet invoiced 191102 – Goods and services not yet invoiced

After updating the screen save your work

Note If you have not created the appropriate G/L accounts yet, the system will notify you in the status bar at the bottom of the screen that the account is not created in chart of accounts. You can force the system to accept your G/L accounts temporarily, until you create your G/L accounts, by hitting the enter button on your keyboard.

Summary

When accounting for invoices and movement of goods in the system, you must define provisional accounts (clearing accounts) that offset postings when goods and invoices are not simultaneously delivered and paid. This chapter illustrated how GR/IR clearings are posted in the system using the double entry principle. We then learned how to define adjustment accounts, reconciliation accounts, and target accounts for automatic posting for GR/IR clearing in SAP S4 HANA.

We also explored how to assign G/L accounts to GR/IR clearing and learned how this works in SAP S4 HANA during posting of transactions whereby goods are received, and the invoice is not yet delivered, and whereby the invoice is received, and goods are not yet delivered.

Chapter 9 defines House Bank and explains how it is configured in SAP S4 HANA. We will also be looking at how SAP S\$ HANA supports bank statements. As part of this chapter, we will also explore how to define posting keys and posting rules for bank statements and check deposits, respectively.

CHAPTER 9

Bank

In this chapter, we explore how to customize the house bank in FI.

At the end of this chapter, you will have a thorough understanding of:

- What a house bank is.
- Identify the components of a master record in a house bank.
- Define a house bank.
- Use a house bank ID and an account ID.
- Identify bank statements supported by SAP S4 HANA.
- Assign global settings for an electronic bank statement.
- Configure a manual bank statement.
- Define posting keys and posting rules for check deposit.
- Define variants for check deposits.

Introduction

The banks that hold your company code bank account are referred to as house bank in SAP ERP (for example, City Bank. Bank of America, etc.). A company code can have more than one house bank assigned to it.

Each Bank Account has its own Master Record stored centrally in the Bank Directory. Bank master data in the bank directory is made up of:

- Bank Account Data (Bank Account Number, Currency, Bank Key, GL Account...).
- House Bank Data (Bank Country and Bank Key, Bank Name).

CHAPTER 9 BANK

- Communication Data (Telephone, Contact Person, Address, EDI Partner Profile and Data Medium Exchange).
- Control (SWIFT Code, Bank Number...).

The SWIFT code is used for identifying banks in international payment transactions.

- The first 4 characters contains the bank code (alphabets only).
- The next 2 characters contain the ISO (this is numeric digit) and 2 alpha digits as the country code.

Bank details are required for printing payment forms.

A combination of House Bank ID & Account ID makes up the bank account in the SAP R/3 system. You enter the Hose Bank ID and Account ID in the GL account so that the system can recognize the appropriate GL account during bank transactions.

The bank group is used for classifying banks. The key is freely assignable. The aim of the classification is to group banks together in such a way that payment transactions within a group can be carried out as fast as possible (this is referred to as payment optimization).

Note When customer/vendor has more than one bank account, the bank type in the customer master record is used to distinguish between different banks. During invoice processing, the user can decide which bank to use by using the match-code in the partner bank field.

Likewise, the House Bank ID and the Account ID is used by the payment program to determine the banks to use during invoice payment.

Now, configure House Banks for Barclays bank and HSBC Bank.

Defining House Bank

Banks used by company codes in SAP_ERP system are called House Banks. A combination of both House Bank ID & Account ID makes up the bank account in the SAP R/3 system.

The House Bank ID and the Account ID are used by the payment program to determine the banks to use during invoice payment.

Note The SAP system comes with examples of standard House Banks. It is advisable to take a look at them as a guide if you are not confident with House Bank configuration.

Problem: Company C900 plc has two bank accounts (Barclays Bank and HSBC Bank). You are to define the House Banks for both Bank Accounts.

To define house bank, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Bank Accounting* ➤ *Bank Accounts* ➤ *Define House Bank*.

The Display View "Company Codes": Overview screen is displayed with a list of company codes in the system, search for your company code using either the Position button at the bottom of the screen or use the scroll bar at the right side of the screen. Select your Company code (C100) by ticking the checkbox attached your company code, as in Figure 9-1.

Display View Company Codes*: Overview Select Al Select Block Descelect Al Configuration Heip More Image: Company Codes Image: Code Image: C	=		> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗇 🤅
Select All Select All Configuration Help More × Image: Configuration Help Image: Configuration Help More × Image: Configuration Help More × Image: Configuration Help Image: Configuration H	< SAP	Display View "Company Codes": Overview	
Dalog Structure Codd Company Name Mouse Banks Codd County Template CA Bank Accounts Codd County Template CA Codd County Template CL Codd	Select/	All Select Block Deselect All Configuration Help More 🗸	영 Exit
Company Codes House Banks CA01 County Template CA Gass Canada Company+ Cass County Template CA Cass County Template CA Cass County Template CA Cass County Template CL Co	Dialog Structure	CoCd Company Name	۵
Courte Banks Courty Template CA Case Country Template CA Case Courty Template CA Case Courty Template CA Courty Caper Ca. C	VC Company Codes	C 100 G palo Inc	
Benk Accounts C498 Canada Company C499 County Template CA C401 County Template CH C402 County Template CH C403 County Template CH C403 County Template CO C400 County Templat	- House Banks	CA01 Country Template CA	
CA99 Country Template CA CUL FORMACION SAP SL CUL FORMACION SAP SL CUL CA02 Country Template CL CA02 Country Template CL CA03 Country Template CN CA03 Country Template CN CA04 Country Template CN CA05 Country Template CN CA05 Country Template CN CA05 Country Template CN CA06 Country Template CN CA07 Country Template CN CA08 Country Template CN CA08 Country Template CN CA09 Country Template CN CA00 Country Template CN	Bank Accounts	CA98 Canada Company+	
CEU2 FORMACION SAP SL CIU2 Country Template CL CIU2 Country Template CL CO2 Country Template CD CO2 Country Template CO CO2 Zabeel SAP Training CO22 zabeel company in India		CA99 Country Template CA	
Cr02 Country Template CH Cr02 Country Template CN Cr02 Country Template CO Cr02 Zabeel SAP Training Cr02 zabeel company in india		CEUL FORMACION SAP SL	
CL01 Country Template CL CO21 Country Template CN C020 Country Template CO C027 Co297 Co2001 C022 Zabeel SAP Training C022 Zabeel company in Incla		CH01 Country Template CH	
CN01 Country Template CN CO21 Country Template CO CO22 Zabeel SAP Training CO22 zabeel company in India		CL01 Country Template CL	
CODI Country Template CO COPY Copy from CC.0001 COZI Zabeel SAP Training COZI zabeel company in India		CN01 Country Template CN	
COPY Copy from CC.0001 COZI Zabeel SAP Training COZI Zabeel company in incle		C001 Country Template CO	
COZZ Zabeel SAP Training		COPY Copy from CC.0001	
Entry 41 of 189		CO21 Zabeel SAP Training	
-# Position Entry 41 of 169	1	COZI zabeel company in India	
		H Position Entry 41 of 189	

Figure 9-1. The Display View "Company Codes": Overview screen

CHAPTER 9 BANK

Double click the House Bank folder in the Dialog Structure at the left side of the screen. The Display View "Company Codes": Overview screen is displayed. Click the New Entries button at the top left of the screen, the New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen (Figure 9-2) comes up.

≡					> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗃 >
< SAP		New Entries: Details	of Added Entries		
∽ Delete	Previous Entry Next Entry Mon	•~			🖗 Display Exit
Dialog Structure Company Codes	Company Code: C100 *House Bank: BAME House Bank Data	Spaxia inc			
	*Bank Country:	us		Create	
	Bank Key:	202020		Change	
	Communications data				
	Telephone 1:	0732566778	Tax Number 1:		
	Contact Person:	Andrew Abraham			
	₹ Address				
	EDI partner profiles				
	2 Data medium exchange				
		- 20 - 20			Save Cancel

Figure 9-2. New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen

Update the following fields

Company Code: Your Company Code will be automatically defaulted by the system.

House Bank: In this field, you can enter up to five digit characters as your house bank key. Enter your House Bank ID in this field. This ID will enable you to identify this bank account, especially in an environment where you have multiple House Banks. Secondly, the House Bank ID is also entered in the Bank Account GL account master data and Customer/Vendor master record for automatic payment program.

House Bank Data Section

Bank Country: Enter your country ID (for example, for the United States of America enter – **US)** in this field. This will allow you to identify your House bank country. Another important factor of Country ID is that it forms part of IBAN and SWIFT for international payments.

Bank Key: Enter your Bank Sort Code. This helps identify your bank and the branch. This key is very important as it forms part of IBAN & SWIFT used for international payments.

Communications Data Section

Telephone: This is usually your bank telephone number.

Contact person: This is your account manager or someone that is designated by the bank to your account.

After updating the screen in Figure 9-2, click the Create button at the right side of the screen. This will call up the Bank Data form, where you can enter further bank information about your house bank. For example, you can enter your bank name, address, region, and so on. Once you have added your entries, click Continue at the bottom of the screen to confirm your entries and save your house bank by clicking the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

The next step is to define Bank Account for your house bank.

Define Bank Account for your House Bank

To define bank accounts for your house bank, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Bank Accounting* ➤ *Bank Accounts* ➤ *Define House Bank*.

Unfortunately, bank accounts and accounts assignments can no longer be maintained in SAP S4 HANA as earlier SAP versions. Bank statements now have to be maintained in SAP NetWeaver Business Client, and this is outside the scope of this book.

Save your house bank customization. Follow the steps in defining house bank above and using the information in Table 9-1, define another house bank, for example, HSBC.

CHAPTER 9 BANK

Field Name	Bank Data			
Company Code	Enter your company code in this field			
House Bank	Enter a house bank data in this field, such as HSBC			
Bank Country	Enter your country code in this field such US or GB or DE and so on			
Bank Key	Enter your bank unique sort code in this field			
Address	Enter your company address in this field			
Account ID	Enter a unique account Id in this field – such as HSBC			
Description	Enter a short text that best describes your House Bank, Such as HSBC Bank			

Table 9-1. Data to Define a House Bank for HSBC Bank Account

The next step in this activity is to look at how to maintain a bank statement in SAP S4 HANA.

Bank Statement

A bank statement is a summary of financial transactions, such as incoming and outgoing payments that took place during a given period on an account. This is the state of your cash position. SAP ERP supports two types of bank statements: electronic bank statements and manual bank statements.

Before you create your electronic and manual bank statements, it is recommended that you first create the following clearing accounts (refer to Chapter 9 on how to create G/L accounts), which your bank transactions will be posted to:

Main Balnc Account: As the name suggests, this is the general bank account entered in the house bank master data. This account serves as a reconciliation account that holds the bank account balance.

Checks Received: The checks you received for invoice amounts from your customers or business partners for supplying them goods or for providing services are posted to this account.

Other Interim Posting: Reconciliation items are posted to this account.

Check Issued out: Check payments made by your company to its creditors or business partners for goods/services received are posted to this account.

Outgoing Wire Transfer: This is an electronic method of funds transfer from your company to a business partner to mitigate due invoice(s). This is a very fast way of transferring money from one person to another or from one company to another.

Incoming Cash: Cash received by your company from business partners for a business transaction are posted to this account.

Outgoing Cash: Cash payments made by your company relating to business transactions to business partners are posted to this account.

Note We have provided information in "Appendix A, Chapter 9 Bank Statement" that will enable you to create the Gil account that you will need to customize your bank statement. We recommend that you first create the necessary Gil account before creating your bank statement.

The next section defines an electronic bank statement and explains how to set up an electronic bank statement (EBS) framework. Later in this chapter, you will define manual bank statements.

SAP R/3 supports two types of bank statements, namely Electronic Bank Statement and Manual Bank Statements.

Before we go further to look at how to create Electric Bank Statements and manual Bank Statements. You will need to create the following Accounts to support your customization:

- Check Received.
- Other Interim Posting.
- Check Issued Out.
- Outgoing Wire Transfer.
- Incoming Cash.
- Outgoing Cash.

Note Go to **Appendix 1– Chapter 9** Bank Statement below to create the necessary G/L Account for your configuration.

Electronic Bank Statement

An electronic bank statement is simply a bank statement generated by your bank in an electronic format. It provides detailed information about the movement of funds in your bank account created at the house bank during any given period. With SAP R/3, it is possible to retrieve bank statements electronically using bank communication management. Bank communication management manages multiple bank communication interfaces that allow you to connect to your bank using a defined standard protocol. When a bank statement is uploaded to SAP ERP, it can serve the following purposes:

- Clears all bank clearing accounts in the system to the bank main account (this is the general bank account entered in the house bank master data).
- Uses the bank statement to perform automatic bank reconciliations in the system.

SAP R/3 supports various electronic bank statement formats, including Multicash, SWIFT, BAI, BAI2, and others:

- Multicash: Invented by Omikron a German Company, Multicash is an electronic bank statement format that allows the SAP ERP system to communicate with the bank system. The format is split into two file formats. AUSZUG.TXT holds the bank statement header information and UMSATZ.TXT contains the bank account transactions information.
- SWIFT (Society for World-Wide Interbank Financial Telecommunication): This is a computer-based switching system used by banks for making payments related to international transactions.
- BAI (Bank Administration Institute): This is a standardized electronic file format used for cash management between the bank and the account holder. The bank transmits BAI file formats to the account holder who in turns downloads or inputs the file into the system, generates a bank statement, and performs bank reconciliation.
- BA12: This is the latest release of a cash management balance report. It is very similar to BAI in functionality. The only difference is that BAI2 contains more detailed information.

Now let's define Electronic Bank Statement and setup Electronic Bank Statement (EBS) framework.

Electronic Bank Statement

With SAP S4 HANA it is possible to retrieve bank statements electronically using the defined bank communication standard. When a bank statement is uploaded to SAP system, it can serve the following functions:

- Clears various bank clearing accounts to the main account and
- Perform automatic bank reconciliations.

SAP S4 supports various electronic bank statement formats like Multicash, BAI, BAI2, SWIFT, etc.

Defining Global Settings for Electronic Bank Statement

In this activity, you will need to make seven global settings. These seven global settings are listed on the Dialog structure on the left pane of the *Account symbols overview* screen.

The following four settings that you will be carrying out in this activity are also applicable to manual bank statement, so you don't need to create or define them again during manual bank statement configuration:

- **Create Account Symbols:** The accounts symbols you created as part of your electronic bank customizing will specify the G/L accounts and subledgers that the bank statement transaction are posted to.
- Assign Accounts to Account Symbol: This will allow you to assign or map account symbols to appropriate GL accounts and subledgers.
- **Create Keys for Posting Rules:** Posting key decides the posting rules applicable to general ledger and subledger.
- **Define Posting Rules:** Posting rules represents business transactions in the bank statement by using appropriate posting keys, document types, and posting. For example incoming check, check out, Bank Transfer, Bank Charges, etc.

Note To ensure that your configuration is complete, we advise that you work from top to bottom. Using this technique will ensure that all the required aspects of the required configurations are covered.

Problem:

Spoxio Inc.'s accounting team wants to be able to upload their bank statement electronically using defined bank communication standards. SAP supports various electronic bank statement formats like Multicash, BAI, BAI2, SWIFT, etc.

As a part of your task, it is your responsibility to define appropriate settings needed to allow the accounting team to be able to upload bank statements electronically to the SAP system from the bank to be able to clear several bank clearing accounts and also be able to carry out automatic bank reconciliation.

To define global settings for electronic bank statement, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Bank Accounting* > *Business Transactions* > *Payment Transactions* > *Electronic Bank Statement* > *Make Global Settings for Electronic Bank Statement*.

The Determine Work Area: Entry dialog box pops up, enter your company chart of accounts key in the Chart of Accounts field and click Enter at the bottom of the dialog box. A Warning screen comes up saying that *"All fields which define the area have initial values."* Ignore the warning and click the Continue button.

Change View "Create Account Symbols": Overview screen is displayed (Figure 9-3).

CHAPTER 9 BANK

=				> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗗 🗙
< SAP		Change View "Create Acc	ount Symbols": Overview	
V New Entries Copy As	Delete Undo Change	Select All Select Block	Deselect All Configuration Help More 🗠	Pisplay Exit
Dialog Structure	Create Account Symbo	۲		
Chestion Accounts to Account Symbols	Account Symbol	Description	SIP Relev.	
Create Keys for Posting Rules	ACHATS DEVISES	ACHATS DE DEVISES		
Define Posting Rules	AGIOS	AGIOS		
~ [] Create Transaction Type	ANULAC., CORREC.	Reversal, adjustment		
Assign External Transaction Types to Posting Rules	AUSG-UEBERWSG	Outgoing transfer		
C Assign Bank Accounts to Transaction Types	AUSGNG-UEBERW-A	Foreign out, transf.		
	AUSGNG-UEBERN-I	Domestic out, transf		
	BANCO	Bank		
	BANK	Bank Account		
	BANKEINZUG	Bank collection		
	BANKFEES	Bank Fees		
	BANQUE	BANQUE		
	BE BANK	BANK		
	BE CHECK TO CAS	CHECKS TO BE CASHED		
	BE COST	BANK COST		
	BE CUST COLL.	Customer collection		
	BE INTEREST	INTEREST		
	BE INTERIM	Interim account 1/2		
	BE LOON	LOON		
	BE OUTG. CHECKS	Outgoing checks		
		+≣ Position	Entry 1 of 137	
				Save Cancel

Figure 9-3. Global Setting for Electronic Bank Statement – Specify Account Symbols

On this screen you will define the following items:

- Create Account Symbols.
- Assign Accounts to Account Symbol.
- Create Keys for Posting Rules.
- Define Posting Rules.
- Create Transaction Type.
- Assign External Transaction Types to Posting Rules.
- Assign Bank Accounts to Transaction Types.

Tip To ensure that your configuration is complete work through the folders on the Dialog Structure on the left-hand side of the screen systematically in steps from top down.

CHAPTER 9 BANK

The first step in this activity is to create account symbols for your electronic bank statement.



Creating Account symbols

You will notice that the *Create Account Symbol* folder on the *Dialog Structure* is open.

Choose New Entries at the top left of the screen. The *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen is displayed. This screen will allow you to create your own account symbols.

Update the *New entries* screen with your account symbol. For this activity use the data in the following table as your account symbol to update the screen for account symbols:

Account	Text
C900-BANK	Main Bank Account
C900-BANKCHGS	Bank Charges
C900-CHECK-IN	Incoming Checks
C900-CHECK-OUT	Outgoing Checks
C900-BANKTRANS	Bank Transfers
C900-INTERPOST	Reconciliation Items

Note There is no hard rule to creating Account Symbols. You don't necessarily have to use the account symbols used in this activity; it is only for illustration. You can formulate your own account symbols.

Once an account symbol has been used by someone else, the system will not allow you to use the same account symbol again. So, use your own initiative when creating your account symbols by trying other symbols – be creative.

Once you have specified your account symbols (as in Figure 9-4), hit the enter key on your keyboard and save your Account Symbols.
=				> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🕼 🔔 🖻 🗙
< SAP		New Entries: Ove	rview of Added Entries	
Celete Select All Sele	ect Block Deselect All	Configuration Help More	~	容 Display Exit
Dialog Structure	Create Account Sym	bols		0
Create Account Symbols	Account Symbol	Description	SIP Relev.	
Create Keys for Posting Rules	C100-Bank	Main Bank Account		
Define Posting Rules	C100-BANKCHGS	Bank Charges		
~ Create Transaction Type	C100-CHECK-IN	Incoming Checks		
Assign External Transaction Types to Posting Rules	C100-CHECK-OUT	Outgoing Checks		
C Assign Bank Accounts to Transaction Types	C100-BANKTRANS	Bank Transfer		
	C100-INTERPOST	Reconciliation Items		
		10		
		+E Position	Entry 0 of 0	
1				
				Save Cancel

Figure 9-4. Specification of account symbols for your electronic bank statement

The second step in this activity is to assign accounts to the account symbols you have created for your electronic bank statement.



Assigning Accounts to account symbols

By assigning accounts to accounts symbol during configuration, the system automatically specifies the G/L accounts that transactions are posted when users retrieve bank statements electronically. For example, Checks received are posted to Incoming Checks account, charges are posted to Bank Charges account, and so on.

In Figure 9-4, double click the Assign Accounts to Account Symbol folder on the **Dialog structure** on the top left hand corner. The **Change View "Assign Accounts to Account Symbol": Overview** screen is displayed. To Assign Accounts to Account Symbol, choose New Entries at the top left of the screen. This will display the **New Entries: Overview of Added Entries** screen, where you will assign the symbols you have created above to your account.

Update the following fields for each Account Symbol:

Act. Symbol: Enter each of your Account Symbols in this field by using the Search function.

Acct Mod: Enter account modifier "+."

Currency: Enter "+."

G/L acct: Enter the account by entering series of "+" signs as part of your GL

account.

It is also possible to use the search function to look for the Account Symbols that you created in Figure 9-4.

= < SAP			Ne	w Entries: Overview of	Added Entries		> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 📃 🗃 🤅
Delete	Select All Select B	lock Desele	ict All Configuration	on Help More 🗸			양 Display Exit
Dialog Structure Create Account Symbols Statign Accounts to Account Sym Create Keys for Posting Rules Define Posting Rules	Chart of Accts: Description: Assign Accounts to A	CA10 Chart of Account	nts - C100 pl				0
Assign Earlt Accounts to Transe	Act Symbol C100-BANK C100-BANKCMOS C100-CHECK-TW C100-CHECK-TW C100-CHECK-TW C100-BANKTRANS C100-INTERPOST	Act Mod. + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	Currency + + + + + + + +	GL_Account	Description	SIP Relex.	
			Posteon	Entry 0 or 0		_	Save Cancel

Figure 9-5. Assignment of accounts to account symbols

Account symbols can be assigned in two ways: either by entering the full GL account number or replacing your GL account or most of the first parts of your GL account with series of "+" signs.

For example, your Bank Account could be replaced with "++++++++" (this is up to 10 symbols). What happens is that the system will automatically replace these signs with the GL account assigned to House Bank during house bank configuration.

On the other hand, for example, when part of your Check Received GL account is replaced with "+++++++1," the system will automatically replace the GL account you created for Incoming Checks.

Note Always use the last G/L account number. The system automatically recognizes the other ten characters.

Hit Enter on your keyboard and save your work.

Note By appending "+" signs to your GL account you don't have to keep defining a symbol for every house bank when a new GL is maintained. Instead use symbol "++++++++++++." The system will automatically recognize the GL account for your house bank. Likewise, to avoid input error when maintaining GL accounts for other items, use "+++++++n" and enter the last GL account number at the end for each signs (item). For example, the GL Account for Check Received with Account Symbol CHECKOUT is 111412, then our GL Account should look like this ++++++++2. Hence your symbol for CHECKOUT GL Account is +++++++2 as above.

Note Only your Main Bank Account should be masked without a number at the end. The bank charges should contain all the GL code.

The next step in this activity is to create keys for posting rules for each of the account symbols you created in step 1.

Step 3

Creating Keys for Posting Rules

To create keys for posting rules, double click the Create Keys for Posting Rules folder in the **Dialog structure** on the top left hand pane of the screen to create the keys for posting rules. The Change View "Define Posting Rules": Overview screen is displayed. Choose New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to the New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen where your will create the posting rules for your electronic bank statement.

Update the following items by creating posting rules for each of your account symbols. In this activity, you should create six keys for posting rules and we describe the keys for posting rules in the next section.

Note You can use the Posting Keys supplied by SAP or you can create your own posting keys from scratch. In this activity, we recommend that you create your own posting keys.

Tip The system allows a maximum of four characters for a posting rule key.

Update the New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen, as in Figure 9-6.

=			> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗃 🗙
< SAP		New Entries: Overview of Added Entries	
✓ Delete	Select All Selec	Block Deselect All Configuration Help More 🗠	😨 Display Exit
Dialog Structure Create Account Symbols Acsounts to Account Sym Create Keys for Posting Rules	Posting Rule PK01 PK02	Text Main Bank Account - C100 Bank Charges - C100	•
Define Posting Rules Create Transaction Type Assign External Transaction T	РК03 РК04 РК05 РК05	Incoming Checks - C100 Outgoing Checks - C100 Bank Transfer - C100 Record lance Itams - C100	
		-Il Position Entry 0 of 0	Save Cancel

Figure 9-6. Customizing keys for posting rules

Save the keys for your posting rules.

Note The posting keys we used in this activity are only for illustration. You can use any posting key and description of your choice in this activity.

In step 4, you will define posting rules that are assigned to your account symbols.



Defining Posting Rules

To define posting rules, Double click the Define Posting Rules folder on the **Dialog structure** on the top left hand pane in order to create posting rules. The Change View "Define Posting Rules": Overview screen is displayed. Choose the New Entries at the top left of the screen to proceed to the New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen (Figure 9-7) where you will define your posting rules.

=			> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 🔔 🗃 🗙
< SAP		New Entries: Details of Added Entries	
Deleb	e Previous Entry Next Entry More ~		💮 Display Exit
Dialog Structure Create Account Symbols Assign Accounts to Account Syn Create Keys for Posting Rules Define Posting Rules	Posting Rule: PK03 Posting Area: 1 Debit	Credit	
Create Transaction Type Assign External Transaction T Assign Bank Accounts to Transc	Posting Key: 40 Sp. GiL Indicator: Account Symbol: CLOO-BANK Compression * Document Type: 5A * Posting Type: 5 Posting on Acct Key: Reversal Reason: It Simulate	Posting Key: Sp. QiL Indicator: Account Symbol: C100-CHECK-IN Compression	
			Save Cancel

Figure 9-7. Defining posting rules for check received

Update the following fields:

Posting Rule: Enter the Keys for Posting Rules that you defined above in the Posting Rule fields. Posting Rules are used by the system to determine which GL accounts and subledgers to post transactions to.

Posting Area: The SAP ERP System comes with two standard values for posting area (1 – Bank Accounting and 2 – Subledger Accounting). Posting Area will allow the system to post to either of the specified areas.

Posting Key: Enter the appropriate posting key in this field. Posting key allows the system to determine whether a line item should be treated as debit or credit and the account type to post a transaction to. It also controls the field status for document entry.

Acct Symbol: You have already defined a number of account symbols above. Enter the appropriate account symbol in this field. The account symbol you entered here will allow the system to determine to which account the related transaction is posted when users retrieve bank statements electronically.

Document Type: Allows you to differentiate between transactions and also allows the system to determine which business transactions to post.

Posting Type: It is mandatory that you enter one posting type in the Posting Type field during customizing. The importance of posting type is for account clearing. For example, Posting Type 5-clears credit G/L Account.

Posting Rule	S003
Posting Area	1
Debit	
Posting Key	40
Acct Symbol	C900-BANK
Credit	
Acct Symbol	C900-CHECK-IN
Document Type	SA
Posting Type	5

Table 9-2. Data to Define Posting Rules for CHECK-IN (This is for checks received from customers)

Note This configuration is for incoming checks. The accounting entries for check receipt is to debit your bank account using debit posting key -40, since money is coming in. Likewise, credited a corresponding Incoming Check clearing account.

Similarly, the configuration for outgoing checks is the reverse. Credit your Bank Account using Posting Key – 50 and Debit the corresponding Outgoing Check Clearing account.

Save your posting rules for check received.

To complete the customizing of your posting rules you have to also create posting rules for the remaining account symbols you created in step 1 using the data in Tables 9-2 to 9-6 to complete the posting rules for each activity.

Posting Rule	РК04
Posting Area	1
Debit	
Acct Symbol	C100-CHECK-OUT
Credit	
Posting Key	50
Acct Symbol	C100-BANK
Document Type	SA
Posting Type	4

Table 9-3. Data to Define Posting Rules forCHECK-OUT (This is for checks paid out tovendors)

Table 9-4. Data to Define Posting Rules for**BANKTRANS (This is for bank transfers fromthe bank)**

Posting Rule	PK05
Posting Area	1
Debit	
Acct Symbol	C100-BANKTRANS
Credit	
Posting Key	50
Acct Symbol	C100-BANK
Document Type	SA
Posting Type	4

Table 9-5. INTERPOST (this is for other Interim Posts)

Posting Rule	PK06
Posting Area	1
Debit	
Posting Key	40
Acct Symbol	C100-INTERPOST
Credit	
Posting Key	50
Acct Symbol	C100-BANK
Document Type	SA
Posting Type	1

Posting Rule	PK02
Posting Area	1
Debit	
Posting Key	40
Acct Symbol	C100-BANKCHGS
Credit	
Posting Key	50
Acct Symbol	C100-BANK
Document Type	SA
Posting Type	1

Table 9-6.Data to Define Posting Rules forBANKCHGS (This is for bank charges)

Once you have completed your posting rules customizing using the data in Tables 9-2 to 9-6, save your posting rules.

The next step is to create transaction types under electronic bank statement.



Create Transaction Type

Transaction type allows you to assign the appropriate external transactions to posting rules.

Before you assign external transaction type to posting rules, first you have to define transaction type.

To Create transaction type, Double click The Create Transaction Type folder on the **Dialog structure** on the top left hand pane in order to create posting rules. The Change View "Create Transaction Type": Overview screen is displayed. Choose the New Entries at the top left of the screen to proceed to the New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen (Figure 9-8) where you will Create Transaction Type.

=				> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗇 🗙
< SAP		New Entr	ies: Overview of Added Entries	
and and	Colori di Col	ant Strate - Description Market	Married	
Celete	Select VII Sel	ect block Deselect All Conliguration Help	More ·	(6, Osba) Ext
Dialog Structure	Trans. Type	Name		Θ
Create Account Symbols	C100	Electronic Bank Statement - C100	1	
Assign Accounts to Account Syn			1	
Create Keys for Posting Rules				
Create Transaction Type				
Assign External Transaction T				
Assign Bank Accounts to Transt				
		-		
		-		
			Fate 0 at 0	
		All Prosiden	Endyooro	
	-			
				Save Cancel

Figure 9-8. The screen where you create transaction type for your electronic bank statement

Update the following fields:

Trans. Type: Enter your transaction type in this field. Transaction type can be up to a maximum of eight characters (in this activity, we used C100 as our transaction type).

Name: The name-field will allow you to describe your Transaction type – *Electronic Bank Statement – C100.*

Press Enter on your keyboard and Save your transaction type.

The next step in your electronic bank customizing is to assign external transaction types.



Assign External Transaction Types to Posting Rules

You assign external business transaction codes to internal posting rules, so you can use the same specifications you configured for different business transactions codes in your house banks. To proceed to the screen where you will assign external transaction types to posting rules, first select the transaction type you created in step 5, by making sure that the checkbox is ticked, then double click **Assign External Transaction Types to Posting** **Rules** folder from the *Dialog Structure*. The Change View "Assign External Transaction Types to Posting Rules": Overview screen is displayed (Figure 9-9). Click the New Entries at the top left of the screen. This will take you to the "New Entries: Overview of Added Entries" screen where you will assign external transaction types to posting rules.

=									> S20 (1) 100 🕨	6 -	. 8 ×
< SAP					New Entrie	es: Overview of Added	Entries				
∼ Delete	•	Select All S	elect	Block De	eselect All Configuration Help	More ~			8	Display	Exit
Dialog Structure Create Account Symbols Assign Accounts to Account Sym Create Keys for Posting Rules Define Posting Rules	,	Tran: Assign Externa	Norm	e: C100 e: Electron	nic Bank Statement - C100						ø
Assign External Transaction T		External Tra	+/	Posting	Interpretation Algorithm	P.	Processing Type				
Assign Bank Accounts to Transp		TT02	-	PK02	000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
		TT03	+	PK03	000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
		TT04	-	PK04	000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
		TT05	-	PK05	000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
		TT06	-	PK06	0: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
					000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
	1				000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
					000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
					000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	\sim			
					000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
					000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
					000: No Interpretation	¥	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
					000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
					000: No Interpretation	\sim	Dummy entry - not assignable	~			
					000: No Interpretation	~	Dummy entry - not assignable	\sim			
					-E Position	Entry 0 of 0					
										Save	Cancel

Figure 9-9. Assignment of External Transaction Types to Posting Rules

Update the following fields:

External Transaction: Enter your external transaction codes which could be up to a maximum of four characters for each transaction type for the system posting rule.

+/- **Sign:** this field allows you to specify further transaction differentiation for external transaction. The '+' sign in the front of external transaction code indicates receipt and '-' sign indicates payment.

Posting Rule: Enter posting rules already defined above.

Assign External Transaction Types to Posting Rules with the information in Table 9-7 and save your work.

External Trans	+/-	Posting	
TT02	-	PK02	
TT03	+	PK03	
TT03	-	PK04	
TT05	-	PK05	
TT06	-	PK06	

Table 9-7.	The data to update the assignment of
external tra	insaction types to posting rules

Hit Enter on your keyboard and Save your transaction types.

Finally, let's now assign the transaction type you have just created to your Bank Account.

Step 7

Assign Bank Accounts to Transaction types

It is not uncommon in an environment where there is more than one bank account for each bank to use its own individual transaction type to differentiate business types. If this is the case, each bank must be assigned its own transaction type. In this activity only one transaction type is created. You can define more than one transaction type. It all depends on your requirement.

On the Dialog Structure pane, double click the *Assign Bank Account to Transaction Types* folder to call-up the *Assign Bank Account to Transaction Types Overview* screen. When you select the *New Entries* button, this will allow you to assign transaction types to your bank account.

To go to the screen where you will assign bank account to transaction types, double click the Assign Bank Accounts to Transaction Types folder in the dialog structure on the left pane of the screen. The Change View "Assign Bank Account to Transaction Types": Overview screen is displayed. Click the New Entries at the top left of the screen, the New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen comes up (Figure 9-10).

log Structure									
Create Account Symbols	Assign Bank Acc	ounts to Transaction Type	s						
Assign Accounts to Account Syn	Bank Key	Bank Account	Trans. Ty	pe Currency Cla	P Su	Co Cash Manag	Worklist	N D D	
Create Keys for Posting Rules	202020	90909090	C100	a					
Define Posting Rules									
Create Transaction Type			_						
Assign External Transaction T									
🕾 Assign Bank Accounts to Transt									
			_						
			_						
1									
			_						
			-						
			_						

Figure 9-10. Assignment of your bank account to transaction types

Update the following fields:

Bank Key: This is your bank key or sort code that you created during House Bank customization.

Bank Account: Your House Bank Account number. This is normally your company's bank account number.

Transaction Type: Enter the transaction type you created in step 5.

Note Although you created two house banks, in this activity, you will only be assigning one house bank (Barclays Bank) to your transaction type, this is only for illustration purposes. There is no restriction to the number of banks you can assign to transaction type.

The Bank Key and the Bank Account used here are obtained from the House Bank you created above.

Save your work.

Manual Bank Statement

Most of the configurations carried out in Electronic Bank Statement are also applicable to Manual Bank Statement configuration. Hence only minimum configuration is required in Manual Bank Statement.

In this activity, you will only be performing the following customizing:

- Create and Assign Bank Transaction.
- Define Variants for Manual Bank Statement.

Create and Assign Business Transactions

In this activity, you will be creating the following business transactions, assign them to individual posting keys and allocate them to the appropriate posting rules:

- Bank Charges.
- Bank Transfer.
- Incoming Check.
- Outgoing Check.
- Reconciliation Items.

Note You don't need to create new posting rules, you can use the posting rules you created for electronic bank statement for your manual bank statement.

Follow this menu path to the screen where you will create and assign business transactions for your manual bank statement customizing: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Bank Accounting* > *Business Transaction* > *Payment Transactions* > *Manual Bank Statement* > *Create and Assign Business Transaction*.

The "*Change View: Manual Bank Statement Transactions": Overview* screen is displayed, click the New Entries button at the top left of the screen. *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen is displayed (Figure 9-11). This is the screen where you will create new business transactions and assign them to the posting rules you defined previously in Electronic Bank Statement.

≡							> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🔓 📃 🗇 🗙
	< 5	AP			New Entries: Overview of A	dded Entries	
T							
		~	Delete Si	elect All Selet	t Block Deselect All Configuration Help More 🧹		(B) Disbush Exit
	Trt	ans. type: 1					
	Tran +	- Post. Rule	Acct mod	Int algthm	Text		٢
	MCHG -	PK02			Bank Charges-C100		
	MTRN -	PK05			Bank Transfer-C100		
	MCIN +	PK03		011	Incoing Check-C100		
	MRIT -	PKOS		011	Reconciliation Items-C100		
		_					
				-E Po	Entry 0 of 0		
							Save Cancel

Figure 9-11. The screen where you create and assign business transactions for your manual bank statement

Update the following items:

Transaction: Enter your transaction codes in this field. This could be up to a maximum of four characters for each transaction type for the system posting rule.

+/- Sign: This field will allow you to specify further transaction differentiation for your business transaction. The "+" sign in the front of business transaction code indicates receipt and "-" sign indicates payment.

Posting Rule: Enter posting rules that you defined during automatic bank statement configuration.

Update your Manual Bank Statement Transactions Overview Screen with the information in Table 9-8

Table 9-8. The Data to Update the Screen for Creating and Assigning Business Transactions for Manual Bank Statement

Trans	+/-	Post Rule	Acct mod	Int algth	Text
MCHG	_	PK02			Bank Charges-C100
MTRN	_	PK05			Bank Transfer-C100
MCIN	+	PK03			Incoming Check-C100
мсот	_	PK04		011	Outgoing Checks-C100
MRIT	_	PK06			Reconciliation Items-C100

Note 011 - *Outgoing check. Check No. different from Pymt*. Used in Int algth field will allow outgoing check to be referenced.

Save your work.

Tip You don't need to define other posting keys and rules for manual bank statements; you can use the posting keys you defined for electronic bank statement

Finally, you will now have to define Variants for Manual Bank Statement.

Define Variants for Manual Bank Statement

SAP supplied a standard variant – SAP01 as a default. Only minimum modification is allowed for this standard variant. You can use this standard variant for your manual bank statement. It is advisable to copy the standard variant – SAP01 and modify it to meet your company's specific requirements.

Note If you choose not to use the standard variant – SAP01 supplied by the system, instead you decide to create your own your variant. First you have to deactivate the standard variant SAP01 and then activate your variant.

To go the screen where you define variants for manual bank statement, follow this menu path: *Financial Accounting* ➤ *Bank Accounting* ➤ *Business Transaction* ➤ *Payment Transactions* ➤ *Manual Bank Statement* ➤ *Define Variants for Manual Bank Statement*.

The Maintain Screen Variant: List screen is displayed.

In this activity, you will be copying the standard variant – SAP01 supplied by SAP in the system and modify it to meet your requirement. On the *Maintain Screen Variant: List* screen click on SAP01 – Standard (this is the last item in the displayed list) and click Copy... at the top right of the screen. The *Copy variant* screen pops-up (Figure 9-12). Enter the variant you want to copy – SAP01 in the *From Variant* field and enter your own variant identification key in the *To Variant* field (in this activity, we used C100) and choose the Enter button below to confirm your request. This action will allow you to copy the properties of standard variant – SAP01 to your variant (C100).

≡										;	S20 (1) 100	■ 6	_ 8 ×
<	SAP						Maintain	Screen Variant: List					
		~	Choose	Delete Create	Copy Standard	/ariants	$_{\rm More} \sim$						Exit
Variante		A	Program	 Manual account stater Manual account stater 	ment								
Var	iant:		Lines:		Name	Act.:	Release:	=	Conv variant		×		
PQRC1		1		POR Manual Bank Sta	atement		755	1.00	copy ranan				
Y801		1		Acct Statement (Bank	Ref.)		755						
Y802		1		"Text missing"			755	* From Variant:	SAP01				
YB03		1		"Text missing"			755	* To Variant:	C100				
YB04		1		Bank Reference / Pay	ment Order		755						
SAP01		1		Standard			755						
										Continue Can	cel		
								-			_		
												Sa	ve Cancel

Figure 9-12. The copy variant dialog box

Click Continue at the bottom left of the screen for the Variant SAP01 you are copying to be copied to your variant (C100). An Information screen with warning that *"Field FEBMKA-MEHRW is missing on reference screen"* pops up. Ignore the warning and click Continue at the bottom right of the screen. Once copy is confirmed, the system will automatically copy the standard variant – SAP01 to your variant.

≡							> S20(1)100 🗈 🙆 📃 🗗 🗙
<	SAP			Maintain S	creen Variant: Fields		
		~	Choose Delete Field Check Inse	t Before Technical Names Star	dard Offset Standard Offset+Length	More 🗸	Exit
Fields o	if the Vari	Ap	Program: Manual account statement opfication: Manual account statement Variant: Standard				
Colur	n Offs	et: Lgth:	Current Fields:	Possible Fields:			
1	3	4	Transaction	Allocation Number (Assi	on		
2	8	10	Value Date (Sel.)	Allocation Number (Sel.)		
3	19	31	Amount	Alternative Comp.Code (Sel			
4	37	10	Document Number (Sel.)	Amount			
5	50	7	Customer Matchcode (Sel.)	Bank Reference			
6	60	5	Foreign Currency (Acct)	Business Area (Assi			
7	66	31	Foreign Currency Amt (Acct)	Collective Invoice (Sel.)			
				Contract Number (Sel.)		
				Contract Type (Assi			
				Cost Center (Assi	1		
				Customer Matchcode (Sel.)		
				Customer Number (Sel.)		
				Document Date (Sel.)		
				Document Number (Sel.)		
-							
							Save Cancel

Figure 9-13. Maintaining variants for manual bank statement with all properties copied

The *Maintain Screen Variant Fields* screen is displayed for your Variant – C100 (Figure 9-13) inheriting the properties of the standard variant SAP01 that you copied. Modify the item on this screen to meet your requirement.

As part of your modification process, delete the items that you do not need. For this activity delete the following items not needed and will be deleted:

- ✓ Document number.
- ✓ Customer matchcode.
- ✓ Foreign Currency.
- ✓ Foreign Currency amt.

To delete an item, click on the item to select it and click Delete Field (this is the second item from the left at the top of the screen in Figure 9-14). For instance, we are deleting Document Number (circled), click on it and choose the Delete Field at the top of the screen. This action will delete Document Number from the displayed field list of your variant.

=						> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗇 🗙
<	SAP				Maintain Screen Variant: Fields	
í.		~	Ch	noose Delete Field Check Inse	Before Technical Names Standard Offset Standard Offset+Length Mo	re ~ Exit
Fields	of the Varia	ant	P Appli V	rogram: Manual account statement cation: Manual account statement fariant: Standard		
Colu	m Offse	et: Lgth	10	Current Fields:	Possible Fields:	
1	3	4		Transaction	Allocation Number (Assi_	
2	8	10		Value Date (Sel.)	Allocation Number (Sel.)	
3	19	31		Amount	Alternative Comp.Code (Sel.	
4	37	10	\langle	Document Number (Sel.)	Anount	
5	50	7		Customer Matchcode (Sel.)	Bank Reference	
6	60	5		Foreign Currency (Acct)	Business Area (Assi	
7	66	31		Foreign Currency Amt (Acct)	Collective Invoice (Sel.)	
					Contract Number (Sel.)	
					Contract Type (Assi	
					Cost Center (Assi	
					Customer Matchcode (Sel.)	
					Customer Number (Sel.)	
					Document Date (Sel.)	
					Document Number (Sel.)	
						Save Cancel

Figure 9-14. Deleting a field from your variant for manual bank statement

As part of your customizing exercise in this activity, delete the remaining items we listed above for deletion. After deleting the items, your screen will now look alike the one in Figure 9-15.

≡				> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🖻 🗙
< SAP		Maintain Screen Variant: Fields		
· · · · ·	Choose Delete Field Check Inse	Before Technical Names Standard Offset Standa	rd Offset+Length More ∽	Ext
App Fields of the Variant	Program: Manual account statement lication: Manual account statement variant: Standard			
Colum Offset: Lgth:	Current Fields:	Possible Fields:		
1 3 4	Transaction	Allocation Number (Assign		
2 8 10	Value Date (Sel.)	Allocation Number (Sel.)		
3 19 31	Amount	Alternative Comp.Code (Sel.		
		Amount		
		Bank Reference		
		Business Area (Assi.		
		Collective Invoice (Sel.)		
		Contract Number (Sel.)		
		Contract Type (Assi.		
		Cost Center (Assi.		
		Customer Matchcode (Sel.)		
		Customer Number (Sel.)		
		Document Date (Sel.)		
		Document Number (Sel.)		
				Save Cancel

Figure 9-15. Maintain variant for manual bank statement after the deletion of unwanted items

Note The maximum length of Amount must not exceed 15. Please make sure that the maximum length is at least 15.

Next, you need to move Allocation Number and Bank Reference from the Possible Fields list to the Current Field list. The Allocation Number field will record incoming check numbers and the Bank Reference field will record outgoing checks.

To include Allocation Number in the Current Fields list, double click Allocation Number in the Possible Fields List on the right hand side of the screen. The *Specify output length* dialogbox pops up with a defaulted output length (Figure 9-16).

≡						> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🖻 🗙
<	SAP			Maintain Screen \	/ariant. Fields	
		~	Choose Delete Field Check Inser	rt Before Technical Names Standard Of	fset Standard Offset+Length More 🗸	Exit
Fields of	the Variant	App	Program: Manuel account statement lication: Manuel account statement Variant: Standard			
Colum	Offset:	Lgth:	Current Fields:	Possible Fields:		
1	3	4	TRANSACTION	ALLOCATION NUMBER (ASSI		
2	8 10 VALUE DATE (SEL.)		VALUE DATE (SEL.)	ALLOCATION NUMBER (SEL.)		
-	13	10		ANDUNT		
				BANK REFERENCE		
				BUSINESS AREA (ASSI		
				COLLECTIVE INVOICE (SEL.)		
				CONTRACT NUMBER (SEL.)		
			=	Specify output length X		
				Continue Cancel		Save Cancel

Figure 9-16. Output length of allocation number

You can replace the defaulted output length with your desired output length. Click Continue at the bottom right of the screen to confirm your entry. The **Allocation Number (Ass)** you have added to the Current Field will now appear in the *Current Fields* list under **AMOUNT** as in Figure 9-16.

The next step is to include the Bank Reference to the Current Fields list. Double click Bank reference in the Possible Fields list, the Specify output length screen pops up with a default output length. You can replace the defaulted output length with your desired output length. Click Continue at the bottom right of the screen to confirm your entry. The **Bank reference** you have added to the Current Field will now appear in the *Current Fields* List under **Allocation number**.

Save your variant.

The next step is to change the variant name to your own. Click the Back button at the top left of the screen to return to the previous screen, the Maintain Screen variant: List. Search for your variant (C100) among the variant list and change the copied variant name (Standard) to your own. In this activity, we used Manual Bank Statement – C100 as our variant name, and Save your modification.

Finally, select your variant from the variant list by clicking on it and click Activate at the top of the screen. The system will notify you on the status bar at the bottom of the screen that your variant was activated.

Note You must activate the variant for your manual bank statement for the manual bank statement settings to work effectively.

Save your variant.

Check Deposit

Check deposit customization is useful in an environment where large volumes of checks are processed simultaneously in the system. The settings carried out here will allow checks received to be entered into the system.

Customizing check deposit involves the following steps:

- 1. Create and Assign Business Transactions.
- 2. Define Posting Keys and Posting Rules for Check Deposit.
- 3. Define Variants for Check Deposit

Note We recommend that you Define Posting Keys and Posting Rules for Check Deposit first before you Create and Assign Business Transactions to Posting Rules. The reason for this is that the Accounting Symbols needed for Business Transactions during customizing are first defined during customizing of Posting Keys and Posting Rules for check deposit.

Define Posting Keys and Posting Rules for Check Deposit

In this activity, you will define the following items:

- Create Account Symbols.
- Assign Accounts to Account Symbol.
- Create Keys for Posting Rules.
- Define Posting Rules.

To Define Check Deposit, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Bank Accounting* ➤ *Business Transactions* ➤ *Check Deposit* ➤ *Define Posting Keys and Posting Rules for Check Deposit*.

The Determine Work Area: Entry dialog box pops up, enter your company chart of accounts key in the Chart of Accounts field and click Enter at the bottom of the dialog box.

The *Change View "Create Account Symbols": Overview* screen is displayed (Figure 9-17).

alon Otruch no					
Create Assessed Sumbala	Create Account Symbo	ols			
Assign Accounts to Account Sympols	Account Symbol	Description	SIP Relev.		
Create Keys for Posting Rules	ACHATS DEVISES	ACHATS DE DEVISES			
Define Posting Rules	AGIOS	AGIOS	0		
	ANULAC., CORREC.	Reversal, adjustment			
	AUSG-UEBERWSG	Outgoing transfer			
	AUSGNG-UEBERW-A	Foreign out, transf.			
	AUSGNG-UEBERW-I	Domestic out, transf			
	BANCO	Bank			
	BANK	Bank Account			
	BANKEINZUG	Bank collection			
	BANKFEES	Bank Fees			
	BANQUE	BANQUE			
	BE BANK	BANK			
	BE CHECK TO CAS	CHECKS TO BE CASHED			
	BE COST	BANK COST			
	BE CUST COLL.	Customer collection			
	BE INTEREST	INTEREST			
	BE INTERIM	Interim account 1/2			
	BE LOON	LOON			
	BE OUTG. CHECKS	Outgoing checks			

Figure 9-17. Creating Account Symbols for check deposit

On this screen, you will define the following items:

- Create Account Symbols,
- Assign Accounts to Account Symbol,
- Create Keys for Posting Rules,
- Define Posting Rules,

Tip To ensure that your configuration is complete, work through the folders on the Dialog Structure on the left-hand side of the screen systematically in steps from top down.

The first step in this activity is to create account symbols for your check deposit.

Step 1

Creating Account symbols for Check Deposit

You will notice that the *Create Account Symbol* folder on the *Dialog Structure* is open.

Choose New Entries at the top left of the screen. The *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen is displayed. This screen will allow you to create your own account symbols

Update the following fields:

Account Symbol: Enter a symbol of your choice in this field. In this activity, we used CHKDEPOSIT as our account symbol.

Description: Enter a short description in this field, such as Check Deposit.

Note There is no hard rule to creating Account Symbols. You don't necessarily have to use the account symbols used in this activity; it is only for illustration. You can formulate your own account symbols.

Once an account symbol has been used by someone else, the system will not allow you to use the same account symbol again. So, use your own initiative when creating your account symbols by trying other symbols – be creative.

=				> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗇 🗙		
< SAP			New Entries: Overview of Added Entries			
✓ Delete	Select All Select	Block Deselect All Confi	guration Help More 🗸	💮 Display Exit		
Dialog Structure	Create Account Syn	nbols		4		
Create Account Symbols	Account Symbol	Description	SIP Relev.			
Create Keys for Posting Rules	CHKDEPOSIT	Check Deposit - C100				
Define Posting Rules						
1						
		+I Position	Entry 0 of 0			
	_	_				
				Save Cancel		

Figure 9-18. Specification of account symbols for your check deposit

Once you have specified your account symbol (as in Figure 9-18), hit the Enter key on your keyboard and save your Account Symbols.

The second step in this activity is to assign accounts to the account symbols you have created for your check deposit. Save your account symbol.



Assigning Accounts to account symbols

By assigning accounts to accounts symbol during configuration, the system automatically specifies the G/L accounts that transactions are posted to when check deposit transactions are carried out.

In Figure 9-18 double click the Assign Accounts to Account Symbol folder on the **Dialog structure** on the top left hand corner. The **Change View "Assign Accounts to Account Symbol": Overview** screen comes up, displaying the accounts you assigned to account symbol in Electronic Bank Statement earlier during your customizing (Figure 9-19). So you don't need to create another account symbol.

=							> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 🔔 🗃 🗙
< SAP			Change View	'Assign Accounts to Ac	count Symbol*: Overview		
New E	ntries Copy As D	elete Undo	Change Select Al	Select Block Des	elect All Configuration Help	More ~	Pisplay Exit
Dialog Structure Create Account Symbols Assign Accounts to Account Sym Create Keys for Posting Rules Define Posting Rules	Chart of Accts: Description:	CA10 Chart of Accourt	nts - C100				٥
	Act Symbol C100-BANK C100-BANKCHGS C100-BANKCHGS C100-CHECK-IN C100-CHECK-OUT C100-CHECK-OUT C100-INTERPOST	Act Mod. + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	Currency + + + + + + +	GLAccount +	Description Man Bank Account Bank Charges Bank Transfer Incoming Chacks Outgoing Chacks Reconciliation Items	SIP Relev.	
							Save Cancel

Figure 9-19. Previously assigned accounts to an account symbol



Creating Keys for Posting Rules

To create keys for posting rules, double click the Create Keys for Posting Rules folder in the **Dialog structure** on the top left hand pane of the screen to create the keys for posting rules. The Change View "Define Posting Rules": Overview screen is displayed. Choose New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to the New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen where your will create the posting rules for your check deposit.

Note You can use the Posting Keys supplied by SAP or you can create your own posting keys from scratch. In this activity, we recommend that you create your own posting key.

Tip The system allows a maximum of four characters as a posting rule key.

Update the *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen, as in Figure 9-20.

✓ Deleb	e Select All Se	ect Block Deselect All Configuration Help More 🗠	Pisplay F
log Structure	Posting Rule	Text	
Create Account Symbols	CHKD	Check Deposit - C100	
Assign Accounts to Account Syn			
Create Keys for Posting Rules			
Define Posting Rules			
	10		
		Entry 0 of 0	

Figure 9-20. Customizing keys for posting rules for check deposit

Save the keys for your posting rules.

Note The posting keys we used in this activity are only for illustration. You can use any posting key and description of your choice in this activity.

The final step in this activity is to define posting rules that are assigned to your account symbols.



Defining Posting Rules

To define posting rules, Double click The Define Posting Rules folder on the **Dialog structure** on the top left hand pane in order to create posting rules. The Change View "Define Posting Rules": Overview screen is displayed. Choose the New Entries at the top left of the screen to proceed to the New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen (Figure 9-21) where you will define your posting rules.

188

=		> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🖻 🗙
SAP	New Entries: Details of Added Entries	
∽ Skip	More V	
Dialog Structure Create Account Symbols Assign Accounts to Account Syn Create Keys for Posting Rules Define Posting Rules	Posting Rule: CHKD Posting Area: 2 Debit Credit	
	Posting Key: 40 Posting Key: Sp. Git. Indicator: Sp. Git. Indicator: Account Symbol: GHKDEPOSIT 0 Account Symbol: Compression * Document Type: D2 * Posting Type: 8 Posting on Acct Key: Reversal Reason: EX Simulate	

Figure 9-21. Defining posting rules for check deposit

Update the following fields:

Posting Rule: Enter the Keys for Posting Rules that you defined above in the Posting Rule fields. Posting Rules are used by the system to determine which GL accounts and subledgers to post transactions to.

Posting Area: The SAP ERP System comes with two standard values for posting area (1 – Bank Accounting and 2 – Subledger Accounting). Posting Area will allow the system to post to either of the specified areas.

Posting Key: Enter the appropriate posting key in this field. Posting key allows the system to determine whether a line item should be treated as debit or credit and the account type to post transaction to. It also controls the field status for document entry.

Acct Symbol: You have already defined a number of accounts symbols above. Enter the appropriate account symbol in this field. The Account symbol you entered here will allow the system to determine which account the related transaction is posted to when users retrieve bank statement electronically.

Document Type: Allows you to differentiate between transactions and also allows the system to determine which business transactions to post.

Posting Type: It is mandatory that you enter one posting type in the Posting Type field during customizing. The importance of posting type is for account clearing. The standard list of posting types are displayed, as shown in Figure 9-22.

1	Posting to g/L accounts
2	Post Subledger Account - Debit
3	Post Subledger Account - Credit
4	Creditors Clear bebit G/L account
5	Clear credit G/L account
7	Clear debit subledger account
8	Clear credit G/L subledger account
9	Reset & rev, clear

Figure 9-22. A list of standard posting types supplied by SAP

Using the data in Table 9-9 to update the screen for defining posting rules for check deposit:

Posting Rule	СНКД
Posting Area	2
Dedit	
Posting Key	40
Acct Symbol	CHKDEPOSIT
Document Type	DZ
Posting Type	8

Table 9-9. Data to Define Posting Rules for Check Deposit

Note SAP supplied standard Posting Rules. You can copy the standard posting rules supplied by SAP and modify them to meet your requirements or you can create your own Posting Rules.

- 1. Hit the Enter 🔮 button to confirm your entries.
- 2. Save 🖳 your Posting Rules.

Note It is easier for you to search for the Posting Rule and the Account Symbol you created above and use them.



Create and Assign Business Transactions

In this activity, you will create and assign business transactions by specifying indicators for your check deposit and allocate the indicators to defined posting rules. To create and assign business transactions for your check deposit, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting – Bank Accounting – Business Transactions – Check Deposit – Create and Assign Business Transactions.*

1. The *Change View "Check Deposit Transactions": Overview* screen is displayed. Choose New Entries at the top left of the screen and the New Entries: Overview of Added Entries comes up.

=					> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🕼 📃 🗃 3
<	SAP			New Entries: Overview of Added Entries	
		V Delete S	elect All Select Block Deselect All Config	uration Help More 🗠	💬 Display Exit
	Trans. type:	2			
Tran	+- Post. Ru	ule Acct mod	Text	Trans.	6
CHKD	+ CHKD		Check received and Depsoited - C100		
			-E Position Entry	0 of 0	
					Paula Canzal
					Sare Cancel

Figure 9-23. Creating and assigning business transactions for check deposit transaction

Update the following fields:

- Define your transaction indicator. This is a maximum of four characters.
- Assign your predefined posting rule to your transaction indicator.
- Specify which business transaction is a positive value or negative value using sign +/-.

Using the information below update the *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen:

Trans	+ -	Post. rule	Acct mod	
CHKD	+	CHKD		Check Received & deposited – C100

The final step in Banking is to define the Variant for Check Deposit.

Define Variants for Check Deposit

In this activity, you will define variants for check deposit by copying the standard variant supplied by SAP, simply because it is a lot easier to copy standard variants and modify to meet your requirement instead of creating your own from scratch.

Note if you are defining your own variant, make sure that you activate your own variant and deactivate the standard variant.

To define a variant for check deposit, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial* Accounting ➤ Bank Accounting ➤ Business Transactions ➤ Check Deposit ➤ Define Variants for Check Deposit.

The *Maintain Screen Variant: List* screen is displayed. Since you are copying the standard variant – SAP01 in this activity, select SAP01-Standard from the list of variants displayed and click Copy... at the top of the screen. The *Copy variant* dialog box pops up. Enter the variant you want to copy – **SAP01** in the *From Variant* field and also enter your own variant identifier key in the *To Variant* field – C100 and click Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box to copy variant – SAP01. The Information dialog box with a warning that *"Field FEBMKA-MEHRW is missing on reference screen"* will pop up.

Ignore the information and click Continue at the bottom right of the screen. Once copy is confirmed, the system will automatically copy the standard variant – SAP01 to your variant – C100.

The *Maintain Screen Variant Fields* screen for your Variant – C100 is displayed. Modify the content of this screen to meet your company's requirement.

- As part of your modification process, delete the items you do not need. In this activity, delete the following items not needed in the Current fields section of the screen:
 - ✓ 3-digit check number.
 - ✓ 8-digit bank key.
 - ✓ Document number.

To do this, click the item you want to delete to mark it for deletion and click Delete Field at the top left of the screen.

Once you have deleted the items above, your screen will now look like the one in Figure 9-24.

Kintain Screen Variant, Fields Choose Delete Field Check Insert Before Technical Names Standard Offset/Length More × Program: Check depost Application: Check depost Variant: Standard	_ 8 ×
Choose Deleve Field Check Inset Before Technical Names Standard Offset Standard Offset-Length More > Program: Check depost Application: Check depost Variant: Standard Fields of the Variant Colum Offset: Ligth: Amount 3 37 31 32 357 31 31 357 31 32 34 10 357 31 31 357 31 32 34 357 31 32 33 34 357 31 32 34 357 357 31 32 33 34 357 34 357 357 357 357 357 357 357 357	
Program: Check deposit Application: Check deposit Variant: Standard Fields of the Variant Colum Offset: Light: Current Fields: 1 20 2 22 3 57 3 57 3 57 4 3-Digit Check Number 6-Digit Bank Key Allocation Number 8-Digit Bank Key Alternative Comp. Code (Sel.) Ansount Bank Account Number Business Area Contract Number Contract Number Contract Number Contract Number Contract Number	Exit
Colum Offset: Lgth: Current Fields: Possible Fields: 1 3 30 2 22 14 3 57 31 Trivoiced Amount (Sel.) 15-Digit Check Number 3 57 31 Trivoiced Amount (Sel.) 15-Digit Bank Key 3 -Digit Check Number 8 -Digit Bank Key 4	
1 3 BO Anount [Do-Digit Check Number] 2 22 14 Check Issuer 13-Digit Check Number] 3 57 31 Invoiced Amount (Sel.) 15-Digit Bank Key 3 8-Digit Bank Key 3-Digit Check Number 4 3-Digit Check Number 8-Digit Bank Key 4 10-Cotin Number (Sel.) 4 Alternative Comp.Code (Sel.) 4 Bank Account Number 8ubiness Area (Assi.) Check Issuer Contract Number 6ubiness Area (Assi.)	
2 22 14 Check Issuer 13-Digit Check Number 3 57 31 Invoiced Amount (Sel.) 15-Digit Bank Key 3-Digit Check Number 3-Digit Check Number 3-Digit Check Number 8 010it Bank Key 3-Digit Check Number 8 010it Bank Key 3-Digit Check Number 8 010it Bank Key 3-Digit Check Number 8 Allocation Number (Sel.) Alternative Comp.Code (Sel.) Amount Bank Account Number Business Area (Assi. Check Issuer Contract Number (Sel.) Contract Number (Sel.)	
3 57 31 Invoiced Amount (Sel.) 15-Digit Bank Key 3-Digit Check Number 8-Digit Bank Key Allocation Number (Sel.) Allocation Number Bank Account Number Business Area (Assi. Check Issuer Contract Number (Sel.)	
3-Digit Check Number 8-Digit Bank Key Allocation Number (Sel.) Alternative Comp.Code (Sel.) Anount Bank Account Number Business Area (Assi. Check Issuer Contract Number (Sel.)	
8-Digit Bank Key Allocation Number (Sel.) Alternative Comp.Code (Sel.) Anount Bank Account Number Business Area (Assi.) Check Issuer Contract Number (Sel.)	
Allocation Number (Sel.) Alternative Comp.Code (Sel. Anount Bank Account Number Business Area (Assi. Check Issuer Contract Number (Sel.)	
Alternative Comp.Code (Sel. Anount Bank Account Number Business Area (Assi. Check Issuer Contract Number (Sel.)	
Anount Bank Account Number Business Area (Assi. Check Issuer Contract Number (Sel.)	
Bank Account Number Business Area (Assi Check Issuer Contract Number (Sel.)	
Business Area (Assi Check Issuer Contract Number (Sel.)	
Contract Number (Sel.)	
Contract Number (Sel.)	
Contract Type (Assi.	
Customer Matchcode (Sel.)	
	Cancel

Figure 9-24. Maintain Variant for Check Deposit

The next step is to include some items in the **Possible Fields** section to the **Current Fields**. These items will appear as input fields when entering documents into the system.

As part of your customizing exercise, you will need to include the Check Number field in **Possible Fields** list to your **Current Fields** list.

Note Make sure that the Maximum Length for Amount did not exceed 14. Otherwise, you will not be able to carry on with your customizing. Check the defaulted output length and change it from 30 to 14.

Make sure that the Maximum Length for Invoice Amount did not exceed 15. Otherwise, you will not be able to carry on with your customizing. Check the defaulted output length and change it from 31 to 15.

To add an item to your *Current Fields* list, double click the item **10-Digit Check number** in the *Possible Fields* list. The *Specify output length* dialog box pops up with a defaulted output length. Enter your desired field length in the *Output length* field and click the Continue at the button at the right of the screen. The 10-*digit check number* will now appear in the *Current Fields* List under **customer number**. Save your variant.

The final step is to Change the standard variant description you copied to your own variant name. Search for your variant among the displayed variants list. Change the defaulted Standard variant name to your own variant name – **Check Deposit-C100.** Save your changes and activate your variant by clicking Activate at the top of the screen. The system will notify you on the status bar at the bottom of the screen that your variant was activated.

Note You must activate the variant for your manual bank statement for the manual bank statement settings to work effectively.

Save your variant.

Summary

This chapter explained what a house bank is and demonstrated how house banks are maintained in SAP ERP. You learned about each specification when configuring your house bank and learned what each does. As part of customizing the house bank, you defined a bank ID and an account ID, which are the key aspects of your house bank configuration and learned how to apply them to the G/L account where your bank account transactions are posted.

You went on to learn about various house banks represented in SAP S4 HANA. You defined the accounts that bank statement transactions are posted to and learned how to customize electronic and manual bank statements. You went through the stages involved in customizing global settings for electronic and manual bank statements. In doing so, you created account symbols that the system uses to determine the G/L accounts and created subledgers, where the bank statement transactions are posted. You then looked at how to assign accounts to account symbols and how to create keys for posting rules. You learned how to define posting rules that are assigned to appropriated transactions (for example, for checks in, checks out, bank transfers, and bank charges). You then learned how to define variants to meet your company code-specific account requirements.

You learned how to customize settings for check deposits. You also learned how to create account symbols, create keys for posting rules for check deposits, and assign accounts to the account symbols you created.

Chapter 10 looks at how to define taxes on sales and purchases in SAP ERP. As part of those exercises, you will look at the basic settings, learn the calculation procedures, and define tax codes for sales and purchases.

CHAPTER 10

Tax on Sales / Purchases

In this chapter, we will learn how tax on sales and purchases are represented in SAP S4 HANA and explore how to define VAT on sales and purchases.

At the end of this chapter, you will be able to:

- Demonstrate an understanding of what a tax on sale/purchase is.
- Create a sales/purchase tax code.
- Specify Tax Category in the GL accounts to which tax will be posted.
- Identify basic tax codes for sales and purchases.
- Specify the accounts to which different tax types are posted.
- Assign tax code to non-taxable transactions.

Sales and Purchases Tax

SAP supports various tax codes for different countries. This chapter covers only sales purchases taxes. Sales/Purchases Taxes are often referred to as VAT (Value Added Tax) in most countries. These are taxes levied on invoiced goods and services payable by the consumer and are held on behalf of the Tax Authority. There are two major VATs. Namely, Input Tax and Output Tax. Input Taxes are levied on purchases of goods and services received from vendors. While on the other hand, Output Taxes are charged on sales of goods and services provided to customers. For example, company A buys goods from company B and is charged 10% on the invoice price of the goods. Company A sells and charges customer Y a 10% VAT. Company A reconciles its VAT account, and the difference is sent to the tax authority. In the case of the United States, the VAT is sent to the United States government revenue department and in the UK VAT is sent to HMRC (Her Majesty Revenue and Custom). Figure 10-1 illustrates this scenario.

CHAPTER 10 TAX ON SALES / PURCHASES



Figure 10-1. How Tax on Sales/ Purchases (VAT) works

VAT is split into Input tax and Output tax. A Tax Category is specified in the GL accounts in order for the system to determine and post the right tax to the appropriate account. SAP S4 HANA comes with the following tax categories:

- < is for input tax.
- > is for output tax.

The specification of tax category is very important, because it allows the system to determine whether tax posted is an input tax or output tax and make posting to the appropriate accounts in the system.

If you do not want to post tax manually (i.e., you want the system to automatically post tax during document posting), then you must select **Post Automatically Only** in the appropriate General ledger.

All other G/L accounts may have one of the following entries in the Tax Category field:

Value	Description
Blank	Non-tax relevant postings (e.g., bank postings)
-	Postings that require an input tax code (for example, reconciliation account for payables from goods and services
+	Postings that require an output tax code (for example, reconciliation account for receivables from goods and services
*	Postings that require any tax code
XX	Posting with the predefined tax code

Basic Settings

SAP S4 HANA comes with standard calculation procedures settings for most countries. It is recommended that you stick with the standard settings in the system, because they are up to date and typically adequate for most tax requirements. The only time you should define calculation procedure for your country is only when your country settings are not included in the standard setting system. However, we recommend that you check the standard calculation procedure to make sure that your country setting is included in the list of calculation procedures provided by SAP in the system.

The standard calculation procedure setting comes with the basic specifications for sales/purchases taxes and contains the calculation and account posting for various countries.

To check the condition types and procedures for every tax group and application rules, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Tax on Sales/Purchases* ➤ *Basic Settings* ➤ *Check Calculation Procedure.*

Note SAP S4 HANA comes with most standard calculation procedures settings for most countries; you do not need to do anything here. The standard calculation procedures setting provided by SAP in the system is sufficient for this activity.
The next step in this activity is to also check if your country is assigned to the calculation procedure provided in the system by SAP. Otherwise, you have to assign your country to an appropriate tax calculation procedure or else your tax calculation will not work.

Check Calculation Procedure

As mentioned above, it is advisable that you use the standard calculation procedure supplied by SAP in the system.

The standard calculation procedures provided by SAP in the system come with the basic specifications for sales/purchases taxes containing the calculation and account postings for various countries. Here you will check the Condition types and Procedures for every tax procedure groups and the applicable calculation rules.

To assign your country to your calculation procedure, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Tax on Sales/ Purchases* ➤ *Basic Settings* ➤ *Assign Country to Calculation Procedure.*

The Change View "Assign Country _> Calculate Procedure": Overview screen is displayed (Figure 10-2).

Charge View Yaksgin Country © Clocklation Procedure". Overiew	≡					> S20 (1) 100 🗉 🙆 📃 🗗 🗙
Image Select All Select All Configuration Help More × Image: Configuration Help Image	<	SAP		Change View "Assign Country	-> Calculation Procedure": Overview	
Cr. Name Proc. Image: Cr. Name Image: Cr. Nam Image: Cr. Name Image: Cr. Name <td>É</td> <td></td> <td>VINdo Change Select All Select</td> <td>Block Deselect All Configuration Help</td> <td>More ~</td> <td>😨 Display Exit</td>	É		VINdo Change Select All Select	Block Deselect All Configuration Help	More ~	😨 Display Exit
US USA TAUS UV Urguey Q UV Varuey Q UV Varuey Q VV Varuey <td< td=""><td>Ct</td><td>n Name</td><td>Proc.</td><td></td><td></td><td>Θ</td></td<>	Ct	n Name	Proc.			Θ
V Urgusy V Urgusy V Vickistan V	U!	USA	TAXUS			
Uzbekistan Valican City Valican City V St. Vincent VE Venezuela BrtX Vigin Is. W Vetnam W Vetnam W Vetnam VS Samoa VF Walls, Futna VS Samoa VT Mayotte Za South Africa Za Varia Za Varia Za Varia Entry 237 of 283	U1	/ Uruguay	a			
Values Values Values TAVE Values Tave Values Values Val	03	Uzbekistan				
V S. Vincent V B. KtVigh Ib. V Amer.Vigh Ib. V V Vincetu W Vincetu V	- V/	Vatican City				
VE Venezuela TAXVE VG Brtt Virgin Is. VG Mare Virgin Is. VM Venami ZM Zembia VM Venami VM Venami </td <td></td> <td>St. Vincent</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		St. Vincent				
View Britt. Virgin Is. View Amer. Virgin Is. View View	U VE	Venezuela	TAXVE			
V Amer. Virgin Is. W Vielnam: W Voroth/u W Voroth/u W Voroth/u W Voroth/u W Varia V	- V	Brit.Virgin Is.				
Will Vetnam Will Vetnamblu WF Walls, Futna WS Samoa YE Yaren YE Yaren ZA South Africa ZAY Zambia ZaW Zambia	_ v	Amer.Virgin Is.				
Violus, Futuna NF NF Walls, Futuna NF Samoa YE Yenen YE Yenen YE Zahola	V	Vietnam				
W Walls, Futura NS Sarroa YE Yamen YE Yamen ZA South Africa ZA South Africa ZAZ Zarbia Zaf Zambia Bestion Entry 237 of 253	□ VI	Vanuatu				
Image: Samoa VE YE VE	l NE	Wallis,Futuna				
YE Yernen YT Mayotte ZA South Africes ZM Zambia ZM Zambia ZM Zimbabwe	- W3	Samoa				
Y Mayote ZA South Africe ZA South Africe Za Zambia Za Zambia Za Zambia Bestion Entry 237 of 253	YE	Yemen				
Z A South Africa TAXZA ZM Zambia ZM Zambia/we	0 Y	Mayotte				
ZM Zmbia ZM Zmbiabwe -:= Position Entry 237 of 253	_ Z/	South Africa	TAXZA			
2 Zimbabwe 48 Position Entry 237 of 233 Cancel Cancel	_ Z)	1 Zambia				
-E Position Entry 237 of 253 Save Cancel	2	/ Zimbabwe				
Intervention Entry 237 of 253 Save Cancel						
-Ill Position Entry 237 of 253						
▲≣ Position Entry 237 of 253 Save Cancel						
-E Position Entry 237 of 253						
Entry 237 of 253 Save Cancel						
Save Cáncel			→≣ Position	ntry 237 of 253		
Save Cancel						
Save Cancel	8	_				
	-					Save Cancel

Figure 10-2. Assigning country to calculation procedure

Using the position button at the bottom of the screen search for your country code. For example, the country code for the United States of America is US, for Great Britain is UK, for Canada is CA, and so on.

Assign your country calculation procedure to your country (Figure 10-2). In our activity, our country is USA, and the calculation procedure is TAXUS. Upon the assignment of your tax calculation to your country, save your work by clicking the save button at the bottom right of the screen.

For any other country other than the USA, you have to search for the appropriate country's tax procedure using the search function button and assign it adequately.

The next step in this activity is to define tax codes for sales and purchases. The tax code you will define for sales will be specific to your company based on your country's requirements.

Define Tax Codes for Sales

A tax code contains one or more tax rates that are applicable to different tax types represented in SAP S4 HANA. It is recommended that you define different tax codes for different tax types and rates. If your company has operations in more than one country, you should define separate sales/purchase tax codes for each country. Secondly, in some countries, you must report tax-exempt or non-taxable items to the tax authority. Hence, we advised that you should define 0 (zero) value tax code to report tax-exempt or non-table sales.

Problem: Let's assume in the US, the output sale tax (VAT) is 10%. Spoxio Inc. – C100 want you to define 10% sales tax codes that users will apply to sales during document entry and specify the G/L account output sales tax are posted to.

To define your tax code for sales and purchases, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Tax on Sales*/ *Purchases* ➤ *Calculation* ➤ *Define Tax Codes for Sales and Purchases.* The Country dialog box pops up. Enter your country code in the Country field and click the continue bottom at the bottom right of the dialog box. The **Maintain Tax code: Initial Screen** is displayed (Figure 10-3).



Figure 10-3. Maintain a tax code for output/sales tax

Update the following fields:

Country Key: Enter your company code country tax code in this filed. This is your country identification key. This is usually the first two characters of your company code country. For example, the country code for the United States of America is US, for France is FR, Italy IT, and so on. In this activity, we used US as our country code since our company code country is the United States of America.

Tax Code: Enter a tax code in this field. This is a two-digit character. SAP S4 HANA comes with a predefined tax code in the system. To access the predefined tax code provided by SAP in the system, use the search function by the tax code field. A list of tax codes is displayed. Select the appropriate tax code that best fit the item you are creating a tax code for, better still, you can create your own tax code to meet your requirements. In this activity, we are creating our tax code as the list of tax codes provided in the system did not meet our requirements. The tax code we are creating is I2(i2).

Hit enter on your keyboard for the system to accept your tax code. The Properties screen pops up, as in Figure 10-4.

Note Tax codes are unique; you cannot use the same tax code twice, when defining another tax code with a different tax type. For example for a tax rate of 5%, use I1, as your tax code, I2 for 10%, and so on.

Country Key: USA Tax Code: 12					
Country Key: 05 USA Tax Code: 12 F Properties X Tax Code: 12 10% Outpute/Sales tax - 0100 * Tax Type R CheckID EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code: Target T	1	SAD		Maintain Tax	Code: Initial Screen
Country Kay: USA Tax Code: 12 F Properties Tax Code: 12 Tay Code: 1 Tay Code: 1 Tay Code: 1 Tay El Tax Code: 1 MOSS TaxRepCrty: 1				Maintain Tax	Code, miliai Screen
Country Key: VS USA Tax Code: 22		~ Сору	More ~		
Country Key: US Tax Code: 22					
Country Kay: US Tax Code: 22					
Tex Code: 12 Properties × Tax Code: 12 10% Curpute/Sales tax - C100 Tax Type: A d CheckID EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code: Target Tax Code: Inactive: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry: Continue Cancel		Country Key: US U	SA		
Properties × Tax Code: 12 10% Outpute/Sales tax - 0100 * Tax Type: A a CheckID EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code: Inactive: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCity; Continue Cancel		Tax Code: 12			
Properties X Tax Code: 12 10% Outpute/Sales tax - C100 * Tax Type: Ad Check/D EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code: Hactive: Hactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry: Continue Carcel					
Tax Code: 12 10% Outpute/Sales tax - 0100 * Tax Type: A CheckID					
Properties x Tax Code: 12 10% Curpute:Sales tax - C100 * Tax Type: A d CheckID EU CoderCode: Target Tax Code: Inactive: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry; Continue Cancel					
Tax Code: 12 10% Curpute/Seles tax - C100 Tax Type: A C CheckID EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code: Target Tax Code: MOSS TaxRepCtry: Continue Cencel	-		Properties		×
Tax Code: 12 10% Outpute/Sales tax - C100 * Tax Type: A @ CheckID EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code: Toi per rate: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry: Continue Cancel	-		Properaes		<u>^</u>
* Tax Type A R CheckID EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code: Toi.per.rate: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry: Continue Cancel		Tax Code: 1	2 10% Outpute/Sales tax - C100		
CheckID EU CoderCode: Target Tax Code: Toi:per.rats: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry: Continue Cancel		* Tax Type:	a		
EU CoderCode: Target Tax Code: Toi:per.nas: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry: Continue Cancel	Che	eckiD			
Target Tax Code: Toi.per.rats: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry: Continue Cancel		EU Code/Code:			
to:perrate: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry: Continue Cancel		Target Tax Code:			
MOSS TaxRepCtry:		Tol.per.rate:			
Continue Cancel		MOSS TaxRepCtry:			
Continue Cancel					
					Continue Cancel

Figure 10-4. The screen where you describe your tax code and assign a tax type to your tax code

Tip You can define more than one tax code for 5%, 10%, 20%, and so on. The percentage you define for your tax code is based on your country tax requirements. There is no restriction to the number of tax codes you can create.

Update the following fields:

Tax code I2: Enter a description that best describes your tax code in the description field. In our example for tax code I2, we used "10% Output/Sales tax" as our tax code description.

Tax Type: This field is mandatory. SAP S4 HANA comes with a predefined tax type in the system. Using the search function, select the tax type A- Output tax

Tip A is for output tax and V is for input tax. Since we are defining the tax code for an output tax, enter tax type A in this field.

Click the Continue button at the bottom right of the screen. The Maintain Tax Code: Tax Rate screen is displayed (Figure 10-5).

Country Key: US Country Key: USA Tax Code: 12 10%: Output Bales tax - C100 Procedtage: TAXUS Tax Type: A Output tax	
Properties Tax accounts Deactivate line More > Country Key: US USA Tax Code: I2 10% Outpute/Sales tax - C100 Procedure: TAXUS Tax Type: A Output tax Procentage rates Tax 4 Exp. VS3 AP Sales Tax 2 Bup. VS4 AP Sales Tax 2 Use Mx1 AP Sales Tax 3 Use Mx3 AP Sales Tax 3 Use Mx3	
Country Key: USA Tax Code: 12 Tax Code: 10% Outpute/Seles tax - 0100 Procedure: TAXUS Tax Type: A Output tax Output tax	
Tax Code: 12 10% Cutpute/Bales tax - C100 Procedure: TAXUS Dutput tax Tax Type A Output tax	
Procedure: TAXUS Tax Type A Output tax Procentage rates Cond. Type AP Sales Tax 3 Exp. VS3 Evel From Lvl Cond. Type AP Sales Tax 3 Exp. VS4 330 100 AP3E AP Sales Tax 1 Stephone VS4 400 0 478 AP Sales Tax 1 Use Hw1 Ebil 410 210 AP1U AP Sales Tax 1 Use Hw1 Ebil 410 210 AP2U AP Sales Tax 1 Use Hw3 430 230 AP3U	
Tax Type Act: Key Tax Percent. Rate Level From Lvl Cond. Type AP Sales Tax 3 Exp. VS 330 100 AP3E AP Sales Tax 4 Exp. VS4 340 100 AP4E AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mn1 400 0 AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mn2 400 0 AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mn3 400 AP3U	
Prometage rates Tax Type Act Key Tax Percent. Rate Level From Lvl Cond. Type AP Sales Tax 3 Exp. VS3 330 100 AP3E AP Sales Tax 4 Exp. VS4 340 100 AP4E AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mn1 400 0 AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mn1 410 AP1U AP Sales Tax 2 Use Mn2 420 220 AP Sales Tax 3 Use Mn3 430 230	
App Cales Tax 3 Styp. Acct. Key Tax Percent. Rate Level From Lvl Cond. Type AP Sales Tax 3 Styp. VS3 330 100 AP3E AP Sales Tax 4 Exp. VS4 340 100 AP4E AP Dates Tax 1 Stybu 400 0 AP4E AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mn1 100 AP4E AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mn2 420 220 AP Cales Tax 3 Use Mn2 430 230	
Tax Type Acct Key Tax Percent. Rate Level From Lvl Cond. Type AP Sales Tax 3 Exp. VS3 330 100 AP3E AP Sales Tax 4 Exp. VS4 340 100 AP4E AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mn1 100 AP4E AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mn1 100 AP1U AP Sales Tax 2 Use Mn2 200 AP2U AP Sales Tax 3 Use Mn3 430 230 AP3U	
AP Sales Tax 3 Exp. VS3 330 100 AP 3E AP Sales Tax 4 Exp. VS4 340 100 AP 4E AP Use Tax 1 Use Mn1 M0 0 0 AP Sales Tax 2 Use Mn2 410 210 AP 1U AP Sales Tax 3 Use Mn3 450 250 AP 3U	
AP Sales Tax 4 Exp. VS4 340 100 AP4E AP Use Tax Distribut 400 0 400 AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mn1 100 AP10 AP Sales Tax 2 Use Mn2 210 AP2U AP Sales Tax 3 Use Mn3 430 230 AP3U	
A/P Use Tax Distribu 400 0 A/P Sales Tax 1 Use Mv1 10 210 AP1U A/P Sales Tax 2 Use Mv2 420 220 AP2U A/P Sales Tax 3 Use Mv3 430 230 AP3U	
AP Sales Tax 1 Use Mul ED 410 210 AP10 AP Sales Tax 2 Use Mu2 420 220 AP20 AP Sales Tax 3 Use Mu3 430 230 AP30	
A/P Sales Tax 2 Use Mk2 420 220 AP2U A/P Sales Tax 3 Use Mk3 430 230 AP3U	
A/P Sales Tax 3 Use MN3 430 230 AP3U	
A/P Sales Tax 4 Use MN4 440 240 AP4U	
AR Sales Tax 500 0	
A/R Sales Tax 1 MNI S10 100 AR1	
A/R Sales Tax 2 MN2 520 100 AR2	
A/R Sales Tax 3 Mx3 530 100 AR3	



Using the scroll bar at the right side of the screen, search for the Acct key (Account key) from the account keys list supplied by SAP in the system that meets your requirement. This activity assumes that 10% is the tax rate for our tax code. Since we are creating an output tax for our tax code, we are using A/R Sales Tax 1 Inv – MW1. Enter your percentage rate in the A/R Sales Tax 1 Inv – MW1 field. In this activity, we used 10% as the percentage rate for our tax code (Figure 10-5).

The next step is to define the tax account for our tax code. This setting determines the G/L accounts where the tax amounts arising from tax calculations are posted. The system will apply 10% tax assigned to our tax code to the invoice amount and calculate the tax amount for the output tax. The calculated tax will then be posted to the G/L account you have assigned in the next activity.

Define Tax Account for Output/Sales

In this step, we will specify the G/L account for tax type that output taxes are posted to. The system will automatically determine the G/L account that tax type is posted based on our specifications. The system will calculate the tax amount based on the percentage entered in our tax code and apply the specified tax type and automatically post the tax amount to the account you assigned to your tax code.

Note Before proceeding with this exercise, we advise that you should create a G/L you are assigning to your tax code. Please refer to Appendix 1 - Chapter 10 for details on how to create a G/L account for output and input taxes.

To go to the screen where account assignment is customized, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Tax on Sales/Purchases* ➤ *Posting* ➤ *Define Tax Accounts* or you could use the Transaction code (TC): OB40.

Note Because of the complexity involved in using the menu path, we recommend that you use the TC: OB40 instead of using the menu path.

SAP	SAP Easy A	cess - User Meni	for REM3610					
OB40 Viser Menu SAP Menu SAP Business Workp	ace Add to favorites	Delete favorites	Change favorites	Move favorites down	More 🗸	Q. Q*	9	Exit
Favorites								
# //WFND/MAINT_SERVICE - Activate and Maintain Services								
+ SEGW - SAP Gateway Service Builder								
+ SEGW - SAP Gateway Service Builder								
+ /UI2/FLP - SAP Flori Launchoad								
# /UI2/FLPD CUST - Launchpad Designer (Client-Specific)								
User Menu for REM3610								
Connector for Multi-Bank Connectivity								
C Office								
Cross-Application Components								
C Logistics								
C Accounting								
Human Resources								
C Information Systems								
C Service								
C Tools								
C WebClient UI Framework								
C Administration Tasks of SAP Fiori Launchpad								
C SAP Fiori Launchpad Administration								
C Foundation Auth. for Admin								

Figure 10-6. SAP Easy Access – User Menu screen

On the SAP Easy Access screen (Figure 10-6), enter OB40 in the command field at the top left of the screen. When you press the enter key on your keyboard, the Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedures screen is displayed (Figure 10-7).

(SAP		Configuration Accounting Maintain - Auton	> S20 (1) 10	• • 6 – 7
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Configeration Accounting Haintain . Autor		
✓ Choose More ✓				Exi
Group: STX Taxes on s	ales/purchases			
rocedures				
Description	Transaction	Account Determ.		۵
Additional tax	LUX			
Sales tax 1	MW1			
Sales tax 2	MW2	2		
Sales tax 3	MW3			
Sales tax 4	Mw4			
Dutput tax GST	MW5			
CMS Partition Origi	MW6			
CMS Partition Desti	MW7			
CMS Part.Spec.Fund	MWS			
CMS FCP Amount	MW9			
SubTrib FCP Amount	MWA			
Dutput tax	MWS			
Non-deduct.input tax	NAV			
Dutput tax	NV1			
Entertainment tax	NZ1			
Reduction	NZ2			
DCO < missing >	oco			
Cipality > 20	OIS			

Figure 10-7. Maintaining automatic posting procedure for tax codes

Using the scroll bar at the left side of the screen search for transaction key Sales tax 1 – MW1. When you double click transaction key Sales tax 1 – MW1, the Enter charts of accounts dialog box pops up. Enter your chart of account ID in the Chart of Accounts field. In this activity, we used CA10 as our chart of account ID. Click continue at the bottom right of the screen, the Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedure screen is displayed. Click the save button at the bottom right of the screen. The Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts screen comes up. This is the screen where you will assign a G/L account where output tax will be posted.

≡			> S20 (1) 100 📧 🙆 📃 🗗 🗙
<	SAP	Configuration Accounting Maintain : Automatic Posts - Accounts	
	Previous operation Next operation Delete	Postling Key Procedures Rules More \sim	Exit
Account a	Chart of Accounts: CA10 Chart of Accounts - C100 Transaction: Ma1 Sales tax 1		
Account			Ø
PAULTOCOL	a		
			Save Terminate

Figure 10-8. Assign G/L account for Automatic of output/sales tax

Enter the G/L account for output tax in the account field and save your work.

Note if you have not created the appropriate G/L accounts yet, the system will notify you that "No matches found," as in Figure 10-8. If you click the save at the bottom right of the screen, the system will notify you in the status bar at the bottom of the screen that the account is not created in chart of accounts. You can force the system to accept your G/L accounts temporarily, until you create your G/L accounts by hitting the enter button on your keyboard.

Define Tax Codes for Input/Purchases

The same steps are followed when customizing the tax code for input/purchases. The only difference is using a different tax code, tax type, and G/L account. It is important to create different tax code for purchases for different countries (if your company operates in more than one country), because each country tax requirements and specifications are different. Now let's define the tax code for input/purchases.

Problem: Spoxio Inc. accounting team want you to define a 10% Purchase tax code that users can apply to purchases during document entry and to specify the GL account Purchase Tax are posted to.

To define your tax code for purchases, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Tax on Sales/Purchases* ➤ *Calculation* ➤ *Define Tax Codes for Sales and Purchases.* The Country dialog box pops up. Enter your country code in the Country field – US and click the Continue at the bottom right of the screen. The **Maintain Tax code: Initial Screen** is displayed.

Update the following fields:

Country Key: Enter your company code country tax code in this filed. This is your country identification key. This is usually the first two characters of your company code country. For example, the country code for the United States of America is US, for France is FR, Italy IT, and so on. In this activity, we used US as our country code since our company code country is the United States of America.

Tax Code: Enter a tax code in this field. This is a two-digit character. SAP S4 HANA comes with predefined tax codes in the system. To access the predefined tax code provided by SAP in the system, use the search function by the tax code field. A list of tax codes is displayed. Select the appropriate tax code that best fits the item you are creating a tax code for; better still, you can create your own tax code to meet your requirements. In this activity, we are creating our tax code, as the list of tax codes provided in the system did not meet our requirements. The tax code we are creating is U2.

Hit enter on your keyboard for the system to accept your tax code. The Properties screen pops up, as in Figure 10-9.

Note Tax codes are unique; you cannot use the same tax code twice, when defining another tax code with a different tax type. For example, for a tax rate of 5%, use I1, as your tax code, I2 for 10%, and so on.

			> \$20(1)1
< SAP		Maintain Tax Code: Initial Screen	
✓ Copy	More ~		
Caustra Vaur IIF	16.4		
Tax Code: U2	lan		
Tax code.			
=	Properties	×	
Tax Code: I	/2 10% Input/Puchases tax - C100		
* Tax Type:	1.a		
CheckID			
EU Code/Code:			
EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code:			
EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code: Tol.per.rate:			
EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code: Tol.per.rate: Inactive:			
EU Code/Code: Target Tax Code: Tol.per.rats: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry:			
EU Code/Code Target Tax Code: Tol.per.rate: Inactive: MOSS TaxRepCtry:			

Figure 10-9. The screen where you describe your tax code and assign a tax type to your tax code

Update the following fields:

Tax code U2: Enter a description that best describes your tax code in the description field. In our example for tax code U2 we used "10% Input/Purchases tax" as our tax code description.

Tax Type: This field is mandatory. SAP S4 HANA comes with predefined tax type in the system. Using the search function, select the tax type V– Input tax

Click the Continue button at the bottom right of the screen. The Maintain Tax Code: Tax Rate screen is displayed (Figure 10-10).

=						> S20 (1) 100 🗉 🙆 📜 🗗 🗙
< SAP					Maintain Tax Code: Tax Rates	
· · · · · ·	Properties	Tax accounts Deactiv	ate line	More 🗸		Exit
Country Key	US	USA				
Tax Code	: U2	10% input/Purchases ta	x - C100			
Procedure	TAXUS					
Тах Туре	: v	Input tax				
Percentage rates						
тах туре	Acct Key	Tax Percent. Rate	Level	From LvI	Cond. Type	
A/P Undistributed			300	0		
A/P Sales Tax 1 Exp.	VS1	10	310	100	AP1E	
A/P Sales Tax 2 Exp.	VS2		320	100	AP2E	
A/P Sales Tax 3 Exp.	VS3		330	100	AP 3E	
A/P Sales Tax 4 Exp.	VS4		340	100	AP4E	
A/P Use Tax Distribu			400	0		
A/P Sales Tax 1 Use	MN1		410	210	AP1U	
A/P Sales Tax 2 Use	MN2		420	220	AP2U	
A/P Sales Tax 3 Use	MN3		430	230	AP 3U	
A/P Sales Tax 4 Use	MN4		440	240	AP4U	
A/R Sales Tax			500	0		
k	_					Save

Figure 10-10. Maintain Tax code for tax rates screen

This activity assumes that 10% is the tax rate for our tax code. Since we are creating an output tax for our tax code, enter a percentage rate in the A/P Sales Tax 1 Exp. – VS1 Field. In this activity, we used 10% as the percentage rate for our tax code (Figure 10-5).

The next step is to define the tax account for our tax code. This setting determines the G/L accounts where the tax amounts arising from tax calculations are posted. The system will apply 10% tax assigned to our tax code to the invoice amount and calculate the tax amount for the output tax. The calculated tax will then be posted to the G/L account you have assigned in the next activity.

Define Tax Account for Output/Sales

Note Before proceeding with this exercise, we advise that you should create a G/L you are assigning to your tax code.

In this activity, you specify the G/L account for posting taxes. The system will automatically determine the G/L account where the tax type is posted. To go to the screen were account assignment is customized, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial*

Accounting ➤ Financial Accounting Global Settings ➤ Tax on Sales/Purchases ➤ Posting ➤ Define Tax Accounts or you could use the Transaction code (TC): OB40.

Note Because of the complexity involved in using the menu path, we recommend that you use the TC: OB40 instead of using the menu path.

Choose Mor	re ∨		
Group: %TX Taxes	on sales/purchases		
Description	Transaction	Account Determ.	0
put tax HST rec.	VSH		
put tax	VST		
OFINS Withhold.Tax	WC3		
OFINS WTax Offset	WC4		
OFINS Accum. WTax	WC5		
eneral Withhold.Tax	WG3		
eneral WTax Offset	WG4		
eneral Accum. WTax	WG5		
Withholding Tax	WI3		
WTax Offset	WI4		
Accum. WTax	WI5		
S Withholding Tax	WK3		
S Withholding Tax	WP3		
IS WTax Offset	wP4		
S Accum. WTax	WP5		
SLL Withholding Tax	WS3		
SLL WTax Offset	wS4		
Cill Annum W/Tax	ws5		

Figure 10-11. Maintaining automatic posting procedure for tax codes

In the SAP Easy Access screen (Figure 10-6), enter OB40 in the command field at the top left of the screen. When you press the enter key on your keyboard, the Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedures screen is displayed.

Using the scroll bar at the left side of the screen search for transaction key Input tax – VST from the list of procedures listed on the screen. When you double click transaction key Input tax – VST, the Enter charts of accounts dialog box pops up. Enter your chart of account ID in the Chart of Accounts field. In this activity, we used CA10 as our chart of account ID. Click continue at the bottom right of the screen, the Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedure screen is displayed. Click the save button at the bottom right of the screen. The Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts screen comes up. This is the screen where you will assign the G/L account where the input tax will be posted.

=								> \$20 (1) 100	6 _ 8 ×
<	SAP			Configuration	Accounting M	(aintain : /	Automatic Posts - Accounts		
	~]	Previous operation	Next operation	Delete Posting Key	Procedures	Rules	More ~		Exit
	Chart of Accounts Transaction	CA10 Chart of Ac VST Input tax	counts - C100						
Account	assignment								0
154000	व								
_	_	_	_	_	_	_		 	_
									Save Terminate

Figure 10-12. Assign G/L account for Automatic of input/purchases tax

Enter the G/L account for output tax (154000) in the account field and save your work.

Note As we said earlier, if you have not created your G/L for this activity, when you try to save your customization, the system will tell you that your G/L is created. You can either stop and create your G/L for input/purchase tax that you will be assigning here or you force the system to accept the G/L account you have assigned temporarily. However, refer to Appendix 1 - Chapter 10 for a sample of the G/L account for this activity.

The next step in this activity, which rounds up this exercise, is to explain how to assign taxable codes for non-taxable transactions in SAP S4 HANA. In some countries, it is mandatory to report tax-exempt or non-taxable items to the tax authority. SAP S4 HANA allows you to report tax-exempt or non-Taxable items by assigning a tax code to non-taxable transactions.

Assign Taxable Codes for Non-Taxable Transactions

When you report tax-exempt or non-taxable sales/purchases to a tax authority, it is best to define a 0 (zero) value tax code to track these types of transactions.

In this activity, you specify tax codes for input tax and output tax for your company code, which is used to post non-taxable transactions to the relevant GL accounts.

Tip SAP S4 HANA provided standard non-taxable tax codes for input and output for most countries. Although standard non-taxable codes are provided in the system, the system also gives you the flexibility to create your own non-taxable tax code if you chose to do so. However, we recommend that you use the standard non-taxable codes supplied by SAP instead of creating your own codes.

To assign tax code to tax-exempt or non-taxable transactions, follow this menu path: IMG: Financial Accounting ➤ Financial Accounting Global Settings ➤ Tax on Sales/ Purchases ➤ Posting ➤ Assign Tax Codes for Non-Taxable Transactions. The Change View "Allocate Co. Cd. ➤ Non-Taxable Transactions" Overview screen comes up (Figure 10-13).

≡					> S20 (1) 100 📧 🙆 📃 🗃 🗧
<	SAP		Change V	ew "Allocate Co.Cd> Non-Taxable Transactions": Overview	
	✓ Undo Change	Select All Select Block	Deselect A	Configuration Help More \vee	🖗 Display Exit
CoCd	Company Name	City	Input Ta	Output Jurisdict. Code	Θ
C100	Spoxio Inc	New Jersey	vo	AO	
CA01	Country Template CA	Canada	vo	AO	
CA98	Canada Company+	Canada	AO	vo	
CA99	Country Template CA	Canada	vo	AO	
CEU1	FORMACION SAP SL	Spain	S0	RO	
CH01	Country Template CH	Switzerland	VO	AO	
CL01	Country Template CL	Chile	CO	00	
CN01	Country Template CN	China	30	xo	
CO01	Country Template CO	Colombia	VO	AO	
COPY	Copy from CC.0001	(Only G/L accounts B-seg)	VO	AO	
COZ1	Zabeel SAP Training	Dubal	IO	A0	
COZI	zabeel company in India	mumbai	IO	AO	
CZ01	Country Template CZ	Czech Republic	IO	EO	
DE01	Country Template DE	Germany	VO	AO	
DE02	Country Template DE	Germany	vo	AD	
DK01	Country Template DK	Denmark	ко	\$0	
EF10	Hygiene Corp	Atlanta	1	0	
EG01	Country Template Egypt	Cairo	-		
EMC1	Company EMA	FRANCE			
EP01	Company Emmanuel	Paris			
		-≣ Position		ntry 40 of 182	
					Save Cancel

Figure 10-13. Assignment of tax codes to non-taxable transactions

Search for your Company Code using the position button at the bottom of the screen. Assign V0 (exempt from input tax) to input tax and A0 (exempt from output tax) to output tax for your company code. Then save your work by hitting the save botton at the bottom right of the screen.

Summary

This chapter explained sales and purchase taxes and gave examples of sales and purchase taxes in practice. You looked at how sales and purchase taxes are reconciled and how the differences are passed on to the tax authority. You also looked at the various tax categories in SAP and learned how they are applied in the system. Thereafter, you looked at the basic settings involved in customizing taxes and learned about their relationship to country-specific settings. You learned how to assign a country to the calculation procedures.

You created two tax codes for sales and purchases taxes using two-digit codes. You went on to look at how to define tax accounts so that the system will automatically post them where you specify.

Finally, you learned how to assign taxable codes to non-taxable transactions using the standard non-taxable codes.

In Chapter 11, you will look at the final aspect of bank customizing – the cash journal. You will learn how to set up a new cash journal, define a company code for the cash journal, and assign G/L accounts where cash transactions are posted.

CHAPTER 11

Cash Journal

Objective

In this chapter, we look at what a cash journal is in SAP S4 HANA and go through the steps involved in customizing a cash journal.

At the end of the chapter, you will be able to:

- Set up a cash journal.
- Create G/L accounts for your cash journal.
- Specify the amount limit for your cash journal.
- Define number range intervals for our cash journal.
- Create, change, and delete business transactions.
- Set up Print Parameters for Cash Journal.

Introduction

Cash Receipts and cash Payments transactions are managed in SAP R/3 using Cash Journals. A cash Journal is a sub-module in Bank Accounting that serves as a cash management tool in SAP R/3. You can maintain separate Cash Journals for each company code in the system for each currency and make postings to appropriate accounts in FI.



Figure 11-1. Setting up a cash journal in SAP S4 HANA

In SAP S4 HANA, you can create a separate cash journal for each currency maintained by your company code, post to customer, vendor and general ledger accounts in FI, and maintain more than one cash journal per company code.

The advantage of using the SAP cash journal tool is that it displays opening and closing balances, calculates total cash receipts and total cash payments, and reconciles the cash balance at any given time.

When setting up a new cash journal, the following items are defined as part of your Cash Journal configuration:

- The company code that will use the cash journal.
- Identification key (usually a four-digit code). This will allow you to identify your Cash Journal.
- The name of the cash journal (a short text describing your Cash Journal)
- The General Ledger Accounts in which Cash Transactions are posted.
- The currency for your cash journal.
- The document type for the following items:
 - ✓ General Ledger postings.
 - ✓ Outgoing payments to vendors.

- ✓ Incoming payments from vendors.
- ✓ Outgoing payments to customers.
- ✓ Incoming payments from customers.

Tip We recommend that you create different cash journals for each currency and each company code you use.

Create G/L Account for Cash Journal

Cash transactions are posted to the G/L accounts assigned to the cash journal. We will take you through how to assign G/L accounts to a cash journal when looking at how to customize "Set Up Cash Journal" and "Create, Change, and Delete Business Transactions" later in this activity.

Problem: Company C900 plc operates large cash transactions and they want you to set up a Cash Journal for cash transaction that will make postings to the following accounts in FI:

- Petty Cash.
- Cash Transfer from Bank.
- Cash Transfer to Bank.
- Cash Purchase.
- Cash Sale.

Note You will need to create G/L accounts for the following that you will be assigning to your cash journal during your customization:

- Petty Cash.
- Cash Transfer from Bank.
- Cash Transfer to Bank.
- Cash Purchase Office Materials.
- Cash Sales.

Please refer to Chapter 5 on how to create a G/L account. In addition, you will be provided more details in Appendix A – Chapter 10, where you will find more useful information on how to create G/L accounts for a cash journal.

Specify the Amount Limit for a Cash Journal

The function of Amount Limit is to set a cash limit for Cash Journal in FI. The limit you set for your cash journal serves as a control mechanism, because it allows the system to determine the maximum amount that can be posted per transaction to the cash journal. In this customizing, you will define the Company Code, Currency, and the Amount Limit. The currency posted will be automatically adjusted to the Company Code Currency. Where limits are exceeded, the user will get an error message. To go to the screen where you will set the amount limit for your cash journal follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Banking* − *Business Transactions* ➤ *Cash Journal* ➤ *Define Amount Limit.*

Tip You may not need to specify Amount Limit or Define Document Types for Cash Journal Documents for this activity.

The Change View "Cash Journal: Amount Limit": Overview screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to the screen where you will specify the amount limit for your cash journal. The New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen comes up (Figure 11-2).

≡					> \$20 (1) 100 📧 🏠	_ 8 ×
< SAP			New Entrie	s: Overview of Added Entries		
[✓ Delete Select All	Select Block Deselect All	Configuration Help	More ~	В Окр	ey Exit
Cash Journal: A	umount Limit					۲
CoCd Crcy	Valid from Amount					
C100 USD	01.09.2022 20.000,	,00	1			
	*		-			
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	*					
	+≣ Position	Entry 0 of 0			a.	ve Cancel
📕 🔉 🗖	🛭 🗭 📮 🖪 🚔	e > 41 41 4			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	20:17 08/09/2022

Figure 11-2. Cash journal – Amount limit specification screen

Update the following fields:

CoCd: Enter the company code you are using for the cash journal in this filed. In this activity, we used our company code – C100.

Crcy: Enter the currency key you want to use in your cash journal in this field.

Valid From: This is the date you want your cash journal amount limit you specified to be valid from.

Note: We recommend that you use today's date. However, nothing stops you from using an earlier or future date.

Amount: The amount you enter in this field defines the maximum amount that users can post per transaction in the cash journal.

Note If no amount limit is specified, there will be no restriction to the amount the user can post in the cash journal.

After you update the screen, as in Figure 11-2, click the save button at the bottom right of the screen to save your cash journal amount limit settings.

Tip Specifying the amount limit in a cash journal is optional. We recommend that you only do this if your client want to set a limit that users can post per transaction in the cash journal.

In the next activity, we will define the number range intervals for our cash journal. The system will automatically assign a unique number from the defined number range intervals to each document posted in the cash journal.

Define Number Range Intervals for Cash Journal Documents

When a cash journal transaction is posted, a cash journal document is generated and assigned a document number from the number range intervals that you defined. The document number assigned to the posted cash journal transaction coupled with your company code will allow you to identify a given document within a fiscal year.

Note We recommend that you copy the number range of a company supplied by SAP in the system instead of creating your own to save time and to ensure that the number range you copied is accurate. We suggest that you copy any of the number range of company code, 0001 or 1000 or 2000.

Problem: To save time and to ensure that number range intervals for the cash journal are accurate, you have been asked to define a cash journal number range by copying the number range intervals of company code 0001 supplied by SAP S4 HANA and modify them to meet your requirements.

To define the number range number intervals for your cash journal, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Banking* – *Business Transactions* ➤ *Cash Journal* ➤ *Define Number Range Intervals for Cash Journal Documents*. The Edit Interval: Cash Jour.Doc. Numbs. Object CAJO_DOC2 screen is displayed.



Figure 11-3. The initial screen where you will copy the source company code number range intervals to your company code

Since you are copying the number range interval of company code 0001, enter the company code – 0001 in the Company code field and click Copy Subobject at the top of the screen. When the Copy Company Code dialog box pops up, update the following fields:

From: The system will automatically default the company code you are copying its number range intervals. Otherwise, you should enter it manually. Since we want to copy the number range intervals of company code – 0001, enter this company code in this field.

To: Enter the company code you are copying to (this is often referred to as the target company) in this field. In this activity, we used company code – C100.

Click copy at the bottom of the dialog box. The Number Range Interval Transport screen will be displayed with information, as in Figure 11-4.



Figure 11-4. Number range interval transport information screen

When you click the enter button (this is the circled green button at the bottom right of the screen), this will take you back to the Edit Interval: Cash Jour.Doc. Numbs. Object CAJO_DOC2 screen again, but this time the system will notify you in the status bar at the bottom of the screen that the source company code (0001) was copied to the target company code (0001).

To display the number intervals copied, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial* Accounting ➤ Banking – Business Transactions ➤ Cash Journal ➤ Define Number Range Intervals for Cash Journal Documents.

=	> S20 (1) 100 📧 🙆 🔔 🗃 🗙
K Edit Intervals: Cash Jour Doc Numbs, Object CAJO_DOC2	
✓ Overview Copy Subobject Change Documents Configuration help More ✓	Exit
Number Range Object: CAJO_DOC2 Document Numbers for Cash Journal Documents Company Code: CLOR	
66 Intervals / Intervals	

Figure 11-5. The initial screen where you will commence the display of the company code number range intervals you have copied

Enter your company code in the Company code field and click the first Intervals button (with a google) in the middle of the screen. The Edit Intervals: Cash Jour, Doc. Numbs. Object CAJO_DOC2. Subject screen appears displaying the number intervals you have copied, as in Figure 11-6.

=					> S20 (1) 100 📧 🙆 📃 🗃 🗙				
< SAP		Edit Inte	rvals: Cash Jour.Doc.Numl	os, Object CAJO_DOC2, Subobject C100					
	Display <-> Change	Free Intervals More \sim							
Number Range No.	From No.	To Number	NR Status	External	6				
01	100000000	1999999999	0						
	_								
					Check				

Figure 11-6. The display of your copied company code number range intervals

The next step in this activity is the setting up of the cash journal.

Set Up Cash Journal

In this section, you will specify the settings for your cash journal. This includes the company name that you want to use for your cash journal, the number that will identify the cash journal, the G/L account where the cash journal transactions are posted. To set up cash journal, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Banking* > *Business Transactions* > *Cash Journal* > *Set Up Cash Journal*.

The *Change View "Maintain View for Cash Journals": Overview* screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left side of the screen. This will take you to the New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen. This is the screen where you will define the setting for your cash journal.

aintain	view	for Cash Jou	imals														
CoCd	CJ	G/L Account	Crcy	Cash Jnl	D D.	D., D.,	D., D., Cash	Cash	Numb	Check S	Cash journal name	AGrp	Subst.	Simult	Person 1	Person 2	
C100	0001	100000	USD		AB	KZ KZ	DZ DZ			No S_ ~	PETTY CASH						
										No S. V							
										No S. ~							
										No S. V							
										No S. V							
										NO S. V							
										No S. V							
										NO S. V							
										NO S. V							
										NO S. V							
										NO S. V							
										NO S. V							
										No C							
										No S							
										No S							
										NO S V							
										No S. V							
										No S v							



Update the following fields:

CoCd: Enter your company code in this field. This is the company code that you want to use for the cash journal you defined in this activity. It is important to define individual cash journals for each company code. You can define a cash journal per transaction or per currency.

CJ Number: You can enter a maximum of four digits of your choice in this field. If you are creating more than one cash journal, make sure that the numbers you use are logical and sequential (for example, 0001, 0002, 0003, and so on). This number will identify your cash journal. This is important when you have more than one cash journal in the system.

G/L Account: Enter the G/L account number 100000 (for petty cash) you created earlier. When cash journal transactions are entered in the system, they are automatically posed to the G/L account you assign for your cash journal.

Crcy: Enter the currency you want to use in your cash journal. This is usually the company code's currency. On the contrary, if you choose to run your cash journal in a different currency, you must make sure that the option Only Balances in Local Crcy in your cash journal G/L account master data is not checked.

Cash Jnl Closed: Leave this checkbox blank. Leaving the checkbox blank indicates that your cash journal is active. If you click this checkbox, the cash journal will be closed. Click this checkbox only when you want to close your cash journal.

DT: Specify the document types for cash journal postings. Document type determines the business transaction and account to post your cash journal transaction to. SAP comes with several document types to choose from, for example:

AB-G/L Account

KZ-Outgoing payment to vendor

KZ Incoming payment from vendor

DZ-Incoming payment from customer

DZ-Outing payment to customer

You can access these document types by using the matchcode or using the search function by the DT field.

Cash Payment/Cash Receipt: Leave these fields blank. Leaving these fields blank enables you to post both cash payment and cash receipts to your cash journal.

Check Split: The specification you make here will determine whether the line items of the total posting are split when processing check deposits. You have three options:

- Offsetting Item of Total Document Split: When you specify this item, only the offsetting item of the total posting is split.
- All Items of Total Document Split: When this item is specified, the checks posted to the cash journal and the offsetting totals are split.
- No Split of Line Items of Totals Document: No splitting is performed.

For this activity, Select No Spit of Line Items of Totals Document. This allows the user to carry out the split manually.

Cash journal name: Enter the description of your cash journal in this field. For instance, Petty Cash.

Save your cash journal settings by click the save button at the bottom right of the screen.

In the next activity, you will specify the company code, the transaction number, the business truncation, the G/L accounts, the tax code, and the cash journal business transactions for your cash journal.

Maintain Business Transactions

The maintain business transaction function will enable you to Maintain View for Cash Journal Transaction Names. It is possible to copy the standard *maintain business transactions* predefined by SAP in the system and modify them to meet your requirement or you can create your own afresh. It is a matter of choice. You will get the same result.

In this activity, you will be maintaining your own View for Cash Journal transaction from scratch instead of copying the predefined one supplied by SAP as this will give the opportunity to have a feel of how to create your own function from scratch. To go the screen where the business transactions is customized, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting (New)* > *Banking* > *Business Transactions* > *Cash Journal* > *Maintain Business Transactions*.

The *Change View "Maintain View for Cash Journal Transaction Names": Overview* screen is displayed. Choose the New Entries button at the top left of the screen. The *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen comes up (Figure 11-8).

ntain Miau	for Cosh	Inumal Trans	actio	n Namas					
oCd Tra	B., S., T.,	G/L Account	Tx	Cash journal business trans.	BusTraBikd	Acct Mod.	Tax Mod.	Bus. tran. long text	
100	c	113130		CASH TRANSFER FROM BANK				CASH TRANSFER FROM BANK	
100	8	113131		CASH TRANFER TO BAK				CASH TRANSFER TO BANK	
100	D			PAYMENT TO CUSTOMER				PAYMENT TO CUSTOMER	
.00	к			PAYMENT TO VENDOR				PAYMENT TO VENDOR	
.00	E	400000	U2	CASH PURCHSE				CASH PURCHASE - OFFICE MAT	
.00	R	8000001	12	CASH SALE				CASH SALES	
								-	-

Figure 11-8. The maintain view for journal business transactions

Update the following fields:

CoCd: Enter the company for which you want the Cash Journal Transaction to be created. For this activity, enter your company code. Our company code in this activity is C100.

Tran.no: Enter a four-digit identifier number that will uniquely identify your cash journal transaction.

Bus.tran.type: Choose the appropriate business transaction from the list of six Business Transaction Type supplied by SAP in the system.

C-Receipt from bank account

B-Payment to bank account

R-Revenue

E-Expenses

D-Customer posting

K-Vendor posting

G/L account: Enter the GL accounts where you want the transactions relating to the following items to be posted:

- Cash receipt from bank account.
- Cash payment to bank account.
- Expense.

Tx: Enter the right tax codes for expense and revenue in this field for business transactions for the system. This will enable the system to determine the appropriate applicable tax (input or output tax, respectively). This is the input and output tax codes you created in Chapter 10.

Cash journal business trans: Enter business transaction description in this field. Using the information in Table 11-1, update the *Maintain Business Transactions* screen:

Co. Code	Trans. no	Bus. Trans	Trans Classification	G/L Account	Tax Code	Cash Journal business trans
C100		С		113130		CASH TRANSFER FROM BANK
C100		В		113131		CASH TRANSFER TO BANK
C100		D				PAYMENT TO CUSTOMER
C100		K				PAYMENT TO VENDOR
C900		E		460000	B2	Cash Purchase - Office Mat
C00		R		800001	A2	CASH SALES

 Table 11-1.
 Details for the Maintaining Business Transaction Screen

Note The GL Accounts entered here will allow cash transactions to be posted to the appropriate GL accounts during document posting. Secondly, the tax code you entered here will allow the system to calculate Input/Output tax, respectively, during cash transactions and also post to the appropriate accounts in FI.

Save your work.

Note Make sure you use the tax codes you created earlier in Chapter 10 for Input/Output tax, respectively. Otherwise, the system will not accept your tax code. In your configuration above, U2 – Input tax and I2 – Output tax were created.

The final step in this activity is to set up print parameters for a cash journal.

Set up Print Parameters for Cash Journal.

To be able to print the cash journal transactions, you need to set up Pint Parameters for your Cash Journal for each Company Code represented in the system. In this activity, you will copy the standard print parameter of company code 0001 supplied by SAP in

the system. To do this, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting (New)* ➤ *Banking* ➤ *Business Transactions* ➤ *Cash Journal* ➤ *Set Up Print* ➤ *Parameters for Cash Journal.* The Change View: "Maintain Print Parameter View for Cash Journal" Overview screen is displayed (Figure 11-9).

intair	Print Parameter View for Cash Journal						
oCd.	Cash jour. print program	Report variant	Corr.	Fo.ID	PDF Form	AD	
001	CASH00	CASHDE	SAP18				
002	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18	1			
710	RFCASH20		SAP18				
500	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18				
000	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18				
100	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18				
200	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18				
000	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18				
005	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18	-			
E01	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18	1			
Z01	RFCASH00	CASHCZ	SAPCI				
01	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18	1			
02	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18				
RI	RFCASH20		SAP18	1			
FR	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18	1			
101	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18	1			
R02	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP 18				
206	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18				
207	RFCASH00	CASHDE	SAP18	1			

Figure 11-9. The screen where you may copy predefined or maintain print parameter

Note SAP comes with predefined Print Parameters. It is advisable to copy a standard Print Parameter and modify it to meet your requirement.

Select the company code whose print parameter you want to copy (in this activity, we copied company code – 0001 supplied by Sap in the system) by making sure the checkbox in front of the company code you are copying is ticked or activated and click the Copy As... function at the top left of the screen. The Change View "Maintain Print Parameter View for Cash Journal": Overview screen is displayed (Figure 11-10).

≡								> S20 (1) 100 📧 🙆 📃	. 🗗 ×
	SAP	Change Vie	w "Mainta	in Print	Parameter Vi	iew for C	cash Journal": Overview		
	and Manual								
	✓ More ✓								
Mainta	in Print Parameter View for Cash Journal								0
CoCo	Gash jour, print program	Report variant	Corr.	Fo.ID	PDF Form	AD			
C100	Q CASHOO	CASHDE	SAP18						
		Form 1 of 1							
		Entry (01 1							
		_							Apoly
8									1111

Figure 11-10. Copy Print Parameters for Cash Journal

Save your print parameter.

Summary

This chapter explained how cash receipts and payments transactions are managed using the cash journal and discussed the importance of using cash journals as cash-management tools. You went on to look at various settings that allow you to customize your cash journals.

As part of customizing the cash journal, you specified the menu path for creating G/L cash accounts.

You then learned how to set an amount limit, which determines the maximum amount that can be posted per transaction to the cash journal. You also learned how to define number range intervals for the cash journal by copying and modifying standard number range intervals in the system. You learned how to set up a cash journal and how to create, change, and delete business transactions. You also learned how to assign documents to your cash journal that will determine how transactions are posted. Finally, you set up the print parameters for your cash journals.

The next chapter explains what a financial statement is and describes the steps involved in defining financial statement versions. You'll learn how to map financial statement versions and assign appropriate G/L accounts from which financial statements are drawn.

CHAPTER 12

Financial Statement Versions (FSV)

Objective

In this chapter, we will explain what a financial statement version (FSV) is and work through the basic settings involved in defining financial statement versions.

At the end of this chapter, you will be able to:

- Explain and define Financial Statement Version (FSV)
- Define an FSV using appropriate specifications
- Assign FSV hierarchy nodes to appropriate GL Accounts

Financial Statement Versions

In SAP R/3, hundreds of business transactions are posted to the general ledger. To be able to know how well a business is performing from the GL accounts is not possible. Hence, the need for FSV, which form the basis for drawing up financial statements. FSV customization allows users to generate summarized financial reports that show the performance of the business over a given period.

FSV is part of the closing procedure in SAP ERP. It is a tool designed specifically for generating financial statements (such as profit and loss statements and balance sheets) to meet specific legal disclosure requirements related to certain items (such as assets, liabilities, income, expenses, and so on) in financial reports.

CHAPTER 12 FINANCIAL STATEMENT VERSIONS (FSV)

SAP ERP comes with standard, predefined FSV that you can use as a template and adjust to meet your requirements. You can also define your own FSV afresh if you choose not to use the standard FSV supplied by SAP. Interestingly, you can define more than one FSV if you need to meet individual financial statement reporting needs of various stakeholders, such as the tax authority, investors, and internal management reporting.

To define FSV in SAP ERP, you must specify the following items:

- The items to be included in your FSV, the order and the hierarchical structure of each item.
- The text describing each item.
- The Chart of Accounts.
- Totals to be displayed in your report.

FSV is a combination of G/L accounts structured in hierarchical levels that are defined in the financial statement version's directory and assigned to appropriate accounts. You can define more than one FSV to a specific chart of account or to a group of chart of accounts. Basically, FSV allows you to assign groups of accounts to items in the hierarchy.

Note To create or change FSVs, we can also consider using Fiori App "Manage Global Hierarchies."

To create or edit FSVs in Manage Global Hierarchies, a business role that contains the business catalog, a General Ledger – Master Data for Chart of Accounts (SAP_SFIN_ BC_MD_COA) is to be assigned to user ID first. The business role template General Ledger Accountant (SAP_BR_GL_ACCOUNTANT) is delivered by SAP.

Let's take a look at the basic steps involved in creating an FSV using Global Hierarchies to create a new FSV.

Define Financial Statement Versions

In this activity, you will go through the various steps involved in customizing an FSV. You can define your FSV from scratch or copy a predefined FSV supplied by SAP and modify it to meet your requirements.

Problem: The accounting team is not sure of the benefits and function of an FSV. You have been asked by Spoxio Inc., to advise the accounting team on the benefits of using an FSV and then to create an FSV in SAP S4 HANA.

To define an FSV, follow one of these menu paths:

IMG: Financial Accounting ➤ General Ledger Accounting ➤ Periodic Processing
 Document ➤ Define Financial Statement Versions.

Or

IMG: Financial Accounting ➤ General Ledger Accounting ➤ Master Data ➤ G/L Accounts ➤ Define Financial Statement Versions.

The *Change View Financial Statement Version Overview* screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen to call up the *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen where you will specify the key for your financial statement version and describe the FSV's general specifications (Figure 12-1).

=							> S20 (1) 100 📧	6 _ 7 ×
< SAP				New	Entries: Details	s of Added Entries		
×	Financial Statement Items	Delete	Previous entry	Next entry	Standard list	More ~		Exit
FS Version:	CA10							
Name:	Financial Statement Versio	n - C100						
General specifications								
Maint, language	EN							
Auto. Item Keys	v							
Chart of Accounts	CA10 Q							
Group Account Number								
Fun area perm.								
								Save Cancel

Figure 12-1. Initial entry screen where you start your FSV customizing

1. Update the following fields:

Fin.Stmt.Version: Enter your proposed FSV in this field. You can enter up to four digits in this field. This will serve as an identification key for your FSV. We recommend that you use your chart of accounts key here. This is ideal for FSV identification for your company code, especially when you have several FSV and company codes in the system.

Name: Enter the text that best describes your FSV.

CHAPTER 12 FINANCIAL STATEMENT VERSIONS (FSV)

General Specifications: Specify the following items:

Maint.language: The language code is the language you want the system to use when maintaining FSV. For example, in this exercise we used EN (English).

Chart of Accounts: In this field, you enter your company code's chart of account that you defined in Chapter 2.

Upon the completion of your specification (Figure 12-1), click the Save button at the bottom right of the screen. The system will notify you in the status bar at the bottom of the screen that your data was saved.

The next step is to create the items for the FSV you just defined. You will create the nodes for the balance sheet, profit and loss statement, and unassigned accounts, which will then be enhanced in subsequent steps. To create the items for your FSV, click the Financial Statement Items at the top left of the screen. **The Change Financial Statement Version**

screen is displayed (Figure 12-2), where you will define the FSV hierarchy nodes for your FSV. The items for the FSV are defined in SAP ERP in a hierarchical structure.



Figure 12-2. The standard hierarchical structure where you start creating your FSV
To simplify the customization process, we will break it into four steps:

- 1. Create items.
- 2. Reassign items as subordinates.
- 3. Assign FSV nodes to G/L accounts.
- 4. Define the credit/debit shift.

Note In practice, before you start creating the hierarchical structure of an FSV, it is advisable that you draw up a paper sketch of your FSV structure. This will serve as a guide when you are defining your FSV.

Let's start going through the steps involved in creating an FSV.

Step 1: Create Items

You will notice in Figure 12-2 that the FSV you defined earlier is displayed as the heading in the FSV hierarchy structure and a list of the basic list of items in the FSV that you will be working on in your customizing. In the activity, we used C100 as our FSV.

Click Create Items. This is the fourth item from the left on top of the Change Financial Statement Version screen (Figure 12-2).

The Create Items screen pops up. Click each line in the structure and update the *Create Items* screen with the following items headings:

- ✓ Balance Sheet.
- ✓ Profit and Loss Statement.
- ✓ Unassigned Accounts.

As shown in Figure 12-3.



Figure 12-3. The screen where you create your FSV items

When you have updated your FSV with your headings, click Continue at the bottom right of the Create Items for the system to accept your modifications. You will notice that the items you have entered will be copied into your FSV. Your FSV will look like the one in Figure 12-4.



Figure 12-4. FSV hierarchy structure showing the items created

Save your FSV. When you click the save bottom at the bottom right of the screen, the Financial Statement version Save and Activate screen pops up (Figure 12-5).



Figure 12-5. Save or activate your FSV screen

You are not activating your FSV, click the save button to save FSV for now.

The next step in this activity is to assign items provided by SAP S4 HANA in the system, as in Figure 12-4 (for example, P+L result, Net result loss, Net result profit, Liabilities and equity, Assets, and so on) to our FSV as subordinates to the heading you created in the FSV hierarchy (Figure 12-4).

Step 2: Assign Items to your FSV as Subordinates

First, let's start by assigning the Liabilities and Equity items (this is the second to the last item on the displayed list in your FSV hierarchy structure) as a subordinate to the balance sheet in your FSV hierarchy to the item. To do this, click on the item you are reassigning (Liabilities and Equity), then click the Select +/- (this is the sixth item from the top left side of the screen) to activate it. The item (Liabilities and Equity) you selected will turn yellow. Click on the item (balance sheet) in the hierarchy structure you want to assign a subordinate (Liabilities and Equity) and click Reassign (the seventh item from the left) at the top of the screen. The Reassign Node screen pops up, you will notice on the screen that the **From nodes** field: – "No text exists" and the **To nodes** field: Balance sheet are displayed. Under the Reassign Node section, select the Subordinate radio button on the screen (Figure 12-6).

=								> \$20	0 (1) 100 🕒	6 _	- 8 ×
< SAP		Cha	ange Financial State	ment Version							
✓ Display <-> 0	Change Expand Subtree	Choose Create Items	Assign Accounts	Select +/- Re	assign I	Delete Che	eck More 🗸		d de	Print	Exit
											- 1
CA10 Financial Statement Version	- C100										
		=		Reassign N	ode			×			
Balance Sheet											
Profit and Loss Accounts		From Nodes			То	Notes					
		No test subtr				-lanes Chard					
No text exists	Fin. Statement Note:	NO LEXT BUILTS			Re	alance Sneet					
No text exists	Not assigned				Re	assign Node					
No text exists	P+L result				C	Same Level	1000				
No text exists	Net result: loss					Subordinate					
No text exists	Net result: profit										
No text exists	Liabilities and Equ										
No text exists	Assets										
							Contin	le Cancel			
									Save	Refresh	Cancel

Figure 12-6. Reassigning subordinate as a node to an item

Note Choose the Same Level option on the Reassign Node screen if you want the item you are reassigning to be in the same level as the item you are assigning it to.

Click the Continue button at the bottom right of the screen in Figure 12-6. The Reassign Node screen disappears and the subordinate you assigned is copied to the balance sheet item.

Following the steps above, reassign Assets node as a subordinate to balance sheet and your FSV will be like the one in Figure 12-7.



Figure 12-7. Reassigned subordinates displayed

The next step is to add text to the items you have reassigned and determine which totals to output. During FSV review, the texts and totals will be displayed in the balance sheets and profit and loss statements.

Change Nodes Texts

You will notice in Figure 12-7 that the node for Assets, and Liabilities and Equity displayed under balance sheet item states that No text exists; you need to add text to your nodes.

To add texts to an item in the financial statement (for example, balance sheet – asset). Click on the Assets you have reassigned to the balance sheet to select it and click on Choose at the top of the screen (this is the third item from the left at the top of the screen). The Item: Change Texts screen is displayed (Figure 12-8).

=					> S20 (1) 100 📧 🏠 📃 🗃 🗙
< SAP		E Item: Change Texts	×		
V Display>	Change Expand Subtree		1	Check More V	Q, Q* 💮 Print Exit
CALO Financial Statement Version - C100		ltem: 1000000			
- 🕞 Balance Sheet		Start of Group	- 1		
No text exists Asset	ts ilities and Equity	A55015	i I		
Profit and Loss Accounts Unassigned Accounts			-		
No text exists	Fin. Statement Notes	End of Group			
No text exists	Not assigned	Total Assets			
No text exists	P+L result	[-		
No text exists	Net result: loss Net result: profit		1		
		🖉 Display Total	2		
		Graduated Total	- L		
			į I		
		(1) Polester Tabel	3		
			^ v 🛞		Save Refresh Cancel

Figure 12-8. Text Item change screen

Note When you are defining items in FSVs, special codes are assigned to maintain the classification of similar items under the same code and heading. These codes are designated in a systematic manner to form a local sequence, often referred to as code classifications. For example, the code for Asset is 1000000, and the next subordinate under Asset will 1000100, 1000200, and so on. We will not be covering code classifications as this is outside the scope of this book.

Update the following fields:

Item: Enter the item code and required text and select the totals to be output. We used 1000000 (see Figure 12-8).

Start of Group: Enter the heading name for the specific group of items. The name you enter in this field will be displayed as the heading for the group in the report. If a G/L account is posted, this text is displayed before the item's sub-items during the period.

End of Group: The text you enter here will end the group. For example, Total Assets will be displayed as the last item in the group. If you enter text and select the Display Total option in this section, the total balance for assigned G/L accounts is output during the selected period.

The system should default to the Display Total checkbox being selected; if not, you have to activate it by making sure that it is ticked. This will display the total amount for the group in the report.

Click the Enter button (this is the green circle button at the bottom right of the screen).

Repeat the same process above for *Liabilities and Equity* using the information below:

- 1. Enter **2000000** in the Item field.
- 2. Enter Liabilities in the Start of Group field.
- 3. Select the Display Total check box.

Your FSV will look like the FSV in Figure 12-9.



Figure 12-9. Reassigned additional subordinates displayed

Save your FSV.

Creating Subordinates for Liabilities and Equity

Next, you need to create more items as subordinates for 2000000 Liabilities and Equity using the Create Items button on the top-left side of the screen. To do this, select 2000000 –Liabilities and Equity by clicking it, and click the Create button at the top of the screen. The Create Items screen is displayed (Figure 12-10). In the Balance Sheet section of your FSV, update the fields under 2000000 with the appropriate items.

=		> S20 (1) 100 🗉 🙆 📜 🗃 🗙
(SAD	Create Items	×
·		1
Display <-> Cr	-Balance Sheet	Delete Check More Y Q, Q* 😳 Print Exit
CA10 Financial Statement Version -		
Balance Sheet	Current Lisbilities	
1000000 Assets	long-Term Liabilities	
2000000 Liabilities an	-Shareholders Equity	
Profit and Loss Accounts		
No text exists F		
No text exists		
No text exists		
No text exists		
		Dava Dafash Canad
	Continue	Cancel Retresh Cancel

Figure 12-10. Creating more items in an FSV

Click Continue at the bottom right of the Create Items screen.

Your screen should now look like the one in Figure 12-11.



Figure 12-11. FSV hierarchy structure showing the additional items you created

Save your FSV.

Completing the Nodes for your FSV

Following steps 1 and 2, create more items and reassign them as subordinates to your FSV for the following items:

- 1. Create Intangible Assets, Fixed Assets, and Current Assets as subordinates to Assets.
- 2. Reassign the P+L Results node as subordinate to Profit and Loss Accounts
- 3. Reassign Net Result: Loss to Shareholders Equity as a subordinate.
- 4. Reassign Net Result: Profit to Shareholders Equity as a subordinate.
- 5. Change the name of Net result: loss to Retained Earnings.
- 6. Change the name of Net result: profit to Retained Earnings.
- 7. Reassign the node not assigned to Unassigned Accounts.

Create the following nodes:

- Cash & Cash Equivalent as subordinate under Current Assets.
- Petty Cash as subordinate to Cash & Cash Equivalent.
- Current Bank Account as subordinate to Cash & Cash Equivalent.
- Short-Term Borrowings as subordinate to Current Liabilities.
- Bank Short-Term Loans as subordinate to Current Liabilities.
- Bank Overdraft as subordinate to Short-Term Borrowings.
- Bank Short-Term Borrowings as subordinate to Short-Term Borrowings.
- Bank of America as subordinate to Current Bank Account.
- HSBC as subordinate to Current Bank Account.
- Bank of America as subordinate to Bank Overdraft in Short-Term borrowings.
- HSBC as subordinate to Bank Overdraft in Short-Term borrowings.

Using the details above, complete your FSV. Your FSV will look like the one in Figure 12-12.



Figure 12-12. An extended FSV Hierarchy structure showing the items created

After you have reassigned nodes and created the nodes, as we asked you to above, then save your FSV by clicking the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

The next step in this activity is to assign FSV nodes to G/L accounts.

Step 3: Assign FSV Nodes to G/L Accounts

FSV is designated specifically for creating the financial statements that serve as measures of financial performance of an organization. It is important to assign G/L accounts to FSV so that the summary of business transactions posted to the G/L accounts for a given period can be generated as financial statements.

To assign G/L accounts to FSV, you will need to select the appropriate items or nodes in your FSV hierarchy structure and use the Assign G/L accounts' function. We will not be able to take you through the complete process involved in assigning FSV nodes to G/L accounts in this activity. However, we will only be showing how to this with assigning G/L accounts to a Bank account. If you can assign a G/L account to your bank account, you should be able to assign G/L accounts to the remaining nodes or items in your FSV, because the principle is pretty much the same. We advise that you try assigning more G/L accounts to the nodes in your FSV.

To assign your bank account node to a G/L account, select the Bank of America node under Current Assets by clicking on it and then click on Assign Accounts at the top of the screen (this is the fifth item from the left at the top of the screen). The Change Accounts screen pops up as in Figure 12-13. This screen will allow you to assign your FSV node (Bank of America) to the appropriate G/L accounts designated for your bank account.

=						> S20 (1) 100 📧 🏠 📃 🗇 🗙
< SAP		Change Financial	Statement Versio	on		
Display <-> Change Expand Subtra	ee Choose Cre	ate Items Assign Accou	nts Select +/-	Reassign Delete	e Check More 🗸	역, q* 💮 Print Exit
Current Assets						
Cash & Cash Equivalent	=	Change Accounts	×			
Petty Cash	Item:					
	Bank of Ameri	:a				
Bank of America						
HSBC	ChAc From	Acct To Account	D C			
Ca 2000000 Lightlities and Equity	1131	00 113210				
- Gn Current Liabilities						
Co Chart Tan Devering						
and another an						
Bank Overdraft						
Bank Short-Term Borrowings						
Bank Short-Term Loans						
Long-Term Liabilities						
Co Shareholders Equity	Page: 1	of: 1	00			
Retained Earnings Net result:	10:					
		۵ ا	^ v ®	_		
			- 1/2	V.		Save Refresh Cancel

Figure 12-13. Assigning G/L Accounts to an FSV node

Update the following fields by entering the G/L account range you want to assign to your FSV node. You also must specify whether your G/L accounts are debit or credit.

From Acct: Enter the starting G/L account number range of the G/L account you want to enter. In this activity, we used 113100 as the starting point of our G/L accounts.

To Account: Enter the ending G/L account number range in the field. In this activity, we used 113210 as the ending point of our G/L accounts.

Note The benefits of using a number range is that when you have multiple G/L account numbers, you only need to enter the start and end G/L accounts, and the system will assign the entire range.

D: Stands for debit. When this field is activated, the system will include all the debit G/L accounts in your bank account in the FSV. Select this checkbox.

C: Stands for credit. When this field is activated or selected, the system will include all the credit G/L accounts in your bank account in the FSV. Select this checkbox.

Then click the Enter button (this is the green circle button at the bottom right of the screen). This action will then assign your chart of accounts and G/L account number range to your FSV and indicate if the assigned G/L accounts are debit and/or credit by marking them X. You will notice that the range of G/L accounts that you have assigned will appear under the Bank of America account node in the FSV hierarchy structure (Figure 12-14).



Figure 12-14. How the G/L accounts assigned to an item are displayed in FSV

Step 4: Define the Credit/Debit Shift

When your bank has a debit balance, it is considered an asset. This means that you have surplus cash in your bank account. On the other hand, if your bank has a credit balance, it is considered a liability. This means that you owe the bank; it is referred to as overdraft (short-term borrowings). Cash balance surplus and deficit are disclosed separately in financial statements under different headings. For example, a debit bank balance is treated as an asset and a credit bank balance is treated as overdraft under liabilities. So that the system can identify these transactions and disclose them separately in the financial statements (to meet accounting disclosure requirements), you have to specify these in your FSV.

Let's look at how this is done using your bank account (Bank of America) node in your FSV hierarchy structure as an example.

Select your Bank Account (Bank of America) under the current Assets by clicking on it. Then click Select +/- at the top right of the screen. (This is the sixth item from the left.) The item you have selected will turn yellow. Then select your bank account (Bank of America) in Short-Term Borrowings – Bank Overdraft in your FSV (Figure 12-15).

Ξ.		> \$20 (1) 100	- @ - » ×
< SAP Change Financial Statement Vers	ion		
Display <-> Change Expand Subtree Choose Create Items Assign Accounts Select +/-	Reassign Delete Check	[More ~] Q. Q.	💮 Print Exit
- Ci Cash & Cash Fourivalent		Color Legend (Chi+F4) Structure >	
Patty Cash	Create Items (F5)	Edit >	
Current Bank Account	Debjt/Credit Shift >	Define (Chi+F1)	
- C Bank of America	Seject +/- (F9)	Delete (Chi+F2)	
	Select Block (Cal+F3)	System >	
	Reassign (Shift+Fd)	SAP GUI settings and actions	
HSBC	Expand Subtree (Shift+F4)		
Co 2000000 Liabilities and Equity	Collapse Subtree (Shift+F5)		
Current Liabilities	Search (Chi+F)		
Short-Term Borrowings	Cancel (F12)		
Bank Overdraft			
Bank of America HSBC			
Back Chart Terr Bernarden			
- Bain, and there built wings			
		Save	Refresh Cancel

Figure 12-15. Defining the debit/credit shift

Click More at the top right of the screen, a pull-down menu comes up, select Edit ➤ Debit/Credit shift ➤ Define. The Define Debit/Credit Shift screen comes up (Figure 12-16). The system will automatically default to the first ratio button on the screen. Click Continue at the bottom right of the Define Debit/Credit Shift screen.

=		> S20 (1) 100 🗉 🙆 📃 🗗 🗙
< SAP	Change Financial Statement Version	
Display <-> Change Expand Subtree	Choose Create Items Assign Accounts Select +/- Reassign Delete Check More ~	Q, Q* 💮 Print Exit
Petty Cash Current Bank Account Co Bank of America CA100000113100 - 0000: HSBC D 2000000 Liabilities D Current Liabilities D Current Liabilities D Short-Term Borrowings Bank Of America HSBC Bank Short-Term Borrowings Bank Short-Term Borrowings Bank Short-Term Borrowings	Define Debit/Credit Shift X Debit fem Credit Kem Sank of Aserica Bank of Aserica Bank of Aserica Bank of Aserica Continue Help Cancel	
		Save Refresh Cancel

Figure 12-16. The screen where you confirm the Debit/Credit for your bank account



Your FSV should look like the one in Figure 12-17.

Figure 12-17. FSV hierarchy structure depicting the nodes assignment to G/L accounts



Figure 12-18. Activating the items you want displayed in your check result

The final step in this activity is to check the assigned G/L accounts to your FSV.

Check Assigned G/L Accounts to FSV

After assigning G/L accounts to your FSV nodes, it is important to carry out a check to find out if any of the items (G/L accounts) are not allocated to your FSV in your company code.

To check whether G/L accounts are assigned to FSV nodes, click Check at the top right of The Change Financial Statement Version screen. The Carry out Checks screen pops up. The following items on the screen are automatically activated as defaults by the system:

- Accts Assigned to 1 side only.
- Nonassigned Accounts.
- From Chart of Accts.
- Incorrect Assigned Accts.

You can deactivate or activate the items you want displayed in your check result.

Enter your company code in the From Company Code field. In this activity, our company code is C100.

To generate your check result, click the Continue button at the bottom right of the screen and The Check financial statement version screen is displayed (Figure 12-19) showing your check result.



Figure 12-19. Financial statement version check result

The result in Figure 12-19 shows that some items have been allocated in the FSV. Go back and allocate the displayed G/L not allocated in the report to the appropriate FSV nodes (Refer to Step 3 above to see how G/L accounts are assigned to FSV nodes).

When you click Continue at the bottom right of the screen, the Check financial version pop up screen disappears. Save your FSV customization. When you click Save at the bottom right of the Change Financial Version screen, the Financial Statement Version: Save & Activate screen pops up. If you are convinced that you have completed your FVS customizing, you can choose the activate button on the Financial Statement Version: Save & Activate screen (Figure 12-20).

Ξ	> S20 (1) 100 🕞 🙆 📃 🖞	×
K SAP Change Financial Sta	ment Version	
Display <-> Change Expand Subtree Choose Create Items Assign Accounts	Select +/- Reassign Delete Check More ✓ Q Q @ Print E	et.
CALD Financial Statement Version - C100	×	
	Save Refresh Ca	hcel

Figure 12-20. Financial Statement Version: Save & Activate screen

Summary

This chapter shows you how to customize a Financial Statement Version (FSV). In doing this, you learned how to define your own FSV from scratch. This included how to create FSV items using the create function.

As part of this activity, you created the following items in your FSV hierarchy structure:

- Balance sheet.
- Profit and loss account.
- Unassigned accounts.

You went on to create other nodes and items as subordinates for your FSV. You assigned codes to the items you created and assigned G/L accounts to items in the FSV. Finally, you learned how to check the items assigned to the FSV.

In the next chapter, we will look at how to integrate FI into other modules, such as Material Management (MM) and Sales and Distribution (SD). In Material Management, we will look at the various steps that allow the system to carry out automatic posting from MM to FI.

Finally, we will look at how to assign G/L accounts to SD. In doing this, we will determine the sequence to be used to achieve this objective.

CHAPTER 13

Integration of FI with other SAP S4 HANA modules

In this chapter, we will explore how to integrate FI with other SAP S4 HANA modules as well as how to customize and integrate Material Management (MM) and Sales & Distribution (SD) modules.

At the end of this chapter, you will be able to:

- Integrate the FI module with other SAP modules.
- Explain the Material Management (MM) module.
- Configure automatic postings.
- Explain the Sales & Distribution (SD) module.
- Prepare revenue account determination.

Integrate FI with Other SAP Modules

Most, if not all, transactions in the SAP system in other modules have financial implications and trigger postings in the FI module. As a result, some form of assignment of other modules to GL accounts in FI is mandatory. The following modules are available for integration with FI in the system. (Figure 13-1 depicts the integration of FI with other modules).



Figure 13-1. Integration of other SAP Modules to FI

The concept of assigning other modules to FI module is to allow the system to automatically post transactions posted in other modules to FI. As a result, you need to perform some assignments between these modules and FI in order to allow the system to form automatic posting between them. For example, when you integrate the payroll module to the FI module, postings made in the payroll module will automatically post to G/L accounts in FI in real time based on defined criteria.

In Figure 13-1, the Material Management (MM), Asset Accounting (FI-AA), Sales & Distribution (SD), Payroll, and Local General Ledgers are integrated into FI. Therefore, postings of these modules are automatically posted to FI based on the integration procedures defined.

In this chapter, we will be looking at how to integrate Material Management (MM) and Sales & Distribution (SD) only. We will not be covering Payroll and Asset Accounting (FI-AA) as these are outside the scope of this book. For more details on how to integrate Asst Accounting (FI-AA) to FI, please refer to our book "Asset Accounting Configuration in SAP ERP: A Step-by-Step Guide" by the same author. **Note** Before you commence with the integration of other modules to FI, it is advisable to create the appropriate G/L Accounts that will be needed in your configurations. Go to **Appendix 1** – under **Chapter 13** to first create the appropriate G/L accounts for this customization exercise.

Material Management (MM)

Movements of material from one stage to another takes place in MM which need to be posted in FI, for example, Goods Issues and Goods receipts. To represent the movement of these items in FI, they have to be assigned to GL accounts in valuation class.

In order for the system to automatically post Transactions posted in MM module with financial Implication to the FI module, some specifications need to be conducted in valuation class in the system that will allow the integration of one module to another.



Figure 13-2. How Movement of Material in MM is posted in FI

Because of various movement of material within the SAP system, there is a need for valuation class in the SAP system. For proper classification of materials, you have to define the valuation class for every material in the valuation class field. SAP supplied standard valuation classes in the system that you can use.

There are three settings you have to carry out in your customization for the system to perform automatic postings from MM to FI:

1. Valuation Class

The Valuation class of material is an important key which determines the GL account group of materials with the same account determination posted at different stages during material movement. For example, it allows posting of goods receipt of Raw Materials to a different GL account as opposed to when it is Finished Goods. This is achieved by assigning a different valuation class to materials at different stages:

- Raw Material 3000.
- Semi-Finished products 7900.
- Finished Products 7920, etc.

Every material in SAP R/3 has a master data and valuation class. Each material must be entered in the accounting data view of material master data for a valuated-material. The valuation classes for a material must be assigned to material type. One or more valuation class can use one material type and more than one material type can also be allowed for a valuation class. Account category reference determines the relationship between valuation classes and material type.

2. Transaction key or code:

The Transaction codes differentiate between transactions and determine the GL account to be posted.

SAP supplied standard Transaction Keys. See Material Management Postings.

3. Account:

This is where the GL accounts are assigned. By assigning GL Accounts to posting transactions for every valuation class, postings in MM will generate a posting in FI.

Configuring Automatic Postings

Automatic postings customization makes automatic postings to GL accounts for every material movement possible in the SAP R/3 system. Therefore, having to manually input material movement in FI will not be necessary because the system will do the postings automatically.

Let's use an example to illustrate how the customization of MM integration with G/L accounts in FI works in principle.

Assume Goods receipt (GR) of £200K posting is made to Purchase Order. In accounting, the double entry for this transaction will be:

- 1. Debit Inventory Account and
- 2. Credit GR/IR Clearing Account:

Figure 13-3 shows Accounting Double Entry of Goods Receipt (GR).



Figure 13-3. Double entry accounting for goods receipt (GR)

To make this work in SAP, you assign BSX Transaction Key – Inventory Posting to GL Account for Inventory Account.

Two Menu Paths are available for this function in the SAP ERP system:

- IMG Financial Accounting ➤ General Ledger Accounting ➤ Periodic Processing ➤ Integration ➤ Material Management ➤ Define Accounts for Material Management
- 2) IMG ➤ Material Management ➤ Valuation and Account Assignment ➤ Account ➤ Determination ➤ Account Determination without wizard ➤ Configure Automatic Postings

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedures* screen is displayed. This screen contains a list of procedures you can choose from. Choose inventory Posting-BSX from the procedures list by clicking on it, and click choose at the top left of the screen.

The *Enter Chart of Accounts* dialog box pops up. Enter your chart of accounts key in the *Chart of Accounts* field. In this activity, we used CA10, which is our chat of accounts key. Click Continue at the bottom right of the screen. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules* screen is displayed. You will notice that the system has automatically defaulted your chart of accounts – CA10 and the transaction code – BSX for inventory posting. This is the screen where you determine the valuation class for your accounts assignment.

In the **Accounts are determined based on** section of the screen, specify the basis on which you want your material valuation accounts to be determined. Since you want to customize Valuation Modification, valuation class and G/L accounts. Activate **Valuation modif** and **Valuation class** checkboxes by ticking them, as in Figure 13-4.



Figure 13-4. Specifying Valuation modification and Valuation class for automatic posting account assignment

Click the Save button at the bottom right of the screen. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts* screen is displayed (Figure 13-5). This is where you will maintain the settings for automatic postings of MM transaction to FI. 262

≡										>	S20 (1) 100 📧 🙆	_ 8 ×
<	SAP			Configu	ration Account	ing Maintain	Automatic Pos	sts - Accou	unts			
	<u>v</u>] 1	Previous oper	ation Next operation	New Entries Co	py Delete	Posting Key	Procedures	Rules	More 🗸			Exit
Account as	Chart of Accounts:	CA10 Char BSX Inven	t of Accounts - C100 tory posting									
Valuation r	mo Valuation class	Account										۲
0001	3000	300000										
0001	7900	790000										
0001	7920	792000	q									
			Position								Sa	re Terminate

Figure 13-5. Maintaining the automatic posting of G/L accounts for automatic posting

Update the following fields:

Valuation modification: Enter **0001** in this field for each material (Raw Material, Semi Finished Goods, and Finished Goods). This determines accounts posting based on valuation area or plant (if your valuation area is based on plants)

Valuation Class: Select the appropriate valuation class from the ones supplied by SAP in the system by using the search function button. In this instance, select the validation class for Raw Material -3000, Semi Finished Products -7900, and Finished Products -7920.

Account: Enter GL Account for Raw Material -300000, Semi Finished Products -790000 and Finished Products -792000 n this field. **Note** If you have not created the G/L accounts, the system will notify you that the G/L accounts you assigned is not created in your chart of accounts at the status bar at the bottom of the screen. You can force the system to accept the G/L accounts you have created by hitting the enter button on your keyboard several times and then save your specifications. We recommend that you should create the appropriate G/L accounts later if you have not already done so.

Save your customizing.

Inventory Account and GR/IR Account

In the double entry example earlier in Figure 13-3, you have two accounts (i.e., *Inventory Account* and *GR/IR Account*). Since you have created the Inventory Account using *BSX* Transaction Key, the next step is to also create a corresponding Credit Account for the GR/IR Clearing Account. To do this, you should use GR/IR Clearing Account – *WRX* Transaction Key.

Hit back at the top left of the screen button to return to the previous page or follow this menu path: *IMG – Financial Accounting ➤ General Ledger Accounting ➤ Periodic Processing ➤ Integration ➤ Material Management ➤ Define Accounts for Material Management* to return to the *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedure*. From the list of procedures displayed on the screen using the scroll bar at the right side of the screen, search for GR/IR clearing account – WRX. Click on it to select it and click Choose at the right side of the screen. The *Enter Chart of Accounts* dialog box pops up. Enter your chart of accounts key in the *Chart of Accounts* field, click Continue at the bottom right of the screen. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules* screen is displayed. You will notice that the system has automatically defaulted your chart of accounts – CA10 and the transaction code – WRX-GR/IR clearing account. You do not need any specifications on this screen. Click the Save button at the bottom right of the screen. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts* is displayed (Figure 13-6).

≡		> S20 (1) 100 📧 🔞 📃 🗃 🗙
<	Configuration Accounting Maintain - Automatic Posts - Accounts	
	\sim Previous operation Next operation Delete Posting Key Procedures Rules More \sim	Exit
Account a	Chart of Accounts: CALO Chart of Accounts - C100 Transaction: WRX GR/IR clearing account scionment	
Account		0
191100	2	
		Save Terrinata

Figure 13-6. Maintain Automatic Posting for GR/IR Clearing Account

Enter the GR/IR clearing account G/L account 191100 in the Account field and save your account assignment.

In automatic posting procedure, there are several transactions and transaction keys that you may want to explore on your own. The following transaction keys are important:

GBB	Offsetting entry for inventory posting
PRD	Cost (price) differences
KON	Consignment payables

In this activity, you will only be looking at Offsetting entry for inventory posting (GBB). Basically, the procedure for assigning other transaction keys are the same.

GBB has several account groupings that you can choose from based on the relevant movement types. The following accounting groupings can be assigned to the relevant movement types in GBB:

AUF	Goods receipts for production orders with account assignment
BSA	Initial entries of stock balances
INV	Expenses/revenue for inventory differences
VAX	Goods issues for sales orders without account assignment
VAY	Goods issues for sales orders with account assignment
VBO	Consumption for stock of material provided to vendor
VBR	Internal goods issues to production/cost centre
VKA	Consumption for sales order without SD
VNG	Scrapping/Destruction
VQP	Sampling
ZOB	Goods receipts without purchase orders
ZOP	Goods receipts without production orders

Let's look at when Goods or materials are issued to production or Cost Center

Offsetting Entry for Inventory Posting

In this activity, you will be updating the general modification VBR (a predefined transaction key supplied by SAP in the system for internal inventory posting to G/L accounts) with Material Consumption. After you configure the GBB-offsetting entry for inventory posting, the system will automatically post materials or goods issued to production or cost center to offsetting accounts in FI by debiting the Material Consumption account and crediting the inventory account for materials.

Inventory Account for Material is credited and Material Consumption is debited.
 Ok let's see how this is done. Follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤
 General Ledger Accounting ➤ Periodic Processing ➤ Integration ➤ Material
 Management ➤ Define Accounts for Material Management.

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts - Procedures* screen is displayed. Using the scroll bar at the right side of the screen search for **Offsetting entry for inventory - GBB** in the procedure list. Select it and click Choose at the top left of the screen. The *Enter Chart of Accounts* dialog pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts in the *Chart of Accounts* field and click Continue at the bottom right of the screen. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts - Rules* screen is displayed (Figure 13-7).



Figure 13-7. Maintain Posting Rules for Automatic Posting

In the **Accounts are determined based on** section of the screen, activate the following checkboxes by selecting them:

- ✓ Debit/Credit,
- \checkmark General modification,
- \checkmark Valuation modification, and
- ✓ Valuation class.

These items are made available for input on the next screen. Click Save at the bottom right of the screen. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts* screen is displayed (Figure 13-8). Update the screen using the information in Table 13-1.

Table 13-1. Information needed to Customize the Automatic Offsetting Entry forInventory Posting

Fields	Values	Description
Valuation modif.	0001	This determines accounts posting based on valuation area or plant (if your valuation area is based on plants).
General modification	VBR	Transaction types used to differentiate account determination. VBR – this represents Internal goods issues to production/cost center.
Valuation class	3000	An important key that determines the GL account material should be posted at different stages.
Debit	400000	G/L account debit items are posted.
Credit	400000	G/L account credit items are posted.

=					> S20 (1) 100 🕞 (× 🖻 🗕 🖉			
< 54	Configuration Accounting Maintain : Automatic Posts - Accounts								
	~	Previous operati	on Next op	eration New	Entries Copy Delete Posling Key Procedures Rules More $\!$	Exit			
Char Account assign	t of Accounts:	CA10 Chart o GBB Offsetti	f Accounts - C1 ng entry for inv	entory posting					
Valuation mo	General mod	Valuation class	Debit	Credit		0			
0001	VBR	3000	400000	400000	a				
			Posit	ion					
					<u>s</u>	ave Terminate			

Figure 13-8. Maintain Automatic Posting for Offsetting entry for inventory posting

Save your work.

The final step in this activity is to customize the integration of Sales & Distribution (SD) with FI to allow the system to automatically post transactions in SD to FI.

Integration with Sales & Distribution (SD).

Sales and Distribution (SAP) is a part of SAP modules. Business processes from Sales order to delivery are executed in SD. This module handles activities ranging from Customer Sales Order, Shipping, Billing of Products, Services, Risk Management, etc.

Billing is a part of SD function and all billing transactions that took place in SD module also form part of FI transactions, which results in FI – General Ledger posting.

Let's look at an example of SD billing transaction in accounting. Assume that a bill is raised in SD for £200k, the accounting transaction will look like the double entry accounting transaction below:



Figure 13-9. Accounting Double Entry when SD document is posted to FI

Prepare Revenue Account Determination

Account determination is an important integration process in SAP R/3 that enables the system to post transactions in SD (e.g., sales, sales deductions, and freights) to appropriate G/L accounts in FI via Account Keys.



Figure 13-10. How SD Transactions are posted to FI

Available Account keys in SAP ERP system that you can use

ERB		Rebate Sales
ERL		Sales Revenue
ERS		Sales Deductions
ERU		Rebate Accruals
EVV	_	Cash Clearing

In this configuration, you will specify the following items for your G/L Accounts:

Field	Description
Application	This is where you specify the key for Sales and Distribution application. The standard application key for SD is V. You can access this key using the search function or the match code next to the application field.
Condition Type for Account Determination	SAP comes with standard condition types: KOFI and KOFK. If your company code is making Sales & Distribution (SD) post to FI and not to Controlling (CO), use the condition type KOFI for your account determination. On the other hand, if you want the system to post Sales & Distribution (SD) to FI and CO use the condition type KOFK.
Chart of Accounts	Here you specify Chart of Accounts for your G/L Account structure. In this activity, we used the chart of account key – CA10
Sales Organization	Here you specify the Sales Organization you want to apply to your account determination. For example, sales organization 0001, 0002, and so on. Sales organizations are distinguished with an identification number in SAP S4 HANA.
Account Key	The account key you specify here will determine the appropriate G/L accounts transactions relating to sales are posted. For example, ERL for sales Revenue, ERS for Sales Deductions, and so on.
G/L Account	The account in FI that transactions from SD are posted for accounting purpose.

Table 13-2. Items needing specifications when integrating SD to G/L Accounts in FI

When assigning G/L Accounts to SD, you have to determine the sequence to use. In SAP, you have five access sequences:

- Cust. Grp/Material Grp/Acct Key.
- Cust. Grp/Acct Key.
- Material Grp/Acct Key.
- General.
- Account Key.

Access sequence allows us to specify different GL accounts for different Sales organizations. Based on your settings, the system will go through the settings in your configuration to find out if a GL account is assigned to an account key. For example,

the system will check the first item **Cust** *GrpMaterialGrpAccKey*. If a G/L Account is assigned, then the system will use the G/L account for revenue posting. If no G/L account is assigned, the system will go to the next item on the table in a sequence, and so on. Until the system finds an account key that a G/L account is assigned to. It will use it for posting SD transactions to the G/L accounts in FI.

Note You are the one that will determine the level that you may want to maintain for your GL Account.

Now let's go through the steps involved customizing the integration of SD to FI. **Problem:** Using Account Key (Acct Key), assign GL Account to Sales Revenue (ERL) and Sales Deductions (ERS).

You can access the menu path for Integrating of FI with SD either in FI or SD:

- IMG: Financial Accounting (New) ➤ General Ledger Accounting (New) ➤ Periodic Processing ➤ Integration ➤ Sales and Distribution ➤ Prepare Revenue Account Determination
- 2) IMG: Sales and Distribution ➤ Basic Functions ➤ Account Assignment/Costing ➤ Revenue Account Determination ➤ Assign GL Accounts

The *Assign G/L Accounts* screen is displayed. On the Assigned G/L Account Table, select item **5-Account Key** (circled in Figure 13-11) by clicking on it to select it and click Choose at the top left of the screen to go to the next screen.



Figure 13-11. List of items to assign to G/L accounts in SD customizing

The *Change View Acct Key Overview* screen comes-up. Choose New Entries at the top left of the screen. The New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen (Figure 13-12) comes up.

≡								> S20 (1) 100 📧 🙆 🔔 🗗 🗙
<	SA	7					New Entries: Overview of Added Entries	
-		~	Delete	Select A	JI Select Block	Deselect All Confi	suration Help More ~	
						of the state of th	ananan man	
Acct	Key							0
App	CndTy.	Chrt/Accts	SOrg.	ActKy	G/L Account	Accruais Acc.		
🗆 V	KOFI	CA10	0001	ERL	800000	800000		
V	KOFI	CA10	0001	ERS	\$10000	810000	Q	
			-E Po	eltion		Entry 0 of 0		
								Save Cancel

Figure 13-12. Assign G/L Accounts to Account Key
Update the following fields:

Application: Enter application key V. This is the standard key for SD.

CndTy.: Enter condition type KOFI. This condition type is used for account determination without posting CO (Controlling). If you want to be able to post to FI

and CO, use the condition type KOFK.

ChAc: Enter the chart of accounts you defined in Chapter 2. This will allow you to use the G/L accounts in your chart of accounts.

SOrg: Enter sales organization 0001. We used 0001 for illustration purposes.

ActKy: Enter account key ERL (Sales revenue) and ERS (Sales deductions). The account key will allow the system to distinguish between transactions.

G/L Account: Enter the G/L account you want sales revenue to be posted to in the FI. This activity uses 800000 as the G/L account for illustration purposes.

Provision Acc.: Enter the G/L account you want to post sales deductions to in this field.

Summary

This chapter explained the processes involved in integrating FI with other modules in SAP ERP. It briefly discussed material movements that take place in the Material Management (MM) module that need to be posted to FI. This included material issues and receipts. It went on to explore the steps involved in customizing the integration of MM with FI. In customizing MM, we defined the Valuation class for Raw Material, Semi-Finished Products, and Finished Products using the standard valuation keys supplied by SAP and assigned them to appropriate G/L accounts. You also looked at the relationship between Sales & Distribution (SD) and FI. You learned about this through a flow diagram, which explained the concepts involved in configuring SD with FI.

Finally, you also learned how to customize SD in order for the system to determine the appropriate G/L accounts that SD transactions are posted to. In doing so, you specified various condition types and assigned them to G/L accounts. This is necessary so that the system can determine the G/L accounts that SD transactions are posted to.

The next chapter explains how to customize the Accounts Payable (AP) and Accounts Receivable (AR) modules. It explains how to create number ranges for customers/vendors and covers the problems associated with creating number ranges. It defines account groups with screen layouts, explains the use of payment terms and

CHAPTER 13 INTEGRATION OF FI WITH OTHER SAP S4 HANA MODULES

various instalment plans, and covers how to configure manual and automatic outgoing payments in SAP ERP. It also looks at how to define adjustment accounts for receivables and payables by maturity, and adjustment posting/reversal of documents using negative postings methods.

CHAPTER 14

Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable

In this chapter, we explain what accounts receivable and payable are, and also look at the steps involved in customizing accounts receivable and accounts payable.

At the end of this chapter, you will be able to:

- Understand what accounts payable/receivable is.
- Describe an account group and understand its importance.
- Maintain the Field Status group for general data about customer account groups.
- Define account groups with screen layout.
- Define payment terms in SAP.
- Maintain terms of payment for an installment plan.
- Define document types for enjoy transactions.
- Maintain settings for manual outgoing payments.
- Define automatic outgoing payments.
- Maintain tolerance groups for employees, customers/vendors, and G/L accounts.
- Define sort methods and adjustment accounts for regrouping receivables/payables.
- Specify adjustment accounts for receivables/payables by maturity.
- Define adjustment posting/reversal using negative posting methods.
- Understand reasons for reversal.

Accounts Payable and Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable simply stands for Customer and Vendor Accounts, respectively. Additionally, a customer is usually referred to as a Debtor and a vendor as a Creditor.

Customer: A business partner from whom receivables are due. In order words, these are business partners owing you money for Goods delivered or services rendered. A customer falls under the category of Sales. In the SAP S4 HANA system, a customer must have a master record. A customer master record contains information about a customer account held in the database, which is applied to accounting transactions in the system.

Vendor: Likewise, a vendor is a business partner to whom payable are due. They are those you owed money for goods and services received. Like customers, vendors come under the category of purchases and have a master record in the SAP system. Likewise, a vendor master record contains information about a vendor account held in the database, which is applied to accounting transactions in the system.

To configure Accounts receivable and Accounts Payable several steps are involved. We will be going through these steps systematically in this activity.

Customizing accounts receivable and accounts payable entails several steps and can be confusing if care is not taken. Firstly, we will start with the configuration of customer accounts and then you will also go through the configuration of vendor accounts.

Note There is no restriction on which to configure first. The decision to start first with the configuration of Customer Accounts instead of Vendor Accounts is purely a matter of choice.

Customer Accounts

What is Customer Account Group?

Customer Account group allows the classification of customers to a business partner function that best fits the nature of business transaction involved. The customer account groups controls the customer hierarchy containing the customer master record. When

a customer account is created, you must assign it to an account group. Account group is a control mechanism that determines the relevant screens and fields to be displayed for input based on individual customer's different business functions. Account group is maintained in IMG.

The importance of Account Group

It Controls:

- Which fields in the customer master are Required, Optional, Display, etc.
- Number Range assignment.

There is a list of account groups supplied by SAP in the system you choose from for your configuration. For example:



It is also possible to create your own account group to meet your requirements.

Note You can also Define Screen Layout:

- Per Company code (customer).
- Per Activity (customer).

This is outside the scope of this lecture. Simply because SAP standard settings are sufficient.

In this activity, you will be defining Customer Account Groups Screen Layout for Domestic and Foreign Customers, respectively.

Defining Accounts Groups with Screen Layout (Customer)

Problem: Company C100 plc classifies customer account groups into three partner business functions:

- 1. Domestic Customer,
- 2. Foreign Customer, and
- 3. One-time Customer.

Your task is to maintain an account group that will reflect these partner's functions in the system.

In this activity, you will define an account group with appropriate business partner functions and maintain the field status group for its general data. To customize the account groups for your customer based on business partner function, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Customer Accounts* > *Master Data* > *Preparations for Creating Customer Master Data* > *Define Accounts Groups with Screen Layout (Customers).* The *Change View Customer Account Groups Overview* screen is displayed. This is where you will define the account groups for your customers. To go to the screen where you will specify your account group, choose the New Entries at the top of the screen (this is the third function from the left side of the screen). The New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen comes up (Figure 14-1).

Note you can create as many account groups as you need, such as Foreign Customers, Domestic Customers, One-Time Customers, and so on.

To avoid confusion we will be using DC and two digits for Domestic Customers, FC for Foreign Customer, and OT for One-time Customers in this activity.

=	> S20 (1) 100 💽 🔞 📃 🗗 🗙
< SAP	New Entries: Details of Added Entries
Expand Field Status Delete Previous entry Next entry	Standard list More Y Exit
Account group: DCO1	
General data	
Meaning: Domestic Customers - C100	
One-Time Account	
Skip Address Check	
Output determ.proc.;	
Field status	
General Data	
Company Code Data	
Sales Data	
	Save Cancel

Figure 14-1. Initial screen for account groups specification with screen layout (customer)

The Customer Account group screen is divided into three sections:

- The section where you specify your account group ID.
- **General data:** Allows you to enter your customer account group name.
- **Field status:** Allows you to specify if a field should be surprised, required, optional, or display.

Tip If you are creating a one-time customer group, remember to tick the One-time account check box in **General data section** in the Account group entries screen.

Update the following fields:

Account group: Enter your customer group ID in this field. In this activity, we used DC01 (Domestic Customer-01).

General data: In the Meaning field, enter a description for your customer account group.

Once you have updated the screen click the Save button at the bottom right side of the screen. Upon saving the system will notify you on the status bar at the bottom of the screen that your data was saved.

Note There is no hard rule for the name you use as account group. Account group name is a matter of choice. It is based on how your client wants to classify their customer groups. The Domestic Customer Account Group used in this activity is purely for illustration purposes. It is not a standard.

Before continuing with this activity, create two more customer account groups for Foreign Customer and One-time Customer, using the data in Tables 14-1 and 14-2.

 Table 14-1.
 Foreign Customer Account Group

Account Group	Meaning
FC01	Foreign Customer – C100

 Table 14-2.
 One-time Customer Account Group

Account Group	Meaning
OT01	One-time Customer – C100

Maintaining the Filed Status Group for General Data of the Customer Account Group

In the Field Status section, you can maintain field status group for the following items:

• General data.

- Company code data.
- Sales data.

First, let's look at how to maintain the field status group for general data:

In the **Field status** section of the screen (Figure 14-1), double click **General data** from the list of field status. The *Maintain Field Status Group: Overview* screen is displayed. Select the item you want to define the field status for from the **Select Group** list (e.g., Address, communication, etc.), select *Address* from *Select Group* list by clicking it and click choose function at the top left side of the screen.

The *Maintain Field Status Group: Address* screen is displayed (Figure 14-2). This screen is where you will maintain the Field Status for Address. The specifications you carry out here will determine the field input status, whether a given field should be suppressed, required, or optional. The settings here are based on your client's requirement. In this activity, we set the less important to optional and the important items to required entry. Since we consider the field status group for address less important, make sure that all the optional entry radio are selected.

					> \$20(1)	100 🗈 6
< SAP			Maint	ain Field Status Group: Address		
Previo	us arous Mast arous	Elold check				
Previo	os group Hext group	Field check Mon	• •			
General Data				Page: 1 / 5		
Acct group DC01				a <i>a</i>		
Domestic Customers - C100						
General data						
Address						
	Suppress	Req. Entry	Opt. entry	Display		
Name 1/last name	•		•			
Form of address						
Search term A						
Name 2/first name						
Name 3, name 4						
Postal code, city			•			
Street						
District						
Region						
PO Box						
P.O. box postal code						

Figure 14-2. Maintain Field Status Group for customer address

Click save at the bottom right of the screen to save your specifications.

Note The items you specified as optional gives the account users the option to either enter data in the field or not, but the items you specify as required entry will force the account users to enter data in the field.

Problem: To ensure that users enter important information during document entry, you have been asked to make specifications that will make Reconciliation *account* field and *Sort key* compulsory input entry fields.

The specification of Reconciliation Account and Sort key are carried out in **Company code data** in the *field status* section of the *Change View "Customer Account Group": Details* screen (Figure 14-1). This is where you will specify the field status groups for *Company code data.*

Double click *Company code* in the Field status section on the *Change View "Customer account group": Details* screen. The *Maintain Field Status Group: Overview* page comes up. Select *Account management* from the Select Group list and click the Choose function at the top left side of the screen or press F2 on your keyboard. The *Maintain Field Status Group: Account Management* screen is displayed; set Reconciliation and Sort key to *Required entry* and all other items to *Optional*. This means that during data entry, the system will request for reconciliation account and the Sort key as required entry.

~	Maintain Fie	Id Status Group: Account management	
~		Page 1 / 2	
		Page 1 / 2	
	(ala	
Req. Entry	Opt. entry	Display	
•			
	Req. Entry	Req. Entry Opt. entry	Req. Entry Opt. entry Display • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

Figure 14-3. Maintain Field Status Group - Account Management

1. Select *Reconciliation account* and *Sort Key* as Required Entry fields for Account management and set every other item on the list to optional as they are less important.

Tip Do not save your work yet, because you will learn how to use the Next Page Button on this screen.

To go to the next page of *Account management*, click the Next Page button (Circled in Figure 14-3).

Save your customer account group.

Before moving on, define two more account groups for your foreign customer and one-time customer groups.

Enter Accounting Clerk Identification Code for Customers

In this activity, we will be looking at how to define the Accounting Clerk name under an Identification code (ID). This ID can be entered in the customer/master record, which the clerk is responsible for. The system will automatically print the name of the accounting clerk on all correspondence. This code can also be used for sorting dunning and payment proposal lists. The following menu path will take you to the initial screen where this customizing is carried out: **IMG:** *Financial Accounting* > *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Customer Accounts* > *Master Data* > *Preparations for Creating Customer Master Data* > *Enter Accounting Clerk Identification Code for Customer*.

The *Change View "Accounting Clerks" Overview* screen is displayed. Click at the top of the screen to go to the screen where you will enter your accounting clerks' details (Figure 14-4).

=				> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 🔜 🗃 🗙
<	SAP		New Entries: Overview of Added Entries	
		Delete Select All Select Block	Deselect All Configuration Help More 🗠	양 Display Exit
CoCo	d Clerk	Name of Accounting Clerk	Office User	Θ
C100	0 01	Peter Smith	Acountant	
C100	0 02	Andrew Churchill	Clerk	
C100	0 03	Michael Angelo	clerk Ø	
		-E Position	Entry 0 of 0	
	-			
				Save Cancel

Figure 14-4. Initial Screen for Accounting Clerk Identification Code for Customer

The *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen comes up. Update the following fields: **Cod:** Enter your company code in this field.

Clerk: Enter two characters identifier ID for your clerk.

Name of Accounting Clerk: Enter the name of your accounting clerk in this field. **Office User:** You can also enter the position of your accounting clerk in this field. After you have updated your New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen, save your work.

Creating Number Ranges for Customer Account Groups

Number ranges were covered in depth in Chapter 3, so we will only be looking at the basic steps involved in how to create number ranges for customer accounts in this activity. Number ranges for customer accounts are created using a two-character key.

When creating number ranges for your customer account, you should specify:

- The number interval which will be used as the account number for your customer accounts.
- If number assignment is internal or external.

If you select the internal number range indicator, the system will automatically assign number range intervals to your documents during document postings.

On the other hand, if external number range indicator is selected, during document postings, the users will have to enter number intervals manually based on a predefined format during configuration.

Note Number range assignment can either be internal or external. For internal number range assignment, the system assigns the number assignment automatically. Whereas the external number range assignment is entered manually by the users during document entry.

You may likely encounter a number range overlap problem when creating number ranges. The SAP system does not allow number interval overlap when creating number ranges for customer accounts. So, make sure that your number interval is not overlapping. If your number interval is overlapping, the system will issue a warning **"Interval already available."** Then use another number range until you can find one that is not over lapping.

It is also possible to choose from existing number range intervals in the system instead of creating your own.

Now let's create number ranges for the Domestic and Foreign customer Account Groups you created earlier.

To go to the screen where you will define the number ranges for your customer account group, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Customer Accounts* > *Master Data* > *Preparations for Creating Customer Master Data* > *Create Number Ranges for Customer Accounts.* The Edit Intervals: Customer, Object DEBITOR initial screen is displayed (Figure 14-5).

≡	> S20 (1) 100 🗈 💩 🔔 🗇 🗙
C SAP Edit Intervals: Customer, Object DEBITOR	
✓ Overview Change Documents Configuration help More ✓	Ext
Number Range Object: DEBITOR Customer Number Ranges	
60 Intervals / Intervals	

Figure 14-5. The Edit Intervals: Customer, Object DEBITOR initial screen

On the *Edit Intervals: Customer, Object DEBITOR* initial screen, click the Intervals button Circled in Figure 14-5. The *Edit Intervals: Customer, Object DEBITOR* second screen comes up (Figure 14-6). This is the screen where you can maintain your customer number ranges, displaying a list of number ranges already in the system. You have a number of options here. First, you can either decide to use an existing number range in the system by simplifying assigning it you're your customer account group, or second, editing an existing number range and then assign it to your customer number range or third, you can create your own customer account group number range from scratch. The choice is entirely up to you. However, in this activity, we will be creating our own number ranges we will be assigning to our customer account group. **Note** The system will not allow number interval overlapping (for example, the number interval 01 is already in the system; therefore, we will not be able to use this number interval again). So, we must use a number that is not already in the system.

Click Insert Line function (this is the fourth item from the left top of the screen) on the *Edit Intervals: Customer, Object DEBITOR* (Figure 14-6) to create addition line(s) for your number range intervals. You will notice that a blank line will be inserted at the top of the displayed list of number intervals in the system.

_									> S20 (1) 100 🕨 (6 _ 7 >
<	SAP			Edit Intervals: Custor	er, Object DE	BITOR				
	~	Display <-> Change	Change number range status	Free Intervals Insert Line	Delete Line	Select All Intervals	Deselect All	More V		Exit
N	mber Range No.	From No.	To Number	NR Status	External					e
03		0100000000	0199999999	0						
01		2222200000	ZZZZ209999	0	V					
02		0000001600	0000001800	1609						
04		400000000	4999999999	400000029						
05		500000000	5999999999	500000009						
07		0000001500	0000001599	1504						
08		0000080000	00000899999	0						
6		0000001001	0000001499	0	V					
90		0000090000	00000999999	90009						
BP		000000001	0000001000	104						
CT		0000054000	0000054999	0	1					
MC		SH0000000	SH99999999	0	v					
SD		020000088	0200000099	0	×					
X		CM0001	CM99999	0	1					
YP		BA000001	8Z999999	0	V					
Z1		100000001	1999999999	0						
Z2		0000100000	0000299999	0						
ZC		690000001	9999999999	690000005						
ZE		A0001	AZZZZ	0	1					
		680000000	690000000	680000004						

Figure 14-6. Maintain number ranges for Customer Account group

Since 03 number interval is not in the list of number intervals displayed in the system, we decided to use 03 as our number interval, as in Figure 14-6.

Update the following fields:

Number Range No.: Enter the number such as 03 in this field. Number range sequences are maintained using two digits.

From No.: Enter a start number range such as 0100000000 in this field. To Number: Enter the end number range such as 01999999999 in this field.

Note You can create as many number range intervals as desired. The number range interval you define depends on your requirements.

Tip For more information on creating number ranges refer to Chapter 3 for a detailed explanation on how to create number ranges.

If you are having a problem making your own number range intervals because of number range overlap. Skip this section and go to the next section – **Assign Number Ranges to Customer Account Groups** below and assign any existing number range in the system to your customer account groups. This action will allow you to carry on with your configuration.

Save your number range intervals.

Note Transport number range intervals screen will pop up. Ignore the message and confirm your number range intervals by clicking the enter button below.

Transport number range interval screen pops up with a message. Ignore message and click Insert Enter button to confirm your number range intervals.

Note You can create as many number range intervals as desired. The number range interval you can define depends on your client's requirements.

Assigning Number Ranges to Customer Account Groups

Finally, in this activity on customer account group, you have to assign the number ranges you have created to your customer account groups.

The system will automatically use the number range you have assigned to the customer account group when you create a customer account. The system does this by systematically selecting the next available number from the number range you have assigned. To assign a number range to a customer account group follow this menu path: *IMG Financial Accounting* > *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Customer Accounts* > *Master Data* > *Preparations for Creating Customer Master Data* > *Assign Number Ranges to Customer Account Groups.*

The *Change View "Assign Customer Acct Groups >> Number Range:" Overview* screen is displayed. Search for your Customer Account Group using the Position button at the bottom of the screen. In this activity, we used customer account group – DC01-Domestic Customer key and 03 as our number range interval.

Assign your number to your customer Account Group as in Figure 14-7.

						> S20 (1) 100 💽 👸	è –	0 ×
<	SAP		Change View	*Assign Customer Ad	ct Groups->Number Range*: Overview			
	Vindo Change Select Al	Select Block	Deselect All	Configuration Help	More ~	@ <mark>0</mark>	isplay	Exit
Group	Name	Number range						e
DC01	Domestic Customers - C100	03						
DEBI	Customer (general)	BP						
EXC1	Customer Group 1- Ex13	07						
EXDC	Domectic Customers for EX13							
FI01	Domestic Customer Group	BP						
FI02	Foreign customer Group	BP						
IT07	ITRADE SALES GROUP							
33G	Construction site	BP						
KUNA	Customer (ext.number assgnmnt)	BP						
LCMS	Customer(Portal Role), Minimal	BP						
LCMX	Customer (Portal Role), Maxim.	BP						
PAYR	Customer: Payer (only)	BP						
PQC1	Domestic Customers for PQRC	02						
PQC2	Foreign Customers for PQRC	6						
PQC3	Intercompany Customers PQRC	08						
SD01	Sold-to-party SD01	SD						
SHPT	Customer: Ship to Party (only)	BP						
TKOL	Domestic Customers							
тк02	EXPORT CUSTOMERS							
TK03	One - time Customer							

Figure 14-7. Assign number range intervals to customer account groups

Save your number range assignment.

Vendor Accounts What is Vendor Account Group?

Vendor Account group like Customer Account Group allows the classification of vendors to a business partner function that best fits the nature of business transaction involved. The vendor account group controls the vendor hierarchy containing the vendor master record. When a vendor account is created, you must assign it to an account group. Account group is a control mechanism that determines the relevant screens and fields to be displayed for input based on individual vendor's business functions. Account group is maintained in IMG (Implementation Guide).

The importance of Vendor Account Group

It Controls:

- Which fields in the vendor master are Required, Optional, Display, etc.
- Number Range assignment.

There is a list of account groups to choose from for your configuration supplied by SAP in the system.

It is also possible to create your own account group to meet your requirement.

Note you can also Define Screen Layout:

- Per Company code (vendor).
- Per Activity (vendor).

This is outside the scope of this book, because the standards settings supplied by SAP are sufficient.

In this activity, you will be defining Vendor Account Groups Screen Layout for Domestic and Foreign Vendors, respectively.

Defining Account Groups with Screen Layout (Vendors)

Problem: Company C900 plc classifies vendor account group into three categories:

- 1. Domestic Vendor,
- 2. Foreign Vendor, and
- 3. One-time Vendor.

You are to maintain an account group that will reflect these classifications in the system.

In this activity, you will define an account group with appropriate business partner functions and maintain the field status group for its general data. To customize the account groups for your supplier (Vendor) based on business partner function, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Vendor Accounts* > *Master Data* > *Preparations for Creating Vendor Master Data* > *Define Accounts Groups with Screen Layout (Vendors).* The *Change View Vendor Account Groups Overview* screen is displayed. This is where you will define the account groups for your vendors. To go to the screen where you will specify your account group, choose the New Entries at the top of the screen (this is the third function from the left side of the screen). The New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen comes up (Figure 14-8).

Note You can create as many account groups as you need, such as Foreign Vendors, Domestic Vendors, One-Time Vendors, and so on.

To avoid confusion, we will be using DV and two digits for Domestic Vendors, FV for Foreign Vendors, and OV for One-time Vendors in this activity.

≡				>	S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 📃 🗗 🗙
< SAP			New Entries: Details of Added Entries		
~	Expand Field Status D	Delete Previous entry Next entry	Standard list More \sim		Exit
Account group: DV01	1				
General data					
	Meaning: Domestic	Vendor - C100			
One-Time Account					
Skip Address Check					
Field status					
Field status					
General Data					
Purchasing Data					
					Save Cancel

Figure 14-8. Initial screen for account groups specification with screen layout (vendor)

The Vendor Account group screen is divided into three sections:

- The section where you specify your account group ID.
- General data: Allows you to enter your vendor account group name.
- **Field status:** Allows you to specify if a field should be surprised, required, optional, or display.

Tip If you are creating a one-time vendor group remember to tick the Onetime account check box in the **General data section** in the Account group entries screen.

Update the following fields:

Account group: Enter your Vendor group ID in this field. In this activity, we used DV01 (Domestic Vendor-01).

General data: In the Meaning field, enter a description for your vendor account group.

Once you have updated the screen click the Save button at the bottom right side of the screen. Upon saving, the system will notify you on the status bar at the bottom of the screen that your data was saved.

Note There is no hard rule for the name you use as account group. Account group name is a matter of choice. It is based on how your client wants to classify their vendor groups. The Domestic Vendor Account Group used in this activity is purely for illustration purposes. It is not a standard.

Before continuing with this activity, create two more vendor account groups for foreign vendor and One-time vendor using the data in Tables 14-3 and 14-4.

 Table 14-3.
 Foreign Vendor Account Group

Account Group	Meaning
FV01	Foreign Vendor – C100

Table 14-4. One-time Vendor Account Group

Account Group	Meaning
OV01	One-time Vendor – C100

Maintaining the Filed Status Group for General Data of the Vendor Account Group

In the **Field Status section,** you can maintain the field status group for the following items:

- General data.
- Company code data.
- Purchasing data.

First, let's look at how to maintain the field status group for general data:

In the **Field status** section of the screen (Figure 14-8), double click **General data** from the list of field status. The *Maintain Field Status Group: Overview* screen is displayed. Select the item you want to define the field status for from the **Select Group** list (e.g., Address, communication, etc.), select *Address* from *Select Group* list by clicking it and click choose function at the top left side of the screen.

The *Maintain Field Status Group: Address* screen is displayed (Figure 14-9). This screen is where you will maintain the Field Status for Address. The specifications you carried out here will determine the field input status, whether a given field should be suppressed, required or optional. The settings here are based on your client's requirement. In this activity, we set the less important to optional and the important items to required entry. Since we consider the field status group for address less important, make sure that all the optional entry bubbles are selected.

=						> \$20 (1) 100		_ 8 ×
< SAP			Maint	ain Field Status Group: Address				
✓ Next group	Field check Mor	e ~						Exit
General Data				Page: 1 / 3				
Acet group DV01 Domestic Vendor - C100 General data				a]0]				
Address								
	Suppress	Req. Entry	Opt. entry	Display				
Name 1	•		•					
Form of address			•					
Search term								
Name 2								
Name 3, name 4								
Postal code, city								
Street								
District								
Region								
PO Box								
P.O. box postal code								
P.O. Box city								
							Save	e Cancel

Figure 14-9. Maintain Field Status Group for vendor address

Click save at the bottom right of the screen to save your specifications.

Note The items you specified as optional gives the account users the option to either enter data in the field or not, but the items you specify as required entry will force the account users to enter data in the field.

Problem: To ensure that users enter important information during document entry, you have been asked to make specifications that will make the *Reconciliation account* field and *Sort key* compulsory input entry fields.

The specification of Reconciliation Account and Sort key are carried out in **Company code data** in the *field status* section of the *Change View "Vendor Account Group": Details* screen (Figure 14-8). This is where you will specify the field status groups for *Company code data*.

Double click *Company code* in the Field status section on the *Change View "Vendor* account group": Details screen. The *Maintain Field Status Group: Overview* page comes up. Select Account management from the Select Group list and click the Choose function at the top left side of the screen. The *Maintain Field Status Group: Account Management* screen is displayed; set Reconciliation and Sort key to Required entry and all other items to *Optional*. This means that during data entry, the system will request for reconciliation account and the sort key as required entry.

Ventrain Field Status Group: Account management General Data Actgroup: DV01 Domestix: Vendor - 0100 Company code data Account management Reconciliation account Suppress Req Entry Opt. entry Display Predicus account number Sort key Head office Autorization One distator Withholding tax code (1) Withholding tax code (1)	=					> \$20(1)100	E 6 _ 6	9 3
Seneral Data Accigroup DV01 Domasik: Vandor - 0100 Company code data Account management Cash management group Previous account number Cash management group Cash management group Previous account number Cash management group Cash management group Previous account number Cash management which tas 1 Cash management which tas 1 <td< th=""><th>< SAP</th><th></th><th></th><th>Maintain Fie</th><th>ld Status Group: Account management</th><th></th><th></th><th></th></td<>	< SAP			Maintain Fie	ld Status Group: Account management			
General Data Page: 1 / 2 Act group DV01 Domissit: Vendor - C100 Company code data Account management Suppress Reconciliation account Suppress Cash management group Option of the supervision of the	 Next group 	p Field check Mor	e ~				E	dit.
Act group DV01 Domestic Vendor - C100 Company code data Account management Reconciliation account Operation Suppress Req. Entry Opt. entry Display Reconciliation account Operation Suppress Req. Entry Opt. entry Display Reconciliation account Operation Suppress Req. Entry Opt. entry Display Reconciliation account Operation Suppress Req. Entry Opt. entry Display Previous account number Sort kay Head Office Optimized Suppress Optimized Suppr	General Data				Page: 1 / 2			
Demessic Vendor - C100 Company code data Account management Reconciliation account	Acct group DV01				10			
Company code data Account management Suppress Req. Entry Opt. entry Display Cesh management group Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Cesh management group Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Cesh management group Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Cesh management group Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Cesh management group Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Previous account number Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Previous account number Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Previous account number Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group VMbh dang tax code (1) Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group VMbh dax exempt, whild tax 1 Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group VMbh dax cat_exemp.reason(1) Imagement group Imagement group Imagement group <td>Domestic Vendor - C100</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Domestic Vendor - C100							
Account management Buppress Rag. Entry Opt. entry Ditaliay Cash management group • • • Previous account number • • • Sort kay • • • Previous account number • • • Sort kay • • • Previous account number • • • Sort kay • • • Previous account number • • • Sort kay • • • • Previous account number • • • • Previous account number • • • • Sort kay • • • • • Authorization • • • • • Mitholdig fax code (1) • • • • • Withold kar eampt. withid kar 1 • • • • • Interest calculation • • • • <	Company code data							
Account management Reconciliation account Reconciliation account Cash management group O Previous account number O Sort kay Iead office Authorization Preference indicator Nilnority indicator Withiding tax code (1) Withid tax cat.exemp.reason(1)								
Suppress Req. Entry Opt. entry Display Reconciliation account • • • Oresh management group • • • Previous account number • • • Sort kay • • • Head office • • • Authoritation • • • Preference indicator • • • Withiding tax code (1) • • • Withid tax 1 • • • Interest calculation • • • Withid tax cot exemp.reason(1) • • •	Account management							
Reconciliation account • Cash management group • Previous account number • Sort key • Head office • Authoritzation • Preferance indicator • Mitholding tax code (1) • Withhidding tax code (1) • Interest calculation • Withhid star ceat.exemp.reason(1) •		Suppress	Req. Entry	Opt. entry	Display			
Cash management group • Previous account number • Sort key • Head office • Autorization • Preference indicator • Millionity indicator • Withhiding tax code (1) • Withid tax exempt, withid tax 1 • Interest calculation • Withitax cat, exemp.reason(1) •	Reconciliation account		•					
Previous account number Image: Im	Cash management group							
Sort key Image: Sort key Head diffice Image: Sort key Authorization Image: Sort key Minority indicator Image: Sort key Withholding tax code (1) Image: Sort key Withholding tax code (1) Image: Sort key Withholds tax exempt. whild tax 1 Image: Sort key Interest calculation Image: Sort key Withhitax cod.exemp.reason(1) Image: Sort key	Previous account number							
Head office • Authoritation • Preference Indicator • Allinotity indicator • Withholding tax code (1) • Withhold tax exempt. withid tax 1 • interest calculation • Withh.tax cat.exemp.resson(1) •	Sort key		۲					
Authorization • Preference indicator • Minosity indicator • Withholding tax code (1) • Whith fax exempt, withid tax 1 • interest calculation • Withh.tax cat, exemp.reason(1) •	Head office							
Preference indicator • Milnority indicator • Withiduing tax code (1) • Withid tax a exempt, withid tax 1 • Interest calculation • Withidax cot.exemp.reason(1) •	Authorization							
Millionity indicator • Withholding tax code (1) • Within tax exempt, withid tax 1 • Interest calculation • Within tax cat.exemp.reason(1) •	Preference indicator							
Withholding tax code (1) • Withholding tax code (1) • Interest calculation • Withhitax code.exemp.reason(1) •	Minority indicator							
Withid tax exempt, whild tax 1 Interest calculation Within tax cat.exemp.reason(1)	Withholding tax code (1)							
Interest calculation Withh.tax cat.exemp.reascn(1)	Wthid.tax exempt., wthid.tax 1							
Withh.tax cat.exemp.reason(1)	Interest calculation							
	Withh.tax catexemp.reason(1)							
Sector Sect							Save Co	ncei

Figure 14-10. Maintain Field Status Group – Account Management

1. Select *Reconciliation account* and *Sort Key* as Required Entry fields for Account management and set every other item on the list to optional, as they are less important.

Tip Do not save your work yet because you will learn how to use the Next Page Button on this screen.

To go to the next page of *Account management*, click the Next Page button (circled in Figure 14-10).

Save your vendor account group.

Before moving on, define two more account groups for your foreign vendor and one-time vendor groups.

Enter Accounting Clerk Identification Code for Vendors

In this activity, we will be looking at how to define the Accounting Clerk name under an Identification code (ID). This ID can be entered in the Vendor/master record, which the clerk is responsible for. The system will automatically print the name of the accounting clerk on all correspondence. This code can also be used for sorting dunning and payment proposal lists. The following menu path will take you to the initial screen where this customizing is carried out: **IMG:** *Financial Accounting* > *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Vendor Accounts* > *Master Data* > *Preparations for Creating Vendor Master Data* > *Enter Accounting Clerk Identification Code for Vendor*.

The *Change View "Accounting Clerks" Overview* screen is displayed. Click at the top of the screen to go to the screen where you will enter your accounting clerks' details (Figure 14-11).

				> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗗 🗙
×			New Entries. Overview of Added Entries	
	Delete Select All Select Bloc	k Deselect All (Configuration Help More ~	(E) Display Exit
CoCd Clerk	Name of Accounting Clerk	Office User		Θ
C100 C1	Paul Peters	ClerkA		
C100 C2	Michael Owen	ClerkB		
C100 C3	Zoe Gabriel	clerkc	0	
	-E Position	Entry 0 of 0		
				Save Cancel

Figure 14-11. Initial Screen for Accounting Clerk Identification Code for Vendor

The *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen comes up. Update the following fields:

Cod: Enter your company code in this field.

Clerk: Enter two characters identifier ID for your clerk.

Name of Accounting Clerk: Enter the name of your accounting clerk in this field. **Office User:** You can also enter the position of your accounting clerk in this field.

After you have updated your New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen, save your work.

Creating Number Ranges for Vendor Account Groups

Number ranges were covered in depth in Chapter 3, so we will only be looking at the basic steps involved in how to create number ranges for vendor accounts in this activity. Number ranges for vendor accounts are created using a two-character key.

When creating number ranges for your vendor account, you should specify:

- The number interval which will be used as the account number for your vendor accounts.
- If number assignment is internal or external.

If you select the internal number range indicator, the system will automatically assign number range intervals to your documents during document postings.

On the other hand, if an external number range indicator is selected, during document postings, the users will have to enter number intervals manually based on a predefined format during configuration.

Note Number range assignment can either be internal or external. For internal number range assignment, the system assigns the number assignment automatically. Whereas the external number range assignment is entered manually by the users during document entry.

You may likely encounter a number range overlap problem when creating number ranges. The SAP system does not allow number interval overlap when creating number ranges for vendor accounts. So make sure that your number interval is not overlapping. If your number interval is overlapping, the system will issue a warning **"Interval already available."** Then use another number range until you can find one that is not over lapping.

It is also possible to choose from existing number range intervals in the system instead of creating your own.

Now let's create number ranges for the Domestic and Foreign vendor Account Groups you created earlier.

To go to the screen where you will define the number ranges for your vendor account group, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Vendor Accounts* > *Master Data* > *Preparations for Creating Vendor Master Data* > *Create Number Ranges for Vendor Accounts*. The Edit Intervals: Vendor, Object KREDITOR initial screen is displayed (Figure 14-5).

=	> \$20	(1) 100 💽	6	- 🗗 ×
Edit Intervals: Vendor, Object KREDITOR				
✓ Overview Change Documents Configuration help More ✓				Exit
Number Range Object: KREDITOR Vendor Number Ranges				
6ò Intervals d' Intervals d' NR Status				

Figure 14-12. The Edit Intervals: Vendor, Object KREDITOR initial screen

On the *Edit Intervals: Vendor, Object KREDITOR* initial screen, click the Intervals button (circled in Figure 14-5). The *Edit Intervals: Vendor, Object DEBITOR* second screen comes up (Figure 14-12. This is the screen where you can maintain your vendor number ranges) displaying a list of number ranges already in the system. You have a number of options here. First, you can either decide to use an existing number range in the system by simplifying assigning it you're your vendor account group, or second, editing an existing number range and then assign it to your vendor number range or third, you can create your own vendor account group number range from scratch. The choice is entirely up to you. However, in this activity, we will be creating our own number ranges we will be assigning to our vendor account group.

Note The system will not allow number interval overlapping (for example, the number interval 01 is already in the system; therefore, we will not be able to use this number interval again). So, we must use a number that is not already in the system.

Click Insert Line function (This is the fourth item from the left top of the screen) on the *Edit Intervals: Vendor, Object KREDITOR* (Figure 14-6) to create addition line(s) for your number range intervals. You will notice that a blank line will be inserted at the top of the displayed list of number intervals in the system.

Since 03 number interval is not in the list of number intervals displayed in the system, we decided to use 03 as our number interval, as in Figure 14-13.

≡								> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 🔔 🖻 >
	SAP			Edit Intervals: Vendor	Object KRED	ITOR		
	~	Display <-> Change	Change number range status	Free Intervals Insert Line	Delete Line	Select All Intervals	Deselect All More V	Exit
	Number Range No.	From No.	To Number	NR Status	External			0
	13	020000000	0299999999	0				
	1	000000250	000000299	0	×			
	12	200000000	2999999999	200000019				
	0	0000090000	0000090004	90004				
	:3	0000050000	0000051000	50009				
	4	0000052000	0000052999	52044				
	iG	030000000	0300000444	0				
	M	300000000	300000666	0	~			
	G	100000000	1999999999	0	v			
	ox	ААААААААА	2222222222	0	×			
	1	0000003100	000003130	3109				
	м	400000000	400000066	0	v			
	5N	9000000000	99999999999	900000004				
-								
_					_			
								Save Check Cancel

Figure 14-13. Maintain number ranges for Vendor Account group

Update the following fields:

Number Range No.: Enter the number such 03 in this field. Number range sequence are maintained using two digits.

From No.: Enter a start number range such as 020000000 in this field.

To Number: Enter the end number range such as 02999999999 in this field.

Note You can create as many number range intervals as desired. The number range interval you define depends on your requirements.

Tip For more information on creating number ranges refer to Chapter 3 for a detailed explanation.

If you are having problem making your own number range intervals because of number range overlap. Skip this section and go to the next section – **Assign Number Ranges to Vendor Account Groups** below and assign any existing number range in the system to your vendor account groups. This action will allow you to carry on with your configuration.

Save your number range intervals.

Note The transport number range intervals screen will pop up. Ignore the message and confirm your number range intervals by clicking the enter button below.

You can create as many number range intervals as desired. The number range interval you can define depends on your client's requirement.

Assigning Number Ranges to Vendor Account Groups

Finally, in this activity on vendor account groups, you have to assign the number ranges you have created to your vendor account groups.

The system will automatically use the number range you have assigned to the vendor account group when you create a vendor account. The system does this by systematically selecting the next available number from the number range you have assigned. To assign a number range to a vendor account group, follow this menu path: *IMG Financial Accounting* > *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Vendor Accounts* > *Master Data* > *Preparations for Creating Vendor Master Data* > *Assign Number Ranges to Vendor Account Groups.* The *Change View "Assign Vendor Acct Groups >> Number Range:" Overview* screen is displayed. Search for your Vendor Account Group using the Position button at the bottom of the screen. In this activity, we used vendor account group – VC01-Domestic Vendor key and 03 as our number range interval.

Assign your number to your vendor Account Group, as in Figure 14-14.

=						> S20 (1) 100 📧 🙆	- 1	× E
<	SAP		Change View	"Assign Vendor Acco	unt Groups->Number Range*: Overview			
	✓ Undo Change Select Al	Select Block	Deselect All	Configuration Help	More ~	() ()	play E	bet
Group	Name	Number range						e
DV01	Domestic Vendor - C100	03	0					
EMPL	Employee as Supplier	xx						
EXV1	Vendor Group 1 - Ex13	xx						
FIOL	국내 Vendor Group	C3						
FI02	해외 Vendor Group	xx						
HOL	Handover Location Address							
HVPV	BP:High Value Purchase	xx						
ILVE	INDIA LOCAL VENDOR ELECTRICAL							114
ILVM	INDIAN LOCAL VENDOR MECH							10
KRED	Vendor (int.number assgnmnt)	C4						
LIEF	Vendor (ext.number assgnmnt)	xx						
MNFR	Manufacturer (ext.no.assgnmnt)	C4						
OSVE	OVERSEAS VENDOR ELECTRICAL							
OSVM	OVERSEAS VENDOR MECH							
PQV1	Domestic Vendors PQRC	C3						
PQV2	Forlegn Vendors PQRC	C4						
PQV3	Intercompany Vendors PQRC	C3						
REIS	Commercial traveller	C4						
SD	general vedor	xx						
SD SD	general vedor	XX Entry 2	6 of 64					
						S	ave Cr	an

Figure 14-14. Assign Number Range Intervals to Vendor Account Groups

Terms of Payment

Cash Discounts

It is a normal business practice for business partners to enter into some form of payment agreement that governs their business relationship on invoice payment and cash discounts awards. This type of agreement is referred to as Terms of Payment. Terms of Payment are conditions agreed with business partners for goods sold or services offered in relation to payment of invoices. The terms of payment defines invoice due date and cash discounts offered for payment of invoice within a specified period.

The terms of payment you defined during configuration are assigned to business partners' master record. Once terms of payment key is assigned to business partner's

master record, the system will automatically default the terms of payment during entry. Otherwise the user have to enter it manually.

The SAP system comes with pre-defined standard terms of payment that users can use, but it is also possible to create new terms of payment if necessary.

The purpose of terms of payment is to allow the system to determine invoice due date and cash discount to be awarded to business partner when specified conditions are met (i.e., prompt payment of invoice).



Figure 14-15. Terms of Payment flow

When customizing terms of payment, you need to define settings for the following items:

Payment Terms: This is a four-digit identifier key for payment terms. It determines the basis on which discount is granted. This includes the percentage rate used in the calculation of cash discount granted or received.

Day Limit: This is optional. The day limit is used to specify the calendar day that terms of payment are valid.

Account type: Specify whether payment terms relate to customer or vendor and allow the system to post business transactions to appropriate accounts.

Baseline Date: This covers the date for which the terms of payment applies. This is the date used by the system to determine the invoice due date. For the system to default baseline date for payment, you should specify the date to be used.

If you want the system to default a baseline date during document entry, you should set the appropriate indicator from a choice of three default dates:

- Document date.
- Document posting date.
- Document entry date.

On the contrary, if you want to enter the baseline date manually by yourself during document entry, set No default indicator.

Payment terms: The basis on which discount is granted. This includes the percentage rate used in the calculation of cash discount granted or received.

Let's see how terms of payment are maintained in the system.

Note It is advisable to use separate terms of payment for vendor and customer. This is important because changes may occur in customer payment terms which may not necessarily be relevant to the payment agreement with vendors.

Maintaining Terms of Payment (Customer)

Problem: Company C100 plc offers discounts to customers on the following Terms of payment:

- 1. 5% for immediate payment.
- 2. 2% for payment made within 15 days.
- 3. No discount for payment in 30 days.

As FI consultant, you are to specify these terms of payment in the system.

To maintain terms of payment for customers, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial* Accounting (New) ➤ Account Receivable and Accounts Payable ➤ Business Transaction ➤ Outgoing Invoices/Credit Memos ➤ Maintain Terms of Payment.

The *Change View "Terms of Payment": Overview* screen is displayed. Choose New Entries function at the top of the screen. This will take you to the *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen where you will carry out your terms of payment settings.

=	> \$20(1)	100 🕨	6 _	- 8	×
SAP New Entries: Details of Added Entries					
✓ Delete Previous Entry Next Entry More ✓		8	Display	Exit	
Payment terms: D001 Sales text: D0 Day Limit Own Explanation. D0 Account type Baseline date calculation					
Customer Fixed Day: Vendor Additional Months:					
Print block/print method default to roaseme date Block Key: Block Key: Document Date Payment Method: Document Date Payment terms					
Installment Payments Rec. Entrises: Supplement fm Master Term Percentage No. of Days / Fixed Day 1.: 5.000 %					
Explanations					1
Payable Immediately Due net					
Hide Entry in Input Help		_	Save	Can	cel

Figure 14-16. Screen where terms of payment are maintained

Using the data in Table 14-5 update the following fields.

Field Name or Data Type	Values	
Payment type	D001	
Account type		
Customer	Select	
Default to baseline date		
Posting date	Select	
Payment terms		
Term	Percentage	No. of days
1.	5%	Blank
2.	2%	10
3.		30

Table 14-5. Terms of Payment for Customers

Save your terms of payment.

Tip It is important to define separate terms of payment for Customer and Vendor because it is most unlikely that the terms of payment for customer and vendor will remain the same.

Payt Terms: This is defined using up to a maximum of four-digit key. This key is entered in the master records of customers/vendors.

Day Limit: Here you specify a given date of the month that you want the payment term to apply to a corresponding payment.

Own explanation: This is where you specify your own special description relating to your payment terms. The description you specify here will replace the system generated explanation by the system.

Account type: This will allow you to specify the account type that your payment term applies to. This could be either Customer or Vendor. It is also possible to set your payment term to both account types by selecting the checkbox for both Customer and Vendor, but we advise that you use one account type per payment term, as changes in one account type may not necessarily affect the other account type.

Default for baseline date: You have a number of options here that you can select from to use as the date applicable to the terms payment. The date you selected will be used by the system to determine permitted cash discount amount or invoice due date.

You have the choice of setting the baseline date for payment that the system will use as:

No default: You use No default if you do not want the system to default a date during document entry. This means during document entry the user has to manually specify the baseline date that is applicable to the terms of payment.

Document date: This is the date on the document or the date you entered during document entry as the document date.

Posting date: This is the date a document is posted or the date you specified as the posting date when posting a document.

Entry date: This is the date the document is entered into the system.

Payment terms: The specification done here will allow the system to award a cash discount if invoice amount is paid within specified days. For example, on immediate payment 5%, within 15 days 3% cash discount, and within 45 days due net.

When *Installment payment* is set. The system will automatically break the invoice amount into partial payments with different due dates specified in your customization.

Now define another terms of payment for Vendor

To maintain terms of payment for customers, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial* Accounting (New) ➤ Account Receivable and Accounts Payable ➤ Business Transaction ➤ Outgoing Invoices/Credit Memos ➤ Maintain Terms of Payment.

The *Change View "Terms of Payment": Overview* screen is displayed. Choose New Entries function at the top of the screen. This will take you to the *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen where you will carry out your terms of payment settings for vendor using the data in Table 14-6.

Field Name or Data Type	Values	
Payment Type	V001	
Account Type		
Customer	Select	
Default to baseline date		
Posting Date	Select	
Payment Terms		
Term	Percentage	No. of days
1.	5%	Blank
2.	3%	15
3.		45

Table 14-6. Define Terms of Payments for Vendors

Tip Select Vendor as your Account Type.

Save your term of payment.

Installment Plan

Another important aspect of payment terms is the installment plan. This is the payment terms where business partners agree for an invoice amount payment to be spread out systematically over a specified period. The total invoice amount is divided into partial amounts and paid at different dates until the invoice amount is cleared or paid off in full. For example, your company agrees with a customer to pay 20% of an invoice amount of \$4000 USD monthly over a five-month period. Thus, the installment plan will allow your company to receive \$800 USD monthly for the agreed five-month period until the amount is paid in full.
When customizing an installment payment plan, you specify the following terms:

- The number of installments for your payment terms. This is the number of payments needed to pay off the outstanding amount.
- The percentage rate that will be applied to clear the outstanding invoice amount (the percentage rate specified must be equal to 100%).
- Define the terms of payment for individual instalments for each percentage rate applicable to your installment plan.

The system will automatically carry out the instalment split once instalment payment is defined in the system and assigned to the business partner's master record. Secondly, the system will also create a line item for each instalment automatically.

Problem: You have been asked to create a terms of payment for an installment plan, where 10% of the invoice amount is paid immediately, 40% is paid within 60 days, and the balance is paid within 90 days.

Maintaining Terms of Payment for an Installment Plan

Maintaining Terms of Payment may seem to be a complicated exercise, but this is not truly so. To help you understanding how to customize terms of payment for your instalment plan, we have decided to break this activity into a sequence using steps 1–4.

To go to the screen where you will maintain your terms of payment for an installment plan, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* ➤ *Business Transaction* ➤ *Incoming Invoices/Credit Memos* ➤ *Maintain Terms of Payment. The Change View "Rem of Payment": Overview* screen is displayed.

Choose the New Entries button; this will take you to the *New Entries: Detail of Added Entries* screen where you will carry out your terms of payment settings.

Define terms of payment for your instalment plan using a suitable four-character identification key.

Update the screen, as in Figure 14-17.

≡ > S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗃 🗙 < SAP New Entries: Details of Added Entries V Delete Previous Entry Next Entry More V Display Exit Peyment terms D010 Sales text Dey Limit Own Explanation: 10% Payable immediately, 40% in 50 days & 50% ount type Baseline date calculation æ Account type Customer Fixed Day: Vendor Additional Months: Pmnt block/pmnt method default Default for baseline date Block Key: Payment Method: Document Date Posting Date Entry Date Payment terms Installment Payments Rec Entries: Supplement fm Master Term Percentage No. of Days / Fixed Day Additional Months s x 1.: 2.: 3.: Explanations Payable immediately Due net Hide Entry in Input Help

CHAPTER 14 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Figure 14-17. The initial where Installment plan is maintained

Using the information in Table 14-7 below, update the following fields:

Field Name or Data Type	Values	
Payment Terms	D010	
Own Explanation	10% Payable immediately, 40% in 60 days & 50%	
Account Type		
Customer	Select	
Default to baseline date		
Posting Date	Select	
Payment Terms		
Term	Percentage	No. of days
1.		
2.		
3.		

Table 14-7. The Data to Update the Payment Terms

Payment Terms: Enter four-characters. This key allows you to store payment conditions in your payment terms and identify your terms of payment when you have more than one terms of payment in the system. In this activity, we used DC01 as our payment terms (this is a freely defined key). The terms of payment you have defined here is applicable to all terms of payment. We will be looking at this in depth in the next activity when defining payment terms.

Own Explanation: Describe the payment terms for your installment plan. Enter the description in this field.

Account Type: Specify the account type you want to apply to your payment terms. Since you are maintaining payment terms for your customers, click the Customer checkbox.

Default to Baseline Date: The date you select here will determine the default baseline date. In this activity, we used the posting date as our baseline date. Activate the Posting Date checkbox.

Terms: Specify the terms, percentage rates, and number of days for your payment terms. For this activity, leave this section blank.

At this stage, save your terms of payment.

We advise that you follow the steps in this exercise carefully, without trying to jump a step, unless you are quite good in this area.

The next step in this activity is to define individual payment terms for each percentage rate you are using as a basis of instalment payment. In this exercise, you will be defining payment terms for 10%, 50%, and 40%, respectively.

Tip Your total payment terms percentage rate must be equal to 100%.

Click Next Entry at the top of the screen to go to another blank *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen.



Using the information in Table 14-8, update the following fields.

Field Name or Data Type	Values	
Payment Type	P010	
Own Explanation	10% Payable Immediately	
Account Type		
Customer	Select	
Default to baseline date		
Posting Date	Select	
Payment Terms		
Installment Payment	Select	
Term	Percentage	No. of days
1.		
2.		
3.		

Table 14-8. The Data to Update the Payment Terms – Step 1

Save your terms of payment.



Define payment terms for no. of days - 60 days.

Click Next Entry at the top of the screen to go to another blank *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen.

Update the following fields using the information in Table 14-9.

Field Name or Data Type	Values	
Payment Type	P040	
Account Type		
Customer	Select	
Default to baseline date		
Posting Date	Select	
Payment Terms		
Term	Percentage	No. of days
1.		60
2.		
3.		

Table 14-9. The Data to Update the Payment Terms – Step 2

Save your terms of payment.



Define payment terms for no. of days - 90 days.

Click Next Entry at the top of the screen to go to another blank *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen.

Update the following fields using the information in Table 14-10.

Field Name or Data Type	Values	
Payment Type	P050	
Account Type		
Customer	Select	
Default to baseline date		
Posting Date	Select	
Payment Terms		
Term	Percentage	No. of days
1.		90
2.		
3.		

Table 14-10. The Data to Update the Payment Terms - Step 3

Payt Terms: Enter a four-character key – P050.

Own explanation: Enter a description for your instalment plan – 50% payable in 90 days

Account type: Set customer indicator.

Default for baseline date: Set Posting date indicator.

Save your terms of payment.

Now let's define Instalment Payments for the Terms of Payment you created above.

Defining the Payment Terms for Instalment Payments

To define the payment terms for installment payments, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* → *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* → *Business Transaction* → *Incoming Invoices/Credit Memos* → *Define Terms of Payment for Instalment Payments.* The *Change View Terms of Payment for Holdback/Retainage" Overview* screen is displayed. Click the New Entries button at the top of the screen. The *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen is displayed. Use the search function to call up the *Terms of Payment* list.

Search for the installment plan and terms of payment you have created above and use them to update the fields in the *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen (Figure 14-18) using the information in Table 14-11.

Terms of payment	Installment	Percent	Payment term
D010	1	10	P010
D010	2	40	P040
D010	3	50	P050

 Table 14-11.
 The Data to Update the Payment Terms



Figure 14-18. Setting up payment terms for Installment payments

Save your terms of payment.

Defining Cash Discount Base for Incoming Invoices

A cash discount base is calculated either as net value or gross value depending on your country's regulation.

The specification you make in this activity per company code will determine whether tax amount is considered in the base amount calculation for cash discount by the system. To go to the screen where you will specify your cash discount base for incoming invoices, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* ➤ *Business Transaction* ➤ *Incoming Invoices/Credit Memos* ➤ *Define Cash Discount Base for Incoming Invoices.*

The *Change View "Cash Discount Base": Overview* screen is displayed. Use the scroll bar at the right side of the screen search for your Company Code or you can use the Position button at the bottom of the screen to search for your company code.

			> S20 (1) 100 💌 👘	- 0 3
< 5	AP		Change View "Cash Discount Base": Overview	
	Vindo Change	Select All Select Block Deselect All	Configuration Help More ∨	ay Exit
CoCd Co	ompany Name	City Disc	BaseNt	Θ
C100 Spc	ioxio Inc	New Jersey		
CA01 Cou	ountry Template CA	Canada		
CA98 Car	anada Company+	Canada		
CA99 Cou	ountry Template CA	Canada		
CEU1 FO	RMACION SAP SL	Spain		1
CH01 Co	ountry Template CH	Switzerland		
CLO1 Co	ountry Template CL	Chile		
CN01 Cou	ountry Template CN	China		
C001 Cos	ountry Template CO	Colombia		
COPY Cop	ppy from CC.0001	(Only G/L accounts B-seg)		
COZ1 Zat	beel SAP Training	Dubai		
COZI zab	beel company in India	mumbal		
CZ01 Cos	ountry Template CZ	Czech Republic		
DE01 Cou	ountry Template DE	Germany		
DE02 Cou	ountry Template DE	Germany		
DJIC Dat	ita Company	France	×	
DK01 Cou	ountry Template DK	Denmark	4	
EF10 Hyg	giene Corp	Atlanta		
EG01 Cou	ountry Template Egypt	Cairo		
EMC1 Cor	mpany EMA	FRANCE		

Figure 14-19. Cash Discount Base for Incoming Invoices

Activate The DiscBaseNt checkbox. Save your cash discount base. **Note** By **selecting Discount Base Net** checkbox, you are instructing the system to calculate your cash discount excluding taxes (net value). If the check box is left blank, the system will automatically assume that you want your cash discount amount to be based on gross value. This is part of the global parameter settings in your company code.

Incoming Invoices Credit Memos /Credit Memos – Enjoy

Enjoy Transaction

SAP system has now eliminated the redundancies of having to enter invoices and credit memos in FI from several screens to a single screen that incorporates the enjoy initiative. As a result of this facility, document entry and credit memos from a single screen is now easier and quicker. This has the advantage of:

- Single screen transaction (this allows you to enter, park and, hold a document on a single screen without loss of context).
- User-friendly interfaces.

Defining Document Types for Enjoy Transaction

You define document types for enjoy transactions, which is defaulted by the system when entering incoming invoices and credit memos for customer and vendor. If you did not define a document type, the system will automatically propose the document type that was used in the previous document entry. You can overwrite the proposed document type. Follow this menu path to go to the screen where you will define document types for enjoy transaction: *IMG: Financial Accounting Account Receivable and Accounts Payable Business Transaction Incoming Invoices/ Credit Memos Incoming Invoices/Credit Memos* – *Enjoy Define Document Types for Enjoy Transaction.* The *Change View Document Types for Enjoy Transaction Overview* screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top of the screen. Update the *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen using the information in Figure 14-20. The settings carried out here will allow the system to automatically propose a document type during document entry.

≡									> \$20(1)	100 🕨 🖟	- 1	ð ×
	SAP				New Entrie	s: Overview of	Added Entries					
É		✓ Delete Sele	ct All Select Bloc	k Deselect All C	onfiguration Help	More ~				@ D	splay E	Exit
Do	cument Types for	Enjoy Transactions										0
C	o Acct type	Trans.	Documen	tt								
	100 Customers	~ Invoice	V DR									8.
	100 Customers	Credit mer	no v DG									
	100 Vendors	 Invoice Credit res 	V KR	7.01								
H	100 Vendors	v create ner		,9								
		~	~									
		~	~									
		~	~									
		~	~									
		~	~									
		~	~									
		~	~									
		~	~									
		~	~									
		~	\sim									
		~	~									
		~	~									
		~	~									
		~	~									
		+≣ Position.		Entry 0 of 0								
-	_				_	_	_	 		_	_	_
											Save C	ancel

Figure 14-20. Document types for Enjoy Transaction

Update the following fields:

Company: Enter your company code (100) in this field. This will apply the settings to your company code.

Acct Type: Enter the account type you want the system to use as the default during document entry. For example, Customers/Vendors.

Trans.: Using the pull-down arrow next to the field to display the predefined transactions list supplied by SAP, enter the transaction description that fits the account type you want to apply the default setting to.

Document: Enter the document type to use as the default. For example:

DR-Invoice (Customers) DG-Credit Memo (Customers KR-Invoice (Vendors) KG-Credit Memo (Vendors) Save your work.

Defining Tax Code per Transaction

This setting in the Define Tax Code per Transaction section allows you to select a subset from the tax codes (Tax codes where created in chapter 10). As part of this definition, you specify a tax code per transaction and per country key and then you can select a subset from the defined tax codes in the system during document entry. To define tax code per transaction, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting Account Receivable and Accounts Payable Business Transaction Incoming Invoices/Credit Memos Incoming Invoices/Credit Memos* – *Enjoy Define Tax Code per Transaction*.

The Country Entry dialog box pops up. Enter your country code in the Country Key field (in this activity, we used US) and click enter at the bottom right of the dialog box. The Change View "Tax Code Selection for Transactions": Overview screen is displayed. This is the initial screen where you will define tax code per transaction. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to the New Entries: Overview Added Entries screen (Figure 14-21) where you will perform your specifications.

Interactions Interactions<	≡									> \$20 (1)	100 🕨	6 -	- 8 ×
✓ Deeles SelectAl Sevect Block DeselectAl Configuration Help More ✓		< SAP				New Entrie	s: Overview of	Added Entries					
Tax Code Selection for Transactions Initial T. Transactin Initial 12 Financial Accounting outgoing. • I 02 Financial Accounting involves rev I Relevant for all transactions • I Relevant for all		✓ Delete	Select All	Select Block	Deselect All	Configuration Help	More 🗸				÷	Display	Exit
Tax Code Selection for Transactions Initial T. Transach Initial IZ Financial Accounting outpoing. I IZ Financial Accounting involves ref. I Relevant for all transactions v I Relevant for all tr												_	
T. Trensach initial IP Financial Accounting outgoing ~ Relevant for all transactions ~	Tax	Code Selection for Transaction	ns										0
12 Financial Accounting outgoing. 02 Financial Accounting involventer Relevant for all transactions	Т	Transactn		Initial									
U2 Interscipil Accounting Sinvoice revel Relevant for all transactions Image: Sinvoice revel Releva		2 Financial Accounting ou	tgoing. ~										
Relevant for all transactions Relevant for al		2 Financial Accounting in	voice re~										
Relevant for all transactions Relevant for al		Relevant for all transa	ictions v										
Relevant for all transactions Relevant for al		Relevant for all transa	ctions v										
Relevant for all transactions Relevant for al		Relevant for all transa	ctions ~										
Relevant for all transactions Relevant for al		Relevant for all transa	ctions 🗸										
Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ictions v										
Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ctions v										
Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ctions 🗸										
Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ictions v										
Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ctions v										
Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ctions v										
Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ictions v										
Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ictions v										
Relevant for all transactions Relevant for all transactions Relevant for all transactions Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ctions v										
Relevant for all transactions Relevant for all transactions Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ctions ~										
Relevant for all transactions Relevant for all transactions		Relevant for all transa	ctions 🗸										
Relevant for all transactions v		Relevant for all transa	ctions 🗸										
		Relevant for all transa	ctions v										
			Position		Entry 0 of 0								
-E Position Entry 0 of 0													
- Position Entry 0 of 0			_			_						Sava	Cancel
-== Postton Entry 0 of 0							- 101					Jare	Gancel

Figure 14-21. Specifying tax codes per transaction

Update the following fields:

Tax Code: Enter your output tax code in the first field and input tax code in the next field.

Transaction: Enter the transaction for your tax code in this field. For example, for output tax, select Financial Accounting outgoing and for input tax, select Financial Accounting Invoice.

Save your setting for tax code per transaction.

Cash Discount Cash Discount Granted

This is the cash discount you give to a customer for complying with an agreed terms of payment. Discount granted reduces the total invoice amount by an agreed percentage of the total invoice amount. Based on the settings you made in this activity, when clearing open items, the system will post cash discount granted to the accounts you defined for cash discount granted.

Note We advise that you should first create the G/L account 880000 that cash discount granted will be posted to before proceeding with this customizing. Please refer to Chapter 5 where we covered in detail how to customize G/L accounts.

Defining Accounts for Cash Discount Granted.

Cash discount granted is the cash discount you give to a customer for complying with agreed terms of payment. The cash discount granted reduces the total invoice amount by an agreed percentage. Based on the settings you make in this activity; the system will post discount granted amount to the G/L account you assigned to cash discount granted. Use this menu path to go to the screen where you will assign a G/L account for cash discount granted: *IMG: Financial Accounting* → *Account Receivable and Accounts* Payable → Business Transaction → Incoming Payments – Incoming Payments Global Settings → Define Accounts for Cash Discount Granted.

The *Enter Chart of Accounts* dialog box pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts – CA10 in the *Chart of Accounts* field and click the enter button at the bottom right of the dialog box.

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules* screen is displayed. Click the Save bottom at the bottom left of the screen. The *Configuration*

Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts screen is displayed. Assign the GL Account for Clearing Cash discount Granted – **880000** to Automatic Posting – Accounts and Save your work.

Note If you have not created a G/L Account for Cash Discount Granted, the system will notify you on the status bar below that your G/L account is not created in the chart of accounts. You can force the system to accept the G/L account temporarily and you can create the G/L account later by hitting the enter key on your keyboard several times and the system will allow you to save your configuration.

Define Account for Cash Discount Taken

This is the cash discount you receive from a vendor for complying with payment conditions. Discount taken will reduce the total invoice amount by an agreed percentage of the total invoice amount. Based on the settings you made in this activity, when clearing open items, the system will post cash discount taken to the accounts you defined for cash discount taken.

Note Again, just like Cash Discount Granted above, create the appropriate G/L account – 276000 for cash discount taken.

Use this menu path to go to the screen where you will assign a G/L account for cash discount taken: *IMG: Financial Accounting* → *Account Receivable and Accounts* Payable → Business Transaction → Outgoing Payments → Outgoing Payments Global Settings → Define Accounts for Cash Discount Taken.

The *Enter Chart of Accounts* dialog box pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts – CA10 in the *Chart of Accounts* field and click the enter button at the bottom right of the dialog box.

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules* screen is displayed. Click the Save bottom at the bottom left of the screen. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts* screen is displayed. Assign the GL Account for Clearing Cash discount taken – **276000** to Automatic Posting – Accounts and Save your work. The system will notify you on the status bar at the bottom of the screen that changes have been made.

Defining Account for Overpayments/Underpayments

This allows the system to make postings to revenue and expense accounts if the following conditions are present:

- Payment difference arises as a result of either overpayment or underpayment.
- It is not possible to post difference through cash discount adjustment.
- The difference falls within tolerance limits for an automatic adjustment posting.

Note Again, just like Cash Discount Granted above, create the appropriate G/L account – 276000 for Account for overpayments/underpayments

Use this menu path to go to the screen where you will assign a G/L account for Accounts for overpayments/underpayments: *IMG: Financial Accounting* Account Receivable and Accounts Payable > Business Transaction > Outgoing Payments > Outgoing Payments Global Settings > Define Accounts for Overpayments/ Underpayments..

The *Enter Chart of Accounts* dialog box pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts – CA10 in the *Chart of Accounts* field and click the enter button at the bottom right of the dialog box.

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules* screen is displayed. Click the Save bottom at the bottom left of the screen. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts* screen is displayed. Assign the GL Account for Clearing overpayments/underpayments – **881000** to Automatic Posting – Accounts and Save your work. The system will notify you on the status bar at the bottom of the screen that changes have been made.

Defining Accounts for Bank Charges (Vendor)

Bank Charges are posted to an expense account. Here you define the account for bank charges and assign an expense account to it. The system will then automatically post bank charges to your expense account during posting.

Note Create the G/L Account for Bank Charges (vendor) before proceeding with this customizing. Otherwise, you can force the system to accept the G/L account you are using for this activity and then create it later.

Again, just like Cash Discount Granted above, create the appropriate G/L account – 276000 for Account for overpayments/underpayments.

To go to the screen where you will assign a G/L account for Accounts for Bank Charges (Vendor) follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* ➤ *Business Transaction* ➤ *Outgoing Payments* ➤ *Outgoing Payments Global Settings* ➤ *Define Accounts for Bank Charges (Vendor).*

The *Enter Chart of Accounts* dialog box pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts – CA10 in the *Chart of Accounts* field and click the enter button at the bottom right of the dialog box.

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules* screen is displayed. Click the Save bottom at the bottom left of the screen. *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts* screen is displayed. Assign the GL Account for Clearing Bank Charges – **470100** to Automatic Posting – Accounts and save your work. The system will notify you at the status bar at the bottom of the screen that changes have been made.

Defining Payment Block Reasons

When defining reasons for blocking payments, there are a few specifications you need to consider. You can specify whether payment blocks can be changed in payment proposals or during manual payment. You can also specify whether documents defined with block keys can be cleared during manual payment processing or if changes are not allowed.

The reasons you define in this exercise allow you to differentiate why invoices are not to be paid. Standard block reasons are supplied by SAP, which you can use if you do not want to define your own.

Payment block reasons are valid for all company codes. This means all company codes within the client or in the system can use the payment block reasons in the system without having to define payment block reasons that are company code specific. When customizing payment block reasons, you need to update the following fields:

Block Ind.: This is a block indicator key that is defined with a one-digit character key. This key contains reasons for blocking payments. It's entered in a document to block an invoice from being paid for a specified reason.

Description: Enter a short description stating why this payment is being blocked.

Block Indicators: Allows you to specify how you want the payment block reason you defined to function. You have three options to choose from:

Change in Payment Proposal: When you want changes to be carried out during the payment proposal. It is possible to remove a payment block when processing the payment proposal, but when you set this proposal, changes cannot be made during payment proposal processing.

Manual Payment Block: If you do not want documents assigned with a block key to be cleared during manual payment clearing, then choose this option.

Not Changeable: Changes cannot be made during payment proposal processing or during manual payment.

This step allows us to define the reason for blocking invoice(s) for payment. Standard block reasons are supplied which you can use. It is also possible to define additional block reasons if there is any need for it.

Note Since Payment block reasons are valid for all company code, you can use block reasons already defined in the system.

Now let's define a payment block reason. Follow this menu path to go to the screen where you will define payment block reasons: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Business Transaction* > *Outgoing Payments* > *Outgoing Payments Global Settings* > *Payment Block Reasons* > *Define Payment Block Reasons*.

The *Change View Payment Block Reasons Overview* screen is displayed, click New Entries at the top of the screen and the *New Entries: overview of added Entries* screen is displayed (Figure 14-22).

≡					> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 🔔 🔁 🗙
< SA	2		New Entries: Ov	erview of Added Entries	
		CTAIL Select Block Desel	ect All Configuration Help Mor	· ·	Gy Display Exit
Block Ind.	Description	Change in Pmnt Prop.	Manual Payments Block	Not Changeable	0
C	Further Verification	v			
		of Decision			
		-E POBLOD.			
					Save Cancel

Figure 14-22. Defining payment block reasons

Update the following fields:

Block Ind.: Enter your payment block reason key in this field. This is usually defined using a single-digit character. In this exercise, we used K as our payment block reason key for illustration purposes. This key is a freely definable payment block reason key. You can use any key of your choice.

Description: Enter a meaningful short statement describing your payment block reason. As an example, we used Payment Block C900 as our payment block reason. You can use any meaningful description of your choice.

Change in Pmnt Prop.: When you select the change in payment proposal checkbox, the payment block cannot be removed during an automatic payment program run. Save your block reason.

Manual Outgoing Payments

The settings you carry out here allow end users to manually post vendor payment and clear open items on vendor's account. In order for end users to be able to perform manual outgoing payments in the system, you will need to carry out settings in the following areas in your configuration:

- Tolerances for vendors.
- Reason codes for manual outgoing payments.
- Define account for payment differences.

Defining Tolerances for Vendors

In SAP S4 HANA FI, three tolerance groups are maintained:

- Employees Tolerance Group,
- GL Accounts Tolerance Group, and
- Customers/Vendors Tolerance Group.

Tolerances define acceptable tolerance during posting. Tolerance provides the control mechanism that allows management to restrict the amount accounting clerks are permitted to post. It also serves as a control measure for discounts granted, payment differences, and tolerances for payment advice.

The advantage of setting tolerances is to impose restrictions to avoid major posting errors by clerks or end users.

You have already covered Employees Tolerance Groups and GL Accounts Tolerance Groups earlier in Chapter 9. Hence, you will only be looking at Customers/Vendors Tolerance groups. The settings in this activity are valid for both customers and vendors tolerance groups.

As part of your configuration exercise, you will provide specifications for the following items:

- Clearing transactions.
- Permitted payment differences.
- Posting residual items from payment differences.
- Tolerances for payment advice notes.

The following settings are necessary for Tolerance Groups (Vendor) configuration:

1. *Tolerance group*: This is defined with a four-digit group key (group key is defined with a four-digit ID).

Note Blank group key is the standard tolerance group, and it is required as the minimum tolerance group.

2. Once the tolerance group is defined, you then assign it to the right object. In this activity, your tolerance group will be assigned to the Vendor/Customer master record.

Problem: You have been asked by your team leader to create two tolerance groups – one with a group key and the second one without a group key – to satisfy the minimum tolerance group requirements

First, let's define tolerance group with ID:

Follow this menu path: IMG: Financial Accounting ➤ Account Receivable and Accounts Payable ➤ Business Transaction ➤ Outgoing Payments ➤ Manual Outgoing Payments ➤ Define Tolerances (vendors).

The *Change View Customer/Vendor Tolerances Overview* screen is displayed. Click New Entries, the second item at the top left of the screen, and the *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen (Figure 14-23) comes up.

≡		> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗗 🗙
< SAP	New Entries: Details of Ad	ded Entries
V Delet	te Previous Entry Next Entry More 🗸	양 Display Ext:
Company Code: C100 Currency: Tolerance Group: ACC1 Specifications for Clearing Transar Grace Days Due Date: Arrears Base Date:	ctions Cash Discount Terms Displayed:	
Permitted Payment Differences		
Amount Rev.: 100 Loss: 100 Permitted Payment Differences fo	Percent Adjust Discount By 5 % 2 5 % 2 r Automatic Write-Off (Function Code AD)	
Amount Rev.:	Percent X	
Specifications for Posting Residua	I Items from Payment Differences	
Payment Term from Involce Only Grant Partial Cash Disc Dunning Ke	Fixed Payment Term:	
		Save Cancel

Figure 14-23. Defining tolerance group

Update the following fields in the New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen:

Company code: Enter the four-digits of your company identification key is in this field.

Currency: This is your Company Code Currency. The system will automatically default your company code currency during document entry.

Tolerance group: This is defined with a four-digit ID as your tolerance group key. This ID will be assigned to your tolerance group relating to vendors.

In the Permitted Payment Difference section of the screen, update the following fields:

Rev/Loss: The permitted payment differences that a user is permitted to post in Amount and in percentage are entered in these fields, respectively. When posting a document, the system will check the amount and the percentage of the document

amount posted and use whichever is lower. You also need to specify the Discount adjustment allowed.

Adjust Discount By: Specify the discount adjustment allowed.

Using the information in Table 14-12, update *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen:

Company Code	npany Code Enter our company code (C100)					
Currency						
Tolerance Group	CLK1					
Permitted Payment Differences	Amount	Percent	Adjust Discount By			
Gain	100	5	2			
Loss	100	5	2			

Table 14-12. Data to update your tolerance group with ID

Save your tolerance group.

The second step in this activity is to create another tolerance group without a tolerance group ID.

Note Since you have created a group key for Customer/Vendor tolerances, you also need to create a blank group key, which is for the minimum standard tolerance group.

Follow this menu path to go to the screen where you will define tolerance group without an ID for minimum standard tolerance group: *IMG: Financial Accounting Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* ➤ *Business Transaction* ➤ *Outgoing Payments* ➤ *Manual Outgoing Payments* ➤ *Define Tolerances (vendors).*

The *Change View Customer/Vendor Tolerances Overview* screen is displayed, click New Entries the second item at the top left of the screen, the *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen (Figure 14-24) comes up.

≡		> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 🔔 🗃 🗙
< SAP	New Entries: Details of Added Entries	
	vete Previous Entry Next Entry More ~	😨 Display Exit
Company Code: C100 Currency: Tolerance Group: Specifications for Clearing Trans Grace Days Due Data: Arrears Base Data:	5% Sactions Cash Discount Terms Displayed:	
Permitted Payment Differences		
Amount Rev.: 100 Loss: 100	Percent Adjust Discount By	
Amount	Percent	
Rev.:	x x	
Specifications for Posting Residu	ual Items from Payment Differences	
Payment Term from Invoice Only Grant Partial Cash Disc Dunning	Fixed Payment Term:	
		Save Cancel

Figure 14-24. Defining the standard minimum tolerance group (with a group ID)

Company code: Enter the four-digits of your company identification key in this field.

Currency: This is your Company Code Currency. The system will automatically default your company code currency during document entry.

Tolerance group: Leave this field blank

In the Permitted Payment Difference section of the screen, update the following fields:

Rev/Loss: The permitted payment differences that a user is permitted to post in Amount and in percentage are entered in these fields, respectively. When posting a document, the system will check the amount and the percentage of the document amount posted and use whichever is lower. You also need to specify the Discount adjustment allowed.

Adjust Discount By: Specify the discount adjustment allowed.

Using the information in Table 14-13, update the *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen:

Company Code	Enter our company code (C100)		
Currency			
Tolerance Group	Leave blank		
Permitted Payment Differences	Amount	Percent	Adjust Discount By
Gain	100	5	2

Table 14-13. Data to update your tolerance group without ID

Save your standard minimum tolerance group

Defining Reason Codes (Manual Outgoing Payments)

Payment differences would normally arise when clearing open items against payments. The difference is compared to the tolerance limit allocated to the employee making the posting. If the difference is deemed to be immaterial, the payment is done automatically and the system will adjust the cash discount up to the amount specified in the configuration for cash discount adjustment or the system can write it off to a special account. Otherwise, the payment has to be processed manually.

If payment difference is outside the tolerance limit, such payment has to be processed manually, in one of the following ways as:

- **Partial Payment:** You enter the partial payment against the open item and assign a reason code. When a partial payment is posted, all documents remain in the account as open items.
- **Residual Item:** You assign the residual item and assign reason code. The system will clear the original net amount and the payment, whilst the residual item remains in the account as open item.
- Payment on account: All item remains as open items.

Reason Codes

There are several reasons for payment differences. It is important to specify reasons for payment differences when posting partial payments or residual items. SAP has the flexibility to assign more than one reason codes to a payment difference. To do this click on distribute difference push button option on the top right hand side of the payment screen.

Reason code is part of overpayment/underpayment. It is defined per company code. You specify which correspondence type is assigned to the following items when posting payment and clearing open items manually:

- Partial Payments.
- Residual Posting.
- Posting on account.

By setting further indicators during configuration you can include the following optional functions to your reason code:

- **Charge off Difference:** When this indicator is set for a reason code, the payment difference arising will be posted to a separate GL account automatically.
- **Disputed Item:** The Disputed item indicator allows disputed items to be excluded from credit checks.
- **Do not copy text:** When this indicator is set, you will have to enter reason code text into the segment text field of the residual item or the partial payment manually. If the indicator is not set, the system will automatically copy the reason code text you defined in your configuration into the segment text of residual item or partial payment.

Let's go to the screen where you will customize reason codes for your manual outgoing payments. Follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > Account Receivable and Accounts Payable > Business Transaction > Outgoing Payments > Manual Outgoing Payments > Overpayment/Underpayment > Define Reason Codes (Manual Outgoing Payments).

The *Determine Work Area: Entry* dialog box pops up. Enter your Company Code in the *Work Area* field (in this activity, we used C100 as our company code). Click enter (the green circle button at the bottom of the dialog box). A warning screen pops up telling you that "All fields which define the area have initial value". Ignore the warning and click the Continue button, which is the top button on the screen. The *Change View Classification of Payment Differences Overview* screen is displayed. Click New Entries (this is the first item from the left at the top of the screen) to call-up *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen where you will define your reason codes.

≡					> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 💶 🗃 🗙
<	SAP		New Entries: O	verview of Added Entries	
	√ Del	lete Select All Select Block Deselect All C	onfiguration Help Mc	re 🗸	😨 Display Exit
	Company Code:				
	The Para Test	Long Test	Care	0004	
D	IG Damaged good	Damaged coods - Disputed	SAP01	CODX	Ĭ
	C Unallowed cash	Cash discount period exceeded	SAP 50		
			4		
	_				
		+E Position En	try 0 of 0		
					Save Cancel

Figure 14-25. Assigning reason codes to manual outgoing payments

1. Update the following fields:

RCd: Enter a three-digit character code in this field. It represents your reason code. This code will allow you to store text and the correspondence type for your reason code.

Short Text: Enter a short description of your reason code in this field. For example, in this exercise, we used Damaged Goods.

Long Text: Enter a full description of your reason code in this field. For example, we used Damaged Goods – Disputed.

CorrT: Specify the correspondence type for your reason code in this field. SAP comes with standard predefined correspondence types you can choose from.

Click the pull-down arrow next to the Correspondence Type field to display the list of correspondence types supplied by SAP. Select the correspondence type that best meets your requirement. For example, the code for payment notice with line items is SAP01 and the code for difference 050 payment notice is SAP50.

Note SAP01 – Payment notice with line items.

SAP50 – Difference 050 Payment notice.

You can create as many reason codes as you want. We advise that you take a look at the reason codes for company code 1000 before defining your own reason codes.

Save your reason codes.

The next step is to define accounts for Payment Differences (Manual Outgoing Payments). The settings you make will allow the system to automatically post payment differences to the accounts you specify.

Defining Accounts for Payment Differences (Manual Outgoing Payments)

Payment differences are posted to a special account in SAP S4 HANA. In this activity, you assign payment differences by reason to your G/L account. You have already created the GL account required for this configuration. Your payment difference will be assigned to unallowed customer discounts and a G/L Account.

Note You have already created the G/L account (Unallocated Customer Discount 881000) required for this customizing in a previous activity. So you don't need to define it again; all you need to do is simply assign it to the payment differences.

To assign your account to payment difference, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Business Transaction* > *Outgoing Payments* > *Manual Outgoing Payments* > *Overpayment/ Underpayment* > *Define Accounts for Payment Differences (Manual Outgoing Payments).*

The *Enter Chart of Accounts* dialog box pops up. Enter your chart of account ID in the Chart of Accounts field and click the Continue button at the bottom right of the screen. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules* screen is displayed. Click save at the bottom right of the screen and the Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts screen is displayed (Figure 14-26). This is the screen where you will assign a G/L Account to your payment differences reason.

=		> S20 (1) 100 🗵 🔞 📃 🗗	×
<	SAP	Configuration Accounting Maintain - Automatic Posts - Accounts	
	Celete Posting Key Rules More ~	Ext	
	Chart of Accounts: CA10 Chart of Accounts - C100 Transaction: Z01 Peyment differences by reason		
Account as	signment		
Account		0	
[559/0004]	a		
		Save Terminat	•

Figure 14-26. Account determination for automatic posting of payment differences

Enter the appropriate GL account for payment differences in the *Account* field and save your work.

Automatic Outgoing Payments

Automatic Outgoing Payments is a payment management tool in the SAP S4 HANA system that manages payments of multiple open invoices, posts payment documents, and prints payment media using EDI (Electronic Data Interchange) or DME (Date Medium Exchange) simultaneously.

Payment Program can be accessed from the User Side (Easy Access) and IMG. It is recommended that you perform your configuration in IMG. It is very important that you work from top down during configuration to ensure that your settings are complete. Several levels and steps are involved when customizing a payment program in SAP S4 HANA.

Payment program configuration allows you to specify the settings for the following items for Payment Transactions:



Ok let's begin Automatic Payment Program configuration.

All Company Codes

Specifying the company code you want to include in your automatic payment program is important when the payment process is centralized. For example, when one company code makes payments for other company codes. At this level, you make settings for all the company codes that you want to include in your payment program. **Note** All Company Codes are the company codes you want to include in your payment transactions.

The following specifications are essential for All Company Code configurations:

- The paying company code (this is the company code responsible for processing outgoing payments). This setting is applicable where payments are made centrally by one company code for several company codes.
- The Sending Company code (the company code payment is being made on its behalf to a business partner by another company code).
 If the sending company is not specified, the system will automatically assume that the paying company is also the sending company.
- You can specify if Separate payment per business area is to be made and use payment method supplements.
- If your business partner normally allows certain days of grace for invoice payment, you can enter it in *Tolerance days payable* field. The system will automatically delay payment of the appropriate due items until the next payment run as long as it is within the allowed days of grace in order not to lose cash discounts.
- You can also specify Special GL transactions for vendors and customers settlement using the following special GL indictors from the pull-down lists supplied by SAP in the system (see List below).

Indicators	Description
3	< Text missing >
7	Down payment for current assets
9	Down payment request
А	Down payment on current assets
В	Financial assets down payment
D	Discount
E	Unchecked invoice
F	Down payment request
G	Guarantee received
Н	Security deposit
1	Intangible asset down payment
М	Tangible asset down payment
0	Amortization down payment
Р	Payment request
S	Check/bill of exchange
V	Stocks down payment
w	Bill of exch. (rediscountable)
x	< Text missing >
Z	Dwn Pmt for Order/Project

To set up all company code codes for your payment transactions, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Business Transaction* > *Outgoing Payments* > *Automatic Outgoing Payments* > *Payment Method/Bank Selection for Payment Program* > *Set Up All Company Codes for Payment Transactions.*

The *Change View "Company Code" Overview* screen is displayed. Click New Entries (this is the second item at the top left of the screen) to go to the *New Entries:*

Details of Added Entries (Figure 14-27) screen where you will carry out all company code specifications for your payment program.

=		> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗇 🗙
< SAP	New Entries: D	Details of Added Entries
Celete Previous Entry Next	Entry More ~	양 Display Ext
Company Code: C100	63 Paying company code	
Control Data		
Sending company code: *Paying company code: C100 Separate Payment per Business Area: Pyt Meth SuppL: Cash discount and tolerances Tolerance Days for Payable: 7	a	
Outgoing Pmnt with Cash Disc. From:	K.	
Vendors		
Sp. G/L Transactions to Be Paid: AF	්	
Customers		
Sp. G/L Transactions to Be Paid: Sp. G/L Trans. for Exception List		
		Save Cancel

Figure 14-27. Defining payment program for all company codes

Update the following fields using the information in Table 14-14

Fields	Values
Company code	Enter our company code (C100)
Control Data	
Sending Company	
Paying Company	Enter our company code (C100)
Cash Discount and Tolerances	
Tolerance Days for Payable	7
Vendor	
Sp. GL Transactions to be paid	AF

Table 14-14. Data to update your payment program for all company codes

Save your setting for all company codes by clicking the save button at the bottom right of the screen.

Paying Company Codes

The paying Company Code is the company that is assigned with the task of processing payment transactions on behalf of other company codes. This is the case where a centralized payment system is in place. Invoices arising from transactions by other company codes are sent to one Company code within the group company who makes payments on behalf of other company codes centrally. A good example of this is an environment where the head office makes payment for other company codes (i.e., branches). The company code making payment on behalf of other company code is referred to as the paying company code, and the company to whom payment is being made is referred to as the sending company code.

When customizing this section, three options are important:

- Minimum amount for incoming payment: This determines the minimum amount that will be allowed by the system to go through the automatic payment program for an incoming payment. Any amount lower than this amount will not be allowed as an automatic payment, it will have to be performed manually instead.
- Minimum amount for outgoing payment: The amount specified as the minimum amount for outgoing payments relates to invoice payments. Any amount below the minimum amount will not be included by the system in the payment run. Amounts below this have to be performed manually. For example, if the minimum amount specification for an outgoing payment is \$0.50 USD, any invoice amount less than \$0.50 USD on will be excluded from the payment run.
- Forms: SAP comes with standard payment program forms in SAPScript. SAPScript defines the form layout that meets certain country specific and international payment methods. You can choose from several standard forms when defining your paying company code. The benefit of using the standard forms defined in SAPScript is

that it saves you from using the wrong print program. There are two types of forms in this activity – forms for printing a payment advice and the EDI accompany sheet form.

• **Sender details**: Specify the texts you want to use for your letter header, letter footer, and your company code sending address.

Now let's look at how to setup a paying company code for payment transactions. To do this, follow this menu path: *MG: Financial Accounting* > *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Business Transaction* > *Outgoing Payments* > *Automatic Outgoing Payments* > *Payment Method/Bank Selection for Payment Program* > *Set Up Paying Company Codes for Payment Transactions*.

The *Change View "Paying Company Codes": Overview* screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen. The *New Entries: Details of Added Entries* screen comes up. This is the screen where you will specify the minimum account for incoming payments and minimum amount for outgoing payment for your paying company code.

Update the following fields:

Paying company code: Enter your paying company code in this field. In this activity, we used C100 as our company code

Minimum Amount for Incoming Payment: Enter the minimum incoming payment you want to include in your payment program in this field. In this activity, we used \$0.50USD.

Minimum Amount for Outgoing Payment: Enter the minimum outgoing payment you want to include in your payment program in this field. In this activity, we used \$2.50USD.

The next step is to assign SAPScripts, which are country specific to your paying company code (the form for payment advice and EDI accompany sheet form).

Click the Forms button at the bottom Left of the screen in Figure 14-29 to expand the forms section where you will assign payment form to payment advice and EDI accompany form.

≡		> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 🔔 🗗 🗙
< SAP	New Entries: Details of Added Entries	
→ Delete Previous Entry Next Entry More →		😨 Display Exit
Paying co. code: [C100] @	B. Company Codes	
Control Data		
Minimum Amount for Incoming Payment: 0,50 USD		
Minimum Amount for Outgoing Payment: 2,50 USD		
No Exchange Rate Differences:		
No Exch.Rate Diffs. (Part Payments):		
Separate Payment for Each Ref .:		
Bill/Exch Pymt.		
Direct Debit Pre-Notifications:		
Specifications for SEPA Payments		
Creditor Identification Number:		
2 Forms		
径 Sender Details		
		Save Cancel

Figure 14-28. Setting Minimum Amount for Outgoing Payments/Incoming Payments

Note SAP comes with several predefined payment forms you can use for your payment advice and EDI. In this activity, you will be using International Script form – F110_IN_AVIS for Payment Advice and Script form – F110_EDI_01 for EDI accompanying Sheet form. You can use any other form of your choice. In practice, you should use your country specific SAPScript or what your company recommends.

=		> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗗 🗙
< SAP	New Entries: Details of Added Entries	
Collecte Previous Entry Next Entry More Collection		😨 Display Exit
Paying co. code: C100 Spozio Inc	浅 Company Codes	
Control Data		
Minimum Amount for Incoming Payment: 0,50 USD Minimum Amount for Outgoing Payment: 2,50 USD No Exchange Rate Differences: No Exch. Rate Differences: No Exch. Rate Differences: Separate Payment for Each Rat: Bill/Exch Pymt: Direct Debit Pre-Notifications: Specifications for SEPA Payments Creditor Identification Number:		
EPorms Form for the Payment Advice: SAPscript · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
		Save Cancel

Figure 14-29. Specifying the Form for Payment Advice/EDI Accompanying Sheet Form using the search function

Click the search function button by the SAPscript circled in Figure 14-29 to display SAPscript Form Tree (Display Mode) with a list of payment advice versions for countries represented in the system that you want to use in your payment program. Under Payment Medium, choose **International** from the payment medium list. The Payment Medium Workbench comes up with a list of forms represented in the system. Select Payment Advice Note (international), the Form F110_IN_AVIS (AVIS (international)) screen is displayed. Click Form F110_IN_AVIS. This will copy the F110_IN_AVIS to your form for the payment advice – SAPscript, as in Figure 14-30.

The next step is to also assign EDI accompany sheet form to your EDI accompany sheet form.

Click the function by EDI Accompany Sheet Form – SAPscript. Choose **International** from the payment medium list. The Payment Medium Workbench comes up with a list of forms represented in the system. Select EDI Accompany Sheet, the Form F110_EDI_01 (EDI-Begleizettel) screen comes up. Select Language EN Actv from the displayed list and form F110_EDI_01 is copied to your form for the EDI Accompany Sheet Form – SAPscript, as in Figure 14-30.
=		> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗗 🗙
< SAP	New Entries: Details of Added Entries	
✓ Delete Previous Entry Next Entry More ✓		😨 Display Exit
Paying co. code: C100 Spoxio Inc	🔛 Company Codes	
Control Data		
Minimum Amount for Incoming Payment: 0,50 USD		
Minimum Amount for Outgoing Payment: 2,50 USD		
No Exchange Rate Differences:		
No Exch.Rate Diffs. (Part Payments):		
Separate Payment for Each Ref .:		
Bill/Exch Pymt:		
Direct Debit Pre-Notifications:		
Specifications for SEPA Payments		
Creditor Identification Number:		
Eorms		
Form for the Payment Advice: SAPscript V F110	_IN_AVIS	
EDI Accompanying Sheet Form: SAPscript V	EDI OI	
(Form		
Sender Details		
		Save Cancel

Figure 14-30. Specification of Payment medium for your payment program

The final step in payment paying company code customizing is to assign senders details to the paying company code. The value you enter will determine how the sender details are displayed in correspondence. At the bottom right of the screen click the Sender Details button at the bottom left of the screen to expand sender details for your SAPscript form field, as in Figure 14-31.

=								> \$20 (1) 10		6 –	. 8 >
< SAP			New Ent	ries: Details	s of Added Er	intries					
└── ─ Delete	Previous Entry Next	Entry More 🗸							8	Display	Exit
Direct D	Bill/Exch Pymt.										
Specifications for SEPA Payments											
Credito	r Identification Number:										
VIEw											
Forms											
Form 1	for the Payment Advice: S	APscript V	F110_IN_AVIS								
EDI Acco	ampanying Sheet Form: \$	APscript V	F110_EDI_01								
		Form									
E Sender Details											
Sender Details for SAPscript Forms											
	* Text ID: A	ORS									
	Letter Header: A	ORS_HEADER									
	Footer: A	ORS_FOOTER									
	Signature Text: A	ORS_SIGNATURE									
	Sender: A	ORS_SENDER									
	6	P									
											_
										Save	Cancel

Figure 14-31. Specification of Sender details

Save your configuration.

In the next activity, we will be looking at how to customize payment method per company codes.

Payment Methods per Company Codes

The Payment Methods per Company Codes are obtained from Country Payment Keys defined in Payment Methods per Country. It is not compulsory that a Company Code must use the entire payment Methods per Country in the system. In practice, it is possible for a company code to use some or all available payment methods in the system. The specifications you make here will determine the payment methods the system will use in the automatic payment program for your company code when making payments.

You need to specify the following items here:

- The Paying company code (this is the company code responsible for processing outgoing payments).
- The Payment method, for example check, bank transfer, etc.

- Amount limits (minimum and maximum) applies to your payment method(s). Any payment amount below or above specified limits will be excluded from the payment run for your payment transaction.
- Other specifications under this activity includes:
 - ➢ Grouping items.

Foreign payments/foreign currency payments for foreign currency transactions:

The payment method will allow the system to process foreign currency payments and receipts. Make payments to/from business partner's bank abroad.

• Bank Selection control:

This allows the use of optimization either by bank group or by postal order. When you want the payment program to make payment from bank within the same clearing house, choose **optimize by bank group** indicator in your configuration. Funds are transferred more quickly and easily from your house bank within the shortest possible time to the business partner's bank account. This is possible only if you assign your bank in the master record to the bank group that you have defined. On the other hand, if optimized by postal code is specified, the house bank selection that is closer to the business partner bank postal code is used.

Let's look at how to set up payment method per company code. Follow this menu path to proceed to the screen where the setting is carried out: *IMG: Financial Accounting* > *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Business Transaction* > *Outgoing Payments* > *Automatic Outgoing Payments* > *Payment Method/Bank Selection for Payment Program* > *Set Up Payment Methods per Company Code for Payment Transactions.*

The *Change View "Maintenance of Company Code Data for a Payment Method" Overview* screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen (Figure 14-32) where you will specify the maximum amount and maintain form data for payment program.



Figure 14-32. Maintaining paying company code data for a payment method

Update the following fields:

Paying co. code: Enter the company code that you want to use for transaction payment in your configuration for your payment run.

Payment method: Specify payment method (For example, Check – C and Bank Transfer – T).

Minimum Amount: Enter the minimum amount limit. Any amount below the minimum amount specified will be omitted from the payment run. If the field is left blank, there will be no amount limit restriction.

Maximum Amount: Enter the maximum amount limit in this field. Any amount in the payment transaction in excess of the maximum amount limit will be automatically excluded from the payment run.

Foreign business partner allowed: When indicator for foreign business partner allowed is set, the system will include foreign business partners in the payment run for a payment transaction.

Foreign Currency allowed: Specified foreign currencies are allowed in the payment run.

Cust/vendor bank abroad allowed: When the indicator for foreign business partner allowed is set, the system will allow payments from business partners' bank accounts from abroad to be included in the payment run for a payment transaction

Form data: This is the Form for payment Advice version that you want to use for your payment program.

1. Maintain paying company code Data for a Payment Method for Check payments. Using the information in Table 14-15, update the input field.

Fields	Values
Paying co. code	Enter our company code (C100)
Pymt Method	C
Amount Limits	
Minimum Amount	Blank
Maximum amount	9.999.999.999,00
Foreign payments/foreign currency payments	
Foreign business partner allowed	Select
Foreign currency allowed	Select
Cust/vendor bank abroad allowed/	select
Bank Selection control	
No Optimize	Select

Table 14-15. Data to Update your Paying Company Code for a Payment Method

The next step in this activity is to specify a standard payment form in SAPscript to your company code payment method using the international version and check (with check management) to your print checks. Click the Form button at the bottom left of the screen to expand the form page for further entries where you will assign SAPscript form for the paying company code. **Note** Use International Script form for Check (with Check management) in your setting.

Click the search function button by the SAPscript circled in Figure 14-32 to display SAPscript Form Tree (Display Mode) with a list of payment advice versions for countries represented in the system that you want to use in your payment program. Under Payment Medium, choose **International** from the payment medium list, select Check (With Check Management) and the Form F110_Premium Medium screen pops up. Double click Language EN Activ and select F110_Premium to copy it into the Form for Payment Medium field.

The Payment Medium Workbench comes up with a list of forms represented in the system. Select Payment Advice Note (international), the Form F110_IN_AVIS (AVIS (international)) screen is displayed. Click Form F110_IN_AVIS. This will copy the F110_IN_AVIS to your form for the payment advice – SAPscript, as in Figure 14-30.

The next step is to enter senders' details in in your payment method.

To expand sender details for Drawer on the form section, click the Sender Details button at the bottom of the screen, as in Figure 14-32.

Using the information in Table 14-16, update the **Drawer on the form** section and **Sorting of the** section of the screen.

Fields	Values					
Drawer on the form	Enter your Company's details in this field. For this activity we used					
	Spoxio Inc.					
	1551 Ferry Avenue					
	New Jersey					
Sorting of the						
Correspondence	K2 (Name)					
Line items	E2 (Date)					

m
1

Finally, Click the Pyt adv.ctrl button to call up *Payment Advice Control* in order for you to specify appropriate items in the *Payment advice note control* section. That is vital for your payment program.

Set the following items in the *Payment advice note control* section. Select the **as many as req**. radio button and select the NoPytAdv radio button.

Save your work.

 The next step in this activity is to maintain paying Company Code Data for a Payment Method for Bank Transfer. Follow this menu path to go to the screen where you will specify payment method for bank transfer: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* ➤ *Business Transaction* ➤ *Outgoing Payments* ➤ *Automatic Outgoing Payments* ➤ *Payment Method/Bank Selection for Payment Program* ➤ *Set Up Payment Methods per Company Code for Payment Transactions.*

The *Change View "Maintenance of Company Code Data for a Payment Method" Overview* screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to New Entries: Details of Added Entries screen (Figure 14-25) where you will specify the maximum amount and maintain form data for payment program.

Using the data in Table 14-17, update the following fields.

Fields	Values
Paying co. code	C900
Pymt Method	Т
Amount Limits	
Maximum amount	9.999.999.999,00
Foreign payments/foreign currency payments	
Foreign business partner allowed	Select
Foreign currency allowed	Select
Cust/vendor bank abroad allowed/	Select
Bank Selection control	
No Optimize	Select

Table 14-17. The Data to Update your Payment Program for Bank Transfer

The next step is to update the form data.

Click on the Form Data button at the bottom of the screen to expand the form for further entries. Enter your company's details in the *Drawer in the form* section.

1. In the *Payment advice note control* section select *None* and save your work.

To see how your Company Code Payment Method looks, click Back at the top left of the screen to return to *Change View Maintenance of Company Code Data for a Payment Method* screen (Figure 14-33).

≡				>	S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗗 🗙
<	SAP		Chang	ge View "Maintenance of Company Code Data for a Payment Method": O	
	∽] Deta	ells New Entries Copy As.	Delete	Undo Change Select All Select Block Deselect All Configuration Help More $\!$	Display Exit
Main	enance of Company Code	Data for a Payment Method			۲
Co	Cd Name	City	Pmt m	Name	
- C1	00 Spoxio Inc	New Jersey	с	Check	
	-	1	т	Bank transfer (ACH CTX)	
CA	01 Country Template CA	Canada	с	Check	
			т	Transfer	
CA	8 Canada Company+	Canada	A		
			8		
			R		
CA	99 Country Template CA	Canada	с	Check	
			т	Transfer	
CE	J1 FORMACION SAP SL	Spain	c	Cheque papel	
			D	Débito Directo	
			E	Lefra domiciliada (a cobrar)	
			L	Letra (a pagar)	
			м	Cheque (soporte magnético)	
			N	Cheque nómina	
			0	Compensación (en el grupo)	
			Р	Cheque prenumerado	
			R	Recibo no domiciliado	
			т	Transferencia	
-					
		+E Position	Entry 192 of 8	162	
1					
					Save Cancel

Figure 14-33. Company Code Data for Payment Method

Bank Determination for Payment Transactions

The settings you make in *Bank Determination for Payment Transactions* will allow the payment program to determine which bank account to make payment from based on the ranking order you defined in your configuration.

Define the following specifications in your configuration:

Ranking Order: Payments are made in order of ranking from your house bank by the payment program. The system will check the bank account with the highest priority for sufficient funds. If there are enough funds, payment will be made from the first house bank. If there are not sufficient funds in the first house bank, the system will check the second house bank for sufficient funds and make payment from that house bank, if there are sufficient funds, and so on.

Bank Accounts: The settings made here allow you to specify which bank account the payment program will use for payment.

Available Amounts: For each of the house banks included in your payment program, you should specify the amount available for incoming and outgoing payments. This specification also helps the system to determine which bank accounts to include when making payments.

Value date: This specification defines the maximum number of days between the payment run and the bank value date within which payment should be made. In doing this, you define the following:

- Payment Method.
- House Bank.
- Account.
- Amount Limit.
- Currency.
- Days.

Expenses/Charges: These include Fees/Charges.

Note Before configuring Bank Determination for Payment Transactions, you should ensure that the House Banks you are applying to your payment transaction have been defined. See how to define House Bank in Chapter 9.

To start with the customizing of Bank Determination for payment transactions, follow this menu path: *MG: Financial Accounting* > *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* > *Business Transaction* > *Outgoing Payments* > *Automatic Outgoing Payments* > *Payment Method/Bank Selection for Payment Program* > *Set Up Bank Determination for Payment Transactions*.

The *Display View "Bank Selection": Overview* screen comes up. Make sure the *Bank selection* folder on the *Dialog Structure* is open. Work through the folders under the *Bank* selection folder from top down systematically to ensure that there is nothing missing from your configuration.

Ranking Order

Payments are made in order of ranking from the house bank by the payment program. This system will check for the bank account with the highest priority for sufficient funds. If there are enough funds, payment will be from the first bank in order of ranking. If there are insufficient funds in the first house bank, the system will check the second house bank for sufficient funds and make payment from the house bank, if it has sufficient funds. Using the Position button at the bottom of the screen, look for your company code from the Bank Selection list.

First, select your company from the *Bank selection* list and then Double click on the Ranking Order fold on the left side of the screen in the Dialog Structure. The *Change View Ranking Order Overview* screen is displayed; click New Entries at the top left of the screen and define the Ranking Order for your payment in the *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen.

Update the flowing fields:

Payment Method: Enter the payment method you want to use in your payment transaction and in the appropriate order. (For example, you want payment to be made by check or bank transfer, enter C for cheek payment and T for bank transfer in the payment method field). During payment run, the system will automatically apply the payment method that you entered in the payment method to your payment transaction.

Currency: Enter the currency key that you want to apply to payment transaction. If this field is blank, this will allow the payment program to carry out payment in any currency. If currency is specified, only the currency that you specified will be used by the payment program.

Ranking order: Enter the ranking order that you want the system to make payment from your house bank. For example, ranking order 1, 2, etc.

House Bank: Enter the house banks you want to use for your payment transaction in ranking order in this field.

Using the information in Table 14-18, specify the Ranking Order:

Payment Method (PM)	Currency (Crcy)	Bank Ranking	House Bank
С	Leave blank	1	Bank of America
т	Leave blank	1	Bank of America
С	Leave blank	2	HSBC
т	Leave blank	2	HSBC

Table 14-18. Specification of Ranking Order for your Payment Program

Save your payment program ranking order.

Note Leave currency blank. This will allow the payment program to carry out payment in any currency. If a currency is specified, only the currency that you specified will be used by the payment program.

Assuming you have more than one House Bank, since Barclays Bank is ranked 1, the second bank will be ranked 2, the third bank will be ranked 3, and so on. Ranking is based on priority.

Bank Accounts

Bank accounts allow you to specify which house bank the payment program can make payment from and where outgoing payments are posted during a payment run. Payments are posted to subaccounts based on payment method. For example, an outgoing payment made with a check is posted to the subaccount for checks. Likewise, payments made with bank transfer are posted to the subaccount for bank transfer.

Note You have already created the bank accounts needed for your configuration in Chapter 9 in House Bank configuration. Make sure that you have created the appropriate GL account for your bank account. Otherwise, you have to create them by referring to Appendix – A, Chapter 9.

Double click the Bank Account folder on the *Dialog Structure*. The *Change View Bank Accounts Overview* screen is displayed. Click the New Entries button and define the Ranking Order for your payment in the *New Entries: Overview of Added Entries* screen.

1. Update the flowing fields:

House Bank: Enter the house banks you want to use for your Bank account in this field in payment ranking order. (For example, you want payment to be made first from your Barclays Bank Account. However, if there are not sufficient funds in Barclays Bank Account, then use HSBC Bank Account, and so on).

Payment Method: Enter the payment method you want to use in your payment transaction and in the appropriate order. (For example, you want payment to be made by check or bank transfer, enter C for check payment and T for bank transfer in the payment method field). During payment run, the system will systematically apply the payment method that you entered in the payment method to the represented Bank Subaccounts, respectively.

Currency: Enter the currency key that you want to apply to payment transaction. If this field is blank, this will allow the payment program to carry out payment in any currency. If currency is specified, only the currency that you specified will be applicable to Bank Subaccount in your payment program.

Account ID: Enter your Bank Account ID in this field. This Account ID was created earlier during House Bank configuration in Chapter 9.

Bank Subaccount: Enter the GL account you created earlier for Check Account and Bank Transfer Account in Chapter 9.

Using the information in Table 14-19, specify the Banking Accounts for Paying Company Code.

House Bank	Payment Method (PM)	Currency (Crcy)	Account ID	Bank subaccount
BARC1	С	Leave blank	BARC	111412
BARC1	Т	Leave blank	BARC	111414
HSBC1	С	Leave blank	HSBC	113155
HSBC1	Т	Leave blank	HSBC	113158

 Table 14-19.
 Data for Specifying the Bank Accounts for Paying Company Code

Save bank account setting.

Note GL account 111412 – Bank of America - Check issued out (the account check payments are posted for Bank of America).

GL account 111414 – Bank of America - Outgoing transfer (the account bank transfers are posted for Bank of America).

GL account 113155 – HSBC Bank - Check issued out (the account check payments are posted for HSBC).

GL account 113158 – HSBC Bank - Outgoing transfer (the account bank transfers payments are posted for HSBC).

The final step in your customizing is to specify the available amount that can be paid out of a bank account.

Available Amounts

The available amounts field holds the funds available in your selected bank accounts. You specify the amount available for incoming and outgoing payments. During payment run, the payment program will check the selected banks based on ranking order to find out whether there are enough funds for payment. If the available amount is insufficient in the first bank, the payment program will automatically check the next bank account for available funds and so on, until it finds a bank account with sufficient funds for payment.

The Payment program does not conduct amount splits, but the system does have the flexibility to check your bank account based on ranking order to find out which bank account has sufficient funds for payment. If none of the bank account assigned to payment have sufficient funds, payment will not be carried out.

It is important that before running the payment program, you ensure that available amounts in the bank accounts assigned to your payment program are up to date.

Double click Available Amounts folder in the *Dialog Structure*. The **Change View** "Amount Available": Overview screen is displayed. When you click the New Entries at the top left of the screen, the New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen comes up.

Update the following fields:

House Bank: Enter your House Bank Identifier key for the bank accounts assigned to your payment program.

Account ID: Enter your Bank Account ID in this field. This Account ID was created earlier during House Bank configuration in Chapter 9.

Days: This facility is only needed if you want to post payments by bill of exchange before due date. Otherwise, enter 999 in this field.

Using the information in Table 14-20, specify the amount available for outgoing payments for each bank account for the Paying Company Code.

Table 14-20. Data to specify the amount available for outgoing payments for each bank account for the paying company code

House Bank	Account ID	Days	Currency	Amount available for outgoing payment
Bank of America	BAME	999	GBP	9.999.999.999.999.00
HSBC	HSBB	999	GBP	9.999.999.999.999.00

Note Use dot (.) to separate the amount in units down to hundreds and comma (,) t o separate the amount in unit of tens. For example the unit amount of 1000 will be represented in the system as 1.000,00

Save your specification.

This brings us to the end of the automatic payment program.

The next Activity is to look at how to customize sort methods and adjustment accounts for regrouping receivables/payables.

Sort Methods and Adjustment Accounts for Regrouping Receivables/Payables

Accounting standards define how companies classify and disclose receivables and payables according to their remaining life. SAP provides the facilities to perform this function in the sort methods and adjustment accounts for regrouping receivables/ payable. The remaining life of AR and AP is defined in the sort method. For example, AR remaining life is classified as less than one year or more than one year. Payables' remaining life is classified as less than one year, 1–5 years, and more than five years.

The settings you define here allow you to classify receivables and payables into periods or years. For example, receivables/payables due within a year are classified as receivables/payables due within one year. Likewise, the receivables/payables due after one year, but within five years, are classified as receivables/payables due between one to five years. Other items due outside these periods are classified as receivables/ payables due after five years. It is important to classify transactions arising from receivables and payables in the G/L account based on periods to allow proper disclosure in the financial report.

In this activity, you will define settings that allow you to sort receivables and payables items into periods.

Problem: Spoxio Inc. accounting staff wants to be able to classify receivables and payables in the G/L Accounts in periods for proper disclosure in the financial statement. Your task as FI consultant is to define sort methods and adjustment accounts for regrouping receivables and payables for receivables/payables due within one year and receivables/payables due after one year

Define Sort Methods

To define sort methods for receivables, follow this menu path: *MG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *General Ledger Accounting* ➤ *Periodic Processing* ➤ *Reclassify* ➤ *Transfer and Sort Receivables and Payables* ➤ *Define Sort Method and Adjustment Accts for Regrouping Receivables and Payables*.

The Change View "Sort Methods": Overview screen is displayed. This is the initial screen where you will start customizing sort methods. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to The New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen where you will specify the periodic intervals and description for your receivables/payables periodic intervals (Figure 14-34).

Interval Description Clob Receivables Pegales Interval Description Interval Receivables Interval Receivables Interval Interval Interval Interval Interval Inte	×
✓ Delete Select All Select All Configuration Help More ✓ @ Opple/ E Dialog Structure Interval Description Configuration Help More ✓ @ Opple/ E ✓ Soft Methods C100 Receivables Interval Description Interval Interva	
Diking Structure Interval Description Receivables Color Receivables Regroup Pegables Color Receivables Regroup Description Color Color	t.
Sort Methods Cescription Receivables Receivables Regroup Poyables Receivables/Regroup Receivables Receivables/Regroup	0
Receivables Clob Receivables Regroup Payables	
Payables	н.
The set of	
• # Posteon Entry Or O	
	-
Save Ca	cel

Figure 14-34. The initial periodic intervals screen for receivables

Double click the Receivable folder in the Dialog Structure on the left side of the screen and update the following fields:

Interval: Enter a four-digit ID in this field. We recommend that you use your company code for ease of identification as especially in an environment where you have more than one company code. We used C100 as our interval ID in this activity.

Description: Enter a short description for your sort method.

Save your customizing.

Period Interval for Receivables

The next step is to create the periodic intervals for receivables due within one year and receivables due after one year. To create periodic intervals for receivables, select the periodic interval (C100) that you have defined in Figure 14-34 (since you are sorting receivables in this activity) double-click the Receivable folder in the Dialog Structure on the left side of the screen. The Change View "Receivables": Overview screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to the New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen to specify the periodic intervals for receivables (Figure 14-35).

g Structure			Interv	al: C100						
ort Methods										
Receivables										
rayaoles		Fr	Time unit	Description	Cust.pstg	Vend psta	G/L posting	Ac.	Ac.	
		0	Year	Receivables use within 1 Year	V.	~	~	-> Account		
		1	Year	Receivables due after 1 Year	1 0			-> Account		
	C							→ Account		
	C			,				→ Account		
	- C							-> Account		
	- C			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				→ Account		
	C			/				→ Account		
	10			2				→ Account		
				1				-> Account		
	C			·				→ Account		
	C		~					→ Account		
	C		~	1				→ Account		
	C			·				-> Account		
	C		2	<				-> Account		
	C			·				→ Account		
	C		-	·				→ Account		
	C			-				-> Account		

Figure 14-35. Specifying periodic intervals for receivables

Update the following fields:

From: Enter 0 for receivables due within one year and 1 for receivables due after one year.

Time Unit: You have three options to choose from: Day, Month, and Year. Using the drop-down arrow, select Year for each field. This will classify the receivables on a yearly basis.

Description: Enter the descriptions for each interval: "Receivables due within 1 year" and "Receivables due after 1 year."

Cust.Pstg: When you click the Customer Posting checkbox, the system will classify receivables based on your interval specifications.

Vend.Pstg: When you click the Vendor Posting checkbox, the system will classify payables based on your interval specifications.

G/L Posting: When you click the G/L posting checkbox, the system will classify postings to the G/L account based on your interval specifications.

Save your work.

Periodic Intervals for Payables

Next, you need to define the periodic intervals for payables due within one year, payables due between one and five years, and payables due after five years. To create the periodic intervals for payables, select the periodic interval (C100) you defined earlier in Figure 14-32 and double-click the Payables folder on the left pane of the screen. The Change View "Payables": Overview screen is displayed. Click the New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to the New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen, where you'll create the periodic interval specifications for payables. Update the screen using the data shown in Figure 14-36.

g Structure		Interv	(a): C100						
Sort Methods									
Receivables									
Payables	Pay	ables							
	D.	Time unit	Name	Cust.pstg	Vend.pstg	G/L pstg	Ac.	Ac	
	0	Year V	Payables due within 1 year	*	~	, in the second	-> Account		
	1.1 +	rear	Payables due after 1 year	4	~		-> Account	- C	
							-> Account		
		Ú.					-> Account		
							-> Account		
		~					-> Account		
	:0	~					-> Account		
		~					→ Account		
		~					→ Account		
		~					-> Account		
		~					→ Account		
		~					→ Account		
		~					→ Account		
		~					→ Account		
		~					-> Account		
		~					→ Account		

Figure 14-36. Specifying periodic intervals for payables

Save your work.

Define Adjustment Accounts for Receivables/Payables by Maturity

In this activity, you define adjustment accounts for receivables and payables by maturity. The system will automatically post to the accounts you have assigned for each period interval based on your specifications. **Note** Before defining adjustment accounts for receivables and payables by maturity, we advise that you first create the G/L accounts you will need in your customizing. How to create G/L accounts is covered in Chapter 5).

In this activity, we only covered adjustment accounts for receivables/payables by maturity for foreign receivables/payables. The same procedure is applicable when you create domestic and onetime receivables/payables. We advise that you create accounts for domestic and one-time payables/receivables on your own.

Receivable Due Within One-Year

To maintain automatic posting procedures for adjustment accounts for receivables/ payables by maturity accounts due within one year, follow this menu path: *MG: Financial Accounting General Ledger Accounting Periodic Processing Reclassify Transfer and Sort Receivables and Payables Adjustment Accounts for Receivables/Payables by Maturity.*

The Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posting – Procedures screen comes up, displaying a list of procedures you can choose from. Click on Receivables <= 1 year from the list of displayed procedures and click Choose at the top left of the screen. The Enter Chart of Accounts dialog screen pops up. Enter your chart of accounts ID in the Chart of Accounts field (in this activity, we used CA10 as our chart of accounts) and click Continue at the bottom of the dialog box. This will take you to The Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posting – Accounts screen (Figure 14-37) where you will assign accounts to procedures for automatic postings (see Table 14-21).

=									> \$20 (1) 100	• • • • - = • ×
< 54	P			Configu	ration Accourt	ting Maintain .	Automatic Por	its - Accounts		
	~]	Previous oper	ation Next operation	New Entries C	opy Delete	Posting Key	Procedures	More 🛩		Exit
Chr Account assign	art of Accounts:	CA10 Char V00 Rece	of Accounts - C100 ivables <= 1 year							
Reconciliatio.	Adjustment A	Targ.acct								۵
			Position							
			_	_					_	Save Terminete

Figure 14-37. Assignment of G/L accounts to periodic intervals for automatic posting of payables due within 1 year

Table 14-21. The Accounts for Posting Receivables Due Within 1 Year

Reconciliation	Adjustment	Targ. Acct.
213000 – Trade creditors –	213099 – Trade payable – foreign	119300 – Vendor with a debit
foreign	adjustment	balance

Save your work.

Receivables Due After One Year

To maintain automatic posting procedures for adjustment accounts for receivables/ payables by maturity due after one year, follow this menu path: *MG: Financial Accounting* General Ledger Accounting Periodic Processing Reclassify *Transfer and Sort Receivables and Payables* Adjustment Accounts for Receivables/ Payables by Maturity.

The Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posting – Procedures screen comes up, displaying a list of procedures you can choose from. Click on Receivables <= 1 year from the list of displayed procedures and click Choose at the top left of the screen. The Enter Chart of Accounts dialog screen pops up. Enter your chart of accounts ID in the Chart of Accounts field (in this activity, we used CA10 as our chart of accounts) and click Continue at the bottom of the dialog box. This will take you to The Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posting – Accounts screen (Figure 14-38) where you will assign accounts to procedures for automatic postings (see Table 14-22).

Configuration Accounts Corp Devise Posting Key Procedures More Ext	=									> \$2	0 (1) 100 🕨 🚡	_ 8 ×
Previous operation Net operation Net @net@thiss Cop Devine Posting Key Procedures More Ext	< 54	P			Config	juration Accourt	nting Maintain .	Automatic Pos	its - Accounts			
Chert of Accounts - C100 Transaction: Receivables > 1 yeer		~	Previous operatio	n Next operation	New Entries	Copy Delete	Posting Key	Procedures	More 🛩			Exit
Pecton	Che	art of Accounts:	CA10 Chart of V01 Receival	Accounts - C100 bles > 1 year								
119000 119099 120000 d 213099 120000 d 	Reconciliatio	Adjustment A	Taro.acct									۲
213000 213099 220000 Q Postion Postion Terminate	119000	119099	119030									
Poston	213000	213099	120000	a								
Poston												
Poston Terrinete												
Poston												
Poston												
Poston Terrinate												
Pestion												
Poston												
Position Terminate												
Position Save Terminate												
Position Eare Terminate												
Save Terminate				Position								
Save Terminate												
Save Terminate												
Save Terminate	_	_	_			_	_	_		 	_	-
											Sav	e Terminate

Figure 14-38. Assignment of *G/L* accounts to periodic intervals for automatic posting of payables after 1 year

Table 14-22. The Accounts for	Posting Receivables	Due After 1 Year
-------------------------------	---------------------	------------------

Reconciliation	Adjustment	Targ. Acct.
119000 – Trade debtors foreign	119099 – Trade receivables foreign adjustment	119030 - Trade receivables foreign due > 1 yr.
213000 – Trade creditors foreign	213099 – Trade payables foreign adjustment	120000 - other debtors due > 1 yr.

Save your work.

Note The same procedure is applicable when defining adjustment accounts for receivables/payables by maturity.

Adjustment Posting/Reversal

It is inevitable that during document posting, some incorrect document might be mistakenly entered in the system. An incorrect document entered in the SAP system cannot be deleted; instead it must be reversed. Documents can be reversed in the system using either the normal posting reversal or the negative reversal method.

With normal posting reversal, the debit and credit sides of the total transaction are increased with the adjustment figure. With negative reversal, the adjustment figure is subtracted from the total transaction figure in the account. In other words, the total transaction figures will not be increased with the transaction figures. The transaction figures in the system remain as the original figures before posting. This systematic style of reduction is referred to as negative posting. When you permit negative posting, negative postings will be permitted for your company code. This will allow the system to reduce transaction figures in G/L and in your customer and vendor accounts without actually increasing the total transaction figures.

Permit Negative Postings

Problem: The accounting team in the C900 Pie Company heard that transactions posted to the system can be systematically reversed without having to increase total transaction figures. The team is interested in knowing how this can benefit them. Consequently, your colleagues have asked you to customize the system to allow negative postings for Spoxio Inc.

In this exercise, you will specify a negative posting for your company code. This specification will allow you to carry out negative postings. To activate Negative Postings, follow this menu path: IMG: Financial Accounting ➤ Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable ➤ Business Transactions ➤ Adjustment Postings/Reversal ➤ Permit Negative Postings.

The Change View "Maintain Negative Postings in Company Code": Overview screen is displayed (Figure 14-39). This is where you specify that you want your company code to be permitted for negative postings.

				> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗇
<	SAP		Change View "Maintain Negative Postings in Company Code". Overvi	iew
	∼] Undo C	hange Select All Select Blo	rk Deselect All Configuration Help More ∽	😳 Display Exit
CoCd	Company Name	City	Negative Postings Permitted	6
C100	Spoxio Inc	New Jersey	×	
CA01	Country Template CA	Canada		
CA98	Canada Company+	Canada		
CA99	Country Template CA	Canada		
CEU1	FORMACION SAP SL	Spain		
CH01	Country Template CH	Switzerland		
CL01	Country Template CL	Chile		
CN01	Country Template CN	China	v	
C001	Country Template CO	Colombia		
COPY	Copy from CC.0001	(Only G/L accounts B-seg)		
COZI	Zabeel SAP Training	Dubal		
COZI	zabeel company in India	mumbal		
CZ01	Country Template CZ	Czech Republic	×.	
DEOL	Country Template DE	Germany		
DE02	Country Template DE	Germany		
DJIC	Data Company	France		
DKO1	Country Template DK	Denmark		
EF10	Hygiene Corp	Atlanta		
EG01	Country Template Egypt	Cairo		
EMC1	Company EMA	FRANCE		

Figure 14-39. Maintaining negative postings by company code

Search for your company code from the list of company codes displayed on the screen using the Position button at the bottom of the screen. Then click tick the check box for Negative Postings and save your settings.

Define Reasons for Reversal

It is mandatory to state the reason for reversing a document in SAP ERP during document reversal. Hence it is important to define reasons for reversing documents. When you're posting document reversal, the reason for the reversal will be copied to the document that is reversed.

Note You can use standard reversal reasons supplied by SAP or you can define your own reversal reasons.

To define reasons for reversal that will be applied to negative postings, follow this menu path: IMG: Financial Accounting ➤ Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable ➤ Business Transactions ➤ Adjustment Postings/Reversal ➤ Define Reasons for Reversal.

The Change View "Reason for Reversal Posting" Overview screen is displayed. This screen contains reasons for reversal. For example:

01 - Reversal in current period.

02 - Reversal in closed period.

Click the New Entries at the top of the screen to go to the New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen (Figure 14-40).

≡ < S	AP		New Entries: Overview of Added Entries	> S20 (1) 100 🖻 🙆 🔄 🖻 🗙
	Delete Select All Select Block	Deselect All Co	nfiguration Help — More 💛	ଡ Display Exit
Reason	Text	Neg. Pstg	Alt.Pos.Dt	•
ER	Posting Error - C100	1		
	-2 Position	Entry 0 of 0		
				Save Cance

Figure 14-40. Specifying the reasons for posting reversal

Update the following fields:

Reason: Enter up to two characters of your choice in this field. This is a freely definable code. For example, we used ER (Error) as our reason code for this activity. This code serves as the identifier code of your defined reason for reversal.

Text: Enter a short text that best describes the reason for reversal in this field, such as Posting Error.

Neg. Posting: When you click the Negative Posting checkbox, you can create negative posting for this reason code.

Alt.Pos.Dt: This checkbox allows alternative posting dates for this reason code.

Summary

This chapter covered account payables and account receivables and explained what a customer account is. It also explained the steps involved in defining account groups with screen layout for customers. You learned how to maintain the field status group for general data for a customer account group. You also learned how to enter an accounting clerk identification code for customers and create number ranges and assign them to your account groups. You learned what a vendor account is and how to customize vendor accounts. You learned how to define account groups with screen layout for vendors, maintain the field status group for general data for a vendor account group, define accounting and clerk identification codes for vendors, maintain number ranges for your vendor accounts, and assign number ranges to end or account groups.

The next exercise you learned about in this chapter was terms of payment. You learned how to maintain terms of payment for customers and how to maintain terms of payment and an installation plan. You then learned how to define a cash discount base for an incoming invoice, define incoming invoices credit memos/credit memos, define document types for enjoy transactions, define tax code per transaction, and define accounts for net procedures.

You also learned about manual outgoing payments. You learned how to define tolerances for outgoing payments. You also learned how to define reason codes and how to define accounts for payment differences.

Apart from learning what an automatic outgoing payment is, you went through the steps involved when defining automatic outgoing payments. You looked at the specifications involved when defining and paying company codes, payment methods per country, and payment methods per company codes.

You learned how to define sort methods and adjust accounts for regrouping receivables/payable. You learned how to define sort methods for accounts receivables and payables by defining periodic intervals for receivables and payables. The next exercise explained how to define adjustment accounts for receivables/payables by maturity based on periods receivable and payables due to enabling automatic postings to the GIL accounts. In so doing, you learned how to define accounts for receivables/ payables due in one year, receivables due after one year, payables due between one and five years, and payables due after five years.

Finally, you looked at the difference between the normal reversal and negative reversal posting methods. You learned how to activate the indicator for permitted negative postings and how to define a reason code for negative posting.

In the next chapter, you will learn how to define correspondence in SAP. In doing this, you will define correspondence types, assign programs for correspondence type, define sender details for correspondence form, determine call-up functions, define dunning procedures, specify the special G/L transactions that allow the system to dun special GIL transactions, and learn about the various levels involved when defining dunning.

CHAPTER 15

Defining the Dunning Procedure

This chapter explains what dunning is and covers basic settings involved in customizing the dunning procedure.

At the end of this chapter, you will be able to:

- Define a dunning procedure.
- Defining dunning levels.
- Specify G/L transactions that allow the system to dun special G/L transactions.
- Assign a dunning procedure to customer master data.

Dunning

It is a normal business practice for business partners to sometimes fall behind in invoice payments. Hence a form of reminder mechanism needs to be in place that will remind business partners of overdue invoices.

Dunning is an automatic process of sending reminder notices to customers demanding payment of overdue invoices. This program ensures that the mechanism for sending reminder letters for due invoice payments is in place.

Dunning procedure

The dunning procedure defines how the dunning is carried out. More than one dunning procedure can be defined. There is no restriction to the number of procedures you can define. The account that you want to include in your dunning process must have a dunning procedure assigned to it.

CHAPTER 15 DEFINING THE DUNNING PROCEDURE

A dunning procedure is applicable to both normal and special GL transactions in the SAP system.

Note SAP comes with standard dunning procedures. These procedures can be adapted and modified to meet your company code specific settings.

Basic Settings for Dunning

In Basic Settings for Dunning, you can define the followings:

- **Dunning Areas:** A dunning area could be defined as a department or a unit within a company code which you may want to use for processing dunning.
- **Dunning Keys:** Are company code independent. The advantage of a dunning key is that it allows you to specify item display separate with dunning key and print dunning key text in the dunning notice.
- **Dunning Block Reasons:** Allow you to exclude an item or account being dun during dunning run. To do this, a block key is entered in the dunning block field in the master record.

Tip If you are defining your own dunning, we recommend that you use the Basic settings supplied by the system. Hence there is no need to carry out any settings here.

Define Dunning Procedures

Problem: Spoxio Inc. wants to have four dunning levels as part of their credit control that will systematically generate reminder letters to customers for overdue invoices. The first letter is to be a courteous reminder, and thereafter subsequent reminders will be a little bit firmer, and so on.

Your task is to define four dunning levels for Spoxio Inc.

When maintaining the Dunning Procedure, you can defined the specifications for the following items:



- Dunning Levels.
- Charges.
- Minimum Amounts.
- Dunning Texts.
- Special GL Indicator.

To define the dunning procedure for your dunning program, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Account Receivable and Accounts Payable* ➤ *Business Transaction* ➤ *Dunning* ➤ *Dunning Procedure* ➤ *Define Dunning Procedures*.

The *Maintain Dunning Procedure: List* screen comes up displaying a list of existing dunning procedures in the system. Since in this activity we want to create a New Dunning Procedure, click the New Procedure at the top of the screen (this is the second item from the left). The *Maintain Dunning Procedure: Overview* screen is displayed (Figure 15-1).

CHAPTER 15 DEFINING THE DUNNING PROCEDURE

E	> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 🔔 🗇 🗙
K Maintain Dunning Procedure: Overview	
✓ Dunning levels Charges Minimum amounts Dunning texts Sp. G/L indicator More ∨	
Dunn.Procedure: C100	
Name: Four-Level Dunning, every two weeks	
General data	
Dunning Interval In Days: 14	
Number of Dunning Levels: 4	
Total due items from dunning level:	
Min. Days in Arrears (Acct): 5	
Line Rem Grace Periods: 2	
Interest indicator: 01	
gnore Interest Ind. in Master Record	
Public hol cal ID:	
V Standard Transaction Dunning	
Dun Special G/L Transactions	
Dunning Even for Credit Account Balance	
Reference data	
Ref.Dunning Procedure for Texts: C100 @	
	Save Cancel

Figure 15-1. The screen for maintaining a dunning procedure

Dun procedure: This represents the key for the dunning procedure to be used. The key is company code independent.

Dunning Interval in Days: This specification defines the intervals in days to ensure that the accounts in this procedure are dunned at given intervals. The system checks at every dunning run to see if the number of days specified is greater than the last run day. If this is the case, a new dunning note is issued; otherwise, a new dunning note will not be issued.

No of Dunning Levels: This specification represents the number of dunning levels that are permitted in this procedure. Usually, the system allows up to a maximum of 9 levels.

Min. days in arrears (acct): This is the minimum days an item in the account must have for the account to be dunned. Otherwise, a dunning notice will not be created.

Line item grace period: Is the number of days allowed above an item due day. If the days in arrears is less than or equal to the days of grace, the account will not be considered for dunning during a dunning run.

Interest Indicator: When this indicator is selected, interest will be calculated.

Using the information in the following table, update the *Maintain Dunning Procedure: Overview* screen.

Fields	Values	Description
Dun. Procedure	C900	Enter your Company Code in this field.
Name	Four-level Dunning, every two weeks	Enter a short description for your dunning procedure in this field.
General Data		
Dunning Interval in Days	14	The dunning interval entered here will allow the system to checks at every dunning run to see if the number of days specified is greater than the last run day. If this is the case a new dunning note is issued.
No. of dunning levels	4	Enter the number of dunning levels that is permitted in this procedure in this field.
Total due items from dunning level	Leave Bank	
Min. days in arrears (acct)	5	This allows the system to determine the minimum days an item in the account must have for the account to be dunned.
Line item grace period	2	The entry here specify the number of days allowed above an item due day.
Interest indicator	01	When you select this indicate, interest will be calculated on due amount.

(continued)

CHAPTER 15 DEFINING THE DUNNING PROCEDURE

Fields	Values	Description
Reference data	,	
Ref. Dunning Procedure for Texts	C100	This serves as reference for dunning text for your dunning procedure.

Tip If you try to save your dunning procedure at this level, the system will notify you on the status bar at the bottom of your screen that "reference dunning procedure has 0 dunning levels." So, we advise you not to save your work yet.

The next step in this activity is to define the dunning levels for your dunning procedure.

Defining Dunning Levels

Dunning level allows you to determine the dunning letter to assign to your dunning notice. As a part of the credit control procedure, several letters are sent out systematically to remind business partners of open items in their account. These letters are categorized into various levels (SAP allows up to nine dunning levels that can be assigned to the dunning procedure). The first dunning level could be a very friendly reminder; the second obviously becomes a lot firmer, and so.

At the top left of the *Maintain dunning Procedure: Overview* screen click Dunning levels (Figure 15-2). This will allow you to apply the following the settings to your dunning levels:

- Days in arrears.
- Interest calculation applicable to your dunning level.
- Print parameter.
- Legal dunning procedure.

CHAPTER 15 DEFINING THE DUNNING PROCEDURE

=																																																		2	þ	\$2	0 (1) 10	0	Þ	6	-	-	ć	7			>
< SAP							Ma	Ma	1				1	1	N	N	M	M	-	1	ł	in	ita	in	D	hun	ni	ing	P	ro	ce	edu	lun	re:	0	Dun	nnii	ng	3 k	ev	els	s																						
	~ Cha	ges	Minimu	m amounts	s Dunning tex	s More ~		0		4																																																						
Dura Durant	6100																																																															
Name	Four-Level C	Junning	every	wo weeks																																																												
Dunning Level		1	2	3	4																																																											
Days in arrears/int	erest																																																															
	Days in Arre	ars: 2	10	30	44																																																											
Calculate Interest?				~	1																																																											
Print parameters																																																																
Always Dun?					×																																																											
Print All Items				1	1																																																											
	Payment Dead	line:		10	7																																																											
Legal dunning proc	edure																																																															
Always Dun In	Legal Dunning P	roc.		٦																																																												
Lesson and the second second				1																																																												
	_	-		_	_	-																																																								l	ł	

Figure 15-2. Maintaining dunning levels for dunning procedure

Update the screen by specifying the following items:

Days in Arrears: The number of days an invoice is in arrears determines the dunning notice level that is created for it. For example, if an overdue item is in arrears for two days, the payment program will create a dunning notice at dunning level 1. Likewise, if an overdue item is in arrears for 16 days, the payment program will create a dunning notice at level 2, and so on.

Calculate Interest: The system calculates interest on the set dunning levels. For example, interests should be calculated on dunning levels 3 and 4.

Always Dun: This allows the dunning program to always dun the overdue item at the last dunning level so that no item is skipped at this level.

Print All Items: This allows you to print an overview of the customer/vendor account balance at the specified level.

Payment Deadline: This determines the new payment deadline printed on the dunning notice. It is best to use a basic 12-month calendar to avoid the payment deadline falling on a weekend.

Always Dun in Legal Dunning Proc.: Selecting this option allows you to print dunning notices using a legal dunning procedure, regardless of whether any changes have taken place in the account or not.

Maintaining Charges

Sometimes a small amount of fee may be charged at certain dunning levels in the dunning procedure. Dunning charges are displayed only in the Dunning letter; no other entry will take place in the system. Dunning charges are entered in the customer account manually.

On the Maintain Dunning Procedure: Dunning levels screen, click Charges at the top left of the screen. The *Dunning Charges* dialog box pops up. Enter your company code currency – USD in the Currency field in the dialog box and click the Continue button at the bottom of the dialog box to go to the screen where you will maintain charges for the dunning program (Figure 15-3).



Figure 15-3. Maintaining charges for you dunning procedure

Specify the dunning levels and charges you want to apply to each dunning level. The next step is to specify the minimum amount you want to apply to your dunning levels.

Maintaining Minimum Amounts

You set minimum dunning amounts per dunning level to stop the system from triggering high dunning levels for insignificant amounts. You can do this by specifying a minimum amount or minimum percentage rates for each dunning level. The dunning program will check the open item to see if it is to be dunned. If the amount due on the open item is less than the minimum amount, the dunning program will exclude it from the dunning. But if the open item exceeds the minimum amount or the minimum percentage rate, the system will dun the open item. The system will also check your specifications to determine the minimum amount on which interest is applied.

Note When you set a minimum as the dunning amount per level for which to charge interest, any amount below the minimum amount you set will not attract charges.

On the Maintain Dunning Procedure: Charges screen, click Minimum amounts on the top of the screen to go to the screen where you will maintain the minimum amount charged at each dunning level. The Minimum Amounts dialog box comes up. Enter your company code country currency key in the Currency field and click Continue at the bottom of the dialog box. The Maintain Dunning Procedure: Minimum amounts screen appears. This is the screen where you will specify the minimum amount that should attract charges.
≡							>	S20 (1) 100	• 6	_ 0	×
<	SAP				Maintain	in Dunning Procedure: Minimum amounts					
		Dunning Involu	Charges	Dumping taxts Delete lin	Hara						
		Durining levels	Charges	Comming texts Celete ins	more	•					
Du	ann.Procedure: C100										
Name	Four-L	evel Dunning, ever	y two weeks								
Minimur	n amounts										
Dun	Minimum amnt	Min.Percent.	NoRed.	Min.Amt for Interest		Currency: USD					
1	1			1							
2	2 5			2,5							
4	10			5	70						
H											
ă											
ā											
Н											
H											
H											
-											
		_									

Figure 15-4. Specifying of minimum amount and minimum amount for interest for each dunning level

When the minimum amount or percentage is reached or exceeded in respect of all open items, the system will trigger the next upper dunning level. If the specified minimum amount or minimum percentage is not reached, the system will automatically assign the items to the next level and carry out another check.

Note You can specify either a minimum amount or percentage to your dunning procedure. You cannot use both at the same time.

The next step is to specify the dunning texts you want to use for each dunning level.

Dunning texts

SAP comes with standard forms in SAPscript, which you can use for your dunning procedure. You can maintain the name of the form that you want to use per dunning level. SAPscript defines the layout of the form represented in the system. The dunning program generates payment advice notes, dunning notices, and payment terms.

Click Dunning texts at the top of the screen, the Company Code/Account Type dialog box pops up; enter your company code in the Company Code field (C100). In the Account type section of the screen, you are presented with two account types: Customer and Vendor. Select the account type for your dunning text. In this case, select Customer by activating the radio button in front of it. Then click Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box. The Maintain Dunning Procedure: Company code data screen is displayed. Click New company code at the top left of the screen, the *New Company Code* dialog box pops up, enter your company code (C100) in the Company Code field and click continue to confirm your entry. You will notice that your company code comes on top in the list of company codes list in the Maintain Dunning Procedure: Company code data screen, as in Figure 15-5.

=					> s	20 (1) 100	_ 0	×
<	SAP			Maintain Dunning Procedure: Company code data				
	~ New o	company code Delete line	More 🗸					
Compan	y code Dunning by dunning are	Separate notice a per dunning level	Ref.comp.code for texts					
C100			C100 Q					
EPR1			1710					
EX13	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	1	EX13					
EYFR	1		0001					
GR01	1		0001					
GR02	9		0001					
GR06	V		0001					
GRES	×		0001					
JC01	~		0001					
3501	1		0001					12
MC01	×		0001					
MM01			1710					
0X0Z	1		0001					
PQRC			PQRC					
RECO	2		0001					
REOB	1		0001					
RERF			0001					
SD01	8		0001					
							Save d	iata

Figure 15-5. Maintaining company code data in your dunning program

At this level, save your dunning program customizing.

The next thing you need to do is to assign SAPscript forms to each dunning level. Click the Back Arrow bottom at the top left of the screen to return to the previous screen, the Maintain Dunning Procedure: Minimum Amounts screen. The Maintain company code screen pops up with the question "Do you want to save the data?" choose the yes button at the bottom left of the screen to save your configuration.

On the Maintain Dunning Procedure: Minimum amounts screen displayed, click Dunning texts at the top of the screen. The Company Code/Account Type dialog box pops up, defaulting your company code and customer account type. Click continue at the bottom right of the dialog box and Maintain Dunning Procedure: Dunning texts screen appears. This is the screen where you will specify the appropriate SAPscript form for each dunning level, as in Figure 15-6.

=				> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗗 🗙
/ SAD				
× •••	E Form F150 DU	N 01 (Mahnungsformular)	×	
Display <-> Change Expan			More 🖂	Q, Q* 😇 Exit
	General information	Comments		
Structure	~ 🕝 Client 000			
Dunning	C Language ZH Translate	, Saved		
□ 🗊 😨 💝 Dunning Form	Language TH Actv.			
Dunning Form with Interest	C Language KO Translate	e, Saved		
□ 🗊 💮 💝 Internal Dunning Notice for Respondent	C Language RO Translat	e. Saved		
□ 🔲 💮 📚 Swiss Dunning Form	Language SL Actv.			
Dunning Form	C Language HR Translate	e, Saved		
□ ③ ⊕ ≫ Dunning Form with Interest	C Language HE Translate	e, Saved		
Internal Dunning Notice for Respondent	C Language CS Actv.			
□ ③ ⊕ ≫ Dunning Form COURIER 120	Language DE Actv.	Original language		
□ 🖬 💮 💝 Payment Reminder	Language EN Actv.			
□ 👔 🐨 🐸 Dunning Form	C Language FR Translate	. Saved		
	R Language HU Actv.			
	Language IT Translate.	Saved		
	Language JA Actv.			
	Language DA Translate	a, Saved		
	Language PL Actv.			
	Language ZF Translate	, Saved		
	🖃 Language NL Translate	, Saved		
	Language NO Translat	e, Saved		
	Language PT Translate	a, Saved		
	💷 Language SK Actv.			
	Language RU Actv.			
	💷 Language ES Translate	, Saved		
	Language FI Actv.			
	Language SV Translate	, Saved		
	Tanaliana B/2 Translate	e Caund		
			and the second se	Select Nodes
			ê 0	

Figure 15-6. The list of SAPscript forms provided by SAP in the system

Now specify the appropriate form for each dunning level (Figure 15-7).

=			>	S20 (1) 100	• 6	- 1	∃ ×
< SAP		Maintain Dunning Procedure: Dunning texts					
V Dunning I	evels Charges Minimum amou	ints. Delete line More \vee					
Dunn.Procedure: C100							
Name Four-Level Dunni	ng, every two weeks						
Company Code: C100 Spoxic Inc							
Account type: D Customer							
Normal dunning procedure	List Name A	av. Form ID					
F150_D	UNN_01						
2 F150_D	UNN_01						
3 F150_D	UNN_02						
4 F150_D	UNN_02						
Legal dunning proceedings							
F150_D	UNN_03	Display form					
							ĵ

Figure 15-7. The screen where you specify the appropriate SAPscript form for each dunning level

SAPscript forms contain the reminder letters you apply to each dunning level. SAP provided dunning forms that you can assign to each dunning level. For Example, F150_DUNN_01, F150_DUNN_02, and F150_DUNN_03. We recommend that you use the SAPscript form F150_DUNN_01 for dunning levels 1 & 2 and F150_DUNN_02 for levels 3 & 4. The SAPscript F150_DUNN_01 content is more cautious than the remaining SAPscript forms.

Tip You can change the content of the form to meet your requirements.

The final step in customizing the dunning procedure is to specify special G/L indicators for customers and vendors.

Special GL Indicator

This specification will allow special GL transactions to be dunned. You can also include special GL transactions to your dunning by setting the appropriate indicators. For example, if you want Down payment request to be dunned, you must set the special GL

indicator in the dunning procedure. This will automatically allow the system to search for due down payment requests and include them in your dunning.

Click the Back arrow at the top right of Maintain Dunning Procedure: Dunning texts screen to return to the previous screen, the Maintain Dunning Procedure: Overview screen. Click Sp. G/L indicator at the top right of the screen to go to the screen where you will carry out the specification of special G/L indicator(s) for your dunning procedure. The Maintain Dunning Procedure: Special G/L indicator screen is displayed (Figure 15-8).

=		> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 🔔 🗇 🗙
< SAP	Maintain Dunning Procedure: Special G/L indicator	
✓ Choose More	×	
Dunn Drosedure: C100		
Name Four-Level Dunning, ever	ry two weeks	
Customers	Vendors	
A Down Payment	2 Factoring VCard	
B Nonrediscountable Bills of Ex.	A Down Payments, Current Assets	
C Rent deposit	B Down Payments, Financ1 Assets	
D Doubtful Receivables	C Value-Dated Bank Transfer	
E Individual Value Adjustment	D Discounts	
F Down Payment Request	F Down Payment Requests	
G Guarantees Given	G Guarantee received	
H Security Deposit	H Security deposit	
I Down Payments, Intang. Assets	I Down Payments, Intang. Assets	
3 Advance Payment Request	3 Advance Payment Request	
K AP Operating Costs	K AP Operating Costs	
L Down payment offset	L Down payment offset	
P Payment Request	M Down Payments, Tangible Assets	
Q B/e residual risk	N Supplier Financing	
R Bill of Exchange Payt Request	O Down Payments, Amortization	
S Check/Bill of Exchange	P Payment request	

Figure 15-8. Special G/L indicators specification

Click the Back arrow at the top left of the screen to return to the previous screen, the Maintain Dunning Procedure: Overview screen, and save your dunning procedure.

You have just completed the configuration for automatic dunning. The next activity in this chapter is to look at how to configure correspondence in SAP S4 HANA.

Assigning Dunning Procedure to Customer Master Data

As we mentioned earlier, dunning is an automatic process of sending reminder notices to customers demanding payment of overdue invoices. This program ensures that the mechanism for sending reminder letters for due invoice payments is in place.

To assign a dunning procedure to customer master data follow this menu path: *Easy Access: Financial Accounting* > *General Ledger* > *Master Data* > *Change.* The Customer Change: Initial screen pops up, search for the customer you want to assign dunning. The Customer's details will be displayed, click Correspondence at the top right of the screen and assign dunning.

Summary

This chapter explained what dunning is and talked a bit about how to define a dunning area. You learned how to define a dunning procedure. You also learned how to specify dunning levels, charges, and minimum amounts for your dunning procedures. You learned how to assign text to the dunnings and how to specify the G/L indicators for each dunning procedure.

The next chapter looks at configuring special G/L transactions. As part of this customizing activity, you will learn how to define various types of down payments, define tax clearing accounts, and use various special G/L transactions, including guarantees (automatic offsetting entry (statistical), down payments (free offsetting entry), and bills of exchange (noted items).

CHAPTER 16

Special GL Transactions

Objective

In this chapter, we look at Special GL Transactions and how to disclose Special GL transactions in SAP R/3 using alternative reconciliation accounts.

At the end of this activity, you will be able to:

- Configure Special GL Transactions.
- Define various types of Down Payments (i.e., Down payment Made, Received, and Requested).
- Define Tax Clearing Account for Down payments.
- Explain various Special GL Transactions, including Down Payments (Down payment request, down payment made, and down payment received), Other Special GL Transactions such as Guarantees, noted items, Free Offsetting Entry, and Automatic Offsetting Entries.

Special G/L Transactions

Before looking at special GL transactions in detail, it is important to first look at what are General Ledger (GL) and GL Reconciliation Accounts?

GL accounts strictly adhere to the basic accounting principle of Debit and Credit – double entry bookkeeping. In SAP, transactions relating to Account Receivables (AR) and Account Payables (AP) are posted to sub-ledgers defined in the system. The totals of sub-ledgers are automatically posted to reconciliation accounts. The advantage of a reconciliation account is to provide a quick snapshot of subledger balances as totals in order to be able to draw-up a financial/income statement easily. Secondly, to also be

able to determine the totals of receivables and payables for a given period, the balances of reconciliation account can be quickly called up, instead of having to go through numerous subledgers, which may be time consuming.

Therefore, reconciliation accounts are summaries of subledger accounts. It is important to specify the reconciliation account to be posted during the creation of payables/receivables in customers/vendors master record in the company code segment.

Special GL transactions are part of AR and AP transactions. Due to their nature and disclosure in the financial report, they are displayed separately in the general ledger and subledgers.

Reconciliation account is defined in the subledger account. This links the subledger to the General ledger. Subledger accounts with special GL transactions are assigned using a special GL indicator; this makes postings to alternative reconciliation accounts (special GL accounts) possible. Hence separate disclosure.

Special G/L transactions include down payments, bill of exchange, and other transactions. In SAP S4 HANA, special G/L transactions can be distinguished between business relationships and technical factors. This is represented in Figure 16-1.



Figure 16-1. The distinctions between the special G/L transactions according to their relationships and technical factors

Special GL transactions include:

- 1) Down payments.
- 2) Bill of exchange.
- 3) Other Transactions (Guarantees).

Special GL - General Ledger types

Special GL transactions can be looked at under three headings based Special GL types and variability according to their relationship with the main ledger:

1. Automatic Offsetting Entry

A typical example of Automatic Offsetting Entry is guarantee of payments. They are termed as statistical postings because they are not displayed in the financial statements. They are only displayed as notes to the financial statements. Since they form part of automatic offsetting entries, entries are made in the same offsetting account. The offsetting entries account is defined in IMG; this makes it possible for the system to make automatic offsetting entries. Once an open item is cleared in the account, the system will carry out automatic clearing to clear related items simultaneously in the offsetting account.

2. Noted Items

Examples of noted items are down payment requests, bill of exchange payment requests, etc.

Noted items have no impact on the GL because no posting is made to the GL. It is purely for information purposes, which serves as a reminder. When a down payment request exists on an account, during payment posting, the system will automatically reminds the user that a down payment request exists on the account. No open item balance check is made with noted items and offsetting entry is not needed. Only one line item is updated when a noted item is created.

A noted item is treated as an open item in the system, hence line item should be activated. It is also possible for the payment program and dunning program to access noted items for further processing.

3. Free Offsetting Entry

An example of free offsetting entry is down payment received. Depending on the type of posting involved, free off setting entry generates a proper posting in the general ledger since is it part of accounts receivable/payable. Special GL transactions relating to Free Offsetting Entry will automatically debit or credit special GL reconciliation accounts once it occurs.

Configuration of Special GL Transactions.

In this activity, you will only be looking at down payment made, down payment received, and guarantees.

No further configurations are needed for bill of exchange and other special GL transactions. The settings for these items supplied by SAP in the system relating to country specific settings are sufficient.

Down Payments

Introduction

There are typically two types of down payments:

- Down payment made.
- Down payment received.



Figure 16-2. Types of down payments represented in SAP S4 HANA

Down payments are short-term finance. This is a usual business practice for either a customer or vendor to obtain a short-term finance without having to pay interest on down payment. This is normally the case in a situation where, for example, a manufacturer may not be able to finance production alone and as a result may request down payment before a production begins or during, after or after partial completion of production.

It is an accounting practice to separate down payments from the normal business receivables and payables balances and display them separately in the balance sheet.

There are several factors that give rise to down payments during a normal course of a business. For example, payable or receivable arising from either the purchase of an asset or from providing a service.

Down payments are disclosed on the balance sheet either as assets or liabilities. If the transaction is a receivable, it is treated as an asset and debited accordingly. On the other hand, if the down payment is payable, it is a liability and it is credited on the balance sheet.

Upon the delivery of goods or the performance of services of which down payment were made, the accounts involved needs to be cleared and the down payment will no longer be displayed on the balance sheet. **Note** Before you commence with the integration of Down Payments, it is advisable to create the appropriate G/L Accounts that will be needed in your configurations. To do this, please refer to Chapter 5 on how to create G/L accounts.

Down Payment Received

This an advance payment made to you by your customer for the provision of goods or services. As mentioned earlier, down payment is a sort of financing.

Reconciliation Accounts for Customer Down Payments

In this activity, you will define customer down payments that are managed in GL. The settings you specify will make it possible for the system to automatically post down payment transactions to a special GL reconciliation account instead of the normal receivable GL reconciliation account.

Problem: As part of accounting policy, Company C900 plc wants to be able to post Customer Down Payment to a special Reconciliation Account, instead of the normal Customer Reconciliation Account. You are to define Reconciliation Accounts for Customer Down Payment for Spoxio Inc.

To define the reconciliation accounts for sown payments, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* → *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* → *Business Transactions* → *Down Payments Received* → *Define Reconciliation Accounts for Customer Down Payments.*

The *Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L List* screen is displayed. Containing the list of possible Special G/L Transactions (Figure 16-3).

≡				> \$20(1)100	× 🖻 🔔 🗟 🔍
< 5	AP		Maintain Accounting Configuration : Special G/L - List		
	~]	Choose Create	Delete More Y		Exit
Acct type	Sp.G/Lind.	Name	Description		
00	A	Dwn pmt	Down Payment		
D	c	SecDep.	Rent deposit		
D	F	Pmt req	Down Payment Request		
D	G	Guaran.	Guarantees Given		
D	3	AdPayRe	Advance Payment Request		
D	к	AdPy OC	AP Operating Costs		
D	L	DP Offs	Down payment offset		
D	T	Dwn Pmt	Down Payment		
D	U	AdP.SBR	AP sales-based rent		
1					

Figure 16-3. List of special G/L transactions provided by SAP in the system

Select **Down Payment (SP.G/Lind. A)** from the list by clicking on it to select it and click Choose at the top left of the screen. The Chart of Accounts Entry dialog Box popsup. Enter your Chart of Accounts ID (CA10) in the *Chart of Accounts* field and click Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box.

The *Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L - Accounts* screen is displayed (Figure 16-4). Enter G/L Account – 119000 in the Reconciliation Account field and enter the Special G/L Account – 170000 in the Special G/L Account field. Enter Output tax type – **A** in the Output tax clearing field.

=		> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗇 🗙
< SAP	Maintain Accounting Configuration : Special G/L - Accounts	
Celete List Properties More ~		Ext
Chart of Accounts: CA10 Chart of Accounts - C100 Account type: D Customer Special G/L Ind.: A Down Payment Account assignment		
Recon. acct Special G/L account Planning level Output tax clearing 119000 170000		
		Save Terminate

Figure 16-4. Assignment of reconciliation accounts for customer down payments

Update the following fields:

Recon. acct: Enter the G/L reconciliation account for clearing down payment (we used 119000 as our reconciliation account in this activity) in this field.

Special G/L account: Enter the G/L for advance customer payment (we used 170000 in this activity) in this field.

Output tax clearing: Enter A (output tax type) in this field. This specification allows the system to post tax elements arising from down payments to the output clearing account. SAP comes with two tax types: A for output tax and V for input tax. You can access these tax types by using the match code or search function that appears when you click on the Output tax clearing field.

The next step is to check the defaulted specifications in the system for your Special G/L payment properties to see if the setting meets your requirement. To do this, click Properties (this is the third item from the top left of the screen).

Note SAP normally comes with preconfigured settings for Special G/L properties. Check the Special G/L specifications provided by the system to make sure that it meets your need.

=		> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 🖕	_ 8 ×
< SAP	Maintain Accounting Configuration	n : Special G/L - Properties	
V Delete List Account	ts More ~		Exit
Account type: D Customer Special GrL Ind.: A Down Payment			
Properties	Special G/L transaction types		
Noted Items	Down payment/Down payment request		
Reilto Credit Limit	 Bill of exchange/Bill request 		
Commitments Warning	Others		
Target Sp.G/L Ind.:	_		
Posting Key			
Debit	Credit		
09 Reverse down payment	19 Down pmnt received		
		Save	Terminate

Figure 16-5. The standard properties for customer down payments

Save your work.

The next step in this activity is to define down payment request for customers.

Down Payment Requests (Customer)

As mentioned above, Down Payment is a form of short-term finance, and it could also engender commitment from customers, especially in a situation where the integrity of the customer is in question. Down payment request is a normal business practice where an advance payment is requested in full or partially prior to commencement of a business transaction.

Defining Reconciliation Accounts for Customer Down Payments Request

To define the reconciliation accounts for customer down payment request, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* ➤ *Business Transactions* ➤ *Down Payments Received* ➤ *Define Reconciliation Accounts for Customer Down Payments*.

The *Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L List* screen is displayed. Containing the list of possible Special G/L Transaction. Select **Down Payment Request (SP.G/Lind. F)** from the list by clicking on it to select it and click Choose at the top left of the screen. The Chart of Accounts Entry dialog Box pops-up. Enter your Chart of Accounts ID (CA10) in the *Chart of Accounts* field and click Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box.

The *Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L - Accounts* screen is displayed (Figure 16-6).

=			> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🕼 📃 🗗 🗙
K SAP	Maintain Accounting Configurati	on : Special G/L - Accounts	
V Delete List Pro	operties More 🛩		Exit
Chart of Accounts: CALO Chart of Acc Account type: D Customer Special G/L Ind.: F Down Paym Account assignment	ounts - C100 ent Request		
Recon. sect Spelal GL account Planning level 119000 196000			
			Save Terminate

Figure 16-6. Special G/L accounts for customer down payment request

Enter G/L 119000 in the Reconciliation Account field and Payment requests (Customer) – 196000 in the Special G/L account field. Enter planning level FF (Down Payment Request) in the Planning level field.

Click the Properties function at the top of the screen to check the defaulted specifications in the system for your Special G/L payment properties to see if the setting meets your requirement. To do this, click Properties (this is the third item from the top left of the screen).

Save your settings.

The final step in defining customer down payments is to define the tax clearing account.

Defining Account for Tax Clearing (Down payments Customer)

The tax entered for down payment will be posted to the tax clearing account you defined in this activity and the tax rate typically depends on your company code country's legal specifications. To define the account for tax clearing, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* → *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* → *Business Transactions* → *Down Payments Received* → *Define Account for Tax Clearing.*

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedures* screen comes up, displaying a list of procedures provided by SAP in the system. From the Procedure list, Select **Output tax clearing on down payments – MVA** by clicking on it and click Choose at the top left of the screen. The *Chart of Accounts Entry* dialog screen pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts ID (CA10) in the *Enter Chart of Account* field and click Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules* comes up. Select the **Output tax clearing** checkbox in Accounts are determined based on section of the screen and then click the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts* screen is displayed (Figure 16-7).



Figure 16-7. Specifying the output tax type and account for output tax clearing for customer down payments

Enter Output Tax type – **A** in the **Output Tax type** field and enter the appropriate G/L Account for Output tax clearing on down payments (We used 170010 as our G/L account in this activity) in the **Account field**.

Save your work.

Down Payment Made

Down payment made is an advance money you pay to your vendor as a down payment in anticipation of receiving goods or services at a future date. For example, you might make a down payment on your current assets.

Note Before you carry out the customization of down payment made, make sure that you have created the appropriate G/L Accounts for Alternative Reconciliation Account for Down Payments.

Reconciliation Accounts for Vendor Down Payments

Problem: As part of Spoxio Inc. accounting policy, the Spoxio Inc. accounting team wants to be able to post vendor down payments to a special reconciliation account, instead of the normal vendor reconciliation account. Your task is to define the reconciliation accounts that vendor down payments will be posted in.

In this activity, you will define Vendor down payments that are managed in GL. The settings we specify here will make it possible for the system to automatically post down payment transactions to a special GL reconciliation account instead of the normal receivable GL reconciliation account.

To define alternative reconciliation accounts for down payments, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* ➤ *Business Transactions* ➤ *Down Payments Made* ➤ *Define Alternative Reconciliation Account for Down Payments*.

The *Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L List* is displayed (Figure 16-8).

≡				> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗗 🗙
< 5	AP		Maintain Accounting Configuration : Special G/L - List	
-				
	×)	Choose Create	Delete More ~	Exit
Acct type	Sp.G/Lind.	Name	Description	
KD	A	DP, CA	Down Payments, Current Assets	
к	8	DP, FA	Down Payments, Financi Assets	
к	F	Pmt req	Down Payment Requests	
к	I	DP, IA	Down Payments, Intang. Assets	
к	3	AdPayRe	Advance Payment Request	
к	к	AdPy OC	AP Operating Costs	
к	L	DP Offs	Down payment offset	
к	м	DP, TA	Down Payments, Tangible Assets	
к	0	DP, A	Down Payments, Amortization	
к	V	DP, S	Down Payments, Stocks	
к	x	DP, WI	Down Payment, Without Invoice	
1				

Figure 16-8. Possible list of special G/L transactions provided by SAP

To specify the special G/L account that down payment transactions will be posted in, select **Down Payments Current Assets (SP.G/Lind. A)** from the list by clicking on it to select it and click Choose at the top left of the screen. The Chart of Accounts Entry dialog Box pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts ID (CA10) in the *Chart of Accounts* field and click Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box.

The *Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L - Accounts* screen is displayed (Figure 16-9).

=		> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗇 🗙
< SAP	Maintain Accounting Configuration : Special G/L - Accounts	
→ Delete List Properties More →		Exit
Chart of Accounts: CALO Chart of Accounts - C100 Account type: K Vendor Special GiL Ind.: A Down Payments, Current Assets Account assignment		
Recon. acct Special G/L account Planning level input tax clearing 213000 159000	8	
		Save Terminate

Figure 16-9. Special G/L accounts for vendor advance

Update the following fields:

Recon. acct: Enter the G/L reconciliation account for clearing down payment for vendor (we used 213000 as our reconciliation account in this activity) in this field.

Special G/L account: Enter the G/L for advance vendor payment (we used 159000 in this activity) in this field.

Output tax clearing: Enter V (input tax type) in this field. This specification allows the system to post tax elements arising from down payments to the input clearing account.

Save your settings.

The next step is to check the defaulted specifications in the system for your Special G/L payment properties to see if the setting meets your requirement. To do this, click Properties (this is the third item from the top left of the screen). The Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L – Properties is displayed. You don't need to adjust any settings here, this exercise is just to check your settings and make sure that they are okay.

Your screen should look like the one in Figure 16-10.

≡			> \$20 (1) 100	• 6	_ 8 ×
< SAP		Maintain Accounting Configuration	: Special G/L - Properties		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Delete List Accounts	More ~			Exit
Account type: Special G/L Ind.:	K Vendor A Down Payments, Currer	t Assets			
Properties		Special G/L transaction types			
Noted Items		Down payment/Down payment request			
Rel.to Credit Limit		 Bill of exchange/Bill request 			
Commitments Warning		Others			
Target Sp.G/L Ind.	÷ [
Posting Key					
Debit		Credit			
29 Down payment made		39 Reverse down payment			
	_			-	
				Save	Terminate

Figure 16-10. Standard Special G/L properties settings

Note SAP normally comes with preconfigured settings for Special G/L properties. Check the Special G/L specifications provided by the system to make sure that they meet your needs.

Down Payment Request for Vendors

This is when a vendor requests partial or full advance payment from you before commencing a business transaction.

Note Down Payment Request is a noted item.

To customize down payment request for vendors, follow this menu path: IMG: Financial Accounting➤ Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable ➤ Business Transactions ➤ Down Payments Made ➤ Define Alternative Reconciliation Account for Down Payments.

The *Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L List* screen is displayed, containing the list of possible Special G/L Transactions. Select **Down Payment Request (SP.G/Lind. F)** from the list by clicking on it to select it, and click Choose at the top left of the screen. The Chart of Accounts Entry dialog Box pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts ID (CA10) in the *Chart of Accounts* field and click Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box.

The *Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L - Accounts* screen is displayed (Figure 16-11).



Figure 16-11. Special G/L accounts for vendor down payment request

Enter G/L 213000 in the Reconciliation Account field and Payment requests (Vendor) – 196300 in the Special G/L account field. Enter planning level FF (Down Payment Request) in the Planning level field.

Click the Properties function at the top of the screen to check the defaulted specifications in the system for your Special G/L payment properties to see if the setting meets your requirement. To do this, click Properties (this is the third item from the top left of the screen).

Save your settings.

The final step in defining vendor down payments is to define the tax clearing account.

Defining Account for Tax Clearing (Down payments – Vendor)

Depending on your country's legal specifications, the tax entered for down payment will be posted to the tax clearing account you defined in here.

Problem: Your client wants a tax clearing account that will enable the Spoxio Inc. accounting team to display gross down payments in the vendor accounts in order to meeting legal requirements. Your task is to define a clearing account for down payments made that will enable the Spoxio Inc. accounting team to achieve this objective.

To define account tax clearing for vendor down payments, follow this menu path: IMG: Financial Accounting ➤ Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable ➤ Business Transactions ➤ Down Payments Made ➤ Define Account for Tax Clearing.

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Procedures* screen comes up, displaying a list of procedures provided by SAP in the system. From the Procedure list Select **Input tax clearing on down payments – VVA** by clicking on it, and click Choose at the top left of the screen. The *Chart of Accounts Entry* dialog screen pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts ID (CA10) in the *Enter Chart of Account* field and click Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules* comes up. Select **Input tax clearing** checkbox in **Accounts are determined based on** section of the screen and then click the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts* screen is displayed (Figure 16-12).

≡															> \$20 (1) 100 💽	6	- 🗟 ×
<	SAP						Cor	figuratio	n Account	ting Maintain .	Automatic Pos	its - Acco	unts					
		×	Previous	operation	Next opera	tion Ne	w Entries	Сору	Delete	Posting Key	Procedures	Rules	More ~					Exit
Account as	Chart of Ac Tran	ccounts: isaction:	CA10 VVA	Chart of Act	counts - C100 arring on dow	n payment	5											
Input tax c	clea Acco	ount																۲
•	1550	510	्व															1
					Position													
										- 10							Save	Terminate

Figure 16-12. Specifying the Input tax type and account for Input tax clearing for customer down payments

Enter Output Tax type – **V** in the *Input Tax type* field and enter the appropriate G/L Account for Input tax clearing on down payments (we used 159010 as our G/L account in this activity) in the *Account field*.

Save your work.

Guarantees

Bank Guarantee is a legally binding document issued by the banks or other financial institutions on behalf of their client to a third party (supplier) to enable the client to obtain goods or services from a supplier on credit for an agreed time period. Bank guarantee is a kind of short-term borrowing. It is a formal assurance by the bank to make payment to a supplier in an event where their client fails to keep their part of the debt obligation for goods or services received within the specified period.

It is a normal business practice for banks to request some form of collateral or security from their clients before issuing them a letter of credit in order to safeguard the assets of the bank. **Note** Before you proceed with this activity, you have to first create the GL accounts that you would need to assign to your settings for Guarantee during your configuration. Please refer to Chapter 5 on how to create G/L accounts.

Defining Alternative Reconciliation Accounts for Vendors (Guarantees)

Problem: It is mandatory to disclosure the requirement for Spoxio Inc. to maintain separate special G/L accounts where guarantees are posted, instead of the normal vendor reconciliation accounts. Your task is to define alternative reconciliation accounts that will enable posting guarantees to G/L special accounts.

To go to the screen where you will define alternative reconciliation accounts for customers (guarantees), follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* ➤ *Business Transactions* ➤ *Postings with Alternative Reconciliation Account* ➤ *Other Special GL Transactions* ➤ *Define Alternative Reconciliation Account for Vendors.*

The *Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L List* screen is displayed (Figure 16-13), containing the list of possible Special G/L Transactions.

≡				> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗗 🗙
< 54	NP .		Maintain Accounting Configuration : Special G/L - List	
	<u>~</u>]	Choose Create	Delete More V	Exit
Acct type	Sp.G/Lind.	Name	Description	
KO	c	VDated	Value-Dated Bank Transfer	
к	D	Disct	Discounts	
к	G	Guaran.	Guarantee received	
к	н	Securit	Security deposit	
ĸ	P	PmntReq	Payment request	

Figure 16-13. List of special G/L transactions provided by SAP in the system (Guarantee)

Select **Guarantee (SP.G/Lind. G)** from the list by clicking on it to select it and click Choose at the top left of the screen. The Chart of Accounts Entry dialog Box pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts ID (CA10) in the *Chart of Accounts* field, and click Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box.

The *Maintain Accounting Configuration: Special G/L - Accounts* screen is displayed (Figure 16-14). Enter G/L Account – 213000 in the Reconciliation Account field and enter the Special G/L Account – 196400 in the Special G/L Account field.

=		> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗇 🗙
< SAP	Maintain Accounting Configuration : Special G/L - Accounts	
✓ Delete List Properties More ✓		ExR
Chert of Accounts: CALO Chart of Accounts - C100 Account type: K Vendor Special G/L Ind : G Guarantee received Account assignment		
Racon.act Special (ol. account Planning level 213000 [E33500] (i) Image:		
		Save Terminate

Figure 16-14. Assignment of reconciliation accounts for Guarantees

Update the following fields:

Recon. acct: Enter the G/L reconciliation account for clearing down payment (we used 213000 as our reconciliation account in this activity) in this field.

Special G/L account: Enter the G/L for advance customer payment (we used 196400 in this activity) in this field.

The next step is to check the defaulted specifications in the system for your Special G/L payment properties to see if the setting meets your requirement. To do this, click Properties (this is the third item from the top left of the screen).

Note SAP normally comes with preconfigured settings for Special G/L properties. Check the Special G/L specifications provided by the system to make sure that they meet your needs.

=		> S20 (1) 100 🕑 🙆 🔔 🔂 🗙
< SAP	Maintain Accounting Configuration : Spec	ial G/L - Properties
Selete List	Accounts More ~	Ext
Account type: K Vendor Special G/L Ind.: G Guarantee re	sceived	
Properties	Special G/L transaction types	
Noted Items	Down payment/Down payment request	
Rel.to Credit Limit	 Bill of exchange/Bill request 	
Commitments Warning 🔽 Target Sp.G/L Ind.:	Others	
Posting Key		
29 Pasat guarantee	39 Guarantea	
Changes have been made		Save Terminate

Figure 16-15. The standard properties for guarantee received settings

Save your work.

The last step in our guarantee customizing is to define accounts for automatic offsetting entry. By defining accounts for automatic offsetting entries, you are simply specifying the G/L accounts that the system will post the offsetting entries to for special G/L transactions.

Defining Accounts for Automatic Offsetting Entry

Accounts determination for automatic offsetting Entry for special GL transactions are based on account type, special G/L indicator, chart of accounts, and reconciliation account.

Problem: Your task is to define Accounts for Automatic Offsetting Entries for the following Accounts:

- DG Customer Guarantee.
- DS Customer Check/bill of exchange.
- KG Vendor Guarantee.
- KS Vendor Check/bill of exchange.

To define accounts for automatic offsetting entry, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable* ➤ *Business Transactions* ➤ *Postings with Alternative Reconciliation Account* ➤ *Other Special GL Transactions* ➤ *Define Accounts for Automatic Offsetting Entry.*

The *Enter your Chart of Accounts* dialog box pops up. Enter your Chart of Accounts ID (CA10) in the Chart of Accounts field. Confirm your entry by clicking Continue at the bottom right of the dialog box. The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Rules* screen comes up. Set *Account type/sp.G/L ind* checkbox. On the Automatic Posting Rules in **Accounts are determined based on** section of the screen, click the Save button at the bottom right of the screen.

The *Configuration Accounting Maintain: Automatic Posts – Accounts* screen where you will assign the G/L accounts for automatic Offsetting postings is displayed (Figure 16-16).

Using the information below, update fields following: Account type/special G/L Indicator and Account.

Account type/sp.G/L Ind	Account
DG – <i>Customer – Guarantee</i>	196110
DS Customer – Check/bill of exchange	196210
KG – <i>Vendor Guarantee</i>	196410
KS – Vendor – Check/bill of exchange	196210

Table 16-1. List of Account Types/Special G/L Indicators and Accounts

=				> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗇 🗙
< 5	AP		Configuration Accounting Maintain : Automatic Posts - Accounts	
	~)	New Entries Copy Delete Posting Key	Rules More ~	Exit
Ch Account assic	art of Accounts Transaction	CA10 Chart of Accounts - C100 SGA Automatic statistical offsetting entry		
Acethoneiro	Account			
DG	196110			
DS	196210			
KG	196410			
KS	196210	a		
		Position		
				Save Terminate

Figure 16-16. Assigning account types to G/L accounts for automatic statistical offsetting entries

Save your customizing.

Summary

This chapter looked at special G/L transactions in detail by comparing special G/L transactions with the normal G/L transactions. It explained various forms of special G/L transactions covered in SAP ERP, such as down payments, bills of exchange, and guarantees. You learned about the technical factors they belong to (noted items, free offsetting entry, and automatic offsetting entry). You also learned how to configure down payments (down payment made, down payment received, and down payment request) and how to check the properties of standard down payment settings supplied by SAP to see if they meet your requirements. You also learned how to define tax clearing accounts for down payments and learned about the specifications of the accounts special G/L transactions are posted to.

Finally, you learned what a guarantee is. You learned about alternative reconciliation accounts for customers/vendors and defined accounts for an automatic offsetting entry.

The next chapter explains Ledgers by looking at how to define accounting principles, assigning defined principles to ledger groups, defining settings for ledgers and currency types, and assigning accounting principles to ledger groups.

CHAPTER 17

Ledgers

In most cases, global organizations usually operate various accounting standards such as group accounting standard, local accounting standards, tax accounting standards, and so on. As a result, it may be important for large organizations to set up parallel accounting. SAP recommends to use separate ledgers for each accounting principle. For example, one ledger with US GAAP assigned to it and another with local accounting principle, and so on.

These forms of accounting standards need to be represented in the system. Ledgers in SAP HANA are an attempt to map parallel accounting business transactions in the G/L accounting as it gives you the flexibility to maintain various parallel ledgers that meet different accounting principles.

Since financial reporting requirements have increased significantly in recent times, and the primary responsibilities of organizations are to meet legal reporting requirements such as IFRS, GAAPs, IAS, and so on, the accounting principles mapped in ledgers allows organizations to generate financial statements to meet accounting standards requirements.

Parallel ledgers are maintained in general ledger accounting to represent several accounting principles such as IFRS for the leading ledger at the group level and local accounting standards such as Local GAAP in the extension ledger.

SAP comes with standard tables for saving and analyzing values based on total tables. For example, in ECC, the table is FAGLFLEXT, and in SAP S4 HANA, the line item table is ACDOCA.

SAP S4 Featured two types of ledgers in the system.

1. Standard ledgers:

Leading ledger is represented as – 0L in SAP S4 HANA. This standard ledger is a minimum requirement. Leading ledger stores accounting documents based on different accounting principles from a group point of view.

CHAPTER 17 LEDGERS

Non-Leading Ledger is a parallel ledger that allows reporting requirements to meet local accounting principles. Table ACDOCA stores the records created in the Leading Ledger in the Non-Leading Ledger.

2. Extended Ledger. This is a non-standard ledger

The idea of Extended Ledger is to be able to create parallel ledgers not as part of Standard Ledgers for local accounting principles. The primary purpose of extended ledger is that it serves as an underlying ledger. Therefore, postings made in the underlying ledger are applicable to the extended ledger. Hence, records relating to leading ledger in ACDOCA are not transferred to the extended ledger.

Now let's look at how to define accounting principles under ledgers in SAP S4 HANA.

Defining Accounting Principles

Accounting principal configuration is part of Parallel Accounting in the SAP S4 HANA system. The Accounting principles that you defined in this activity will makes it possible for the system to perform various accounting treatments in one entry like valuations and closing preparations for your company code according to defined accounting principles for IAS/US GAAP for the group and for other accounting principles for local accounting principles.

Warning Do not delete the accounting principles that you have defined because of the relationship accounting principles have with other accounting functions like currency valuation and others.

In this activity, you will defined Accounting Principles and assign the accounting principles you have defined to appropriate ledger groups.

To define accounting principles in SAP S4 HANA, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Ledgers* ➤ *Parallel Accounting* ➤ *Define Accounting Principles*. The Change View "Accounting Principles": Overview screen comes up, displaying accounting principles presented in the system (Figure 17-1). This is the screen where you define your accounting principles such as GAPP, IFRS, IAS, and so on, that you can assign to ledger.

≡										>	S20 (1) 100	■ 6	- ć	9 ×
<	SAP				Change '	View "Accounti	na Principles":	Overview						
	bandler'													
	V New E	ntries Copy As	Delete	Undo Change	Select All	Select Block	Deselect All	Configuration Help	More ~		ę	Displ	ay E	KİL -
Accoun	ting Principles													۲
Acc	Name of Accounting Princip	le												
ATAP	Austria GAAP					1								
AUAP	Australia GAAP													н.
BEAP	Belgium GAAP													
BMAP	Bermuda GAAP													
BRAP	Brazil GAAP													
BSAP	Bahamas GAAP													
BWAP	Botswana GAAP													
BZAP	Belize GAAP													
CAAP	Canada GAAP													
CAGP	Canadalan GAAP													
CHAP	Switzerland GAAP													
CNAP	China GAAP													
CWAP	Curacao GAAP													
CYAP	Cyprus GAAP													
CZAP	Czech GAAP													
DEAP	Germany GAAP													
DKAP	Denmark GAAP													
DOAP	Dominican Republic GAAP													
EFGA	EF10 US GAAP													
	-1	Position	E	Entry 6 of 91										
-		_	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	-	
												Sav	ca Ca	
_														

Figure 17-1. List of accounting principles represented in the system

Note SAP have provided some of accounting principles in the system (Figure 17-1) which you can use, so you don't have to create them again. However, we are just going to create accounting principles for local report.

Click New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to the screen where you will specify the settings for your accounting principle, as shown in Figure 17-2.

CHAPTER 17 LEDGERS

≡		> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗇 🗙
<	New Entries. Overview of Added Entries	
-	Delete Select All Select Block Deselect All Configuration Help More	C Display Ext
	annana annana annana annana annanana annangaranan rasp mara	
Accourt	nting Principles	۲
Acc	Name of Accounting Principle	
CA0	Leading Ledger - Spoxio Inc (C100)	
CAL	Local Accounting Standard - Spoxio Inc. (100)	
	-E Position Entry 0 of 0	
		Save Cancel

Figure 17-2. Defining your accounting principles

Update the following fields:

Accounting Principle: Enter a key for your local accounting principle in this field. In this activity, we used CA0L for our leading ledger and CALA for our local accounting standard.

Name of Accounting Principle: Enter description for your accounting principles in this field.

Save your accounting principle.

Note You cannot use an accounting principle key that has already been assigned to a ledger group in the system; if accounting principle keys C10, C20 C30 have been used, you will not be able to use them again. So, when defining accounting principle keys, try and use keys that have not been used already.

The next step in this activity is to define a ledger group that will be assigned to the accounting principles you have defined in this activity.

Defining Ledger Group

The Ledger group is the bringing together of several ledgers in a given group in order to simplify specific functions that are stored in the system relating to G/L accounting.

The ledger group is important in the sense that it allows you to specify the ledger group that the system can post to in the ledgers relating to the group you have specified in your customizing.

To Assign accounting principle to ledger groups, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Ledgers* ➤ *Ledger* ➤ *Define Ledger Group.*

The Change View "Ledger Group": Overview screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen. The New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen comes up (Figure 17-3).

=			> S20 (1) 100 💽 🔓 📃 🖻 🗙
< SAP		New Entries: Overview of Added Entries	
V Dele	te Select All	Select Block Deselect All Configuration Help More 🗸	💬 Display Exit
Dialog Structure	Ledger Gro	DUD COLOR	٢
√ ^[3] Ledger Group			
C Ledger Assignment	Ledger Gr	rp Description	
	OL	Ledger OL	
	so so	Local GAAP	
	D		
	0		
		-Entry 0 of 0	
			Save Cancel

Figure 17-3. Defining ledger group for your accounting principles

Enter keys for your ledger groups and a description. We used 0L as our leading ledger group and SO for our local accounting standard.

Save your work.

The next step is to assign the accounting principles you defined in Figure 17-2 to the target Ledger groups you created in Figure 17-3.

Assigning Accounting Principle to Ledger Groups

To define ledger groups for your accounting principles, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Ledgers* ➤ *Parallel Accounting* ➤ *Assign Accounting Principle to Ledger Groups*.

The Change View "Assignment of Accounting Principles to Target Ledger Group" Screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen to go to the New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen (Figure 17-4) where you will assign your accounting principles to target accounting group.

=				> S20 (1) 100 🗈 🙆 🔔 🗃 🗙
< SA	7	New Er	ntries: Overview of Added Entries	
	✓ Delete	Select All Select Block Deselect All Configuration Hi	elp More 🗸	🖗 Display Exit
Assignment of	Accounting Principle t	Target Ledger Group		0
Accounting P	Target Ledger Group	Description		
CAOL	OL	Ledger 0L		
CALA	50	Local GAAP		
1	Q			
	-			
	→≣ Po	tion Entry 1 of 2		
				Save Cancel

Figure 17-4. Assignment of Accounting Principle to Target Ledger Group

Enter the accounting principles you defined in Figure 17-2 in the Accounting Principle fields. Using the search function or the match code to search for the accounting principles in the Target Ledger Group fields, as in Figure 17-4. In this activity, we used CA0L as our leading ledger and assigned it to a target group – 01. For local accounting standard, we used CALA as our accounting principle key and used SO as our nonleading ledger.

Save your work.

The next step in this activity is to define settings for ledgers and currency types.
Defining Ledger Settings for Ledgers and Currency Types

To define a Ledger for your accounting principle, follow this menu path: *IMG: Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Ledgers* ➤ *Ledger* ➤ *Define Settings for Ledgers and Currency Types.* Change View "Ledger": Overview screen is displayed. Click on the Ledger folder in the Dialog Structure on the left side of the screen and choose New Entries at the top left of the screen. The New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen is displayed (Figure 17-5). This is the screen where you will carry out your customizing of the ledger for accounting principles.

				CL BIOCK Desered	Check entries of	current table view All	Table Views More ~		8
og Structure	Leda	er							
Currency Types	Lec	ger I	Ledger Name	Leading	Ldgr Type	ExtLdgrTyp	Underlying Ledger	Valuation View	Subtype Val
Global Currency Conversion Se	OL		Ledger OL	1	Standard Ledger	v Standard jou.	~		
Currency Conversion Secongs in Lectorer	S0		Local GAAP		Standard Ledger	v Standard jou.	√์ou	0	
Company Code Settings for th					Standard Ledger	v Standard jou.	v		,
Accounting Principles for Le					Standard Ledger	v Standard jou	~		-
					Standard Ledger	v Standard jou	~		
					Standard Ledger	v Standard jou.	~		-
					Standard Ledger	v Standard jou_	~		
					Standard Ledger	v Standard jou.	~		-
					Standard Ledger	Standard jou_	~		-
					Standard Ledger	Standard jou.	~		-
					Standard Ledger	v Standard jou.	~	×	
					Standard Ledger	Standard jou.	~		·
					Standard Ledger	\sim Standard jou_	~		-
					Standard Ledger	<pre>Standard jou_</pre>	~		-
					Standard Ledger	✓ Standard jou_	~	×	
					Standard Ledger	Standard jou_	~	~	c .
					Standard Ledger	✓ Standard jou_	Y		
					Standard Ledger	<pre>v Standard jou_</pre>	~		·
					Standard Ledger	Standard jou.	~		-

Figure 17-5. Defining ledgers for accounting principles

Update the following field:

Ledger: Enter the ledger group keys you defined (in Figure 17-3) in this field. You can also use the search function to search for your ledger group key.

Ledger Name: Enter the name of the ledger group in this field. Such as 0L-Leading 0L and S0-Local GAAP.

Leading: Specify the leading ledger by ticking the checkbox in this field.

Ledger Type: Using the arrow by the side of the field, specify whether your ledger is a Standard Ledger or Extended Ledger. The ledger you activated as the leading ledger here will be used by the system as your leading ledger.

Standard Ledger: This ledger holds the contents of journal entries relating to the business transactions represented in the system.

Extension Ledger: This ledger is a new concept in SAP S4 HANA. This ledger use to be referred to as Appendix ledger in earlier versions. The extension ledger plays an important role in the sense that it helps to eliminate journal entries duplication, especially in an environment where several business transactions are valid for both standard and extension ledgers and minimum adjustments are required in the extension ledger at the end of each month.

Save your ledgers specifications.

Define Settings for Ledgers and Currency Types

SAP S4 HANA comes with a list of currency types that supplement the standard SAP currency types such as document currency – 00, company code currency – 10, controlling area – currency – 20, group currency – 30, and so on. The system also gives you the flexibility to create your currency types if you need to do so. However, we consider the currency types supplied by SAP in the system to be enough for your accounting.

SAP S4 HANA allows you to use up to 10 parallel currencies per ledger. The purpose behind this concept is to allow you to manage, check, and monitor balances and line items represented in different currencies based on your company's requirements.

It is important to note that the minimum requirement is that all company codes must be assigned to at least a leading ledger. Two leaders are represented in SAP S4 HANA.

To define Settings for ledgers and currency types, follow this menu path: Menu: *IMG Financial Accounting* ➤ *Financial Accounting Global Settings* ➤ *Ledgers* ➤ *Ledger* ➤ *Define Settings for Ledgers and Currency Types*. The Change View "Ledger": Overview screen is displayed (Figure 17-6).

✓ New E	ntries Copy As De	lete Undo Change Select All Select I	Block Deselect All C	Configuration Help $$ More $$ $$		6	Display Exit
Dialog Structure	Currency Types						
Currency Types	Currency/Valuation	Description	Short Description	Valuation View	Subtype Val	Currency Type	Company
Global Currency Conversion Se	00	Document Currency	Doc Crev	Legal Valuation	~		
Currency Conversion Settings to	01	Document Currency in Group Valuation	Doc Crev G	Group Valuation	~	00	~
Company Code Settings for th	02	Document Currency in Profit Center Valuati	Doc Crcy P	Profit Center Valu.	~	00	~
Paccounting Principles for Le	10	Company Code Currency	CCde Crcy	Legal Valuation	~		
	11	Company Code Currency, Group Valuation	CoCo. Grp	Group Valuation	~	10	
	12	Company Code Currency, Profit Center Val.	CoCo. PrC	Profit Center Valu_	~	10	
	19	COMPANY CODE CURRENCY 1982	NGN 1982	Legal Valuation	v		~
	20	Controlling Area Currency	CArea Crcy	Legal Valuation	~		
	30	Group Currency	Group Crcy	Legal Valuation	~		~
	31	Group Currency, Group Valuation	Grp. Grp	Group Valuation	~	30	4
1	32	Group Currency, Profit Center Valuation	Grp. PrCtr	Profit Center Valu.	~	30	~
	40	Hard Currency	Hard Crcy	Legal Valuation	~		~
	50	Index-Based Currency	Index Crcy	Legal Valuation	~		1
	60	Global Company Currency	GloCo Crcy	Legal Valuation	V		1
	70	Controlling Object Currency	COOb)Crcy	Legal Valuation	~		
		+I Position En	try 1 of 15				

Figure 17-6. The initial screen for defining company code settings for ledger

Since we are only defining accounting principles for ledger and company code in this activity, double click the Company Code Settings for the Ledger folder in the Dialog Structure on the left side of the screen. The Determine Work Area: Entry dialog box pops up. Enter your leading ledger key (01) in the Ledger filed and click the enter (the green circle) button at the bottom of the screen. The Consistency Check: Display messages screen comes up with a list of warnings; ignore the warning and X the screen. The Change View "Company Code Settings for Ledger": Overview screen with a list of company codes in the system is displayed. Using the Position button at the bottom of the screen or you can use the scroll bar at the right side of the screen, click on your company code (C100) to select it and click Details at the top left of the screen. The Change View "Company Code Settings for Ledger" Details screen is displayed (Figure 17-7).

=		> S20 (1) 100 💽 🙆 📃 🗗 🗙
< SAP	Change View "Company Code Settings for the Ledger": Details	
Chang	e -> Display Undo Change Previous Entry Next Entry Other Entry Check entries of current table view All Table Views All Details	More ~ 💮 Exit
Dialog Structure Currency Types Global Currency Conversion Se Currency Conversion Settings f: Ledger Company Code Settings for th Accounting Principles for Le	Ledger: OL Ledger DL Company Code: CLOO Spoxio Inc Company Code Settings for the Ledger Company Code Settings	
	Piscal Year Variant: Cal. Year, 4 Special Periods Pisting period variant: Spoxio Inc C100 Accounting Principle: 60 Punctional Currency: Carrency (Legal Valuation) - 1st FI Currency	
	Currency Type: 10 Company Code Currency (USD - US Dollar) Source Currency Type: 00 Global Currency	
	Currency Type:	Currency 🛞
		Save Cancel

Figure 17-7. The screen where you define settings for ledgers

The system automatically defaults the Fiscal Year Variant, The Posting period variant, and your company code currency type – 10. Enter your accounting principle key (60) in the Accounting Principle field. If you activate the Parallel Accounting Using G/L Accounts by ticking the checkbox, this will allow additional data when assigning more than one accounting principle to a combination of ledger and company code.

You can also assign up to 8 freely defined currencies. To do this, click the circled + sign at the bottom right of the screen to extend the screen.

Note The Global currency type will be automatically defaulted if you have defined your controlling area and assign your company code to the controlling area.

Tip Do not save your work yet.

The next step is to define the accounting principle for ledger and company code. At the Dialog Structure on the left pane of the screen, Double click The Accounting Principles for Ledger and Company code (This is the last items under Company Code Settings for the Ledger).

The Change View "Accounting Principles for Ledger and Company Code": Overview screen is displayed. Click New Entries at the top left of the screen. The New Entries: Overview of Added Entries screen comes up (Figure 17-8).



Figure 17-8. Assigning accounting principles for ledger and company code

Use the search function of the match code at the side of the Accounting Principle field to call up the list of accounting principles in the system. Assign your company code, and hit enter on your keyboard for the system to assign your accounting principle. Click the Save button at the bottom left of the screen. The Consistency Check: Display messages screen pops up, as in Figure 17-9, containing a list of warnings.



Figure 17-9. Consistency check warning message

Ignore the warning and click Continue (this is the green tick circle button) at the bottom right of the Consistency Check: Display messages screen and then save your settings.

This brings us to the end of this activity.

Summary

This chapter briefly explained what ledgers are and briefly looked at the types of ledgers in SAP S4 HANA, namely Standard ledger and extension ledgers. We then took you through various steps involved in defining accounting principles and how to assign accounting principles to a ledger group. You also learned other customizing steps such as defining a ledger group, and how to assign accounting principles to a ledger group.

Finally, you proceeded to learn how to define ledger settings for ledger and currency types. This brings us to the conclusion of this book.

Now that you have completed the customizing activities covered in this book, we are optimistic that you can apply what you learned in this book to real-world scenarios. This was our primary objective for writing this book. Good luck, we wish you the very best in the world of SAP FI consultancy.

APPENDIX A

Some Useful Transaction Codes

FI

Organizational Structure

Description	Transaction Code
Display IMG	SPRO
Company Code	OX15
Change View "Company Code" Overview	0X02
Assign Company Code to Company	OX16
Business Area	0X03
Fiscal Year Variant	0B29
Assign Company Code to Fiscal Year Variant	0B37
Posting Periods Variant	OBBO
Assign Posting Periods Variants to Company Code	OBBP
Open and Closing Posting Periods	0B52
Master Data	

Description	Transaction Code
Edit Chart of Accounts List	OB13
Assign Company Code to Chart of Accounts	0B62
Define Account Group	OBD4
Define Retained Earnings Account	OB53

© Andrew Okungbowa 2023

A. Okungbowa, SAP S/4HANA Financial Accounting Configuration, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4842-8957-0

APPENDIX A SOME USEFUL TRANSACTION CODES

Document Control

Description	Transa	action Code	
Define Document Number Ranges for Entry View	FBN1		
Define Field Status Variants	0BC4		
Assign Company Code to Field Status Variant	OBC5		
Tolerance Groups			
Description	Transa	action Code	
Define Tolerance Groups for G/L Accounts	0BA0		
Define Tolerance Groups for Employees	OBA4		
Assign Users to Tolerance Groups	0B57		
General Ledger			
Description	Transa	ction Code	
Create G/L Account Centrally	FS00		
Clearing Open Item			
Description	Transa	ction Code	
Automatic Open Item Clearing	0B74		
Create Accounts for Clearing Differences	OBXZ		
Maximum Exchange Rate Difference			
Description		Transaction Code	
Define Maximum Exchange Rate Difference per Con	npany Code	0B64	
Company Code Global Data		OBY6	
Define Valuation Methods		OB59	
Prepare Automatic Postings for Foreign Currency Val	uation	OBA1	

Foreign Currency Valuation

Description	Transaction Code
Define Valuation Methods	0B59
Prepare Automatic Postings for Foreign Currency Valuation	OBA1
Currencies	
Description	Transaction Code
Define Standard Quotation for Exchange Rates	ONOT
Enter Prefixes for Direct/Indirect Quotation Exchange Rate	OPRF
Define Translation Ratios for Currency Transaction	OBBS
Enter Exchange Rates	OB08
GR/IR Clearing Account	
Description	Transaction Code
Define Adjustment Accounts for GR/IR Clearing	OBYP
Bank	
Description	Transaction Code
Define House Bank	FI12
Make Global Settings for Electronic Bank Statement	OT83
Manual Bank Statement – Create and Assign Business Transaction	0T52
Define Variants for Manual Bank Statement	OT43
Create and Assign Business Transactions for Check Deposit	OT53
Define Variants for Check Deposit	OT45

APPENDIX A SOME USEFUL TRANSACTION CODES

Tax Sales/Purchase

Description	Transaction Code
Check Calculation Procedure	OBYZ
Assign Country to Calculation Procedure	OBBG
Define Tax Codes for Sales and Purchases	FTXP
Define Tax Accounts	OB40
Assign Taxable Codes for Non-Taxable Transactions	OBCL

Cash Journal

Description	Transaction Code
Define Number Range Intervals for Cash Journal Documents	FBCJC1
Define Number Range Intervals for Cash Journal Documents	FBCJC1
Set up Cash Journal	FBCJC0
Create, Change, Delete Business Transactions	FBCJC2
Set Up Print Parameters for Cash Journal	FBCJC3

FSV

Description	Transaction Code		
Define Financial Statement Version	0B58		
Integration of FI with Other Mo	dules		
Description		Transaction Code	
Define Accounts for Material Managemer	nt	OBYC	
Prepare Revenue Account Determination		VKOA	

Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable

Description	Transaction Code
Define Accounts Groups with Screen Layout (Customers)	OBD2
Create Number Ranges for Customer Accounts	XDN1
Define Account Groups with Screen Layout (Vendors)	OBD3
Create Number Ranges for Vendor Accounts	XKN1
Assign Number Ranges to Vendor Account Groups	OBAS
Maintain Terms of Payment	OBB8
Define Terms of Payment for Instalment Payments	OBB9
Define Document Types for Enjoy Transaction	OBZO
Define Tax Code per Transaction	OBZT
Define Account for Net Procedure	OBXA
Define Accounts for Cash Discount Granted	OBXI
Define Accounts for Cash Discount Taken	OBXU
Define Accounts for Lost Cash Discount	OBXV
Define Accounts for Overpayments/Underpayments	OBXL
Define Accounts for Bank Charges (Vendor)	OBXK
Define Tolerances (Vendors)	OBA3
Define Reason Codes (Manual Outgoing Payments)	OBBE
Define Accounts for Payment Differences (Manual Outgoing Payment)	OBXL
Customizing: Maintain Payment Program	FBZP
Define Correspondence Types	0B77
Assign Programs for Correspondence Types	0B78
Define Sender Details for Correspondence Form	OBB1
Determine Call-Up Functions	0B79
Define Dunning Procedures	FBMP

APPENDIX A SOME USEFUL TRANSACTION CODES

Special GL Transactions

Description	Transaction Code
Define Alternative Reconciliation Account for Customers	OBXY
Define Alternative Reconciliation Account for Vendors	OBXT
Define Accounts for Automatic Offsetting Entry	OBXS

Down Payments

Description	Transaction Code
Define Reconciliation Accounts for Customer Down Payments	OBXR
Define Account for Tax Clearing (Customer)	OBXB
Define Alternative Reconciliation Account for Down Payments	OBXY
Define Account for Tax Clearing (Vendor)	OBXD

Define Sort Method and Adjustment Accts for Regrouping

Description	Transaction Code
Define Sort Method and Adjustment Accts for Regrouping Receivables/Payables	OBBU
Adjustment Accounts for Receivables/Payables by Maturity	OBBV

Easy Access

Customer

Description	Transaction Code
Customer Master Record – Create	FD01
Customer Master Record – Change	FD02
Customer Master Record – Display	FD03
Customer Master Record – Block/Unblock	FD05
Customer Master Record – Set Deletion Indicator	FD06
Customer Invoice	FB70
Customer Credit Memo	FB75
Park/Edit Invoice	FV70
Display Parked Document	FBV3
Incoming Payment	F-28
Down Payment Request	F-37
Down Payment Received	F-29
Down Payment Clearing	F-39
Customer Balance Display	FD10N
Display/Change Line Items	FBL5N
Change Line Items	FB09
Invoice – General	F-22
Manual Outgoing Payment	F-53

Correspondence

Description	Transaction Code
Correspondence Request	FB12
Print Correspondence As per Requests	F-61
Dunning	F150

APPENDIX A SOME USEFUL TRANSACTION CODES

Vendor

Description	Transaction Code
Vendor Master Record – Create	FK01
Vendor Master Record – Change	FK02
Vendor Master Record – Display	FK03
Vendor Master Record – Block/Unblock	FK05
Vendor Master Record – Set Deletion Indicator	FK06
Vendor Invoice	FB60
Invoice – General	F-43
Post Parked Document	FBV0
Display Balances	FK10N
Balance Confirmation - Print Letters	F-18
Down Payment Request	F-47
Down Payment	F-48
Down Payment Clearing	F-54
Invoice Clearing	F-44
Incoming Payment	F-28

Automatic Payment

Description	Transaction Code
Check Lots	FCHI
Automatic Payment Program	F110
Cash Journal	FBCJ

Index

A

Account creation, clearing differences account clearing, 105 automatic postings, 106, 107 customizing process, 105 debit/credit, 106 Enter Chart of Accounts, 105 G/L account, 106, 107 limits, 105 Tax code, 106 Account determination, 269–274, 338 Account groups, 279 accounting management, 38 Another entry dialog box, 39 chart of accounts, 39, 40 copying/creating, 39 G/L accounts, 38 importance, 38 INT, 39, 41 list of values, 39, 40 target entries, 41 universal, 38 updation, 41 Accounting principles accounting treatments, 416 company code, 423, 425 extension ledger, 422 leading ledger, 421 ledger groups, 419, 420 ledger name, 421

ledgers, 423, 425 ledger type, 422 name, 418 Overview screen, 417, 418 Parallel Accounting, SAP S4 HANA system, 416 SAP S4 HANA, 416 standard ledger, 422 warning message, 425, 426 Accounting standards, 361, 415 Accounting transactions, 23, 86, 129, 278 Accounts receivable and accounts payable customer accounts (see Customer accounts) vendor accounts (see Vendor accounts) Acct key (Account key), 204 Adjustment accounts, receivables/ payables by maturity, 365, 366, 372 Amount limit, 218-220 Asset Accounting (FI-AA), 258 Automatic clearing account number, 103 account types, 103 customization, 103 fields, 104 rules, 103, 104 Save button, 104 settings, 103 Automatic clearing programs, 101 Automatic offsetting entries, 393, 412-414

Automatic outgoing payments, 372 all company codes, 339–342 data to update, all company codes, 342 paying company code, 343–348 payment management tool, 339 User Side, 339 Automatic payment program, 339, 348 Automatic postings, 261–268 Available amounts, 360, 361

В

Balance Sheet, 41, 120, 142, 236, 240, 244, 395 **Bank** accounts Account ID, 359 Bank Subaccount, 359 currency, 359 house bank, 358 paying company code, 359 payment method, 359 payments, 358 Bank Administration Institute (BAI), 158 Bank communication management, 158 Bank determination for payment transactions available amounts, 355, 360, 361 bank accounts, 355, 358-360 menu path, 356 payment program, 355 period interval, receivables, 364 adjustment accounts, receivables/ payables by maturity, 365, 366 Cust.Pstg, 364 description, 364

G/L Posting, 364 payables, 365 receivable due within one-year, 366, 367 time unit, 364 Vend.Pstg, 364 ranking order, 355-357 ranking order, specification, 357 receivables due after one year accounts for posting receivables, 368 adjustment posting/reversal, 369 assign accounts, automatic postings, 368 **Configuration Accounting** Maintain, 368 G/L accounts to periodic intervals, automatic postings, 368 menu path, 367 permit negative postings, 369, 370 reasons for reversal, 370, 371 sort methods/adjustment accounts, 361-363 value date, 356 Bank Guarantee, 408 Bank Overdraft, 250 Bank statement, 156, 157 Bank value date, 356 Business partners, 86, 101, 278, 304, 375 Business transactions, 15, 49, 85, 102, 120, 172, 191, 227

С

Cash discount base, incoming invoices, 319, 372 Cash discount granted, 323, 324 Cash discounts, 304–306

account cash discount granted, 323, 324 cash discount taken, 324 overpayments/underpayments, 325 bank charges (vendor), accounts, 326-328 granted, 323 taken, 324 Cash journal advantage, 216 amount limit, 218-220 Cash Jnl Closed, 226 Cash Payment/Cash Receipt, 226 cash receipts and cash payments transactions, 215 Check Split, 226 CJ Number, 225 CoCd, 225 configuration, 216 Crcy, 225 DT, 226 G/L account creation, 217, 218, 225 maintain business transactions, 227-229 name, 226 number range intervals, 220-224 settings, 224-226 setting up, 215, 216 set up Print Parameters, 229-231 Chart of accounts account types, 38 benefits, 33 company code, 33, 36, 37 country specific chart, 33 creation fields, 36 G/L, 34 global level, 34

initial screen, 34, 35 menu path, 34 New Entries, 35 standard, 34 customization steps, 33 G/L accounts, 32, 33 group chart, 33 implementation team, 32 listing of accounts, 32 transactions, 32 types, 33, 34 Check deposit customization account symbols assigning accounts, 186, 187 creation, 184-186 business transactions, 183 creation/assigning, 191 fields, 192 updation, 192 dialog structure, 185 items, 184, 185 menu path, 184 posting rules data, 190 Define Posting Rules folder, 188, 189 fields, 189, 190 keys, 187, 188 posting types, 190 steps, 183 variants activation, 194 adding items, 194 copy variant dialog box, 192 delete items, 193 fields, 194 information dialog box, 192 invoice amount, 194

Check deposit customization (*cont.*) maintain variant, 193 menu path, 192 modification process, 193 naming, 194 standard variants, 192 Company Change view "Internal trading partners screen, 5 codes, 5 Another Entry dialog screen, 14 assignment, 13, 14 customizing task, 12 defining/assigning, 12, 13 MatchCode button, 14 menu path, 13 organizational unit, 13 saving, 14 definition, 4 ES, 4 fields, 6, 7 financial transactions, 4 keys, 7 menu path, 5 New Entries button, 6 SAP consultant, 5 save/exit buttons, 7 Company codes, 48 advantage, 8 copying, 9 country-specific tax, 8 Edit Address screen, 10, 11 house bank, 151 initial screen, 10 legal reporting requirements, 8 menu path, 8 SAP, 8

Save button, 12 sections Communication, 12 Name, 11 Post Box Address, 12 Search terms, 11 Street Address, 12 Select Activity screen, 9 Company code data, 11, 284, 297, 351, 385 Company code setting, 111 **Company Code** Global Data, 111 Details button, 112 menu path, 111 updation, 112 Credit/debit shift, 250-253 Currencies, 93, 94, 110, 129, 130, 359, 424 Currency quotations, 130, 132 Currency translation ratio currency pair, 137 exchange rates conversion objects, 138 fields, 138 menu path, 138 New Entries, 138 roles, 138 settings, 139 types, 138 uses, 138 fields, 137 maintenance, 136 menu path, 136 New Entries, 136 Save button, 137 warning screen, 136 Currency types, 422-426

Customer, 432 Customer account group, 372 accounting clerk identification code, customer, 286, 287 assign number ranges, 291 create number ranges, 287-290 customers classification, business partner function, 278 edit intervals, 288 foreign, 282 importance, 279 maintain field status group account management, 285 customer address, 284 general data, 282-285 maintain number ranges, 289 one-time, 282 partner business functions, 280 screen layout, 280-282 Customer accounts business partner, 278 category of sales, 278 SAP S4 HANA system, 278 Customer down payments, 396-399 reconciliation accounts, 399, 400 special G/L accounts, 400 tax clearing account, 401, 402 Customer master data, 389 Customizing ABAP Editor, 3 display technical names, 3 Easy Access screen, 2 Execute Project screen, 2, 3 IMG screen, 4 Setting Screen, 3 SPRO, 3 transaction codes, 2

D

Default tolerance groups company code, 74 employees, 78 company code, 77 group, 77 menu paths, 77 New Entries button, 77 sections, 78, 79 G/L accounts, 74 G/L tolerance, 73, 75 Local Currency section, 75 menu path, 73 tolerance group, 74 Document number, 48, 50, 51, 180 Document number ranges **Copy Subobject function** Accounting document, Object RF-BELEG screen, 53, 54 company code, 52 **Display Intervals button**, 53 drawback, 54 Edit Intervals, 53 Interval buttons, 52 menu path, 52 message, 53 Fiscal Year, 59, 60 items, 48 options, 50 Document types, 48 business transactions, 49 customization, 50 document numbers, 49 enjoy transactions, 320, 321 items, 48 list, 48, 49

Document types (*cont*.) number range, 51 posting to account types, 49 purpose, 48 SAP, 50 Down payment made current assets, 402 reconciliation accounts, 402-404 Down payment received, 396-399 Down payments accounting practice, 395 down payment made, 402-408 down payment received, 396-399 factors, 395 short-term finance, 395 transaction, 395 types, 394, 395 vendor down payment request, 405, 406 Dunning charges, 382 Dunning level, 380, 381 **Dunning procedure** automatic process of sending reminder, 375 business practice, business partners, 375 charges, 382 company code data, 385 customer master data, 389 definition, 375, 377 level, 380, 381 minimum amount, 383, 384 overview screen, 377-379 SAPscript form, dunning level, 386 settings dunning areas, 376 dunning block reasons, 376 dunning key, 376

special GL indicator, 387, 388 texts, 385–387

Ε

Electronic bank statement (EBS), 157, 158 account symbols, 162, 163 assigning accounts to accounts symbol, 164 bank account, 164 Dialog structure, 163 fields. 164 G/L accounts, 163-165 Main Bank Account, 165 New Entries, 163 search function, 164 bank communication management, 158 formats, 158, 159 functions, 159 global settings, 159-161 movement of funds, 158 posting rules bank charges, 171 bank transfers, 170 create keys, 165, 166 customization, 169 Define Posting Rules folder, 167 fields, 167, 168 incoming checks, 168, 169 interim posts, 170 outgoing checks, 169 transaction types, 172-174 SAP ERP, 158 transaction types bank accounts, 174, 175 creation, 171, 172 posting rules, 172-174

Enjoy transactions, 320, 321 Enterprise Structure (ES), 1 Exchange rate differences GL accounts automatic posting, 123 creation, 124, 125 fields, 122, 123 lists, 123, 124 maintenance, 122 settings, 122 open items account payable, 122, 125, 126 account receivable, 122 maintenance, 122 settings, 122 Exchange Rate key (KDB) automatic posting, 120, 121 exchange rate loss/gain accounts, 120 G/L account, 120, 121 Exchange rate types, 114, 130 direct quotation, 131, 133-135 indirect quotation, 131, 133-135 standard quotation, 131-133 tools, 131 Extended ledger, 416, 422 Extension ledger, 415, 422

F

Field status section, 282, 296 Field status variants (FSV) access, 61 company code, 61–63, 67 copy as, 62 Copy button, 63 definition, 60 document entry fields, 66

field status groups, 61, 64, 65 G/L accounts, 65 Information screen, 64 list, 64 maintenance, 61, 62, 65, 66 modification, 62 Position button, 62 Specify object to copy screen, 63, 64 FI module, 257, 258 Financial (FI) Organizational Elements, 1 Financial statement version (FSV) benefits, 234 change nodes texts, 242-244 Chart of Accounts, 236 create/edit, 234 create items, 237-240 customization, 233-235, 237 define, 234, 235 Fin.Stmt.Version, 235 General Specifications, 236 hierarchy nodes, 236 hierarchy structure, 239, 249 liabilities and equity, 243-245 Maint.language, 236 Name, 235 nodes assigning G/L accounts, 248-250 check assigned G/L Accounts, 253-255 create, 246, 247 credit/debit shift, 250-253 reassign, 246 predefined, 234 save/activate screen pops up, 239 specifications, 235, 236 as subordinates, 240, 241 subordinates, 244, 245

Fiscal year, 48 business transactions, 15 and calendar year, 14 Matching concept, 15 uses, 14 Fiscal year variant Another entry, 19 Apply button, 21 Change View "Fiscal year variants" Overview, 18, 21 company code assigning, 22 menu path, 22 warning message, 23 February, 17 fields, 19 information pop-up screen, 21 keys, 20 maintaining, 18 menu path, 18 modification, 20, 21 posting periods, 15 SAP functional consultant, 17 two-digit alphanumeric identifier, 17 types, 16 **USA/UK**, 17 Year independent, 16 Year-specific, 17 Foreign currency valuation, 113 automatic postings, 118, 119 bank balance, 117, 118 creation, 114 customer/vendor, 116 initial screen, 115 menu path, 114

Foreign customer account group, 282, 288 Foreign vendor account group, 295, 300 Free offsetting entry, 394

G

GBB, 265, 266 General ledger (G/L) accounts, 34, 204, 205, 248-250, 253-255, 271-273, 391 business partners, 85 business transactions, 85 chart of accounts, 85 company codes, 85 master records, 88, 89 office supplies Account Currency, 93 buttons, 90 consolidation data in chart of accounts section, 92 control data section, 92, 93 create/bank interest tab, 96 creation, 89 description section, 91 Edit G/L Account Centrally screen, 89, 90 fields, 90-92 field status groups, 95-97 field status variant, 96 Only Balances in Local Currency checkbox, 93, 94 open item management, 94 posting date, 95 postings without tax allowed, 94 **Reconciliation Account for Account** Type, 94 sort key, 95

Tax Category, 94 user side, 89 output sales tax, 201 reconciliation accounts, 86, 398, 404, 411 sub-ledgers, 85, 86 template function, 97 copying, 98, 100 **Domestic Travels Expenses**, 98 fields, 99 number range intervals, 98 reference account screen, 99 user side, 98 Goods receipt (GR), 143, 259, 261 Goods receipt/invoice receipt (GR/IR) clearing, 264, 265 account postings, 142, 143 credit postings, 143 delivered but not yet invoiced automatic postings, 147 clearing accounts, 147 Continue Accounting Maintain, 147, 148 G/L accounts, 148, 149 menu path, 147 settings, 147 financial statement, 142 G/L accounts, 144 invoiced but not yet delivered account determination, 145, 146 automatic posting, 144-146 clearing accounts, 144 G/L accounts, 146, 147 settings, 145 off-setting postings, 141, 142 quantity differences, 142, 143 transfer postings, 142

Guarantees, 414 accounts, automatic offsetting entry, 412-414 alternative reconciliation accounts, vendors, 409-412 banks/other financial institutions, 408 reconciliation accounts, 411 short-term borrowing, 408 special G/L payment properties, 411, 412

Η

House bank, 355–358, 360 bank accounts, 151, 152, 155, 156 Bank Data form, 155 bank groups, 152 bank master data, 151, 152 company codes, 151, 153 customer/vendor, 152 definition, 152 fields, 154 IDs, 152 invoice processing, 152 menu path, 153 New Entries button, 154 SWIFT code, 152

I, J, K

Implementation Guide (IMG), 4, 292 Incoming invoices, 319 Input Taxes, 197 Installment payments data to update the payment terms, 318 setting up payment terms, 318 terms of payment, 317, 318

Installment plan account type, 313 business partner's master record, 311 data to update the payment terms, 313, 315-317 default to baseline date, 313 maintain terms of payment, 311, 312 own explanation, 313 payment terms, 313 percentage rate, 314 problem, 311 terms, 311, 314 total invoice amount, 310 Integrate FI with other SAP modules, 257, 258 Internal management reporting, 234 International chart of accounts (INT), 39, 45 International Organization Standardization (ISO), 129 Inventory Account, 142, 147, 264 Inventory posting, 266-269 Investors, 234 Invoices and credit memos, 320

L

Leading ledger, 415, 421–423 Ledger groups, 419, 420 Ledgers, 421 company code settings, 423 extended ledger, 416 SAP HANA, 415 SAP S4 HANA, 426 settings, 422–426 standard ledgers, 415, 416

Μ

Maintain business transactions, 227-229 Manual bank statements business transactions creation/assigning, 176, 177 fields, 177 New Entries button, 176 posting keys, 178 posting rules, 176 updation, 177, 178 check deposit (see Check deposit customization) customization, 176 variants activation, 183 allocation number, 182 bank reference, 182 copy variant screen, 179 delete items, 180, 181 information screen, 179 List screen, 179 maintenance, 180 menu path, 179 modification process, 180 naming, 183 standard variant, 178, 179 Manual outgoing payments, 372 accounts for payment differences, 337, 338 assign reason codes, 336 configuration, 329 reason codes, 334-337 tolerance, vendors advantage, 329 control mechanism, 329 data to update, 332, 334 definition, 331

new entries: details of added entries screen, 331-333 settings, 330 without tolerance group ID, 332 Master data, 31, 32, 36, 154, 260 Master record, 31, 61, 87, 278 Matching concept, 15 Material management (MM), 258–261 Maximum Exchange Rate Difference company code, 110 customization, 110 document, 108 flowchart diagram, 109 foreign currency, 108 specification, 110 warning/errors, 108

Ν

Non-Leading Ledger, 416 Non-taxable transactions, 213, 214 Noted items, 393 Number range assignment, 104, 287, 300 Number range intervals, 51, 220-224 company code, copying, 58, 59 creation company code, 55, 56 fields, 56, 57 Intervals button, 56 menu path, 55 posting, 55 deletion, 54, 55 digits, 57 identifier. 57 Intervals button, 57 maintenance, 56, 57

0

Offsetting Entry, inventory posting, 266–269 One-time customer account group, 282 One-time vendor account group, 295 Open Items clearing account clearing, 101 automatic clearing, 102 criteria, 104 document clearing, 101 document number, 101 types, 102 valuating, 120 Organizational unit, 1, 4, 8 Output tax, 198, 204, 210, 398 Overpayments/underpayments, 325, 335

P, Q

Parallel ledgers, 415 Paying company code, 340, 348 forms, 343 invoices. 343 minimum amount, 343-345 payment advice/EDI accompanying sheet form, 346 payment medium specification, 347 payment transactions, 343, 344 sender details, 344 sender details specification, 348 sending company code, 343 Payment block reasons, 326-328 Payment differences, 334, 335, 337, 338 Payment program, 339, 342, 357 Payment methods per company codes amount limits. 349 bank selection control, 349

Payment methods per company codes (cont.) bank transfer, data to update, 354 company code data, 355 country payment keys, 348 cust/vendor bank abroad allowed, 351 data to update, 351 foreign business partner allowed, 350 foreign currency allowed, 350 form data, 351 maintain form data, 349, 350 maximum amount, 350 menu path, 349 minimum amount, 350 paying co. code, 350 paying company code, 348 payment advice note control section, 353 Payment Medium Workbench, 352 payment method, 348, 350 SAPscript, 352 specifications, 349 update Drawer form, 352 Payroll, 258 Posting keys, 48, 50, 51, 176, 184 Posting periods, 15 account types, 23, 24 benefit, 23 Fiscal Year, 23 intervals, 23 items, 24 opening/closing, 23 advantage, 27 company code, 27 Copy As, 28 Entry screen, 28 menu path, 27 time intervals, 28

updation, 28, 29 variant keys, 30 special periods, 29, 30 variants Company code, 26, 27 open posting periods, 24, 25 Print Parameters, 229–231

R

Ranking order, 355-357, 360 Reason codes, manual outgoing payments menu path, 335 optional functions, 335 overpayment/underpayment, 335 payment differences, 335 update, 336, 337 Reassign Node section, 240, 241 Reconciliation accounts, 86, 392 advantage, 391 customer down payments, 396-399 customer down payments request, 399, 400 guarantees, 411 subledger accounts, 392 vendor down payments, 402-404 Retained earnings account account type, 44 Balance Sheet, 42 chart of accounts, 42, 43 customizing, 42 FI configuration, 43, 44 G/L account, 44 income statement, 42 menu path, 42 net profit/net loss, 42 P&L account, 41, 42 shareholders' equity, 42

Revenue, 430 Revenue account determination, 269–274

S

Sales & Distribution (SD) module, 258, 269 Sales Deductions (ERS), 272 Sales/Purchases Taxes calculation procedure, 200, 201 countries, 197 standard settings, 199 tax authority, 197 Tax categories in SAP S4 HANA, 199 VAT (Value Added Tax), 197, 198 Sales Revenue (ERL), 272 SAP Project Reference Object (SPRO), 3 SAP S4 HANA system, 278, 339, 422 SAPScript, 343, 344, 346, 351, 352, 384, 385 SAP system, 320 documents storage, 47 house banks, 153 posting, 47 transactions. 47 SD Transactions, 270 Short-term borrowings, 250 Society for World-Wide Interbank **Financial Telecommunication** (SWIFT), 158 Sort method, 361, 362, 372 Source company code, 53, 59, 88, 221 Special GL indicator, 387, 388 Special G/L transactions, 414 advantage, reconciliation account, 391 AR and AP transactions, 392 bill of exchange, 392, 393 configurations, 394

customer down payment request, 400 reconciliation accounts, 399, 400 down payments (See also Down payments) free offsetting entry, 394 general ledger types automatic offsetting entry, 393 noted items, 393 GL accounts, 391 guarantees, 393, 408-414 list, 403 list screen, 397 properties settings, 405 reconciliation accounts, 392 relationships vs. technical factors, 392 SAP, 391 subledger accounts, 392 tax clearing account, 401, 402 totals of sub-ledgers, 391 Special G/L, vendor advance, 404 Standard block reasons, 327 Standard calculation procedures, 199 Standard ledgers, 415, 416, 422 Subledger accounts, 392

T, **U**

Table data, 32, 87 Taxable codes, non-taxable transactions, 213, 214 Tax account output/sales assign a G/L account, 206, 207 assign G/L account for automatic, 212 Chart of Accounts field, 206 G/L account, 210

Tax account (cont.) maintaining automatic posting procedure, 211 maintaining automatic posting procedure for tax codes, 206 non-taxable transactions, 212 SAP Easy Access, 211 SAP Easy Access screen, 205, 206 Transaction code (TC), 205 transaction key Input tax, 211 Tax authority, 197, 234 Tax categories in SAP S4 HANA, 199 Tax clearing, 401, 407 Tax clearing accounts, 407, 408, 414 Tax code, input/purchases, 207-210 Tax code for sales/purchases Acct key (Account key), 204 Country Key, 202 define, 201, 204 Maintain Tax Code: Tax Rate screen, 204 output/sales tax, 201, 202 properties, 202, 203 Tax code I2, 203 Tax Type, 203 two-digit character, 202 zero value, 201 Tax code per transaction, 322, 323 Terms of payment, 305, 372 account type, 305 baseline date, 305 business partners' master record, 304 cash discounts, 304, 305 customers, 306, 308, 309 day limit, 305 default dates, 305 installment payments, 317 installment plan, 311, 313-316

maintain, 307 payment terms, 305, 306 purpose, 305 SAP system, 305 vendors, 310 Tolerance groups acceptable limit, 70 assign users, 81 fields, 82 menu path, 81 New Entries, 81, 82 user name, 82 business transaction, 69 company code, 72 document posting, 69, 70 employees, 72 accounting team, 77 document posting, 79 fields, 80 group key, 79, 80 menu paths, 76, 79 New Entries button, 79 sections, 80 settings, 76 G/L accounts, 72, 73, 75 levels, 70, 71, 105 materiality, 70 payment differences, 69, 70 sections, 71 user ID, 76 users, 72 Tolerances, 70, 329 Transaction codes (TC), 205 Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable, 431 Automatic Payment, 427 Bank, 430 Cash Journal, 430

Clearing Open Item, 428 Correspondence, 434 Currencies, 429 Document Control, 428 Down Payments, 432 Easy Access, 433 Foreign Currency Valuation, 429 FSV, 430 General Ledger, 428 **GR/IR Clearing Account**, 429 Integration of FI with Other Modules, 430 Master Data, 427 Maximum Exchange Rate Difference, 428 Organizational Structure, 427 Sort Method and Adjustment Accts for Regrouping, 432 Special GL Transactions, 432 Tax Sales/Purchase, 430 **Tolerance Groups**, 428 Vendor, 427 Transaction data, 32, 87

V, W, X, Y, Z

Valuation methods fields, 116, 117 New Entries button, 115 valuation procedures, 114 Vendor, 94, 197, 274, 278, 292, 326, 431 Vendor account group assign number ranges, 303, 304 business transaction, 292 categories, 293 create number ranges, 299-303 edit Intervals, 301 Foreign, 295 IMG, 292 importance, 292, 293 maintain field status group accounting clerk identification code, 298, 299 account management, 297, 298 company code data, 297 general data, 296 vendor address, 296 maintain number ranges, 302 one-time, 295 screen layout, 293-295 Vendor accounts, 278, 369, 372 Vendor down payment request menu path, 405 properties function, 406 special G/L accounts, 406 tax clearing account, 406-408 Vendor down payments, 402-404, 407